
 

 

City of Leawood 
Planning Commission Agenda 

September 22, 2020 
Leawood City Hall – City Council Chambers 

Planning Commission Meeting  
Meeting – 6:00 p.m. 

4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 
913.339.6700 x 160 

 

 
CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL:   
McGurren, Coleman, Block, Stevens, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Peterson, Elkins 
 

APPROVAL TO SUSPEND CERTAIN RULES OF PLANNING COMMISSION DUE TO PANDEMIC: 

 
MEETING STATEMENT: 
To reduce the likelihood of the spread of COVID-19 and to comply with social distancing recommendations, this 
meeting of the Leawood Planning Commission is being conducted using the Zoom media format, with some of the 
commissioners appearing remotely. The meeting is being livestreamed on YouTube and the public can access the 
livestream by going to www.leawood.org for the live link. The public is strongly encouraged to access this meeting 
electronically; however, if you wish to comment on a public hearing item, please contact the Community 
Development Department to make arrangements.  
 
Public comments will only be accepted during the public hearing portion of each agenda item where a public 
hearing is required. The City encourages the public to submit comments in writing prior to the public hearing by 
emailing comments to planning@leawood.org. Written public comments received at least 24 hours prior to the 
meeting will be distributed to members of the Planning Commission. Those wishing to appear remotely using the 
Zoom format media, should register at planning@leawood.org on or before Friday, September 18th at  
5:00 pm.  Individuals who contacted the Planning Department in advance to provide public comments will be called 
upon by name.  
 
Electronic copies of tonight’s agenda are available on the City’s website at www.Leawood.org under Government / 
Planning Commission / Agendas & Minutes.  Because this meeting is being live-streamed, all parties must state 
their name and title each time they speak.  This will ensure an accurate record and make it clear for those listening 
only. This applies to all commissioners, staff, applicants and members of the public who may speak.  All motions 
must be stated clearly. After each motion is made and seconded, a roll call vote will be taken. The Chair or staff will 
announce whether the motion carried and the count of the vote. Reminder, please mute all microphones when you 
are not speaking. Thank you.    
 
APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  
Approval of minutes from the August 25, 2020 Planning Commission meeting. 

http://www.leawood.org/
mailto:planning@leawood.org
mailto:planning@leawood.org
http://www.leawood.org/


 

 

CONTINUED TO THE OCTOBER 27, 2020 PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING: 
CASE 69-20 – HILLS OF LEAWOOD VILLAS – Request for approval of a Final Plat and Final Plan, located north of 
151st Street and east of Mission Road. 
 

CONSENT AGENDA: 
CASE 80-20 – PARKWAY PLAZA – WEBER CARPET – Request for approval of Final Plan, located north of 135th Street 
and east of Briar.   
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
CASE 68-20 – PLAZA POINTE – GUIDEPOST MONTESSORI – Request for approval of a Special Use Permit, 
Preliminary Plan, and Final Plan, for a Daycare/Montessori, located south of 135th Street and west of Roe Avenue. 
PUBLIC HEARING  
 

NEW BUSINESS: 
CASE 70-20 – VILLA DE FONTANA – Request for approval of a Rezoning from SD-CR (Planned General Retail), SD-O 
(Planned Office), and RP-3 ((Planned Custer Attached Residential District)(6,000 Sq. Ft. Per Dwelling)) to RP-2 
((Planned Cluster Detached Residential District )(6,000 Sq. Ft. Per Dwelling)), Preliminary Plan, and Preliminary Plat, 
located south of 135th Street and east of Roe Avenue. PUBLIC HEARING  
 
CASE 81-20 – VILLA DE FONTANA – Request for approval of a Final Plan and Final Plat, located south of 135th Street 
and east of Roe Avenue. 
  
CASE 75-20 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-2-6.3, SD-CR (Planned 
General Retail) - Request for approval of an amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to building 
heights within SD-CR (Planned General Retail). PUBLIC HEARING  
 
CASE 64-20 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – FIRST ASCENT (CLIMBING/HEALTH CLUB) – Request for approval of a 
Preliminary Plan, located north of 119th Street and west of Roe Avenue. PUBLIC HEARING  
 
CASE 74-20 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-3-3, ADMINISTRATIVE 
APPROVALS – Request for approval of an amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to Tenant 
Finishes. PUBLIC HEARING  
 
CASE 66-20 – TOWN CENTER CROSSING – REVISED DESIGN GUIDELINES – Request for approval of a Revised 
Final Plan, located south of 119th Street and east of Roe Avenue.  
 
CASE 67-20 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – REVISED DESIGN GUIDELINES – Request for approval of a Revised Final 
Plan, located north of 119th Street and west of Roe Avenue.  
 
CASE 82-20 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – REVISED SIGN GUIDELINES – Request for approval of a Revised Final Plan, 
located north of 119th Street and west of Roe Avenue.   
 
CASE 83-20 – TOWN CENTER CROSSING – REVISED SIGN GUIDELINES – Request for approval of a Revised Final 
Plan, located south of 119th Street and east of Roe Avenue.   
 
ADJOURN REGULAR MEETING:   
Meetings will end at 9:00 p.m. unless the Commission votes to extend the meeting for a period of thirty (30) minutes.  An 
additional thirty (30) minute extension, for a maximum of two (2) extensions, may be voted by the Commission members. 
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The Leawood Planning Commission is a nine member non-partisan body whose members are appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by the Governing Body.  
  

The Planning Commission prepares the Comprehensive Plan that is used as a general guide for the development of the community.  The Comprehensive Plan is reviewed 
and updated annually as part of the commission's ongoing process of evaluating trends and patterns.  The Commission also reviews all zoning, special use permit, and site 
plan and plat applications prior to making recommendations to the governing body for final action.  
  

The regular scheduled public meetings of the Planning Commission are held at 6:00 PM on the fourth Tuesday of each month in the City Council chambers, 4800 Town 
Center Drive.  The Commission may also conduct a study session followed by a meeting on the second Tuesday of each month.  
  

Anyone wishing to appear on the Planning Commission agenda or study session agenda should contact Planning Services at (913) 339-6700.  
  

REZONING AND SPECIAL USE PERMIT PROCEDURES FOR LEAWOOD, KANSAS  

  

Newspaper publications: The city will be responsible for publishing the notice of public hearing in the official City newspaper not less than 20 days prior to the end of the 
public hearing.  
  

Posting of the sign: Upon submission of the application, the City will supply the applicant with a sign to be posted on the property.  The sign must be posted not less than 20 
days prior to the public hearing.  
  

Letters of notification: The applicant will be responsible for mailing notices by certified mail, return receipt requested, of the proposed zoning change to all land owners located 
within 200 feet of the area proposed to be altered.  These notices must be sent a minimum of 20 days prior to the Planning Commission hearing.  
  

Public hearing: The Planning Commission hears all zoning requests, hearing from the applicant and anyone in the audience wishing to speak for or against the proposal.  The 
Commission will then make a recommendation for approval or denial to the City Council or continue the application to another Planning Commission agenda.  The following is 
an outline of the public hearing process.  
  

1. Staff summarization of comments and recommendations.  

2. Applicant presentation and response to staff comments and recommendations.  

3. Public Hearing  

a. Anyone wishing to speak, either in favor or in opposition has an opportunity to speak.  

b. It is appreciated if the speakers keep repetition to a minimum.  

4. The applicant will have an opportunity to respond to points raised during the hearing.  

5. Planning Commission discussion.  

6. Motion and second by the Planning Commission.  

7. Planning Commission discussion of motion.  

8. Planning Commission vote on the motion.  

  

Protest period: Certain property owners may file a petition protesting the application within 14 days after the close of the Planning Commission public hearing. The petition 
must be signed by the owners of record of 20% or more of any real property proposed to be rezoned, or by the owners of record of 20% or more of the total real property 
within the area required to be notified in Article 16-5-4.1 of the proposed zoning of specific property, excluding streets and public ways and property excluded pursuant to 16-
5-4.3.  
  

City Council Action: After the protest period has concluded, the application will be placed on an agenda for a City Council meeting.  The Council may then take action on the 
proposal.  The Council may approve the Planning Commission’s recommendation, or it may amend and approve or remand the proposal to the Planning Commission for 
further consideration. 
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City of Leawood 
Planning Commission Meeting 

August 25, 2020 
Meeting - 6:00 p.m. 

Leawood City Hall Council Chambers 
4800 Town Center Drive 

Leawood, KS 66211 
913.339.6700 x 160 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: McGurren, Coleman, Block, Stevens, Hunter, 
Belzer, Hoyt, Peterson, Elkins. 

Chairman Elkins:  I’d take a motion to suspend the rules of the Planning Commission as 
they relate to the presence of a quorum and to the participation of commissioners by 
teleconference as well as witness presentation of testimony by teleconference. 

APPROVAL TO SUSPEND CERTAIN RULES OF PLANNING COMMISSION 
DUE TO PANDEMIC:  

A motion to suspend certain rules of the Planning Commission due to the pandemic 
was made by Coleman; seconded by Stevens. Motion carried with a unanimous roll-
call vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, Coleman, Block, Stevens, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, 
Peterson. 

MEETING STATEMENT: 

Chairman Elkins:  To reduce the likelihood of the spread of COVID-19 and to comply 
with social distancing recommendations, this meeting of the Leawood Planning 
Commission is being conducted using the Zoom media format, with some of the 
commissioners appearing remotely. The meeting is being livestreamed on YouTube and 
the public can access the livestream by going to www.leawood.org for the live link. The 
public is strongly encouraged to access this meeting electronically; however, if you wish 
to comment on a public hearing item, please contact the Community Development 
Department to make arrangements. I have a list of those who have already indicated a 
desire to make statements tonight. 

Electronic copies of tonight’s agenda are available on the City’s website at 
www.Leawood.org under Government / Planning Commission / Agendas & Minutes. 
Because this meeting is being live-streamed, all parties must state their name and title 
each time they speak. This will ensure an accurate record and make it clear for those 
listening only. This applies to all commissioners, staff, applicants and members of the 
public who may speak. All motions must be stated clearly. After each motion is made and 
seconded, a roll call vote will be taken. The Chair or staff will announce whether the 
motion carried and the count of the vote. Reminder, please mute all microphones when 
you are not speaking. Thank you. 

DRAFT
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APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  
 
Chairman Elkins:  Does staff have any revisions to the agenda? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  We do not. 
 
A motion to approve the agenda was made by Coleman; seconded by McGurren. 
Motion carried with a unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, Coleman, 
Block, Stevens, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Peterson. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Approval of the minutes from the July 28, 2020 Planning 
Commission meeting and the August 11, 2020 Planning Commission work session. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  I believe there was some confusion, but staff has provided a complete 
set of minutes for the July 28th Planning Commission meeting. Are there corrections? 
Seeing none, I would entertain a motion. 
 
A motion to approve the minutes from the July 28, 2020 Planning Commission 
meeting was made by Coleman; seconded by Stevens. Motion carried with a 
unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, Coleman, Block, Stevens, Hunter, 
Belzer, Hoyt, Peterson. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Are there any revisions to the August 11, 2020 Planning Commission 
work session? 
 
Comm. Hoyt:  On Page 3, my comments 2/3 of the way down should read, “invisibly 
operating.” 
 
A motion to approve the amended minutes from the August 11, 2020 Planning 
Commission work session was made by Coleman; seconded by Stevens. Motion 
carried with a unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, Coleman, Block, 
Stevens, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Peterson. 
 
 
CONTINUED TO THE SEPTEMBER 22, 2020 PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING:  
CASE 69-20 – HILLS OF LEAWOOD VILLAS – Request for approval of a Final Plat 
and Final Plan, located north of 151st Street and east of Mission Road. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA:  
CASE 65-20 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – AMENITY AREA – Request for approval of 
a Revised Final Plan, located south of Town Center Drive and West of Roe Avenue. 
 
Comm. Coleman:  I’d like to commend Town Center Plaza for taking an eyesore of a 
fountain that has not worked for many years and turning it into a very nice space that will 
be useful for the patrons of that area. 
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Chairman Elkins:  Does anyone wish to hear a presentation from either staff or the 
applicant? If not, I would entertain a motion. 
 
A motion to approve the Consent Agenda was made by Coleman; seconded by 
Peterson. Motion carried with a unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, 
Coleman, Block, Stevens, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Peterson. 
 
NEW BUSINESS:  
CASE 04-20 – 135 STREET AND KENNETH – MIXED USE AND MEDIUM 
DENSITY RESIDENTIAL - Request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan, located 
south of 135th Street and west of Kenneth Road. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Before staff’s presentation, Commissioner Peterson, do you have a 
comment? 
 
Comm. Peterson:  My comment is related more so to Case 49-20, but it is related to this. I 
want to make sure staff and the members of the public are aware that I received in the 
mail an Interact Notice on June 8th, which was to be held on June 10th. Not having ever 
attended an Interact Meeting before in my life, I was very curious to listen in, but 
primarily, I was most interested to see how it was being conducted using Zoom. I listened 
to the entire presentation. I was connected the whole time, but unfortunately, half the 
time, my audio did not work, so I could not hear most of what was being said. I was 
surprised that it appears, out of all the attendees, the majority attended by technology. It 
impressed me that this probably will be much more useful going forward to increase the 
attendance of residents. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you, and for clarity for the sake of the record, do I understand 
that the Interact Meeting you observed was for Case 49-20 and not 4-20? 
 
Comm. Stevens:  Correct. 
 
Staff Presentation: 
City Planner Ricky Sanchez made the following presentation: 
 
Chairman Elkins:  I would ask that you provide clarity on exactly what it is that we’re 
considering tonight. I felt there was some ambiguity on the information we received on 
the record from the Governing Body, and I think perhaps there were changes to the plan 
after Governing Body considered it. 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  This is Case 04-20 – 135th Street and Kenneth Road – request for approval 
of a Revised Preliminary Plan and Revised Preliminary Plat. Before we get to the case, 
staff would like to make some changes to the Staff Report. On Page 5, under the Site Plan 
comments, instead of 25% for the deviation given for the Floor Area Ratio (F.A.R.) for 
the development and should actually be 55%. Also, the 182 residential units should be 
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183 residential units. Finally, on Page 9, under Staff Recommendations, within the first 
stipulation, it should be 55%.  
 To give the Planning Commission a little background, this project was heard by 
the Planning Commission on January 28, 2020. It was denied that night and then moved 
on to Governing Body. The applicant worked with staff a little bit regarding the 
financing, which was the main point of the meeting for the burial of power lines and 135th 
Street work. They were heard by Governing Body on July 20, 2020. At that meeting, the 
applicant showed a revised plan to the Governing Body, which they deemed should go 
back to staff. It was remanded at that meeting to go to the Planning Commission for the 
townhouse portion. After review by staff, it was deemed that it was a substantial change 
to the development. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance (LDO), if there is a 
density increase of over 5%, it is a substantial change to the plan. That means the project 
must go through the planning process, including Interact Meeting and mailers. After 
telling the applicant that was the case, they then made additional changes to the mixed-
use portion of the development, all on the west side of High Drive. That is what we are 
reviewing tonight. I’ll go through all the changes, but we are reviewing the whole project 
again. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  So, technically speaking, under the LDO, this is not on remand from 
Governing Body; this is a new review of a modified proposed plan. 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  Correct. I would like to show some visuals. I’ll highlight the areas that 
stayed the same. These include the residential areas on the south side of 137th Street, the 
mixed-use area east of High Drive, the square footage within the Mixed-Use 
Development (MX-D), the locations of the public streets, including the 137th Street 
connection to Chadwick, and the community area in Phase 2. The areas that changed 
include the northern portion of the RP-3 north of 137th Street, which went from 18 
duplexes to 15 townhouses with a total of 59 units. It is a gated area with a centralized 
park and driveways that wrap around the townhouses to allow parking in the back. Other 
changes include the western portion of the proposed High Drive, changing from four to 
three buildings with a rearrangement of square footage. There is now a covered parking 
area with a pool deck on top. The tallest building increased in height from 71 feet to 75 
feet. The site design changes, but the square footage stayed the same, as did the density in 
the mixed-use portion. Because the road changed from public to private, the plat was 
changed. The project is still proposing changes to the phasing, as they did before. 
Previously, the whole RP-3 area was the first phase. The second phase was the western 
portion of the mixed-use. The third phase was the eastern portion of the mixed-use. 
Again, they are proposing the same phasing with the first phase being the residential area 
south of 137th Street. The second phase would be the community area south of 137th 
Street. The third phase would be the duplex area north of 137th Street. The fourth phase 
would be the mixed-use area west of High Drive. The final phase would be the mixed-use 
area east of High Drive. Staff is not supportive of the gated entry to the townhomes on 
the north side of 137th Street. The Comprehensive Plan states, “To ensure residential 
growth patterns result in neighborhoods that have their own sense of place, yet are 
closely linked to the community as a whole,” with a directive that states, “Additional 
gated communities will not be allowed within the City of Leawood in order to promote a 
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sense of community.” Although the application meets all the requirements per the LDO, 
staff recommends denial of Case 04-20 because the applicant does not comply with the 
135th Street Community Plan. I am happy to answer any questions. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for Mr. Sanchez? 
 
Comm. Hoyt:  Just circling back, I want to make sure I’m 100% clear. On the last page of 
the City Council minutes, Ms. Bennett says that it will be clear when we read the minutes 
that we are not being asked to reconsider our decision based on stipulations for road 
construction and burying of power lines, but only the phasing and the townhomes. Is that 
correct? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  Because the whole development ended up changing, we are looking at the 
townhomes and the mixed-use portion. With regard to funding, the Governing Body 
made it clear that it is done at the time of Final Plan consideration. Staff kept stipulations 
with regard to financing in the Staff Report, and it will come up at Final Plan. 
 
Comm. Hoyt:  So, basically, we should ignore that directive, then. 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  I believe so. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  I think the circumstances changed after the City Council meeting. This 
is as if we were looking at it for the first time. It’s not to say that we shouldn’t consider 
comments we made the last time, but from a procedural standpoint, we are effectively 
starting over from scratch. 
 
Comm. Stevens:  I do see another change. Under Staff Comments on Page 9, the first 
bullet was meant to stipulate about the gated communities not being allowed. It is 
actually Stipulation No. 9 instead of No. 8. I also have another comment from the history. 
In previous applications, there was also a Special Use Permit (SUP), and those were 
Stipulation Nos. 10 and 11. They dealt with the assisted living facility needing an SUP. 
None of that appears again in tonight’s application. 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  The application is only for a Revised Preliminary Plan and Revised 
Preliminary Plat. The SUP still carries forward as its own separate thing. It could have 
come in as a separate application without a plan or anything. The SUP is just for the use, 
so it is not a part of this. 
 
Comm. Stevens:  From the prior approvals. 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  Correct. 
 
Comm. Stevens:  Under Bulk Regulations, there is a comment about the minimum 
residential units, quantity, and percentages required. It is noted that it is not provided, and 
it is acknowledged by the applicant. Would this be required prior to Final Plan? 
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Mr. Sanchez:  Normally, during the preliminary phases, the applicant may not know the 
exact square footage of things; they just use an estimate. They should know 
approximately so they can avoid the 5% change. Sometimes, they don’t have the floor 
areas done. We want to make the applicant aware that these are the boundaries they have 
to fit in: 980 square feet for 80% and 700 square feet for everything else for the rest of 
the 20%. We want to make them aware as soon as we can so they’re not coming in with a 
Preliminary Plan that will automatically not be met at the time of Final Plan 
consideration. 
 
Comm. Stevens:  I noticed that staff notes that the traffic study done in March, 2019 had 
been approved but is part of the Public Works review. I noticed there’s a request that the 
recent changes of this development require the traffic report to be updated. Is that correct, 
or should that actually be a stipulation? Is that included by reference of Public Works? 
 
Mr. Scovill:  That is included by reference that they update the traffic study to 
accommodate additional density in Phase Three. 
 
Comm. McGurren:  Is it fair to say that staff is continuing to work with the applicant 
regarding places where they are not in compliance? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  The applicant has submitted this, and they want to see where it will fall. 
This may be a better question for the applicant.  
 
Comm. Coleman:  Just to confirm, north of 137th Street is considered MX-D? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  The way the zoning works for this development, everything north of the 
red line is MX-D. The small portion here (refers to plan) is RP-3. 
 
Comm. Coleman:  Which is medium density? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  Correct. 
 
Comm. Coleman:  Can you point out the gated area? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  There is only one entry into the northern part. 
 
Comm. Block:  Help me understand private streets and why a developer would want to 
do that. 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  Private streets are not maintained by the city; they are maintained by the 
HOA or whatever body is created to maintain it. There are things they can and cannot do 
within the LDO. They still have to meet city standards for road construction. They don’t 
have to meet interior setbacks. There are some gives and takes to having a private street.  
 
Comm. Block:  We spent a lot of time the last time we considered this on new turn lanes 
and what would happen on 135th Street. I didn’t see any of that in this. 
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Mr. Sanchez:  All of that has stayed the same from what was previously shown. 
 
Comm. Block:  I understand the splitting of costs was talked about in the Governing 
Body discussion. Is there an agreement on any of that? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  That may be a better question for the applicant.  
 
Comm. Hoyt:  As a point of clarification, on Page 9, it lists three primary objections that 
staff has to the plan. Is that a correct assumption that these are the three main sticking 
points, or are there other points that ought to be included? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  The private drive into the new RP-3 portion of the development is a 
sticking point. One of the big changes that occurred between the previous proposal and 
this one was all talked about during Governing Body consideration. The previous 
application asked for changes to the stipulations and phasing. They still want changes to 
the phasing; however, they understand that the stipulations coincide with the financing at 
this point. Those remain in the Staff Report. Those were the main contentious points of 
the previous application; we just moved it along to this one. We are all in agreement that 
it will have to be discussed with Governing Body at the time of Final Plan consideration.  
 
Comm. Hoyt:  You’re saying phasing and financing are along for general information, 
but we shouldn’t necessarily be focusing on them tonight? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  I believe so. Phasing is still a part of this application; however, the 
applicant may be able to tell you a bit more about the financing part of it and if they 
would like for the stipulations to be removed. Staff included them to keep the staff’s 
position forward, as we would like for those to still be followed. 
 
Comm. Hoyt:  So, the gated entryway, improvements in public utilities, street 
construction, and private street issue are critical pieces that are disagreed upon; is that 
correct? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  The private street is not as critical. We do allow private streets within the 
City of Leawood; we just want the applicant to be aware of the requirement to meet 
LDO’s Section 16-8-3.2, which refers to all the regulations that go into a private street. 
 
Comm. Hoyt:  So, gated entry, improvements in public utilities, and street construction 
are the big points. 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  Correct. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  With fairness, the applicant may have a different view of things. That 
is staff’s perspective. 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  Correct. 
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Comm. McGurren:  Is the side setback deviation a concern, also? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  That was an additional deviation completed with this application. Since 
this is a renewed Preliminary Plan, those deviations have to be approved again. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  For clarity, we are starting over again. Nothing has been approved. 
 
Comm. McGurren:  With the height of the building going from 71 to 75 feet, what are 
staff’s thoughts? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  Within the MX-D, 90 feet heights are allowed. They fall well below the 
requirement, so staff is fine with it. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Has the phasing changed from the prior plan? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  It has not changed. They are going from three to five phases. It is the same 
phasing plan we saw when this case came previously. The first phase was all of the RP-3 
portion; the second was the MX-D on the western portion of High Drive; the third phase 
was the MX-D on the eastern portion of High Drive. When we heard this case in January, 
part of the application was to change the phasing. That is now carried over again. We 
heard the phasing changes in January, and we are now hearing them again. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  And there is no change from what the applicant proposed in January? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  Correct. 
 
Comm. Coleman:  Going back to the gated communities, the 2019 update to the 
Comprehensive Plan states that additional gated communities will not be allowed within 
Leawood. Does anyone remember the last gated community that was approved? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  I don’t know that. Richard Coleman may be able to answer better. 
 
Mr. Coleman:  The last gated community was Milano, and that was due to a lawsuit filed 
that required the city to allow it. It was basically because they had a vested interest from a 
zoning many years prior.  
 
Comm. Coleman:  How many gated communities would you say there are in Leawood? 
 
Mr. Coleman:  There were probably three that had gates. Some of them now are 
permanently left open and are actually not gated. There’s one right by City Hall and one 
in Hallbrook that is permanently left open. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Are there any other questions for staff? If not, we’ll hear from the 
applicant. 
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Applicant Presentation: 
John Petersen, Polsinelli Law Firm, 6201 College Boulevard, appeared before the 
Planning Commission and made the following comments: 
 
Mr. Petersen:  I have the privilege of appearing on behalf of Leawood 135, LLC, who is 
the proposed developer for this project. Rick Lashbrook, principle with Leawood 135, is 
with us online and can answer questions. I’m going to take the lead and reset the 
conversation just a bit about this project. I will attempt to not sound like a lawyer but 
state for the record that I disagree a bit with the procedural position we’re in. This is a 
remand, in my opinion, from Governing Body. I don’t think it makes any difference in 
terms of the decisions we make this evening, but I will say that Commissioner Hoyt 
nailed it with message we left City Council with that evening. One other thing I want to 
say to clean the atmosphere in terms of compliance with the LDO is we are in 100% 
compliance for each phase of this project, save the issue of the gating of the driveway 
into our townhomes. 
 As you recall, we brought through the plan that is in front of you on the screen 
right now. It was ultimately approved on December 3, 2018. The city then modified the 
Master Plan in 2019, reflecting what you have before you. As we can see, it was the 
continuation and full completion of 137th Street of Kenneth Road to its current terminus 
the west, the construction of the public streets of High Drive, entering off 135th  Street, 
the cul de sac supporting the villas south of 137th, and the pod of villa product to the 
northwest portion of the site. The frontage along 135th was bifurcated west and east of the 
High Drive entrance. The left piece is the piece that Mr. Lashbrook will ultimately 
develop; the right piece will be developed by the Regnier group. It was all approved at 
the same time. I want to draw a distinction because that plan spoke to phasing. Staff 
walked through it accurately. At that time, we had three phases. The first phase included 
the villas, 137th Street, supporting cul de sacs, the entrance off 135th and High Drive, and 
the deceleration lanes required on 135th Street to access the right turn down High Drive to 
the south. Our amenity area for the villa concept was Phase Two, and then the mixed-use 
portion was Phase Three. That’s the phasing concept. We changed a little bit and now 
have five phases. Just because they’re numbered differently, it doesn’t meant that we’re 
required by approval or by the LDO to start with the one that we call Phase One. It is 
merely just the game plan, but it is not restrictive. There’s another concept of phasing that 
comes into play when we start talking about financing. For the most part, we’re not going 
to talk a lot about the financing tonight. It was the financing of 135th Street with an 
additional through lane, burying of the power lines. Those significant costs were causing 
quite a bit of bumpiness in the road. There’s a phasing element there, too, because right 
now, these stipulations say that before we can plat the first villa in the southeast corner of 
the project and before we can get an occupancy for one villa, we have to build 135th 
Street and bury all the power lines. That is financial phasing, and that is the part that is 
still unresolved. We’re trying to work out those issues as we attempt to work out a 
financing plan for certain public improvements. I don’t want to speak for staff, but I think 
there’s a recognition that 135th Street wouldn’t have to be widened if we’re just doing the 
villa project. That really goes back to Commissioner Hoyt’s position. This plan was 
approved. Rick and his development team started looking at how to implement this. We 
started bumping in to those extraordinary costs of $1.8 million. We filed a Revised Plan 
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because we had to change proposed stipulations. That’s what we brought to you last time 
on the back of this exact plan. It went to City Council saying that we had to pay $1.8 
million in accordance with what was originally proposed. As we worked with the 
financial staff, we tried to find common ground to address finances and financial phasing 
issues. While we did that, Rick kept trying to make the product better, interjecting a new 
living component to the community. That’s when the townhome concept was brought in, 
and it brought in some more units. As we talked with staff about the financial issues, the 
team started to design and took a very good product and took it to a higher level. We 
showed City Council and discussed the financing issues. We diverted off because there 
was a work session that is somewhat related. In the meantime, they asked for this body to 
look at the townhome concept and the new reconfiguration of the MX-D because they 
wanted input in terms of land-planning issues. That is the reason we’re back. Whether it’s 
a new application or remand, I would have a conversation about it if it ever becomes 
important in terms of ramifications. For now, I don’t think it matters. 
 Our new proposal is identical from 137th Street south. There was reference about 
moving 137th Street farther north, which I think was leftover from last time; we already 
moved it north. Everything is exactly as it was approved. What is changed is the 
townhome concept, and we really made the mixed-use multi-family over commercial area 
better. It went from four buildings to three. The multi-family is on the hard corner of 
135th and High Drive, and it is really state-of-the-art with structured parking, the mixed-
use element you’re looking for, and increased amenities. They were back and forth on 
trying to get traction in the market by taking it to a lower price point, but it was decided 
to take it up. We are excited about the townhome villas. It is a sought-after option for 
those moving out of the big homes and want to move to a maintenance-provided 
community with a little less square footage. Maybe they’re not quite yet ready to move 
into the multi-family for-rent product like in the MX-D. These are projected to be 2,000-
2,400 square feet. They sell for about $500,000 a unit. This is not necessarily trying to 
really push a price point out of what we have in the rest of the area. It brings a new living 
concept into the area as a go-between from the villa to the true for-rent multi-family 
living over some commercial activity. The heights went from a mixture of a four-story 
split concept to five stories with covered parking and a pool on the deck. We added 
another unit for a total of 183. When we get to Final Plan, we’ll scale our floor plan to 
make sure we meet the minimum requirements of the LDO. That could change a little bit. 
As staff has indicated, the increase in density is not a relevant factor. In terms of the RP-3 
plan north of 137th, there are 15 buildings with 59 units, which is a slight increase from 
3.07 units per acre to 3.68. There’s an architectural theme with a dense multi-family 
piece tied in with some of the same materials and different architectural vocabulary. This 
is the plan we’d like you to consider approving. We’re in compliance with the LDO. We 
have one deviation in there, which was the side yard on the villa product. We had that 
before, so we’re asking for that to be approved. What is not approved and what is not 
resolved is the 135th Street expansion today, burying of power lines today, breaking up 
the median today, signalization today, and responsibility of the property owner toward 
those costs.  
 I’m going to make a suggestion. We have Stipulation No. 1A in our package, and 
staff corrected it, so we don’t need to talk about it. Stipulation No. 9 speaks to the gated 
community. We ask to delete this stipulation. It’s not an LDO requirement; it’s a Master 
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Plan element that speaks to not wanting a lot of gated communities because it goes 
against the feeling of openness. We understand that, and it makes sense with single-
family neighborhoods. I would suggest in the application we’re proposing here, which is 
really multi-family living, it is one gradation from the multi-family that will be directly to 
the north, which is a gated community as well. It is designed for individuals that want a 
sense of security, and that is the reason we think it makes sense and not totally violative 
of the concept of the Master Plan. We think this will make it a better, more attractive 
project. 
 I’d like to talk about the Public Works memo, which is in Stipulation No. 19. It 
has a number of conditions in and of itself. You are not going to make a decision to 
recommend to Governing Body to build 135th Street today or bury power lines today. 
City Council has clearly indicated that is their decision. I would merely ask that the 
stipulations that speak to that and the Public Works memo that speak to those issues, 
along with the phasing issues, merely be stipulations left in place, but I would be hopeful 
that if you like our new plan from a planning standpoint, you would support the project 
and recommend approval, deferring to Governing Body about the decisions related to 
burying power lines and the Public Works memo. The other option is to approve it, 
subject to the stipulations staff has offered. Stipulation No. 7 calls for burying the power 
lines on day one. No. 9 says that we can’t have the gate. The rest, we accept. The Public 
Works stipulations call for building 135th Street in its entirety, burying power lines, and 
the phasing. With that, we would stand for questions.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  The parts that are now in orange on the plan are the townhomes, 
correct? 
 
Mr. Petersen:  Yes, sir. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  The multi-tenant units are above the MX-D section? 
 
Mr. Petersen:  Correct. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Then, the buildings in the lower righthand corner are all the villas? 
 
Mr. Petersen:  Yes. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Is the upper righthand corner the assisted living facility? 
 
Mr. Petersen:  The purple is the assisted living, and the blue buildings are a variety of 
different styles of commercial utilization. Those will be developed by Mr. Regnier. We 
haven’t touched that component of the project. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for Mr. Petersen? 
 
Comm. Belzer:  Can you talk me through the townhomes a bit more? How many are in 
each building? How many families would be in each? 
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Mr. Petersen:  Four families and one with three. 
 
Comm. Belzer:  Is each entrance separate? 
 
Mr. Petersen:  Each unit has its own front door. The parking garage is in the rear. It’s a 
bit of a Georgetown concept of row homes with a bit of a community out front. It is quite 
similar to the townhome concept on the lake at Mission Farms. Those are gated, by the 
way, and happen to be for rent. These will be for sale.  
 
Comm. Belzer:  I really like the improvements you made to the MX-D buildings in the 
front. I really like the improvements in the townhome concept that has been created. 
 
Comm. Hoyt:  Just so I’m clear on what everybody’s position is here, I seem to have 
understood you saying that even though you’ve had issues with the handful of 
stipulations you bracketed, including the prohibition on the gate, it would be a victory for 
us to approve the plan with the stipulations. Is that correct? 
 
Mr. Petersen:  That’s a fair statement. I don’t expect the Planning Commission to solve 
my funding issue. We’re proud of the plan. I think City Council was interested in the 
Planning Commission seeing the plan.  
 
Comm. Hoyt:  Echoing Commissioner Belzer’s comments, having the townhomes at that 
price point makes me think of a big work session we had with the Leawood Chamber of 
Commerce and City Council, where we looked at the need for this price point of housing. 
That piece seems to be something we’ve been trying to work on. 
 
Comm. McGurren:  I, too, am impressed that we have found something that is a 
possibility that fits within that price range. Is each individual unit two or three stories? 
 
Mr. Petersen:  I think they’re two levels. 
 
Comm. McGurren:  It appears there are maybe sliding glass doors or maybe windows on 
a third level. They obviously go vertical and not horizontal. 
 
Mr. Petersen:  Yes. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  With respect to the Public Works stipulations and the others that do 
not relate to the gate, what is your ask of us? I’m hearing two different things. I thought I 
heard you say that you weren’t looking to us to solve the financing problem, and City 
Council made it clear that it’s their prerogative. On the other hand, in your presentation, 
you indicated you were looking for relief on those stipulations. Can you tell us more 
about what you’re asking? 
 
Mr. Petersen:  I’m not asking for relief from the Planning Commission on those 
stipulations.  
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Chairman Elkins:  That’s good news. Any other questions? Seeing none, I believe this 
calls for a Public Hearing. I would note that the Public Hearing is being conducted via 
Zoom. Prior to the opening of tonight’s meeting, a group of people identified a desire to 
testify. I have a sequence I’ll use to call on individuals. We will keep a timer for four 
minutes per presentation.  
 
Public Hearing 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Is there anyone who wishes to be heard on Case 04-20? 
 
As not one was present to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made by 
Coleman; seconded by Hoyt. Motion carried with a unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. 
For: McGurren, Coleman, Block, Stevens, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Peterson. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  That takes us to discussion of Case 04-20.  
 
Comm. Coleman:  I want to make three points. First, we are starting over with a new 
proposal and not a remand because of the changes from the duplexes to the townhomes 
and the percentages. Second, I am definitely in favor of removing the gate from the plan 
and keeping the stipulation. Third, after looking at staff comments in previous minutes, 
we have a 135th Street Corridor Plan. When we looked at this originally, we denied it 
because it didn’t comply with it. City Council approved it after our initial denial, so I’m 
torn. On one hand, it is a new proposal. It still does not meet the 135th Street Corridor 
Plan. On the other hand, City Council has already approved this in nature. That’s not 
really for or against; I just wanted to make it clear. In addition, since we have other 
proposals tonight, I think this plan, being one of the first on 135th Street, will set 
precedent with the other projects coming. Again, I’m just giving history with where we 
are. 
 
Comm. Block:  I have the same concerns. The 135th Street Community Plan had a lot of 
work going into it. While components of this plan are nice, it doesn’t fit in that plan. For 
that reason, it does give me pause.  
 
Comm. Stevens:  I have similar concerns, but with respect to the changes in the plan, I 
think the townhome housing and RP-3 north of 137th Street is fine as being a denser 
topology, even with the increase in density from 36 to 59 units. The proposal for the 
gated community is a side piece from the rest of the development that was to be mixed-
use, both separate in security of that neighborhood, turning its back on the rest further 
separates the plan from what it could be as being part of that northern development. I 
think it’s too bad the row houses, which are a nice concept of density housing, don’t have 
a transition section or an opening up to the north, facing the apartments and retail area. 
Instead, it’s being closed in, in a separate area, which is not representative of what mixed-
use should be. Despite the improvements and change to the townhome area, because of 
the current plan configuration, I would be voting for denial. The revised phasing was also 
part of what we are reviewing, and that has come together basically the same with the 
potential of what might be delayed or not realized in the development, which is a 
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concern. However, the proposed change in phasing is very similar to what was previously 
approved, and we’re way down the road on that. I would be in support of that alteration, 
subject to the various stipulations that relate to the phasing. The phasing plan in the 
submittal describes the steps with descriptions that aren’t consistent with the stipulations 
on what gets built and when. 
 
Comm. Hoyt:  Could I ask a question of the applicant, even though we’re past that point? 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Sure. 
 
Comm. Hoyt:  This discussion about consistency with the 135th Street Corridor Plan 
reminded me of a point I had a question about. In our most recent examination of this 
report, we spent a fair amount of time talking about the degree to which this plan did or 
didn’t address the objective of developing neighborhoods with a distinctive sense of 
place, and that was part of what was missing, in a sense. On Page 8 of the Staff Report, it 
comes up again. I would love to hear a statement from the applicant on their envisioned 
sense of place. What would tie the entire development together such that some 
commissioners who are currently thinking it doesn’t seem as cohesive and integrated as 
the intent was for MX-D might change their view and think it is the kind of place they 
would want to live in. 
 
Mr. Petersen:  I understand the 135th Street Corridor Plan was the background, but the 
decision was made ultimately that this would fit with the Master Plan. The Corridor Plan 
is guidance. The Master Plan is the document within the milieu of zoning. The Master 
Plan was changed in 2019 to reflect this plan, even though the townhomes are different. 
Some could say that the 135th Street Corridor Plan was distinctive. There are other ways 
to be distinctive, and what might be so in one part of Leawood may not in another. We 
tried to play to a community that likes to be outside, walk, take advantage of the 
extensive bike/hike trails that we implemented in the first plan, tying into the 137th Street 
Corridor and tying into our neighborhoods, making sure the trails connected to 
commercial activity. We see it as a quality housing development with access to the trail 
system. In the same community with a common architectural feel and common 
landscaping, there is a place to rent. It is not interspersed like downtown Kansas City. It 
is not dense with tall office buildings and parking garages. Maybe there are places on the 
corridor that will support that. I don’t think it will be supported everywhere. I think this is 
a great piece of the mosaic for the 135th Street Corridor that is distinctive to its quality, 
design, and the different opportunities it presents for the living public.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Other comments? 
 
Comm. Coleman:  Is what the City Council passed last year part of the Comprehensive 
Plan now? Are we splitting hairs with the intent of the 135th Street Corridor? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  The first application was Case 71-18. Back in 2018 was the first time we 
saw this plan, and it was approved by Governing Body. Staff made updates to the 
Comprehensive Plan Map to show MX-D on the north side with RP-3 on the south side 
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for this property. That still stands. Staff’s position is still that it does not meet the overall 
sense of what the Comprehensive Plan wants for MX-D. We are still opposed to the 
alignment of 137th Street and the RP-3 portion on the north side of 137th Street. Those are 
still concerns; however, because it was changed in the Comprehensive Plan Map, we 
didn’t bring them up. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Additional comments? If not, is there a motion? 
 
A motion to recommend approval of CASE 04-20 – 135 STREET AND KENNETH 
– MIXED USE AND MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL - Request for approval 
of a Revised Preliminary Plan, located south of 135th Street and west of Kenneth 
Road – with all staff  and Public Works stipulations – was made by Hoyt; seconded 
by McGurren. Motion carried with a roll-call vote of 6-2. For: McGurren, Coleman, 
Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Peterson. Opposed: Block, Stevens  
 
five-minute recess 
 
CASE 49-20 – CAMERON’S COURT – Request for approval of a Rezoning from AG 
(Agricultural) and SD-O (Planned Office) to RP-2 (Planned Cluster Residential 
Detached) and MXD (Mixed Use District), Preliminary Plan, and Preliminary Plat, 
located south of 133rd Street and west of State Line Road. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Chairman Elkins:  I would note for the record the comments Mr. Peterson made 
regarding the Interact Meeting in June had to do with this case. 
 
Staff Presentation: 
City Planner Ricky Sanchez made the following presentation: 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  This is Case 49-20 – Cameron’s Court – Request for approval of Rezoning 
from AG and SD-O to RP-2 and MX-D, Preliminary Plan, and Preliminary Plat. This 
project is on a total of approximately 116 acres, reaching from Pawnee Lane to State Line 
Road and 133rd Street to 135th Street. In total, the development will include 66 single-
family lots, 662 multi-family units, 444,864 square feet of retail/office space, and 66,472 
square feet of a hotel. The project has been broken into different tracts and phases. Staff 
would like to show a visual (projects on the monitor). The first phase is the RP-2 portion, 
which is on 133rd Street and Pawnee. The second phase is Tract B, which is proposed to 
be mixed use. Tract A would be Phase Three, just south of the RP-2 portion, the majority 
of which is on 135th Street. Phase Four is Tract C and is on State Line Road.  
 This proposed project does not meet a number of regulations and standards set 
forth by the LDO, 135th Street Community Plan, and Comprehensive Plan. We’d like to 
talk about the parking study. Section 16-4-5.4a of the LDO allows for a parking study to 
be created and adopted by Governing Body. That then allows for changes in the parking 
ratio allowed. The study that was submitted to staff was for the development to the south. 
Staff is not supportive of this, as there are major differences in those developments. Staff 
would like to see a new parking study done for this development. They are also proposing 
1.46 parking spaces per unit within the residential portions of the mixed-use part of the 
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development, which are in Phase Two and Phase Three. Normally, those would require 
two parking spaces per residential unit, one totally enclosed, and 3.0-3.5 parking spaces 
per 1,000 gross feet for nonresidential space. The two residential areas are also proposed 
to be gated, which does not allow for cross-access easements for parking. Staff does not 
support the reduction and required parking for the gated residential areas. The Planning 
Commission may also remember that we updated the LDO requirement for the parking 
not too long ago to have one totally enclosed and gross square footage. This proposed 
project also shows private streets within Tracts A and B. Section 16-8.3.2a of the LDO 
states that private streets within residential are only allowed within residential 
developments only. Because this is within the mixed-use development, it is not 
technically allowed. The streets will have to meet city standards if they are private. The 
applicant also does not meet corner lot street side setbacks within the RP-2 portion of the 
development. Corner lot street side setbacks are supposed to have a 20’ setback, and the 
plan shows a 10’ setback. The applicant is proposing covered parking areas. Per the 
LDO, they have to be connected to the primary structure and also has to be a maximum 
of 15 feet away from the primary structure. This is showing a covered parking area with a 
walkway that goes into an island, which is approximately 45 feet. The actual structure 
itself is 75 feet away from the primary structure. Since this is considered covered parking, 
the applicant is using them to meet the covered parking requirements. Removal of the 
structures would affect the parking numbers. Additionally, per the LDO, 6’ retaining 
walls are allowed; however, they have to be stepped back for each foot in height. A 7’ 
wall would require an addition 1’ setback. One retaining wall is 6 feet high; however, it is 
within the parking setback. Another wall has a maximum height of 10 feet. Staff would 
prefer a maximum of 6 feet. It could be broken into two 5’ walls that are terraced so there 
is not one massive wall. It would also have to be set back 5 feet. Those are all elements 
that don’t meet LDO requirements.  
 Within the Comprehensive plan is another set of regulations it does not comply 
with. Per the map, the RP-2 portion should be MX-D. We discussed gated communities 
with the previous application. This development is proposing two gated communities. To 
create a sense of community, we do not allow gated communities per the Comprehensive 
Plan. Within the MX-D plan, unity and connection should be a part. Gated communities 
disconnect the overall sense, really creating four separate developments that the applicant 
chooses to apply as one. High Drive already separates RP-2 and one part of the 
apartments on the south facing 135th Street. All of the uses are already disconnected. All 
the commercial and office are along State Line Road. There is another development of 
apartments and a third development of apartments, and then single-family residential. 
Pedestrian activity is only shown within the separated areas, so they really don’t connect 
to each other much. What does connect is across High Drive, and staff would like to see 
more connection between these items. Also, this project is so large that it would be hard 
to get from one end of the development all the way to the commercial portion by a 
pedestrian route. The site design alone does not meet the human scale, village style, and 
main street style for mixed-use developments that Leawood is looking for. It is staff’s 
position that these are four separate developments that really don’t speak to each other, 
and two being gated really does not help.  
 Within the 135th Street Community Plan are regulations that this plan does not 
meet as well. The applicant has submitted a plan that shows a variety of road types 
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distinguished in the 135th Street Community Plan, including neighborhood streets. In the 
Comprehensive Plan is a broad guide, including widths, sidewalks, and rain gardens. The 
applicant has proposed this within the gated communities and some in the commercial 
area. Staff does not think these are great uses or that they are the intent behind the 135th 
Street Community Plan, which is to create pedestrian connections that can be traversed 
with ease. They also use a destination street that does not meet the intent of a destination 
street. It is supposed to have 16’ sidewalks with enough room for multiple groups to walk 
next to each other, bike racks, seating, active businesses on the street, and on-street 
parking. This plan does not meet any of that. The applicant is also proposing to not 
construct Kenneth Road and Chadwick Road. Staff sees this as something that could 
potentially really hurt the development, as these are huge north-south connectors that 
could help the development and hurt the ability to create grid streets, which staff sees as 
more efficient and more sustainable. Grid streets also create walkability. The future street 
network approved by Governing Body shows Chadwick going through the development. 
It also shows a 10’ hike-bike trail on the west side of Kenneth Road. They are not 
proposing Kenneth Road or Chadwick. The 135th Street Community Plan talks about 
transects. This provides a sort of transect with low-density residential, moving to high-
density residential, another high density residential, and then the commercial. That was 
not the intent of a transect; it is to be able to easily transition from one use to another use 
with different densities and to be able to connect all those things seamlessly. This has 
separated all those parts of the development, and we do not see it as a true use of 
transects. In the 135th Street Community Plan, the low-density residential is supposed to 
be on 133rd Street. To the north is the lower density. It transitions further to the south, and 
then it would be the grid street network. Then, there is another sense of density closer to 
135th Street. 
 Stipulation Nos. 2-13 are necessary for staff to do a full review of the proposed 
project. Staff believes if Nos. 2-13 are applied in any way, it could cause a substantial 
change to the plan, which could cause the plan to come back. Additional changes may be 
created with other issues that need to be reviewed by multiple city departments. We have 
been in contact with the Fire Department and Public Works. As you can see, we see a lot 
of issues with this project, and we need time to review them. We need to work with other 
departments to gauge their concerns to be able to give a full review of the project. Thank 
you. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for Mr. Sanchez? 
 
Comm. Coleman:  From what you just proposed, there seems to be a big disconnect 
between you and what the applicant is proposing. Can you go into a bit more detail about 
your work with the applicant and how we got to this point? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  With every application that comes in to the City of Leawood, we do a pre-
application meeting. At that time, the plan is in early stages. That is normally where all 
the design-type work happens with staff and the applicant. From that point to this point, 
not a lot has changed. There have been minor changes due to not meeting LDO 
requirements. We have reiterated often that it does not meet the 135th Street Community 
Plan and the Comprehensive Plan. The applicant could talk more about their process. 
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Comm. Hoyt:  It’s basically what Commissioner Coleman just said, except I can’t really 
remember a plan of this scope coming through with so many nonconforming elements, 
even with just the LDO, which is a preliminary benchmark of acceptability. Then, we get 
into the Comprehensive Plan issues, which is another pretty firm guideline that we try to 
follow. The 135th Street Corridor Plan is maybe a bit more subjective at times, but it just 
seems to me that it would be very difficult to approve this plan, even with the 
stipulations, and know what we were approving.  
 
Mr. Sanchez:  I forgot to end our presentation. The proposed application does not meet 
multiple requirements within the LDO, 135th Street Community Plan, and 
Comprehensive Plan. Therefore, staff recommends denial of Case 49-20. We just wanted 
that on the record. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Did you have a response to Commissioner Hoyt’s 
question? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  That is where staff is, also. They wanted to move forward with the 
application. We tried to work with them, and this is where we are. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Is it accurate for us to conclude that, at least for conflicts with the 
LDO, we don’t really have the discretion to approve a plan that conflicts with the LDO 
itself; correct? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  That is correct. The Planning Commission cannot approve a plan that does 
not meet the LDO. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  In contrast, we may have some discretion relative to the 
Comprehensive Plan or the 135th Street Community Plan. 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  Correct. 
 
Comm. Hunter:  My understanding was that, even if the applicant agreed to all the 
stipulations, the city still wouldn’t recommend approving this. If we can’t approve it 
because it doesn’t meet the LDO, how did we get here? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  You are correct. If the retaining wall has to move within the setback, we 
don’t know what that will do to the entire site. Units may have to move to another area. 
We would like for the applicant to meet the LDO, 135th Street Community Plan, and the 
Comprehensive Plan and then resubmit the plan. We are unaware of what may happen. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  When you say that, even with the stipulations, it would require 
additional review by the staff and various departments. Can you explain that in a bit more 
detail? 
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Mr. Sanchez:  Planning staff works closely with all the other departments in the city. If 
they were to add Kenneth Road, it affects the planning side, Fire, Police, and Public 
Works potentially. Any change could affect all departments, and all would need to 
consider the changes. 
 
Comm. Stevens:  This is a little off subject, but for clarity, regarding the planned heights 
shown, the apartments in Tract B are all to be five-story apartment buildings. Maybe it’s 
a better question for the applicant, but it appears there is confusion in even the heights of 
the density being shown. 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  Building heights have to meet LDO requirements of 90 feet in MX-D. All 
of the buildings are in that range, so that is fine. We do a preliminary check on the 
building elevations, but it is not a requirement until Final Plan consideration.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  What is the total distance from the western side of Tract A to the 
eastern side of Tract B? Do you have a ballpark estimate? One of the concerns of staff is 
the distance between the various tracts. 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  I don’t know off the top of my head. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Are there further questions? If not, I would invite the applicant to 
speak. Mr. Holland, will you be presenting? 
 
Mr. Holland:  No, it will be Rick Oddo. We’ll also have Henry Klover as the architect. 
I’ll probably follow him and get into some of the stipulations. 
 
Applicant Presentation: 
Rick Oddo, appeared before the Planning Commission and made the following 
comments: 
 
Mr. Oddo:  I’ve lived in Leawood for 42 years, and whatever I build will be something 
that will add value to the neighborhood and not detract from it. I’m happy to present a 
viable MX-D plan that is market driven and ready to start now. Over a year ago, I saw a 
plan come before this commission, and it had very large buildings, multi-story structures, 
and criss-cross streets. The neighborhood hated it. They didn’t want the streets, the 
parking garages, the attached parking, and big buildings. They kept saying they wanted a 
Villa Milano community, like we have done just a half mile to the south. I’m giving you 
Villa Milano-type housing, plus, I’m giving an extra two rows of single-family homes 
along 133rd as an additional buffer. Cameron’s Court starts on State Line and goes to 
Pawnee. It’s almost 4,800 lineal feet. You could put five Park Places in this thing. It’s 
going to be hard to make everything all interconnected. This is why we’ve broken it up 
into four chunks. However, I do want to bring up that this is the MX-D zoning in 
Leawood. It was proposed 18 years ago. Since that time, only three communities got 
started, all of which failed because of all the interconnecting streets to make it impossible 
to build something or to make the setbacks work. They basically failed because retail 
doesn’t work if it’s not concentrated. It needs to be easy to get to, in high-traffic areas, 
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and without parking garages. Retail must have easy-access parking. Unfortunately, MX-
D calls for way too many streets. It hides the retail and makes it too difficult to find. 
Criss-crossing streets make it impossible for it to work. No national tenant will go in a 
mixed-use development with these requirements. Therefore, you can’t get financing, and 
that’s why what little has started has stopped. Nothing is going to be built if the exact 
LDO is followed. I’m asking for just a slight modification on the MX-D plan like you did 
across the street at 135th Street, where you’ve got a little bit of commercial and retail in 
one area and the residential component in another area. This is what works in suburban 
Leawood. In Johnson County, they don’t want to be in 10-story buildings; they want to 
have elbow room. They want to have a lot of green space. If you notice, we have lots of 
green space, far more than any that has ever been proposed before. We placed a high-
density retail/commercial aspect on the east side by State Line, and we already have the 
high-density retail center where Price Chopper is. Between, we have residential 
communities. This is the ideal way to do an MX-D community. We have low-density 
apartments going into RP-2, which is single-family homes into more single-family 
homes. The other items I’m asking for are some practical design standards that are more 
in line with what the market wants so we can build a viable community. Oddo 
Development has designed a unique plan that we believe not only meets the intent of the 
city’s Master Plan for the 135th Street Corridor, but will also bring much-needed housing 
options to the neighborhood and much-needed additional property taxes to the schools 
and the city with very little impact to either. The site layout proposes a graduated density 
from apartments to RP-2 as a buffer, placing commercial and retail at the highest-traffic 
intersection, which is at State Line and 135th Street where it should be. We’re also trying 
to dedicate as many natural zones as possible on both sides of the church. We have all the 
green space and natural trees staying in that area. We’re even trying to save the natural 
trees in the Chadwick area. That’s why we have our entrance opening up on both sides of 
the big large lot of trees. This development will create millions in property taxes for the 
city and nearby schools with minimum impact to student population. After 20 years of 
the 135th Street Corridor remaining undeveloped, the proposed plan is viable, and we can 
begin development immediately. This plan meets the spirit of MX-D without requesting 
deviations or density increases and places commercial and retail development where it’s 
appropriate along State Line. It’s also market driven. I’ve had a lot of Interact Meetings, 
probably more than any other developer. I’ve met with dozens of individuals. I’ve met 
with three HOAs multiple times, and I’ve tried to incorporate their suggestions into our 
plans. The number one thing was to offset High Drive, which we did. The neighbors 
didn’t want High Drive to line straight up so cars could fly from one end right into 
Wilshire. They also wanted to limit the entrances on commercial sites off State Line. 
Instead, we made only one turn-in at Kenneth. They also didn’t want Kenneth to be a 
straight-through street, as staff is proposing. They wanted it for the same reason they 
wanted High Drive offset; they didn’t want cars running straight through. Kenneth just 
goes a few feet on the other side, so to have it carry through doesn’t do much. It also will 
end up killing all the trees on both sides of the church, or at least on the east side. The 
neighbors also want us to direct as much traffic away from 133rd Street as possible, which 
we have done. None of our apartments open up onto 133rd. As long as I can gate it, the 
only exit will be an emergency exit. We’ve really tried to help them with that. We also 
wanted to minimize the density as much as possible. Along 133rd, those are not five-story 
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buildings. The five-story buildings are on 135th Street across the street from six-story 
buildings you were just reviewing. We have three-story buildings along 133rd. It is in 
conformance. The other thing people ask is to keep the commercial area away from the 
residential area and keep it at State Line. They wanted 133rd walkable and to be able to 
ride bikes, and that’s what we’ve done. After meeting with all of the people, we tried to 
incorporate their wants into our plan. That’s why we do have a couple HOAs approving 
it, and the third is unfortunately split. I wish I could have all, but two out of three isn’t 
bad.  
 Before we get into the highlights of our community, I do know you received some 
letters and will hear people speak later that are worried about things or have some 
misconceptions. One thing I can’t overcome is those who just want single-family homes. 
That’s not fair and reasonable. This ground needs to be highest and best use, but it needs 
to be something that’s not going to destroy the integrity of the neighborhood. That’s what 
my plan does. It works with the neighborhood. The other thing that is not reasonable is to 
have all single-family homes. It just can’t be done. We need a community with multiple 
housing options, and we also need to bring in some tax dollars. My product is needed, 
and the tax dollars this will bring in are greatly needed by they city. One of the problems 
we’re having is most of the people don’t understand who our residents are. These are the 
highest-end apartments. I’ve won several awards for apartments I’ve built. We build a 
gated community, stucco, stone, high finishes. Because of that, we attract high-end 
homeowners. The average income is over $124,000 a year. Our average age is 52 years 
old. As a matter of fact, 1/3 of them are over 65. Of the other residents, 1/3 are divorcees 
who live in the neighborhood and want to live within two miles of their families, and the 
other 1/3 executives who travel a lot who like the gated community so they can have the 
“lock and leave” feel. The other issue we hear as a worry is there will be too many kids, 
and the schools will be overwhelmed. Typically, because they’re so high-end, we only 
have 3-5 kids per apartment community. That’s because we normally have 20% with 
three bedrooms, and the other portion is split 50/50 between one and two bedrooms. 
Because of their concerns, I removed all three bedrooms from this community, which are 
the biggest driver of kids. We’ve gone from 50/50 to 65% one bedroom and 35% two 
bedrooms. Therefore, we’ll have very few kids. If we have 3-5 kids per development, I 
would be surprised. The other issue we hear about is traffic. This plan will add traffic to 
133rd and 135th. Everything will add traffic. However, this plan is a fraction of what the 
LDO allows. You saw the plan for eight- and ten-story buildings. Those areas allow up to 
96 units per acre. We are at 11.17 units per acre, so we’re very low density. Across the 
street, just the residential component is at 26.9 units per acre. I can’t build something 
lower density than this. This is what people in Johnson County and the suburbs want: lots 
of elbow space, lots of green walkable space, and beautiful, wide-open spaces. This is 
how you build a beautiful, sustainable property, and it does not produce much traffic. 
These streets were designed to handle 6-10 times more traffic than what we’re proposing, 
so we know they will handle it. I hear about home values. We know that high-end 
apartments don’t hurt the values of homes. We saw that when I built Villa Milano. Home 
values continue to skyrocket. They’ve built million-dollar homes right next door. I’m so 
sure of it that I’m going to be building $750,000-$800,000 homes as a buffer. I will have 
more expensive homes than the homes to the north. What brings prices down is the 
uncertainty of what could be built, like high rises, parking garages, what has been 
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proposed before, or what the LDO actually asks for. What keeps prices low is good 
buffers, low density, and high quality, which is what I plan to do. We also know that 
high-end apartments don’t have any crime. You know that. I know that, especially if it’s 
gated. The outside people can’t come in. They can’t do the quick smash-and-grab. All 
that is eliminated if the apartments are gated. The last issue that we had dealt with color, 
texture, and design. Everybody has an opinion. Unfortunately, we’ll never please 
everybody, but I do have three different styles of homes from single-family homes to 
traditional and then more modern. I can’t please everybody, but I’m sure trying to. 
Overall, most people like the plan. Even those who are against it like 80% of the plan. 
Overall, most of the neighbors know that something needs to be built on this site, or 
something will be built sometime. It was stated by several neighbors that this plan is far 
better than anyone ever suggested or thought was possible because of the single-family 
buffers. Plus, they like the traditional look of the two-story apartment buildings that we 
have, and they understand the other is a modern look. Both apartment units are very low 
density with 11.17 units per acre. Remember, across the street, it was 26.9 units per acre, 
and it was just approved. The minute we designed office and retail, not what we think is 
needed there, but the absolutely minimal that is allowed in MX-D. We are asking for the 
minimum required by your ordinance. This is a little bit of everything for everybody, 
which is what MX-D is. This happens to be a horizontal MX-D that works instead of one 
that is on top of each other that is having problems with financing and finding tenants.  
 Let’s look at what this community will bring in tax benefits. Just for the single-
family homes, the starting prices are $750,000 and will probably go closer to $800,000. 
This will bring in about $546,000 a year in property taxes. Of that, 52% goes to the 
school district. They’re going to get $284,000 a year in taxes. City of Leawood will get 
an additional $65,000 a year. The west apartment community is going to be valued 
around $76 million. With its assessments, it will pay almost $1 million in property taxes, 
which is pretty close to what I’m paying at Villa Milano based on units. The school 
would get $517,000 a year. The city would get $119,000. By the time we get this built, it 
will probably be well over $120,000 in property taxes. The east phase is $72 million and 
has fewer units. Property tax there will be a little over $940,000. Once again, the school 
gets almost $.5 million per year, and the city will get $113,000 a year. The tax benefits of 
the residential side alone is over $248,000 a year. School districts will get $1.2 million, 
all for 6-8 kids. The city will get 12%, which is almost $300,000 a year. The apartments 
and commercial will take care of their own streets. It is relatively no additional expense 
to the city from the apartments and commercial parts. The commercial, we believe, has a 
lot of moving parts, but it’s going to be around $150 million. Once again, that should be a 
higher assessment, but it’s the right number of $1.9 million in property taxes. School 
district will get a little over $1 million a year, and the city will get $234,000 a year. In 10-
20 years, the total property tax generated by this community is over $18 million. For the 
last 20 years, it’s been sitting vacant, and it’s what you would walk away from. Taxes for 
the schools are $46 million over 20 years with $2.3 million a year for 6-8 kids. Let’s say 
we double the number of kids. That’s still a pretty good rate. The city will get over $.5 
million a year with relatively no additional expense. Plus, there are over $2 million in 
impact fees, park fees, and fees I have to pay before I even get building permits.  
 Let me work through some of the major benefits that we’ve got. We have a 
variety of living styles with single-family homes and two different styles of apartments. 
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We are going to do the big-home look, similar to Villa Milano and Sonoma Hill. We’re 
going to have two rows of single-family homes between $750,000 and $850,000, which 
proves that these do not hurt the values of homes. As a matter of fact, I’ve already got 8-
10 people who have told me to call them because they want to be first in line to pick their 
lots. It’s hard to find homes in the city that are under $1 million. As you saw across the 
street, townhomes at $.5 million and duplexes at $600,000. It’s really hard this day and 
age to build a single-family house for less than $750,000. The west apartments are the 
big-home look. They’re made of stucco, stone, and wood trim. Some of the roofs have 
metal roofs to add extra texture and other elements. The main entrance is off Chadwick, 
and we tried to conserve the trees. Yes, we want it gated. I think it adds so much to a 
community. That’s one of the reasons we were considered the highest and best in our 
community with Villa Milano. I want to keep that going. The other two entrances are off 
High Drive and Pawnee. We’re trying to keep all our apartment traffic off 133rd. If 
Chadwick were to go through, it would destroy the single-family community, and it eats 
up all the trees. It destroys the look. Everybody wants green space. They want elbow 
room. I’m giving them tons of walking space, bike paths, and everything around here. 
The eastern apartments are the five-story buildings. The four buildings on the north end 
are all three-story buildings, and there is a one-story clubhouse. The eastern development 
has only two buildings adjacent to 133rd. The two buildings have been designed to have 
limited cross-section, so it’s just the ends of the buildings to reduce the profile along 
133rd. The eastern development acts as a transitional phase between the big houses and 
the commercial. There is a large draw running through, and the design of the buildings 
helps transition due to changes in elevations throughout that area. It’s a different high-end 
style of living. These are called tuck-unders. The problem we’re having is the tuck-under 
design is the most predominant new design of high-end apartments, and it’s really hard to 
build under the LDO because you want parking garages, and we’re trying to avoid 
parking garages because it makes the building too big. I want to stress that both 
communities are very low density, and you just approved a horizontal MX-D across the 
street with residential in one area and commercial/retail in another. I want to do the same 
kind of thing. I’ll also remind you that the area with the apartment ended up being zoned 
at 26.9, which is 2 ½ times denser than what we have. We’re at 11.1. All the commercial 
and retail is concentrated on the east end of the community, where the concentration will 
help strengthen the retail and keep the traffic away from residential areas, which was 
asked for at every single meeting. I’m sure some will talk about it. They don’t want 
retail/commercial brought in west of Kenneth Road. Please keep in mind that residents 
will drive the retail and commercial. Without the residential, there is no need for 
commercial and retail. I think you have a plan that said that there really isn’t a need for 
more commercial buildings; residential is what we need.  

You saw a lot of differences from staff on what they say doesn’t meet the LDO. 
I’m going to go over some of the differences. Basically, the LDO wants dense buildings 
and taller buildings with parking garages. It makes these buildings much bigger. The 
scale gets too big. They’re not needed or wanted. Johnson County wants low-profile 
buildings that are smaller with lots of green space and walking trails. That’s what I did. If 
you cut it up with streets, it doesn’t come out as nice. We’re going to have private drive. 
We need them. We want to gate the community. As John Petersen just said, parking 
garages have gates to keep people out. We’re doing it at the street before people come in. 
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I don’t spend $700,000 if it’s not needed. I do it because it’s a major asset and benefit to 
the community and the residents. It reduces crime from outsiders. People don’t come 
cruise the street, looking for opportunities for “smash and grab.” With all the seniors and 
traveling executives that we have, they like the added security the fencing and gated 
community bring. Our residents like the “lock and leave.” A lot of our seniors have 
places in other cities. Now, they’re not traveling, but normally they do, and they love the 
extra security of the gate. Another odd reason we like the gated community is it keeps our 
grounds much cleaner. We DNA test all our dogs, so if we find feces in the ground, we 
test it, and we find the tenant who didn’t pick up after their dogs. If it’s not gated, we’ll 
get too many dogs coming through, and we won’t be able to monitor it. Therefore, for our 
clean grounds, we want to be able to monitor it. It doesn’t hurt the communities. These 
communities are so large that 30 acres and 25 acres have plenty of room. On the east 
community, the only entrance we have and the reason we want gates is it will allow us to 
have the one exit onto 133rd Street to be controlled access to only emergency services in 
and out. We will have no access to 133rd if I’m allowed to be gated. This is why some of 
the neighbors want us to have a gated community, just like we did at Milan. Gates, to me, 
add prestige. Villa Milano has been a great asset to Leawood, and we want to do the same 
thing here. On the big homes, staff has suggested that we remove the gutters. I don’t 
think they cause a problem to the looks of the building. They’re on the corners of the 
buildings. This is supposed to look like a house, and it’s residential-style construction. 
It’s not a good idea to have no gutters. On the east community, we have a flat roof and 
commercial-style construction, so it will have internal gutters. These are residential-style 
construction and should not have water introduced to the walls; it will just bring mold. 
We could eliminate the gutters completely, but that would cause erosion, and we don’t 
want that, either. Please don’t ask us to do something that goes against common sense, 
even if it’s in the LDO. Another difference that is required in the LDO is tile roofs. It 
becomes cost prohibitive. It is over $2 million to add tile roofs to the west community 
and adds no value to the residents. As a matter of fact, staff asked early on if the homes 
were for sale or rent. I asked why they wanted to know. They said there are different 
standards for rent or for sale. For sale doesn’t need tile roofs, but if it is for rent, it does. I 
would be very careful with stuff like that because it could be interpreted as redlining, 
discriminating, adding extra costs to keep renters out. I’d be very careful of that. As a 
Leawood resident, I don’t want to bring that upon us. None of the homes in our area have 
tile roofs; they’re all asphalt shingles, so we should have the same. We designed it like 
we did Villa Milano, which didn’t have tile roofs. I think it’s an unreasonable expense or 
just a misunderstanding. The next difference is really important, and it goes back to what 
they said about 75 feet, which goes to the middle of the hallway. We have one garage for 
every unit. We have to have separation so that people can back out. It is called a tuck-
under because the garage is tucked underneath. Unfortunately, we can only get about 1/3 
of the garages in the building. With the detached garages, every unit has one, which is 
nice asset that is needed and wanted. To have them attached would require some type of 
structure connecting the two. That’s silly. It doesn’t make sense. It has to be tall enough 
that fire trucks and moving trucks can get under. It’s not smart. The LDO just needs to be 
updated to handle something that is being built in the last 20 years. This is the only city 
whose LDO doesn’t allow this. This is the most sought-after product. Staff also wants us 
to have trash compactors attached to the buildings. This goes back to the same thing. 
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Trash compactors should never be attached to a residential building. They stink, and 
they’re a fire hazard. As we know, sometimes, fires can start inside. Therefore, we want 
the trash compactors by High Drive. It is detached from the buildings and provides easy 
access. We drive by twice a week to pick up trash. We also want it inside the gates 
because if we don’t have gates, neighbors drop off tires, batteries, and couches. We like 
to keep it clean, and the gated community helps us with that. Staff wants more streets, but 
if you look at the occupancy level of those that are all chopped up, you’ll see they’re not 
as high as what we get. We’re getting higher values for our communities than anyplace 
else in the city because we build it best. Staff wants Chadwick to go through. I think it 
would destroy it and serve no purpose. We’ve got traffic studies that show that Chadwick 
does not need to go through. We also show that the street over in Kenneth could loop 
around to commercial, which is not needed. These wants destroy the green space and 
what we discussed to be successful. I want to stress that the church has also asked that 
Kenneth Road gets looped around and not go through. They want to preserve those trees. 
They don’t want the noise of the traffic going by their school and church. Kenneth will 
destroy that seclusion. Everybody wants to save those trees. We’re talking about 1,100 
feet of trees about 80 feet wide that we’ll save by looping Kenneth around. Once again, 
the traffic report supports all of this. 

In short, staff is pushing for a design with lots of streets that go from 135th to 
133rd, which the neighbors do not want. The design requirements are so costly that we 
can’t afford to build them, or if we do, we end up having to put parking garages that the 
neighbors don’t want, and both height and density increase. I’m trying to keep the cost 
reasonable and keep a low profile with lots of green space. The MX-D plan as designed 
in the LDO doesn’t have a market, especially three miles of it. I can’t imagine how many 
Park Places that is, and you know that Park Place isn’t really knocking them dead with 
residential or retail. Other projects built as MX-D got started and have just stalled. If the 
current LDO is enforced, nothing will ever be built here. The neighbors don’t want streets 
doing through like Chadwick. The developer doesn’t want it, and the traffic study shows 
that it’s not needed. Why destroy the trees and green space? People move to the suburbs 
for elbow space, and they don’t want a College Boulevard on steroids. Plus, we need a 
design that can get tenants and keep residents here. Plus, I can get financing with this; 
whereas, the other products really can’t get financing. 

In conclusion, I have a viable MX-D plan that is market-drive, that the 
community can support, and so will the market. The development team has worked very 
hard to design a plan that differs significantly from what others have tried to bring to the 
area with a lot less density and smaller scale. We may not have done what staff wanted, 
but we did what the neighbors wanted. We maintained the integrity of the neighborhood 
and dispersed the traffic away from the existing single-family homes, moving it to 135th 
and to State Line. The proposed High Drive connection at 133rd has been offset to the 
south, so it doesn’t line up correctly with the north side to disperse traffic from High 
Drive going straight through to Wilshire Place. Once again, it was requested by the 
neighbors. We moved commercial and retail away from the existing residential 
communities toward the high-density State Line Road. We also have different residential 
products that are needed and will make the retail more viable. We’ll produce millions of 
dollars in taxes that are needed, and we’re ready to start now. With that, I’m going to turn 
this over to Henry Klover, who worked hard with us and the community to try to get a 
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plan together. We’ll let him go through some of the notes and things that staff brought up 
as well. 

 
Henry Klover, Klover Architects, 8813 Pembroke Lane, Lenexa, appeared before the 
Planning Commission and made the following comments (Chairman Elkins tried to 
interject throughout, but Mr. Klover could not hear him): 
 
Mr. Klover:  The first thing we wanted to talk about was the design. Rick went through a 
lot, so I’ll be brief. The big homes are designed to have individual garages that have 
internal access to each unit. They have direct access from the outside. There are no 
hallways or corridors. It is a very secure environment. The second type is what we call 
the tuck-unders. They are very popular, and it is not currently allowed by the LDO 
because of the garage issue and the attachment, which we view as an interpretation issue. 
We would like to ask to do that as well. The commercial is designed as all of those 
around the 135th Street Corridor are because of the rules. We are asking for a hotel, we 
can’t have limited parking. We are asking for a gas station. We have tried to encompass 
all the parking. We have a lot of trees at the request of the neighborhood. They did not 
want direct access to Overbrook. The design is in relationship to the ordinances. I’ll get 
into comments from staff briefly to deal with those as well. We do intend to comply with 
the LDO. The only differences are things that popped up fairly recently. For example, we 
planned on using the same basic analysis for this side of the street as was used on the 
other side of the street, but that is not actually what we’re asking for. The actual average 
is around 1.66. The 1.46 was a number that came from a study that we did. I told them it 
was something we had from before, but I actually gathered the information, did the 
research, worked with EPC on the units that had been stabilized, came up with the square 
footage. I could have just as easily taken the information I gave to Jeff that he put in the 
report and did it myself. All the information is accurate. The only reason it was put on 
there was because it was a very last-minute request on his part. He wanted 
documentation, and we gave it to him. Other than that, we would have been able to 
provide it. All three developers have come to the same basic conclusion in how they want 
to operate. I don’t think staff will have any objection because they don’t want parking 
spaces that will sit empty. The reality is we can put the deferred parking today; it is not 
really an issue. We can get more parking. We can put deferred parking that we don’t 
need, but we’ve all looked at it. We can provide a study again, which I actually did and 
wrote myself. This wasn’t really designed for a shared use because of the fact that 
residential in shared use stands on its own and doesn’t share parking. We’re more than 
happy to provide a parking study. We didn’t see an issue; it was a last-minute request. 
With regard to private streets and the number that they want, I’ll get into that in a bit. I 
kind of got ahead of myself because I’m trying to deal with comments from staff. What 
you see is my 18 years of working in Leawood. I started with Cornerstone in 2002. We 
did a proposal to staff in 2003 to put big box retail that is now existing on the other side 
of the street in Missouri. It wasn’t accepted in Leawood. In 2005-2006, we did Mission 
Corner, which did get approved. One of the buildings got designed, but it fell apart and 
failed. We worked on Blue Valley Promenade in 2006, which was a very grandiose plan 
that would have been a game-changer for the community, but the market didn’t accept it. 
Westside Mission was a project we went through the process and did not get approved. 
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The Village of Seville was built in 2007, and the neighbors have all brought up that it’s 
partly empty. We worked on Villagio in 2014, which was to try to get the grocery store 
moved into that area. We did Leawood Market also in 2014. We worked on 135th and 
Kenneth, which you just approved across the street, and now Cameron’s Court. We have 
nine projects over 18 years. You might notice that none of them have anything built with 
the exception of Cornerstone. Cornerstone had an office building with structural steel, 
and it failed. It’s partly to point out that we’ve been working on this for a very long time. 
The Regniers have owned a lot of this property, and Bob will talk in the future. 
Obviously, this is MX-D, but one of the principles of design is what we call the dog bone, 
which is usually putting the highest and best use of commercial on the corners. It has 
been noted in appraisals that the properties on the corner of 135th and State Line are 
going to sell a lot more than the property in the middle of Kenneth or High Drive. The 
dog bone means retail at each end, and lesser uses go between. One of staff’s comments 
was about the streets. Putting intersections in just to put in a grid section is an urban 
environment, and it is not what we consider to be appropriate in this type of area because 
of sheer mass. You can see the densities they ask for. Inside of that block, there are 40 
corners inside. There are 20 corners on 135th Street and 20 on 133rd Street. The nodes 
they call for are supposed to be activated by retail and restaurants. There is no way we 
can create anywhere close to 40-80 corner retail/entertainment environments. The intent 
is to have something like Park Place. It would be 6 million square feet if you multiply 
Park Place by 4 or 5. It’s not a feasible plan. It is more important to understand what can 
happen. This property has sat for a very long time. Obviously, this is straight out of your 
guidelines, and none of the residents have wanted it. They don’t want high rises; they 
don’t want density; they don’t want a 150’ building next to them. 
 I do want to go into staff comments. As I stated, the first was on the LDO. We do 
intend to comply with the LDO. We can provide the parking study. The private streets 
and the grid are not in the ordinance; they are in the 135th Street Community Plan. It does 
have sizes and connections, but the issue is that there is no way those can happen under 
your LDO. For example, the three types of streets that were mentioned all would have to 
be twice as wide as what they suggest, per the LDO. With all that is asked for: sidewalk, 
parking, median in the middle, the tightest is around 90 feet. By ordinance, it can’t be 
more than 116 feet or 140 feet with a setback reduction. If you know anything about 
urban design or these types of projects, the tightness and ability to connect is what’s 
important. There is a disconnect. I don’t remember who the councilmember was, but on 
the last project, he said it was like playing Whack-a-Mole. The minute we meet one, we 
get another one we can’t meet because they’re not compatible. We would request you 
review that. The accessory structure is the only thing we would ask for relief on because 
we do have a product we’d like to get built. We do intend to comply with the retaining 
walls. We thought we’d answered the question, but obviously, we didn’t answer it to their 
request. The comments from Public Works showed up a few days ago, and we’ll deal 
with those issues. The Fire Department comments came in only a few days ago, which is 
basically asking for circulations, patterns, and changes in radius. We’re able to do all 
those things. At this point, I’m going to turn it over to my colleague. 
 
Curtis Holland, attorney with Polsinelli Law Firm, Kansas City, MO, appeared before the 
Planning Commission and made the following comments: 
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Unidentified Speaker:  We need to take a small break and fix some technical issues. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  While the technical issues are getting resolved, we need to address the 
time. Do I hear a motion to extend the meeting? 
 
A motion to extend the meeting for 30 minutes was made by Coleman; seconded by 
Stevens. Motion carried with a unanimous roll-call vote of 7-0. For: McGurren, 
Coleman, Stevens, Hunter, Block, Hoyt, Belzer. Not present due to technical issues: 
Peterson.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  Our meeting is continued until 9:30. Mr. Holland, are you with us? 
 
Mr. Holland:  I am. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  We heard all of Mr. Klover’s presentation, despite my efforts to 
interrupt, and it is part of our record. We would be grateful. 
 
Mr. Holland:  I’m going to try to speak briefly on the issues concerning what you’ve 
always called the Golden Criteria and talk briefly on some of the stipulations. There’s a 
lot that I’m not sure I can go through in detail on every one, but I do want to talk about a 
couple of the ones that are more important. With respect to the Golden Criteria, staff 
prepared their comments. I’m not going to go through every one, but there are few I want 
to touch on. I’d like to speak to the one that says, “Suitability of the subject property for 
the uses to which is has been restricted.” I don’t know how long we’ve been talking about 
what the 135th Street Corridor Plan, Comprehensive Plan, and LDO all speak to. Of 
course, the LDO is an ordinance. The Comprehensive Plan and Corridor Plan are not 
ordinances, but I know staff likes to talk about the 135th Street Corridor as it relates to 
MX-D as well as the Comprehensive Plan. We’ve talked quite a bit about why it doesn’t 
work. I will just mention that I know Bob Regnier is here and wants to speak a little 
about the highest and best uses of the property. From our side, you’ve all heard that we 
don’t think MX-D as presented in the 135th Street Corridor Plan is a viable, workable, 
marketable development that can be done in this area. As Rick Oddo mentioned earlier, 
in all of our conversations with the area residents, none of them want to see that. Frankly, 
we don’t think that development of this area in accordance with the 135th Street Corridor 
Plan is suitable. We like the term Horizontal Mixed Use. We think that works well here. I 
also want to talk about the extent to which the removal of the restrictions will 
detrimentally affect nearby property. All I would say is we think we meet the spirit and 
intent of MX-D in that it’s horizontal and may not be the vertical that you want. It doesn’t 
seem appropriate here, and the neighbors don’t want to see that. Regarding the relative 
gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed as a result of denial of the application, I guess we 
would say that there’s really no gain to the public to deny the application as it was 
presented. I think some of the residents have issues with particular parts of our plan, but 
overall, the comments we got were pretty positive. We have a couple HOAs that 
submitted letters, and they may speak tonight. There is no real gain for denial. I would 
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also say that Henry Klover has been involved with the 135th Street Corridor for 18-19 
years, and there’s no true MX-D that has been built out there. Frankly, denial to build 
something in conformance with the 135th Street Corridor is something that seems like you 
are restricting development of the property and making it almost unusable. For the 
Regnier family, I feel real sympathy for them because they’ve had to hold on to this 
property for so long without a plan being allowed to develop that makes sense and fits 
within the Leawood development patterns that we’ve seen and that made Leawood 
successful.  
 I’d like to move to the stipulations. There are a lot, and I know you’ve spent a lot 
of time listening to us, and I don’t want to delay it longer than I have to. Relative to the 
stipulations, I think we’re probably going to need to keep working with staff on some of 
this, but there are 31 stipulations that are written by staff, and I don’t know how many 
more that are listed in the Public Works memo. I want to speak to a couple of them. We 
are agreeable to at least half of these, which are toward the end. We can address how 
we’re handling trash and the memos in Nos. 3 and 4. Some, we simply can’t agree to. For 
example, No. 6 requires removal of RP-2, and it is directly against what the neighbors 
want. We can’t really do it. It’s easy for staff to say to follow the Comprehensive Plan 
and do everything in the stipulations, but if we do, we’re not going to have a marketable 
product, and frankly, no one in the neighborhood is going to like it. We disagree on a lot 
of the stipulations; we can agree on some. Overall, I think we need to keep working on 
them. We talked about them a lot throughout our presentation. For example, No. 9 
requires a street grid network. It’s really not feasible. Connecting Kenneth Road and 
Chadwick is not wanted by anybody, and they are streets to nowhere that serve no 
purpose. Attaching our accessory structures to the primary buildings in No. 10 is one we 
talked about. No. 13 talks about an updated Tree Inventory Plan. We’ve already provided 
that, so we’re okay with that. No. 14 requires a Special Use Permit for gas station and 
hotel, and we can do that. There is one that talked about building all the streets in a single 
phase, which is not appropriate. No one would do that, and we’re not going to get a bank 
to finance something like that. We’re going to build the project in phases, and I think 
that’s what everybody else will do. We’ll meet and build the infrastructure as needed for 
each of the phases, and that’s No. 25. I’m trying to speed this up because I want Mr. 
Regnier to have time to talk after me. One of the comments that is really going to be 
challenging for us is to build a third lane on 135th Street. For us, that is a big legal issue. 
Maybe that is something you can’t necessarily deal with. Our traffic report doesn’t 
indicate a need for widening 135th Street, and frankly, it’s against the law because 135th 
Street is an arterial street. That is a city street, and there is case law in Kansas to support 
that it’s the city’s responsibility. We build collectors and local roads; instead, we have the 
privilege of paying fees that the city will collect to ultimately build arterial streets. That 
is, in fact, what is happening with the collection of the 135th Street Corridor Traffic 
Impact Fee. There are other fees in here as well. We don’t agree that we should be 
financially responsible for constructing 135th Street to widen it. The Public Works memo 
talks about the right-of-way, and I think maybe we can work with the city on the right-of-
way dedication, but at least for construction of 135th Street, that is not our responsibility; 
that is the city’s. The only other thing I want to emphasize is that this is going to be a 
phased development. We’ll build the infrastructure as it’s need, bury the power lines as 
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they’re needed in an appropriate phase. With that, I will close and yield the rest of my 
time to Bob Regnier. 
 
Bob Regnier,  
 
Mr. Regnier:  Thank you for the opportunity to speak. I’m going to talk about feasibility 
and a little bit of history. All of this property, except for State Line Airport, was 
purchased by my father. He died in 2000, so we’ve owned most of this property for 
somewhere between 30 and 40 years. Since 2000, I’ve been the person responsible for the 
management of the property and have talked to numerous people about development of 
this property, none of which has come to fruition except for the Lashbrook proposal, 
which has been in process for over two years. Along this process, after having talked to 
so many people and reviewing the 135th Street Corridor Plan, there was a disconnect. 
There were a lot of plans, but to my knowledge, there has never been a feasibility study 
done on what the highest and best use for this property is. I commissioned one from 
RLCO, which is The Robert Charles Lesser Company. It has been around for 55 years 
and is very well regarded. It touches over 5 billion square feet of real estate projects 
annually. They provide strategic and tactical advice. It’s an excellent company with 
sterling reputation. We engaged them to give a study of our property for highest and best 
use analysis. It was done June 19, 2019. I would suggest that it would be a little harsher 
today, given the COVID issues and impacts on commercial/retail development. The 
survey has 205 pages, and I would ask you to take a hard look at the Executive Summary 
on page 5 and the Key Findings on pages 60-63. I’m going to read a couple sentences in 
each of those sections. It indicates that there is no near or medium-term market support 
employment-oriented land uses. They’re saying that office is not a possibility here. Office 
tends to come together in a sector, like 135th Street or Corporate Woods. There is just no 
core of office in this area, so the possibility is very limited, if not impossible. I don’t have 
it actually set out in a separate slide, but I’ll read for you. “Conceptual zoning plans like 
those contemplated in the 135th Street Community Plan that call for vertical mixed-use 
development and/or higher density residential and/or commercial uses are not supportable 
in the overall Leawood marketplace, nor at the subject property in the near, mid or even 
long term.” Read the top two paragraphs, and it will give you RLCO’s opinion of vertical 
mixed-use in this corridor, which they feel is really not supportable. The report was done 
in July, 2019. My contract with Mr. Oddo is dated November, 2019. He had not seen this 
report when we first started talking. What he is proposing is exactly what this report says 
is feasible: low-medium-density residential and then medium-density residential and 
retail on the State Line property. This reflects the fact that what they said in ’19 is 
feasible for this property. Page 61 talks about a very strong opportunity for rental 
apartments in this subject site, which reiterates what Rick already said. It recommends to 
phase the property in 260 units every two years, which is exactly what Rick is proposing. 
I will finish by saying that to my knowledge, there has never been a feasibility study. I’m 
more than happy to have this fellow come back and talk to the Planning Commission or 
City Council. I have been approached by the members of City Council on numerous 
occasions over the last 20 years saying, “Why aren’t you doing anything on 135th Street? 
We want you to develop that property.” My answer is the same: the city can’t dictate 
what goes on this property. I can’t dictate what goes on the property. The market will tell 
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us what is feasible. We’ve got a well-regarded developer that has the financial capacity to 
do this and move it forward, and that is the market today and probably for years into the 
future. The one comment that wasn’t brought up had to do with potential benefits for the 
City of Leawood by way of tax revenue. For Agricultural zoning, we pay about $1,000 a 
year in taxes on this property. That is really all I have. We would like to develop this and 
create something that is additive to the City of Leawood. We’d like to do it in the current 
time frame. For that, I will turn it back to Mr. Oddo in case he has further comments. If 
not, we’ll turn it back to you for questions. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. We appreciate your comments. 
 
Mr. Oddo:  That’s all from our side. We have a team of engineers here as well to answer 
questions. We appreciate the time you’ve given us. We look forward to the discussion.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. I’m going to depart from my normal practice to let the rest 
of the commission ask questions first and take the first question. This is primarily for Mr. 
Holland. A lot of our discussion tonight has been around the Comprehensive Plan and 
135th Street Corridor Plan, but I note in staff’s presentation, there are a series of attributes 
that either violate or are inconsistent with the LDO. How would you advise us to even 
contemplate moving forward, varying from either the Comprehensive Plan or 135th Street 
Plan, in light of it? 
 
Mr. Holland:  I wrote down the various alleged issues where we were out of compliance. 
I’d like to just go through several of them. I think we’re frankly not terribly inconsistent; 
it’s just the way staff interpreted the LDO. We did address whether or not there was a 
parking study. Henry Klover did one specific to this project. We certainly feel we 
complied with that even though staff says it is not specific to this project. All of the 
information relative to the amount of parking that would be necessary has been met. The 
other issue is with respect to gates, which are not in violation of the LDO. They talk 
about regulations, and they used that word freely when talking about the 135th Street 
Corridor. Those aren’t really regulations; they’re guides. We talked about gates and why 
we want them, and I don’t think that’s a violation of the LDO. We also talked about 
private streets, which are permitted in the city and are not a violation of the LDO. They 
may not be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan or the 135th Street Corridor, but there 
are private streets in Leawood, and that’s what we’re asking for. They talked about 
retaining walls and encroaching. We don’t think that’s an issue. In this 114-acre 
development and all the units and square feet that we’re talking about, the retaining walls 
are the least problem we might have. I know Henry Klover said it was a late comment 
from staff. We had three rounds of submittals, and that was never mentioned. We think 
we addressed it, but we will address it and will be compliant with the LDO. The only real 
one that is potentially an issue is accessory structures not being attached to the primary 
buildings. We talked about how it’s impossible with the multi-family components we 
were seeking to get approved. Maybe we need to work on that one a little bit. With 
respect to the other ones, we meet the LDO or can meet it. 
 



 

Leawood Planning Commission - 32 - August 25, 2020 

Chairman Elkins:  I believe one of the other stipulations was the corner setbacks in the 
middle of the single-family residential elements. 
 
Mr. Holland;  Thank you; I forgot to mention that one. It is in the Staff Report, and I 
don’t know if we had it in the comments. We will meet it. That’s not an issue for us. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. I’ll now defer to the rest of the commission. My concern 
was there are some good issues raised by this plan relate to our Comprehensive Plan as 
well as the 135th Street Plan. Mr. Regnier, as well as Mr. Oddo made some fairly strong 
policy comments. I still was concerned about how to get to that discussion. With that, I 
think it’s fair game to ask about the plan. 
 
Comm. Coleman:  Mr. Oddo, I asked the same question of staff. Can you give me some 
background of working with staff? I know we’ve talked about a big disconnect between 
the Staff Report and your comments, but I wanted some more background from your 
viewpoint. 
 
Mr. Oddo:  We went in and talked to several people upfront. They said, “If you do this 
and this, it’s really a good plan. We’d like to see that. Why don’t you submit it?” We 
went back and forth with a couple people. They were pretty receptive of it but wanted to 
see everything in one big plan, so we did that. Then, we got further in the meeting with 
staff, and basically, it was, “This won’t work because you have to have all the streets in, 
all the parking garages, etc.” Well, those don’t work. We already discussed the problems. 
We did the Interact Meetings, and those wanted one thing, which is what we designed. 
Staff was insistent on following some of these guidelines. We knew we couldn’t meet 
them. There really was no discussion. We tried to meet everything we could. I gave a lot 
with the residents, and we presented to staff, and they basically want to follow the LDO. I 
understand the position because their hands are kind of tied with that. I think the LDO is 
outdated and doesn’t keep up with the market that we’re dealing with now or the products 
that have come out. We’re trying to meet what the market needs and what the 
neighborhood wants and needs. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Other questions? Mr. Oddo, you mentioned a couple times 
that you had multiple Interact Meetings with different HOAs. I believe there were 
minutes from only a single meeting. Do you have the minutes from the other meetings 
you mentioned? 
 
Mr. Oddo:  Maybe I should clarify: I had meetings. The legal Interact Meeting was once, 
and from there, it broke off into meeting with the different subdivision HOAs and people 
they said were professionals. We had lots of different meetings. We went to the site to 
look at things with them. We had lots of meetings. Some were over the phone; some were 
in person. We kept modifying things so we could get approval from the church, a couple 
of the HOAs, and individuals. We met with representatives from various HOAs. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Do I hear a motion to extend the meeting for an additional 
30 minutes? Under our rules, this will be the last extension tonight 
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A motion to extend the meeting period for 30 minutes was made by Coleman; 
seconded by McGurren. Motion carried with a unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. For: 
McGurren, Coleman, Block, Stevens, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Peterson. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Mr. Oddo, you talked at some length about the density of this project 
as opposed to the one we spoke to earlier. Can you tell me what the density is in the Villa 
Milano complex? 
 
Mr. Oddo:  I’m going from memory, but I think it’s 13-14 units per acre with 15 at the 
max.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  You said it’s 11.7 for this development? 
 
Mr. Oddo:  11.17; we really like our green space. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  That’s good. The city does as well. You also mentioned the tile roofs. 
Can you talk a bit more about what you understand to be staff’s view of the requirement 
for tile roofs? 
 
Mr. Oddo:  In the first couple meetings, they asked about that, and they want tile roofs. 
There is a possibility for a ½” shingle, but it doesn’t exist in the market. What they’ve 
asked for doesn’t really exist. They have Class A products, which would include the TPO 
roof on the flat roofs in the commercial space, tile, the metal roof we have in some areas, 
and a 50-year impact-resistant asphalt shingle that is 3/16”, which is the same as we have 
at Villa Milano. Nothing is perfect, but it is designed to handle the majority of what we 
get here in the Midwest. It’s a Class A product, so it’s technically allowed by ordinance, 
just not in MX-D. 
 
Mr. Klover:  It’s an aggregate, so it doesn’t have a thickness requirement. It doesn’t say 
it’s not permitted.  
 
Mr. Oddo:  It says you have to have ½”, but that doesn’t exist, so I don’t know if that’s a 
typo or what. We’re still doing a first-class product, and it’s the same as or better than 
what is on the neighbors’ houses all around us. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  My last question relates to Mr. Klover’s presentation. He went through 
quite a history of projects along 135th Street Corridor over the last 18 years that have 
been less than successful. What is it about this project that gives you confidence that it 
will succeed where the others have not? 
 
Mr. Oddo:  That is a great question. First, we don’t have parking garages. Parking 
garages in suburban markets don’t work for lots of reasons. It makes the mass and scale 
of the buildings a massive box. People don’t want them. Second, we did a more 
traditional layout on the retail that has parking front of retail so you can go right to it. 
Parking garages destroy retail. Look at Park Place. We all know how the retail is going 
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there. For that matter, the residential isn’t doing much better. They’re in the 70s for 
occupancy; we’re at 98%. Our product is one that’s proven successful. I don’t know if I 
answered that well. People don’t want parking garages and the multitude of streets going 
through. They want retail right upfront where it’s easily seen. You look at the three 
successful retail communities in Leawood built in the last 30 years are at 119th and Roe: 
Town Center, where the Apple Store is, and across the street where Hen House is. That is 
traditional suburban design, and it works. When you try to put a downtown in a cornfield 
where we want elbow space and green space, it doesn’t work.  
 
Mr. Klover:  I was involved with a lot of them. A lot didn’t get approved by the city or 
got rejected for various reasons, but the ones that did, including Cornerstone and Mission 
Corner, all died on the vine because there were too many upfront restrictions, too much 
cost. It couldn’t phase in. The problem is that projects need to develop organically. When 
there are so many upfront costs, it takes very few hiccups to make the project fail. In the 
case of Cornerstone, a tenant disappeared, and the next thing you know, things crumbled. 
 
Mr. Oddo:  I’m going to go a step further. Businesses go where businesses want. Also, I 
don’t think the design standards in Overland Park are low, but they’re more reasonable 
and more in the marketplace. The development stops at Leawood. I’m not trying to pick 
on anything; I’m trying to be positive, but I live in Leawood. I want this to be developed. 
I want the tax dollars brought in. We need it. If you look at what has been successful in 
the suburban market, it’s not MX-D. Even Prairie Fire, with the millions of dollars they 
got in special financing, they still can’t make it work, let alone trying to do it without $20 
million in special financing. We are not asking for that for this project. Without extra 
help, it’s hard to make anything work, especially when the design standards make 
construction costs more expensive than any other city, and your property taxes are higher. 
Those all factor in to a product that is difficult to make work.  
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Other questions? 
 
Comm. Hoyt:  It’s really not a big point, but I’m trying to make sure I understood Mr. 
Oddo correctly. When you predicted only 6-8 children living in this entire development, 
is that what you said? 
 
Mr. Oddo:  We said 3-5 school-age children per apartment community, and that’s based 
on other communities in the area. I believe this will have even fewer because we have 
even fewer three-bedroom apartments. 
 
Comm. Hoyt:  I guess I was referring to the slide where you were showing all the money 
that was coming in versus the number of children in reference to the school children. I 
just assumed that the 56 single-family homes will be producing a lot of children going 
into the schools. 
 
Mr. Oddo:  I didn’t pick up on that part because single-family is single-family. Like Mr. 
Regnier said before, I independently came up with the same conclusion that RCLO did, 
and that is that my market is more mature. We are trying to get empty nesters. We are 
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going to build predominantly single-story or reverse ranches, which don’t typically lead 
to families. It’s not that they can’t live there; I was just pointing out that the apartment 
communities aren’t going to flood the schools. There may be some families, and I’m not 
opposed to that. 
 
Comm. Hoyt:  I wouldn’t think that would be a problem; I was just trying to make sure 
that I understood. I’m doing this remotely, so I don’t know what is in Council Chambers 
right now in the way of additional documentation. Does the city have copies of this 
RCLO report? 
 
Mr. Oddo:  I submitted it to staff months ago. I resubmitted weeks ago. It’s also on our 
website for anyone to look at. 
 
Mr. Klover:  It was formally submitted with the package. 
 
Comm. Hoyt:  For my own sake of getting a handle on it, where specifically could I find 
that then? 
 
Mr. Oddo:  We can email it again. Staff has it, and I can send it after the meeting 
tomorrow? 
 
Chairman Elkins:  I think it would be appropriate for staff to send a copy out to the 
commissioners and have it as part of the record. 
 
Comm. Hoyt:  Any maybe this is more for when we ever get to the discussion phase as a 
Planning Commission, this plan has a number of LDO nonconformance issues. Then, we 
get into the Comprehensive Plan and 135th Street Corridor and fundamental differences, 
but also philosophy, sense of the marketplace, and best use, which is clearly going to take 
a lot more discussion. It seems like whatever resources we can get to fuel that additional 
discussion is going to be really helpful. As far as I’m concerned, it’s hard for me to see 
exactly what the next step will be, other than simply looking again at a lot of the plans 
that the city has set in place. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Additional questions for the Cameron’s Court team? Just a 
couple comments as we wind down. The next step in our process would be to open the 
Public Hearing, and I do propose to do that because I think a number of people have sat 
very patiently. I think that I will limit the Public Hearing tonight to about 15 minutes 
because we have administrative details we have to take care of. The process is that, once 
the Public Hearing is over, the Cameron’s Court group will have an opportunity to 
respond. The Planning Commission will have a chance to ask questions. Then, we’ll 
move on to a discussion, and obviously, that’s all not going to get done tonight. We will 
be continuing, with Planning Commission’s approval, to September 9th, which is a 
Wednesday because of conflicts with the Governing Body’s schedule. Then, we’ll also be 
looking at continuing the additional cases that were on our docket for tonight to 
September 9th as well. With that, before I open the Public Hearing, I’ll go over the ground 
rules. Because we’re doing this via Zoom, I’m going to go off the list I received from 
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staff. We ask that your comments be limited to four minutes. I would also note that we 
are very appreciative of the interest the public has in this case. I think we received more 
written input than we have in almost any case I’ve been involved with. Please rest 
assured that we have read all those written comments, and they become part of the record 
for our deliberations.  
 
Public Hearing 
 
Mr. Holland:  I just wanted to mention that the first two names are on our team. They are 
in favor of it, and they don’t need to speak. 
 
Julie Kincaid, appeared before the Planning Commission and made the following 
comments: 
 
Ms. Kincaid:  I’m a resident at The Enclave at Cedar Point, and I’m also the current 
President of the HOA. I’ve built two homes in Leawood and have had a third primary 
residence in Leawood. The value of the quality of living here for the last 21 years has 
been something we have really appreciated. We also appreciate the time that the Planning 
Commission is putting in. We’ve also spent two months as a group, working on this 
project with members of the staff and also Public Works. We’ve worked with the 
developer, and we appreciate everybody’s time in listening to our concerns. After the 
Interact Meeting that was held by Oddo on June 8th, we met with our Enclave neighbors 
and assembled a team to meet with the developer, architects, and representatives of the 
landowner to address our neighborhood’s three areas of concern. Our concern was mostly 
with the commercial side of the development. I don’t know if you know where Enclave 
is, but it’s located just behind Village of Seville, directly across where they are proposing 
the commercial development. We’re right on Overbrook. We have a community of 24 
homes. Once we attended the Interact Meeting, we put together a group of volunteers 
from our neighborhood and some members from the board. We met with the developer to 
discuss our three objectives. These conversations occurred over a two-month period with 
the final revisions being made to the Site Plan submitted to us on August 11th. The 
original plan called for three entry-exit points east of the church to State Line, which was 
directly in front of our development. Our objective with the developer was to limit the 
number entry points from the commercial development onto 133rd, so all the ingresses 
and egresses to State Line. Through the revisions, the current plan reduces the number of 
entry-exit points to one entry at Kenneth and one right-only across from Village of 
Seville. It eliminates the Overbrook entry-exit, which was a big safety concern to our 
neighbors. There’s no outlet in our neighborhood. Having a commercial entry directly 
across from Overbrook would cause people to come into our neighborhood. There was 
also concern about headlights in parking lots and exit across from Overbrook shining 
down into homes. We also have the revision that shows that the elimination of the 
Kenneth Road cut-through from 135th north to 133rd. I work and live in the same area, 
and there is a lot of traffic on 135th and State Line, especially at rush hour, and it backs all 
the way up to Pawnee. The traffic study pointed that out. If Kenneth Road cuts through 
from 135th to 133rd, I guarantee that traffic will come straight down Kenneth to 133rd to 
bypass the congestion at 135th and State Line. We have serious concerns about that 
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because right where Kenneth hits 133rd is the end of our community sidewalk. We have 
to cross 133rd at Kenneth to get to the sidewalk. It ends on the north side and picks up on 
the south side at Kenneth. That’s another concern for our walkers, runners, and cyclists. 
We also appreciate the bike and hike trail that was mentioned by Mr. Sanchez that goes 
along the 135th Street Plan for Kenneth. Even if you eliminate Kenneth where you just 
come in and do a U shape through the commercial development and back out to 133rd, 
perhaps you could retain that hike-bike trail along that tree preservation that the current 
plan reflects. I hope you’re following me there. Diffusing traffic through the commercial 
development reduces the traffic to 133rd. Information from the traffic study will be 
addressed by another neighbor of ours later on. Those are concerns we’ve had with the 
traffic that the developer has addressed in his revised plan. Our second objective was to 
retain the tree line along 133rd, which preserves our residential quality, green space, 
walkability, privacy. Those are very dense trees with a lot of natural habitat along 133rd. 
This plan, between Kenneth and Village of Seville along 133rd is loaded with trees. We 
appreciate the retention of that. Our third objective in working with the developer was to 
move the high-density multi-story commercial, like the hotel and some of the taller 
buildings, more toward 135th, away from 133rd. We wanted the commercial portion on 
the commercial end of State Line Road and 135th and keep 133rd residential. The 135th 
Street Community Plan supports the development of a high-density infrastructure with 
retention of green space and walkability. We also think the Revised Site Plan by the 
developer addresses our original concerns and also appears to uphold the standards that 
the city has. I realize that, for you, this is very procedural, and it sounds like I’m hearing 
it’s a two-year process sometimes. For us, any kind of change is an emotional process 
and not so procedural because it affects the enjoyment of our homes and the safety of our 
families or the perceived safety of our families. We feel that when the developer came 
across the table and worked through these three objectives, there is a sincere interest in 
doing what’s best for the community. If I have another quick second, I’d like to make a 
couple comments on a personal note. I read through all the concerns. I own a property 
management company and have been in property management for ten years. I rarely see 
children in multi units. School-age children live in single-family homes. I think the trend 
in housing right now, with the aging population, is a downsizing luxury lifestyle with 
maintenance provided. That’s why a lot of us live here in The Enclave with maintenance 
provided. I personally believe the combination of high-end single-family maintenance-
provided communities with nice amenities like what was just approved across 135th is a 
big improvement to the cornfields that we currently have. We also have a transient 
homeless population that we’ve dealt with in our neighborhood. We have people coming 
in and out of those woods. I just saw a transient person coming out of the woods last 
night. For me personally, I think that this kind of development is a good development for 
our community, a I really appreciate the time to let us voice those opinions. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. We appreciate your comments. We’re coming up to the 
end of our hour. For those in the public who are still online, we would invite you to rejoin 
us on September 9th. The continuation of this case will be the first thing on our docket, 
and we’ll move through to the conclusion of those who wish to be heard. If any of your 
friends or neighbors couldn’t join us tonight and can on the 9th, they are certainly invited 
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to join us. As time winds down, I would entertain a motion to continue Case 49-20 to the 
September 9th Planning Commission Meeting. 
 
A motion to continue CASE 49-20 – CAMERON’S COURT – Request for approval 
of a Rezoning from AG (Agricultural) and SD-O (Planned Office) to RP-2 (Planned 
Cluster Residential Detached) and MXD (Mixed Use District), Preliminary Plan, 
and Preliminary Plat, located south of 133rd Street and west of State Line Road – to 
the September 9, 2020 Planning Commission meeting was made by Coleman; 
seconded by McGurren. Motion carried with a unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. For: 
McGurren, Coleman, Block, Stevens, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Peterson. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  I would now entertain a motion to continue the following cases: Case 
74-20, Case 75-20, Case 66-20, Case 67-20, Case 64-20, Case 68-20, and Case 70-20. 
 
A motion to continue Cases 74-20, 75-20, 66-20 64-20, 68-20, and 70-20 to the 
September 9, 2020 Planning Commission meeting was made by Coleman; seconded 
by Stevens. Motion carried with a unanimous roll-call vote of 8-0. For: McGurren, 
Coleman, Block, Stevens, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Peterson. 
 
CASE 74-20 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO 
SECTION 16-3-3, ADMINISTRATIVE APPROVALS – Request for approval of an 
amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to Tenant Finishes. 
PUBLIC HEARING – CONTINUED TO SEPTEMBER 9, 2020 
 
CASE 75-20 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO 
SECTION 16-2-6.3, SD-CR (Planned General Retail) - Request for approval of an 
amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to building heights 
within SD-CR. PUBLIC HEARING - CONTINUED TO SEPTEMBER 9, 2020 
 
CASE 66-20 – TOWN CENTER CROSSING – TENANT STOREFRONT DESIGN 
GUIDELINES – Request for approval of a Revised Final Plan, located south of 119th 
Street and east of Roe Avenue. - CONTINUED TO SEPTEMBER 9, 2020 
 
 
CASE 67-20 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – TENANT STOREFRONT DESIGN 
GUIDELINES – Request for approval of a Revised Final Plan, located south of Town 
Center Drive and west of Roe Avenue. - CONTINUED TO SEPTEMBER 9, 2020 
 
 
CASE 64-20 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – FIRST ASCENT – Request for approval of a 
Preliminary Plan, located south of Town Center Drive and west of Roe Avenue. 
PUBLIC HEARING - CONTINUED TO SEPTEMBER 9, 2020 
 
 
CASE 68-20 – PLAZA POINTE – GUIDEPOST MONTESSORI – Request for approval 
of a Revised Preliminary Plan, Revised Final Plan, and Special Use Permit for a 
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Daycare/Montessori, located south of 136th Street and west of Roe Avenue. PUBLIC 
HEARING - CONTINUED TO SEPTEMBER 9, 2020 
 
 
CASE 70-20 – VILLA DE FONTANA – Request for approval of a Preliminary Plan, 
Preliminary Plat, and Rezoning from SD-CR (Planned General Retail), SD-O (Planned 
Office), and RP-3 ((Planned Custer Attached Residential District)(6,000 Sq. Ft. Per 
Dwelling)) to RP-2 ((Planned Cluster Detached Residential District )(6,000 Sq. Ft. Per 
Dwelling)), located south of 135th Street and east of Roe Avenue. PUBLIC HEARING 
- CONTINUED TO SEPTEMBER 9, 2020 
 
Chairman Elkins:  I want to extend my thanks to staff and the Cameron’s Court team for 
their great presentations tonight and to the commission for deliberation and consideration 
on this important issue. I look forward to picking it up again on September 9th. Is there 
any other business that needs to come before the commission? 
 
Mr. Sanchez:  Staff would like to introduce Katherine Geist, our new planner. 
 
Chairman Elkins:  Welcome to the team. You got to go through one of our marathon 
meetings. 
 
MEETING ADJOURNED 



City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 

MEETING DATE:           September 22, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:     September 8, 2020 

 

 

PARKWAY PLAZA - WEBER CARPET - REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A FINAL PLAN - 
Located north of 135th Street and east of Briar - Case 80-20  **CONSENT AGENDA** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval of Case 80-20, Parkway Plaza - Weber Carpet - request for approval of a 
Final Plan, with the stipulations stated in the staff report. 

 
APPLICANT: 
 The applicant and engineer is Matt Schlicht with Engineering Solutions 

 The developer is Bob Bales with Weber Flooring 
 The property is owned by the Palo Verde Group L.P. 

 The architect is Skyler Phelps with Mantel Teter Architects 
 
REQUEST: 

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Final Plan for 12,000 sq.ft. retail building for Weber Carpet 
with a site F.A.R. of 0.25. 

 The overall Parkway Plaza development, at final build out, will be made up of 319,385 sq.ft. of retail 
/office use and 308,646 sq.ft. of residential use on 60.79 acres, for an F.A.R. of 0.21, with a discount 
of 25% of residential space per the Leawood Development Ordinance. 

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned MXD (Mixed Use District). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Mixed Use. 
 
SURROUNDING ZONING: 

 North To the north, beyond Parkway Plaza, is the single family residential subdivision of 
Bridgewood, zoned RP-1 (Planned Single Family Residential District) and single family 
residential within the City of Overland Park. 

 South         South of the subject property is 135th Street.  Beyond 135th Street is the Plaza Pointe 
development, zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail) and SD-O (Planned Office). 

 East           Directly to the east is Roe Avenue.  Across Roe Avenue is unplatted and undeveloped 
property zoned SD-O (Planned Office) and SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 

 West          To the west is a continuation of Parkway Plaza, zoned MXD (Mixed Use).   Beyond 
Parkway Plaza is a multifamily residential development in Overland Park, KS. 

 

 

 

 



LOCATION: 

 
 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS: 

 The subject site is located on Lot 11 of the Parkway Plaza development, which is located along the 
north side of 135th Street and east of Briar Street. 

 An existing one story multi-tenant building is adjacent to the east, and a vacant lot located at the 
northwest corner of 135th Street and Briar is adjacent to the west. 

 An existing parking lot, partially located on Lot 11 is directly north of the proposed building site. Four (4) 
parallel parking spaces are located along the drive aisle that runs in front of the proposed building. Thirty 
one (31) parking spaces are within the bounds of the property lines. There is a shared parking easement 
agreement within Parkway Plaza allowing for parking across the all lots. 

 The applicant is proposing a 12,000 sq.ft., one story building along 135th Street. The front of the 
building is oriented to the north, with the back of the building facing 135th Street. 

 The main entrance is centrally located along the north elevation.  Per the design guidelines of the 
Parkway Plaza development a front porch colonnade extends across the front of the building. 

 A 5’ sidewalk is proposed along the south side of the existing parking lot to the north of the pad site. 
This sidewalk is proposed to connect with the existing sidewalk to the east, and to a future sidewalk to 
be constructed with the building to the west. 

 A 10’ landscaped area is shown between the porch sidewalk and the 5’ sidewalk along the south 
side of the existing parking lot. 

 Sidewalks to the east and west were approved with the overall Parkway Plaza development to extend 
between the buildings along 135th Street. These sidewalks formed circular elements along 135th Street 
between the buildings. The sidewalk to the east is existing, with the exception of a portion of the 



circular element that will be located on this site. The sidewalk on the west side of the building will be 
constructed with this project along with portions of the circular elements that are located on Lot 11. 

 Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, a sidewalk connection to the perimeter sidewalk of 135th 
Street is proposed. 

 Bike racks have been proposed for the north side of the building. There will be one set of “Inverse U” 
racks, which will hold approximately 5 bikes at one time. The dimensions for this setup are 36” tall by 
36” from one ground-mounted post to the other. 

 There is one existing ADA compliant crosswalk from the parking lot to the primary entrance of the 
building. The crosswalk is existing, and made of stamped concrete. The sidewalk from the curb cut to 
the front of the building will also be ADA compliant. 

 A trash enclosure will be attached to the northeast corner of the building. This will be constructed of 
the same type of cast stone used on the main building. The gate frame is fabricated steel tubes with a 
metal face. The gates of the trash enclosure will be painted to match the cast stone of the building.  

 A 2’ retaining wall is proposed to the south of the building. The wall will be constructed of natural rock 
material, similar to that which will be used on the façade of the building. 

 

BULK REGULATIONS: 
 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for overall Parkway Plaza: 

 

Criteria Required Provided Compliance 
Exterior Structure Setback 40’ 40’ Complies 

Interior Structure Setback 10’ 0’ Deviation Granted 

Residential Structure Setback 75’ 160’ Complies 
Exterior Parking Setback 25’ 25’ Complies 

Interior Parking Setback 10’ 0’ Deviation Granted  
Minimum Open Space % 30% 30% Complies 
Minimum Acres 10 acres 60 acres Complies 

Maximum Floor Area Ratio (F.A.R.) 0.25 0.21** Complies 
Maximum Residential Density 15 DU / Acre 1.95 DU / Acre Complies 

Minimum Required Use Ratio Residential – 20% Residential – 49.15% Complies 

 Office – 20% Office – 28.23%  
 

 
Height Limit 

Retail – 10% 
 

90’ 

Retail – 22.62% 
 

56’ 

 

 
Complies 

 

 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for the Weber Carpet project: 
 

Criteria Required Provided Compliance 
Exterior Structure Setback 40’ 40’ Complies 
Interior Structure Setback 10’ 10’ Complies 

Exterior Parking Setback 25’ 132’ Complies 
Interior Parking Setback 10’ 0’ Deviation Approved 

Minimum Open Space % 30% 31.6% Complies 

Minimum Interior Open Space % 10% 16.1% Complies 
Maximum Floor Area Ratio (F.A.R.) 0.25 0.25 Complies 

Height Limit 90’ 27’-3” Complies 
 
 
 

 
PARKING: 

 The parking provided for Parkway Plaza is 974 parking spaces, a parking ratio of 3.05 per 1,000 sq.ft., 
which meets the Leawood Development Ordinance Requirement for MXD zoned developments of 3.0 
– 3.5 parking spaces per 1,000 sq. ft. 



 The Lot 11 has a total of thirty-one (31) parking spaces within the lot. Five of the spaces are parallel 
parking spaces located directly in front of the proposed building. The Development has recorded 
with Johnson County a cross parking access agreement granting perpetual, non-exclusive rights and 
easements to use parking and access drives for the purpose of parking and pedestrian access. 

 
ELEVATIONS: 

 The applicant is proposing a single story (27’-3”), 12,000 sq.ft. retail building with the front facing to the 
north (interior of the development). 

 The building will be constructed primarily of stucco with stone veneer facades for a centrally located tower 
element over the entrance, and building projections. The proposed color for this stone material is called 
Mosaic Heritage. 

 The stucco used on the façade of the building will be a light beige color (Mortar). The applicant is proposing 
a small area of stucco in a slightly darker beige (Pulp) on the tower element. 

 The roof of the building is sloped and will be covered in brown (New Bark) concrete tile. This color was 
originally Charcoal Brown Blend. This was changed due to a discontinuation of the product in the original 
color that was proposed. The New Bark concrete tile was chosen as it matched the roof tile no longer 
available. 

 The pitched roof of the tower element over the entrance will be covered in the same material as the rest 
of the roof. 

 No windows are proposed on the east or west elevations of the building. 

 The south elevation of the building proposes five windows, and the north side proposes the same. The 
north elevation has aluminum-framed glass doors as the main ingress to the building, and the south 
elevation has five continuous windows with an egress door to the east side of the final window. 

 One (1) decorative metal finial will be located on the top of the tower element (color: Black Matte). 

 There will be fabric awnings above two of the windows on the south side of the building (color: Jockey 
Red). 

 The color of the trim for this structure is “off white”. 
 
SIGNAGE: 

 Signage is not reviewed or approved with this application. 

 The Parkway Plaza development has approved sign criteria on file with the City, and signage shall 
be administratively approved by the Department of Community Development. 

 

LANDSCAPING: 

 Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, street trees are shown at 40’ on center along 135th Street. 
 Two shade trees are proposed within each of the parking lot islands (7 trees proposed, 2 are existing). 
 Buffering around perimeter of lot is adequate as required by the Leawood Development Ordinance. 

The required numbers of ornamental trees (10), shade trees (14), and shrubs (57) are provided. 
 The proposed landscaping meets the requirements as provided by the Leawood Development 

Ordinance and the Parkway Plaza Design guidelines. 
 Six (6) landscaping beds containing ornamental trees and shrubs are shown on the north side of the 

building. There are to be two (2) shrubs and one (1) ornamental tree per landscaping bed, and will be 
surrounded by mulch bedding. 

 
 
LIGHTING: 



 Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, the foot-candles at the property line are not greater than 
0.5. 

 The two carriage light sconces are located on the north side of the building and four on the south side. 
The sconces are made of aluminum and will be a “Rubbed Bronze” color. The glass in the fixtures will 
be a frosted finish to shield the source of illumination. 

 Fourteen (14) downward facing lighting sources are provided for the south, east, and west sides of the 
building; these conform to the Leawood Development Ordinance requirements and shield the source 
of illumination. 

 
REQUESTED DEVIATIONS: 

 Deviations for the Parkway Plaza development were granted when the Preliminary Plan was approved 
on July 21, 2003 (Case 16-03, Ordinance 2008). 

 No additional deviations were requested for the Final Plan. 

 
IMPACT FEES: 

 PARK IMPACT FEE: A park impact fee in the amount of $.15/square foot of finished floor area is 
required prior to issuance of a building permit, estimated at current date to be $1,800.00 ($.15 x 12,000). 
This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 135th ST. IMPACT FEE: 135th Street Impact fee in the amount of $1.95/square foot for retail is due prior 
to issuance of a building permit, estimated at current date to be $23,400 ($1.95 x 12,000). This amount 
is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 PUBLIC ART IMPACT FEE: A public art impact fee or a piece of public art shall be required.  Approval 
of the design and location of the art will need to go before the Arts Council, Planning Commission, and 
be approved by the Governing Body at a later date.  In lieu of that, the applicant may pay a public art 
impact fee in the amount of $.15/square foot of finished floor area prior to issuance of a building permit, 
estimated at current date to be $1,800.00 ($.15 X 12,000). This amount is subject to change by 
Ordinance. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 80-20, Parkway Plaza - Weber Carpet - 
request for approval of a Final Plan, with the following stipulations: 

 
1. This approval is limited to the construction of a 12,000 sq. ft., single story retail building on Lot 11 of 

the Parkway Plaza development with an F.A.R. of 0.25. 

2. The applicant shall be responsible for: 

a. A park impact fee in the amount of $.15/square foot of finished floor area is required prior to 

issuance of a building permit, estimated at current date to be $1,800.00 ($.15 x 12,000). This 

amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

b. 135th Street Impact fee in the amount of $1.95/square foot for retail is due prior to issuance of a 

building permit, estimated at current date to be $23,400 ($1.95 x 12,000). This amount is 

subject to change by Ordinance. 

c. A public art impact fee or a piece of public art shall be required.  Approval of the design and 

location of the art will need to go before the Arts Council, Planning Commission, and be 

approved by the Governing Body at a later date.  In lieu of that, the applicant may pay a public 

art impact fee in the amount of $.15/square foot of finished floor area prior to issuance of a 



building permit, estimated at current date to be $1,800.00 ($.15 X 12,000). This amount is 

subject to change by Ordinance. 

3. The applicant shall obtain all approvals from the City of Leawood Public Works Department, per the 

City Engineer’s memo (Exhibit A), on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development 

Department, prior to issuance of a building permit. 

4. The applicant shall obtain all approvals from the City of Leawood Fire Department, per the Fire 

Marshal’s memo (Exhibit B), on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development Department, 

prior to issuance of a building permit. 

5. All landscaped areas shall be irrigated. 

6. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, at the time of planting, plant material screening the ground 

mounted utilities shall be a minimum of 6” taller than the utility it is to screen, with lower shrubs in the 

foreground to eliminate any gaps in screening. 

7. The approved final landscape plan shall contain the following statements: 

a. All trees shall be calipered and undersized trees shall be rejected. 

b. All parking lot islands shall be bermed to discourage foot traffic. 

c. All hedges shall be trimmed to maintain a solid hedge appearance. 

d. All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy. 

e. Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the 

landscape architect and the City of Leawood, prior to installation. 

f. All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 

8. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all medium and large deciduous trees (including street 

trees), shall be a 2 ½” caliper as measured 6” above the ground, all small deciduous and ornamental 

trees shall be a minimum of 1 ½” caliper as measured 6” above the ground, conifers and evergreen 

trees shall be a minimum of 6’ in height, and shrubs shall be 24” in height at the time of planting. 

9. The applicant shall comply with all landscaping requirements relating to the screening of service areas, 

including trash enclosures, and shall comply with 60% living material requirement for any landscaping 

beds. 

10. A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas Registered Landscape Architect, shall be submitted prior to 

final occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per the approved landscape plan 

and all plant material used is to the highest standards of the nursery industry. 

11. All stone and stucco shall be natural materials. 

12. The applicant shall construct all stucco exterior with a three coat system. 

13. Pedestrian crosswalks shall be demarcated from the adjacent street pavement with pavers to match 

the existing crosswalks within the Parkway Plaza development. 

14. All downspouts shall be enclosed. 

15. All materials, including roof tiles, will match those approved with the design guidelines of Parkway 

Plaza development. 

16. All power lines, utility lines, etc. (both existing and proposed, including utilities and power lines 

adjacent to and within abutting right-of-way) are required to be placed underground. This must be done 

prior to final occupancy of any building within the project. 

17. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of less than 56 

inches, a footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, or a pad footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, shall be 



installed only with the prior approval of the Director of Community Development as being in 

compliance with the Leawood Development Ordinance. 

18. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of 56 inches or 

greater, a footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, or a pad footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, shall 

be installed only with the prior recommendation of the Planning Commission as being in compliance 

with the Leawood Development Ordinance based on the review of a site plan containing such final 

development plan information as may be required by the City, and approved by the Governing Body. 

The City may impose conditions on approval, including but not limited to duration or renewal 

requirements, where the circumstances are sufficiently unusual to warrant the conditions. 

19. Exterior ground-mounted or building-mounted equipment including, but not limited to, mechanical 

equipment, utilities, meter banks and air conditioning units, shall be painted to blend with the building 

and screened from public view with landscaping or with an architectural treatment compatible with the 

building structure. 

20. All rooftop equipment shall be screened from the public view with an architectural treatment, which is 

compatible with the building architecture. The height of the screen shall be at least as tall as the utility 

being screened. 

21. A cross access/parking easement for the entire development, shall be recorded with the Johnson 

County Registrar of Deeds, shall be maintained for this application. 

22. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on Sundays. 

23. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 

24. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance the source of illumination shall not be visible. Prior to 

Governing Body consideration, the applicant/owner shall provide revised plans meeting this 

requirement, including the carriage light fixtures on the building. 

25. A sign permit from the Planning Department shall be obtained prior to installation of any signs. 

26. The conditions and stipulations of the preliminary plan approval remain in full force and effect except to 

the extent expressly modified herein. 

27. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation has been granted, and 

to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations one through twenty-

seven. 
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         Leawood Fire Department 
                                                                                                                                            14801 Mission RD 
                                                                                                                                                    Leawood, KS 66224 

        913-266-0607 

 
FIRE PLAN REVIEW RECORD 

 
 

Date:    09/16/20 
Project Number:  NC 80-2O 
Business/Project:  Weber Carpet 
Address/Vicinity:  4900 W 135th ST 
Project Description:  Final Development Plan for Weber Carpet – First Review 
 

Date Review Documents Reviewed All Comments Satisfied? 

9/16/20 First Final Development Plan Yes 

 

Plans were reviewed to the 2018 International Fire Code as adopted and amended by the City of Leawood.  

FDP Plans received by Engineering & Surveying Solutions. No project number listed. Proposed new 

commercial building for Weber Carpet. 

 

Comments: 

No planning comments at this time. 

 

Approval of any plans or specifications shall in no way be construed to be an approval of a violation of 

adopted building codes or of other ordinances of the City of Leawood. 

 

Status:   Approved as Submitted 

Reviewed by:  Justin Ducey – Fire Marshal 
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Site Data Table :
Lot 11, Parkway Plaza Third Plat

Lot Area: 48,547.83 sq. ft. (1.11 Acres)
Building Area: 12,000 sq. ft. (0.27 Acre)
Floor-Area-Ratio: 24.7%
Height of Building Roof: 27'-3"
Highest Point of Building:  41'-10"
Total open space in sq. ft. = 15,359.24 sq. ft.
Total open space percentage of the gross area of the lot: (31.64%)
Interior open space in sq.ft. = 7,832.37 sq. ft.
Interior open space percentage of the gross area of the lot: (16.13%)

Parking: 15,284.84 sq. ft. (0.35 Acre)

Current Zoning: MXD
Proposed Use Retail
Parking Required: 3 spaces min. 3.5 max. per 1,000 sq. ft. building = 36-42

Parking Provided: Provided by development

4" AGGREGATE - ASTM C33 SIZE NO. 57

4" PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE (SIDEWALK)
PROVIDE TOOLED JOINTS @ 5'-0" O.C.

SIDEWALK DETAIL
NOT TO SCALE

95% OF MATERIAL'S MAXIMUM STANDARD PROCTOR
SOIL SCARIFIED TO A NOMINAL DEPTH OF 6"

WWF 6 x 6 1.4 x 1.4 TYP. @ MID POINT

MAX 2% SLOPE

MATERIALS LIST
  (1) Tubing -Ø 2 3/8" x .154" Wall Steel Tubing
  (2) Surface Plate -Ø7 1/2" x 1/4" Thick
       Steel Plate with ThreeØ9/16" Mounting Holes
  (3) Mounted with SixØ1/2" x 4-5" Stainless Steel
        Anchor Bolts (Customer Supplied)

36"

3.5"
36" O.C.

2

1

BIKE
4

BIKE
3

BIKE
2

BIKE
1

FRONT VIEW

7.5"
5.2"

BIKE
5
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Ø2.375"
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Site Data Table :
Lot 11, Parkway Plaza Third Plat

Lot Area: 48,547.83 sq. ft. (1.11 Acres)
Building Area: 12,000 sq. ft. (0.27 Acre)
Floor-Area-Ratio: 24.7%
Total open space in sq. ft. = 15,359.24 sq. ft.
Total open space percentage of the gross area of the lot: (31.64%)
Interior open space in sq.ft. = 7,832.37 sq. ft.
Interior open space percentage of the gross area of the lot: (16.13%)

Parking: 15,284.84 sq. ft. (0.35 Acre)

Current Zoning: MXD
Proposed Use Retail
Parking Required: 3 spaces min. 3.5 max. per 1,000 sq. ft. building = 36-42

Parking Provided: Provided by development
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IRRIGATION PERFORMANCE SPECIFICATION:

THE FOLLOWING CRITERIA SHALL BE CONSIDERED MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR DESIGN AND INSTALLATIONOF LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION SYSTEM:

1. GENERAL - IRRIGATION SYSTEM TO INCLUDE DRIP IRTRIGATION OF SHRUB BEDS ADJACENT TO BUILDINGS, SPRAY HEADS IN THE PARKING
ISLANDS, AND ROTORS AROUND THE PERIMETER OF THE PARKING LOTS.  HEADS SHALL THROW AWAY FROM BUILDING AND ACOID
SPRAYING OVER SIDEWALKS.

2. IRRIGATION SYSTEM SHALL CONFORM TO ALL INDUSTRY STANDARDS AND ALL FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL LAWS GOVERNING DESIGN
AND INSTALLATION.

3. WATERLINE TYPW, SIZE LOCATION, PRESSURE AND FLOW SHALL BE FIELD VERIFIED PRIOR TO SYSTEM DESIGN AND INSTALLATION.

4. ALL MATERIALS SHALL BE FROM NEW STOCK FREE OF DEFECTS AND CARRY A MINIMUM ONE YEAR WARRANTY FROM THE DATE OF
SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION.

5. THE IRRIGATION SYSTEM SHALL BE DESIGNED AND INSTALLED IN SUCH A WAY THAT ALL SYSTEM COMPONENTS OPERATE WITHIN THE
GUIDELINES ESTABLISHED BY THE MANUFACTURER.

6. LAWN AREA AND SHRUB BEDS SHALLBE ON SEPARATE CIRCUITS.

7. PROVIDE WATER TAP, METER SET, METER VAULT AND ALL OTHER OPERATIONS NECESSARY TO PROVIDE WATER FOR IRRIGATION SHALL
CONFORM TO LOCAL WATER GOVERNING AUTHORITY CUIDELINES AND STANDARDS.

8. BACKFLOW PREVENTION SHALL BE PROVIDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH STATE AND LOCAL REQULATIONS.

9. IRRIGATION CONTROLLER TO BE LOCATED IN UTILITY ROOM INSIDE BUILDING, AS IDENTIFIED BY OWNER.

10. IRRIGATION CONTROLLER STATIONS SHALL BE LABELED TO CORRESPOND WITH THE CIRCUIT IT CONTROLS.

11. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE TO THE OWNER WRITTEN OPERATION INFORMATION FOR ALL SYSTEM COMPONENTS.

12. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE O THE OWNER ALL KEYS, ACCESS TOOLS, WRENCHES AND ADJUSTING TOOLS NECESSARY TO GAIN ACCESS,
ADJUST AND CONTROL THE SYSTEM.

13. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE SHOP DRAWINGS TO THE OWNER FOR REVIEW AND APPROVAL PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

14. AN AUTOMATIC RAIN SHUT-OFF OR MOISTURE DEVICE SHALL BE INSTALLED.

15. INSTALL SCHEDULE 40 PVC SLEEVES UNDER ALL CURBS, PAVING AND SIDEWALKS. SLEEVES TO BE TWICE THE SIZE OF THE LINE IT HOUSES.

16. INSTALL MANUAL DRAIN BALBES AT LOWEST POSSIBLE ELEVATION ON IRRIGATION MAIN TO ALLOW GRAVITY DRAINING OF MAIN DURING
WINTER MONTHS.  PROVIE QUICK COUPLERS AT MULTIPLE LOCATIONS TO ALLOW FOR EASY “BLOWING OUT” OF LATERAL AND MAIN
LINES.

17. ZONES OR NOZZLES SHALL BE DESIGNED WITH MATCHED PRECIPITATION RATES.

18. MINIMUM LATERAL DEPTH IS 15” AND MAIN DEPTH IS 18”.

19. SUBMIT DESGN DRAWING WITH BID TO ALLOW OWNER TO EVALUATE SYSTEM.  INCLUDE CUT SHEETS OF ALL COMPONENTS AND ZONE
TABLE ILLUSTRATING FLOWS AND ANTICIPATED PRESSURE AT FURTHEST HEAD.

20. AN “AS-BUILT” SCALED DRAWING SHALL BE PROVIDED TO THE OWNER BY THE CONTRACTOR AND SHALL INCLUDE UT NOT BE LIMITED TO
THE FOLLOWING:

a. AS CONSTRUCTED LOCATION OF ALL COMPONENTS

b. COMPONENT NAME, MANUFACTURER, MODEL INFORMATION, SIZE AND QUANTITY

c. PIPE SIZE AND QUANTITY

d. INDICATION OF SPRINKLER HEAD SPRAY PATTERN

e. CIRCUIT IDENTIFICATION SYSTEM

f. DETAILED METHOD OF WINTERIZED SYSTEM

SUBMIT AS-BUILT DRAWING IN FULL SIZE DRAWING FORM AS WELL AS PDF ELECTRONIC FORMAT. (SCANNING FULL SIZE COPY OF PLAN IS
ACCEPTABLE IF IT CAN BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

Sight Triangle - Objects and grading shall be no higher than 24
inches, or lower than 9 feet above.
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Sidewalk

Ex Drive

Section 16-4-7
• Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, provide 1 street tree for every 40 ft. on center. Street trees should
be planted between sidewalk and curb. These trees must also maintain a minimum of 5 ft. between the back of curb
and adjacent sidewalks.
• Within the building setback along 135th Street the following is required.

o One ornamental tree per 20 ft. of frontage along 135th Street. Ornamental trees may be clustered.
o One shrub per 5 ft. of frontage along 135th Street. Shrubs may be clustered.

• Within the interior of the lot, additional trees are required at a ratio of one tree for every 3,000 sq.ft. of
landscaped open space.
• Two shade trees must be planted in each parking lot island.
• Note the following minimum size requirements for landscaping at the time of planting.

o Street trees and shade trees must be a minimum of 2 ½" caliper.
o Ornamental trees must be a minimum of 1 ½" caliper.
o Shrubs must be 24 inches in height.

Per the LDO, there is a 60% living material requirement within the landscape bedding.

231.43' / 40 = 6 trees

48,554.93 / 3,000 s.f. = 17 trees

231.43' / 20 = 12 trees
231.43' / 5 = 47 shrubs

7 trees 2 existing tree
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    September 22, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:   August 14, 2020 
 

PLAZA POINTE – GUIDEPOST MONTESSORI – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE 
PERMIT, PRELIMINARY PLAN, AND FINAL PLAN LOCATED SOUTH OF 135TH STREET AND 
WEST OF ROE AVENUE - CASE 68-20             **PUBLIC HEARING** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 68-20 Plaza Pointe, Guidepost Montessori – request for approval of a 
Special Use Permit, Preliminary Plan, and Final Plan, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 

APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Chris Horney with Murphy Real Estate Services. 

 The property is owned by Mathews Real Estate Partnership LP. 

 The architect is Eric Pepa with Allen+Pepa Architects. 
 

REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Special Use Permit, Preliminary Plan, and Final Plan, 
including removal of 9 parking spaces with the addition of a playground and equipment, on the 
southeast corner of the Plaza Pointe development, in the SD-CR zoning district. 

 No other exterior changes to the building are proposed to be made with this application. 
 

ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Mixed Use. 
 

LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of 135th Street is the Parkway Plaza development, zoned MXD (Mixed 
Use Development). 

 South Directly south of 137th Street is Church of the Resurrection, zoned AG (Agricultural), 
with a Special Use Permit for a Place of Worship. 

 East Directly east of Roe Avenue is Villaggio at Leawood, zoned SD-CR (Planned General 
Retail) and SD-O (Planned Office). 

 West Directly west is Briar Street is Cornerstone of Leawood, zoned SD-CR (Planned 
General Retail). 

 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS: 

 This application will use an existing building that faces to the north with parking located on the north 
and east sides of the building.  

 The site will be accessed from 136th Street (private street) though an existing shared driveway that 
runs along the west side of the building. 

 The applicant proposes to remove 9 parking spaces and the construction of two playgrounds. A smaller 
playground (1,450 sq.ft.) located at the northwest corner of the building and a larger playground (3,580 
sq.ft.) located on the east side of the building.  Both playgrounds will consist of living material. 

 The playground equipment located on the east side of the building will be constructed of wooden logs 
adhering to LDO (Leawood Development Ordinance) requirements. 

 The playgrounds will be enclosed by 2’ high wall with fence with shade devices provided over the play 
equipment. 

 
BULK REGULATIONS 

 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for the SD-CR Zoning District: 
Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Front Exterior Structure 
Setback 

40’ 40’ Complies 

Front Exterior Parking 
Setback 

10’ 10’ Complies 

Side Exterior Structure 
Setback 

40’ 40’ Complies 

Side Exterior Parking 
Setback 

10’ 10’ Complies 

Interior Structure Property 
Line Setback 

10’ 10’ Complies 

Interior Parking Property 
Setback 

10’ 0’ Existing 

Open Space 30% 30% Complies 

    
 
PARKING 

 The LDO requires a minimum of 27 parking spaces for this site. The site will include 27 parking spaces, 
this accounts for 1.5 spaces per employee on a maximum shift. 

 Parking will be reduced 9 spaces with the addition of the playground. 
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LANDSCAPING  

 The applicant is proposing to keep most of the existing landscaping along the north and east property 
lines that are adjacent to 136th Street and Roe Avenue. 

 The applicant is also proposing to keep existing landscaping on the north and south sides of the 
building. 

 Any landscaping that is removed within the project site will be replaced within the property. Shade/ 
Ornamental Trees, Shrubs, and perennials will all be replanted along the north and east property lines. 

 
ELEVATIONS:   

 Building is a single story brick building with a flat roof with the front of the building facing north.  A tower 
element is over the main entrance. It was previously occupied by Carpet Corner. 

 The exterior façade of the building will not be altered, including brick masonry. 

 No other changes to the façade of the building are proposed with the plan.  
 
SIGNAGE:   

 Plaza Pointe has sign criteria approved by the Governing Body. 

 Signage for Guidepost Montessori will be approved administratively through a separate application. 
 
LIGHTING: 

 There are no proposed changes to lighting with this application.   
 
INTERACT: 

 An Interact meeting was held on August 06, 2020. A meeting summary and sign-in sheet are attached. 
 
GOLDEN CRITERIA: 
The character of the neighborhood: 
The area is characterized by a major arterial street (135th); parkway plaza zoned Mixed use to the North, 
Church of the Resurrection zoned AG to the south, a major arterial (Nall); and the City of Overland Park to 
the west, a major arterial street (Roe); Villaggio a mixed use development to the east. 
 
The zoning and uses of properties nearby: 

 North Directly north of 135th Street is the Parkway Plaza development, zoned MXD (Mixed 
Use Development). 

 South Directly south of 137th Street is Church of the Resurrection, zoned AG (Agricultural), 
with a Special Use Permit for a Place of Worship. 

 East Directly east of Roe Avenue is Villaggio at Leawood, zoned SD-CR (Planned General 
Retail) and SD-O (Planned Office). 

 West Directly west is Briar Street is Cornerstone of Leawood, zoned SD-CR (Planned 
General Retail). 

 
The Suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 
Commercial properties surround the subject site. The applicant is requesting a Special Use Permit for a 
daycare within the commercial development. The subject property is suitable for the restricted uses.  
 
The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: 
The project is suitable to this site, but the required Special Use Permit and stipulations recommended for 
approval with this application are necessary to ensure a high quality development.   
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The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the application: 
Denial of this application will not result in a relative gain to the public health, safety and welfare because 
this project does not propose a disruptive use or any changes to the site. 
 
The recommendation of the permanent staff: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 68-20, Plaza Pointe – Guidepost Montissori – 
request for approval of a Special Use Permit, Preliminary Plan, and Final Plan, with the stipulations listed 
in the report. 
 
Conformance to the adopted master plan of the City of Leawood: 
The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as retail.  The zoning is SD-CR.  The use is allowed 
with a Special Use Permit. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 68-20, Plaza Pointe – Guidepost Montissori – 
request for approval of a Special Use Permit, Preliminary Plan, and Final Plan, with the following 
stipulations: 
1. The project is limited to the Plaza Pointe development, Guidepost Montessori and the construction of 

two playgrounds, and rearranging of parking areas. 
2. Prior to Governing Body consideration, open area shall consist of 30% living material; and shown on 

plans. 
3. Prior to Governing Body consideration, fencing shall be updated to remain consistent within the Plaza 

Pointe development; and shown on plans. 
4. Prior to Governing Body consideration, curb height surrounding all playgrounds shall be increased, 

reducing the risk of vehicular accidents; and shown on plans. 
5. All playground equipment shall meet all ASTM (American Society for Testing and Material) 1487 and 

CPSC (U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission) current standards. 
6. Per Section 16-4-3.6 of the Leawood Development Ordinance, this Special Use Permit shall have a 

duration of twenty (20) years from approval by the Governing Body, after which shall terminate if no 
new Special Use Permit is applied for and granted by the City of Leawood Governing Body. 

7. A Special Use Permit for Guidepost Montessori shall be issued to Higher Ground Education Inc. 
8. In the event the allowed use is discontinued for a period of three months or more, the Special Use shall 

be determined abandoned, and this permit shall become null and void. 
9. A cross access/parking easement for the entire Plaza Pointe development shall be recorded with the 

Johnson County Registrar of Deeds prior to issuance of a building permit. 
10. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, where pedestrian routes intersect vehicular access routes, 

the material of the pedestrian route shall be enhanced and differentiated from the vehicular paving 
material to match existing crosswalks within the Plaza Pointe development. 

11. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all landscaped areas shall be irrigated. 
12. The approved final landscape plan shall contain the following statements: 

a. All trees shall be callipered and undersized trees shall be rejected. 
b. All hedges shall be trimmed to maintain a solid hedge appearance. 
c. All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy.   
d. Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the 

landscape architect and the City of Leawood, prior to installation. 
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e. All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 
13. A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas registered Landscape Architect, shall be submitted prior to 

final occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per the approved landscape plan 
and all plant material used is to the highest standards of the nursery industry. 

14. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on Sundays. 
15. A sign permit from the Planning Department shall be obtained prior to installation of any signs. 
16. The applicant shall obtain all approvals and permits from the Public Works Department, per the public 

works memo on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development Department (Exhibit A), prior 
to issuance of a building permit. 

17. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
18. The conditions and stipulations of the preliminary plan approval remain in full force and effect except 

to the extent expressly modified herein. 
19. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation 
has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations 
one through nineteen. 
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Memorandum 

 

Fire Department                                      (913) 266-0600                             FAX (913) 681-2399 
 

 
 
TO:  Grant Lang     

 

FROM:    Jarrett Hawley     

 

DATE:      August 20, 2020  

 

SUBJECT: Plaza Pointe- Guideport Montessori 

 

 

The Leawood Fire Department has no objections or recommendations on Case 68-20 at this 

time. 

 

 

Jarrett Hawley 

Deputy Chief 

Leawood Fire Department 
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MEETING MINUTES 

 

Date: Thursday, August 6, 2020 6:00 PM-7:00 PM 

Location:  Zoom Meeting 

Presenters: Chris Horney & Higher Ground Education Staffs 

Subject: Request a special use application for a daycare facility at 4701 W 136th Leawood, Kansas; 

commonly known as Carpet Corner building  

 

ATTENDEES 

Murphy Real Estate Service 

Chris Horney, Kim Burrell, Bryan Li 

Higher Ground Education 

Alma Reza, Aaron Bailey, Jocelyn Scotty 

Neighborhood Guests 

Brad Tally (Owner of Tally J Brad DDS), Arjun & Sudha (Owner of Primrose School of Leawood) 

 

Part 1 – INTRODUCTION 

Chris Horney started the discussion by introducing himself and parties involved in this transaction, and 

then stated that the purpose of the meeting is to request special use permit for the building and wanted to 

generate feedbacks from the neighborhood.  He further discussed high levels of the project including:  

 The special use will be a daycare facility with maximum 134 student’s capacity and 27 parking 

spaces based on city’s zoning requirement. 

 The building exterior will stay the same and a green space (~5,000 SF) will be added for children 

uses on the east of the building.  

 The development team believed that the layout presented in the application has the least impact 

on the neighborhood after considering operational use and traffic flows.  

 

Higher Ground Education team then joined and discussed school operation related topics including: 

 The capacity initially with be limited to about 40 students, and gradually to achieve total of 134 

students over four years period.  

 The building will have total 7 classrooms and the operator intends to open 4 classrooms first and 

grow overtime based on demand. 

 Pick up and drop off time is throughout the day between 7AM-7PM, and the peak hours are 

7AM-9AM and 4PM-6 PM. Parents would bring kids in and out when pick up and drop off.  

 Operation hour is between 7AM-6PM, and total employee will be 18 people maximum 

 



Part 2 - Q&A  

Q: Has the developer been to plan commission meeting? 

A: No yet, given that there is step by step process, but the developer has been working with city 

administrators and planners for two months and received some feedbacks regarding park compliance 

and congestion in which will be addressed in the process. The feedback includes comply with parking 

requirement and congestion and add sidewalk from our property on to road which we are exploring.  

 

Q: What is the daycare company background, and if this is the first daycare in this market? 

A: Headquartered in Orange County, CA, Higher Grounded Education has opened 54 schools across 

the nation as June 30, 2020, and this will be the first venture for the company, if everything goes as 

planned. More information about school on the link. https://www.tohigherground.com/about/jocelyn-

scotty  

 

Q: Is the parking comply with city? How is the inflow and outflow?  

A:  Per city requirement, the parking is 1.5 per employee at max shift, in this case the max shift is 18 

people hence 27 parking spaces. The kids will come from outside or front door and have direct access 

into playground area so will be limited exposure on the road. It will have some traffic given this is an 

urban environment. We will be cautious about where to put curb and fence and make sure kids are 

safe.  

 

Q: What improvements will be on the building? Landscape? 

A: The development team will clean up the building, do the landscape, high-quality finishes, etc.  In 

general, this this will be a bit higher end class daycare in the market yet still affordable and accessible 

to families.   

 

Q: What is project timeline and expect construction cross access during the construction 

process? 

A:  If everything goes well, it will take next 6-8 months to get through the full zoning process and 

design and then do the physical work.  Give the most work will be interior, the team expect minimal 

construction noise or vibration, and will try to minimize any unharmonious work for the 

neighborhood.  The end goal is to be a good neighbor for the community. 

 

Q: Who will operate the daycare? 

A:  Higher Ground has administrative team that runs all the school locations, and the company will 

provide support to administrative team who is experienced in childcare to support any school 

operation.  

 

Q: Next step and schedule? 

A: The team will join plan commission meeting on August 25th, 2020. If have any comments, please 

reach out to the team members or staffs from the city of Leawood we contacted below.    

Grant D Lang  City Planer glang@leawood.org 

Richard Sanchez  City Planer richards@leawood.org  

 

 

https://www.tohigherground.com/about/jocelyn-scotty
https://www.tohigherground.com/about/jocelyn-scotty


 
 
Matt Mitchell 
Asset Management Group 
5600 W. 95th Street, Suite 307 
Overland Park, KS 66207 
 
9/10/2020 
 
Dear Matt, 
 
 

RE: Carpet Corner conversion to Guidepost Montessori School 
 
In reference to your letter regarding the concerns about the potential conversion, as a representative of the 

potential purchaser, I would like to respond to each of the concerns laid out int the letter to the City of Leawood:   
 

1. Parking –   
o Lot 8 currently has 35 parking spaces. We are removing a net of 8 spaces, by removing 8 spaces 

on the east, two on the north, and adding two on the west. 
o The cross‐parking easement referred to in the Declaration of Easements, Covenants, and 

Restrictions (DECR) is section 6.2, which effectively gives the non‐exclusive use of parking in 
other lots to each owner. This section must be read in concert with Section 5.1, which dictates 
the number of spaces required, which states “There shall be maintained on each site at all times 
a sufficient number of car spaces so that at any given time the parking ratio on each Site will not 
be less than that required to be maintained on each Site (without regard to parking availability 
on any other Site) by governmental authority”. Given the new use, and more clearly defined in 
item #2, we are meeting the LDO requirement of 27 spaces by the 1.5 spaces per employee. 

o As to our ability to address the parking and other improvements within the DECR, sections 3.2 
and 3.3 are relevant. Section 3.2 says that “Subject to the other terms and provisions of this 
Declaration (including Section 3.1 above if applicable), each Owner shall have the right, without 
the consent of the Developer, to make changes, alterations, and additions (collectively, 
“Alterations”) to the Improvements from time to time located on its Site, PROVIDED, 
HOWEVER so long as the Developer is an Owner, each Owner shall obtain prior written consent 
of Developer before making any Alterations to the Improvements on the Site…” The Developer 
from the DECR is no longer an Owner, so the balance of the section is not applicable. Even if the 
Developer was still an Owner, he wouldn’t have approval rights, as we are not increasing the 
floor area, modifying the exterior appearance of the building itself, increasing or changing the 
building footprint, altering the location of the building, or altering the parking that would 
change the ratios set forth in Section 5. Per the above, we are not doing that.   

o Per section 3.3 of the DECR, “Subject to the other terms and provisions of this Declaration, each 
Owner shall have the right, without the consent of any other Owner, to construct 
Improvements on its Site and to make Alterations to the Improvements from time to time 
located on its Site.” 

o As demonstrated across multiple areas within the DECR, we have no obligation to obtain the 
consent of the other Owners within the DECR to make these Alterations.  

o It is accurate to state that we are using less parking, but that is because the use is different, and 
thus the requirement is different. The Leawood Development Ordinance states the requirement 
of 1.5 parking spots per employee at maximum shift, and we are meeting that requirement. If 
there is an issue with that requirement, it should be taken up with the City of Leawood. 

o We will not comment on any parking at other sites, and we have provided a traffic study as 
required by the City of Leawood Planning Department. 

2. Parking & 1.5 Employees at Max Shift –  



 
 

o The Kansas Department of Health and Environment has very specific laws and regulations 
related to licensing for preschools and childcare centers. This property must follow those, and 
therefore this calculation of employees follows these regulations. They can be found here on 
pages 53‐54 
(https://www.kdheks.gov/bcclr/regs/ccc/Preschools_and_Child_Care_Centers_all_sections.pdf) 

o We have a total of 7 classrooms, broken down into 1 infant classroom, 2 toddler classrooms, 
and 4 classrooms from 3‐6 (labeled as Children’s House in our plans). 

o  
o We have one infant classroom, 3 staff (1 classroom of 9 students) 
o We have two Toddlers classrooms, 4 staff (2 classrooms of 10 students) 

o  
o We have 1 class of 2‐3 year old students, 2 staff (1 classroom of 14 students) 
o We have 3 classes of 3‐6 year old students, 6 staff (3 classrooms of 24 students) 
o Although we have a kitchen area, we do not prepare food within the facility, so no staff is 

dedicated to that. 
o We are required to have at least 1 administrator but may end up having 2.  
o This totals to 17 staff, and that is one less than projected with the 18. 

3. Shared Easement Removal –Section 6.1 refers to the Common Area Easement, which gives all owners of 
Plaza Point access to the Common Facilities within the Common Area, which is Tract A (more commonly 
known as 136th Street and Linden Avenue) and any access roads, driveways, entranceways, sidewalks, 
curbs, fences, signs, monumentation, landscaped areas, fountains, and stormwater collection, detention 
and retention facilities (Common Facilities). Said differently, there is a misreading of the document that 
is conflating Common Facilities within the Common Area (i.e. roads and sidewalks within the Tract A lot) 
with private roads or sidewalks within each Owner’s Site. There is no easement between Sites for 
sidewalks within the DECR. 

4. Fencing – The code reference to 16‐4‐7.6.B is an incorrect one, as that refers screen walls or fences for 
site utility services, not simply a fence for a playground as we’re proposing. To our knowledge, we are 
currently compliant with the LDO for the fencing as proposed and we have no knowledge or comment 
on previous projects.  

5. Landscaping –  



o It is factually inaccurate to say that we are removing a significant amount of landscaping, as we
are modifying the landscaping and actually increasing the green space on the site. We are
reducing the amount of impervious surface on the site, thus reducing peak storm water flow
rates.

o It is correct to say that we are adding parking on the west side, but given that we are removing
parking on the east and adding it on the west, we are unclear why that would be “unfair”?

o It was pointed out that there is no parallel parking in any other area in Plaza Pointe. It is unclear
how that is relevant, as parallel parking is not prohibited by the LDO nor the DECR.

o Finally, the plan does not remove a setback between the building on the west side, it simply
modifies it, as there is still a setback of 5’ from the curb to the building.

6. Safety – As addressed in the City of Leawood Plan Commission meeting on 9/9/20, we have proposed to
include a 2’‐6” retaining wall in lieu of a more typical 6” curb. The fencing would then go on top of this,
but the retaining wall would prevent any cars from being able to interfere with our children in the
playground. The referenced code (16‐4‐7.3.C) we do not view as a relevant code, as that is referencing
setback/buffer areas along a property line, which is not the case here.

7. Proposed sidewalk with stairs – This was a request by the City of Leawood Planning Department. After
discussion with the City of Leawood Planning Department, they are ok with us removing this access to
Roe Avenue.

If there is further discussion that needs to be had on this, please advise and we will address. We are open to hosting 
another Zoom call with the group if necessary, prior to the 9/22/20 meeting if necessary. 

Thank you, 

Chris Horney 
Managing Director  
Murphy Real Estate Services  



From: Arjun Amaran <arjun.amaran@primroseleawood.com> 

Sent: Monday, August 17, 2020 4:52 PM 

To: Grant Lang; Brad Tally; Erin Dean; Sudha Amaran 

Subject: Guidepost Montessori Project Concerns 

Attachments: CityOfLeawood-GuidepostMontessori-Concerns.pdf; Plaza Pointe 

Bylaws.pdf; 9121 868.pdf; 8007 595.pdf; 6824 51.pdf; Six hospitalized 

after car crashes into fence of Texas day care.pdf 

 

Grant - As we discussed, I am attaching concerns about the Guidepost Montessori Project.    I 

have discussed this with Dr. Brad Talley who owns the Dental office and Erin Davis who owns 

Sydney Pet and Spa and they share these concerns.   Both of them are directly to the south of this 

project.       

 

Please let me know how we can be at the Planning Commission meeting to express our concerns 

to the committee members.     

 

Thank You, 

 

Arjun Amaran 

Primrose School of Leawood 

913-488-3841 

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 

ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  





Below are some issues we see with the Guidepost Montessori School Project…..  
 
The number of parking spaces, shared easements, and landscaping is a value add for the 
Plaza Pointe community.  All the buildings in Plaza Pointe had to abide by these rules 
when our buildings were constructed.  There is even a Common Area Easement and a 
Cross Parking Easement that was agreed to.  These rules do protect our property value. 
If this new project is not held to the same standards, they are reducing the value of the 
other properties in Plaza Pointe.  We hope that the City of Leawood takes all of this in 
consideration before they consider approving a Special Use Permit for this project. 

 
1.) Parking - They are removing many parking spots.  We count a reduction of at least 11 
parking spots on the East side.   When the buildings were built in Plaza Pointe there was 
a Cross Parking Easement. A copy of these agreements is attached - Section 6.2.     It 
was signed by the owner of the Carpet Corner building.  The agreement means that all 
owners have the right to use the parking spots.    They are removing 11 spots that other 
property owners could be using. Then when they use up all the spots they could still use 
the neighbors parking spots.   They are using a smaller ratio of parking spots than 
was required when the Plaza Pointe buildings were built.  As a comparison, the 
Primrose School of Leawood has 50 parking spots with a capacity of 178 children. 
Guidepost Montessori will have a capacity of 132 children, but will only have 27 spots. 
We know for a fact looking at their building layout they will need more than 18 staff. They 
will also need more parking for when parents come to pick up and drop off.    If they will 
have vehicles to transport children they will need spots for that as well.    All of this 
additional parking burden will be taken on by the neighboring Plaza Pointe Buildings 
which have this cross parking easement agreement. 
 
2.) Parking and 1.5 Employees at Max Shift.   Guidepost Montssori is basing their 
parking calculations on 18 staff. However they have seven rooms, an office, a kitchen, 
and an infant room.   The seven rooms will require two teachers each for 14 teachers, the 
infant room will require three teachers, the kitchen will require one, and the office will 
require two(Director and an Assistant Director).   That is a total of 20 staff minimum. If any 
of the rooms are changed to infant rooms the minimum will be higher.     At 1.5 parking 
spots per staff they would need a minimum of 30 spots when they have only accounted 
for 27 spots.  
 
3.) Shared Easement Removal - They are removing sidewalk and shared easements for 
Plaza Pointe.   There is a Shared Common Area Easement(Section 6.1). They are 
removing the shared common area between Dr. Tally's building and the Carpet corner 
building. They are also removing the common area sidewalk on the East and North of the 
building.  
 
4.) Fencing - They are putting their fencing right up against the parking lot.    If you look 
at the Primrose School of Leawood, there is a lot of space between fencing and the 



parking lot. This is for safety and aesthetics.   The Primrose School of Leawood was also 
required to put a wall around all four corners. Anywhere there is a fence there is 
landscaping hiding the playground, There needed to be landscaping to hide the 
playground.  The original owner who built this building, Ken Baude, said the City of 
Leawood was very particular about all of these items before they were given a special use 
permit for the Primrose School of Leawood.   I believe the Leawood Development 
Ordinance requires screening outside of a fence.   16.4.7.6 B) ... The screening wall or 
fence shall be accented with landscaping materials to soften the appearance of the wall or 
fence.  In fact two other childcare centers in Leawood have this.    Please see pictures 
below with descriptions. 
 
5.) Landscaping - They are removing a significant amount of landscaping.     They are 
removing landscaping and easement on the West side of the building to accommodate 
additional parallel parking.  There has been no Parallel parking approved for use in 
any other area of Plaza Pointe. It would be unfair to allow for the removal of landscaping 
and put in parking in that area. That also removed any setback between the building and 
the road. 
 
6.) Safety - There is a huge safety issue with having the fence right up against the 
parking lot without any setbacks or buffers.   Attached is an article about a preschool 
where there wasn't a proper buffer and a car hit the fence and injured several children. 
This was a serious situation that happened a few years ago. One child was critically 
injured and in the hospital for several days as a result of this.   16-4-7.3 C)  Perimeter 
Landscaping Not Adjacent to a Public Right-of-Way: A landscaped setback/buffer 
area is required along all property lines on the periphery of the area covered by the plan, 
other than street frontages. 1.a) Notwithstanding any other provisions relating to yard 
requirements, such landscaped setback/buffer areas shall be a least 10 feet in width 

 
7.) Proposed Sidewalk with Stairs - The plan also calls for a sidewalk that connects to 
Roe on the East side.  I don't think this should be allowed.  This will encourage people to 



park along Roe and walk to the building.  We don't have anything like this connecting the 
buildings in Plaza Pointe to Roe. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 
The items in Red above are all the parking spots they are removing.  The Items in yellow 
are all of the Easements they are removing.   The item in green shows the amount of 
landscaping required by Plaza Pointe and the City of Leawood at the time of construction 
to have between buildings and the parking lot.  As you can see this new project does not 
allow for space between the parking lot and their building. 



 
 

The above picture in the red circle shows the wall required by the City of Leawood to put 
in place for before the construction of the Primrose School of Leawood.  The wall 
conforms to the same brick used throughout the Plaza Pointe Development.   The yellow 
circle shows the fence and the landscaping right outside the fence.  As you can see you 
can't see the playground from the street.  In the plan they have shown they don't have any 
landscaping between the playground and the parking lot and street.  



 

 
Primrose School of Leawood - In the above picture in the red shows the walls and 
landscaping.  The green arrows show the amount of easement and landscaping 
between the property and the street and parking lot. 



 

 
Kiddie Kollege of Leawood on 134th and Briar.  Notice the Easements and 
setbacks from the Fence/Building and the street/parking marked with green arrows. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Primrose School of Leawood - 137th and Linden Ave.   Notice the Easements and 
setbacks from the Fence/Building and the street/parking marked with green arrows. 



8/17/20, 11:30 AMSix hospitalized after car crashes into fence of Texas day care | Fort Worth Star-Telegram

Page 1 of 2https://www.star-telegram.com/news/local/article176019581.html

Five children, one adult injured as car
crashes into fence of Frisco day care
By Mitch Mitchell September 28, 2017 06:42 PM , Updated October 01,
2017 12:15 AM

Several people reported injured Thursday when a car crashed into a Frisco day care, according to police WFAA

Courtesy

FRISCO

Five children and one adult were taken to the hospital after a car crashed
into a fence at a day care center, according to police.

Police are unsure about the severity of injuries, said Ryan Chandler, a Frisco
police spokesman.

The crash happened about 4:50 p.m. Thursday at the Primrose School of



 
 

 

Asset Management Group                   5600 W. 95th St. Suite 307                              P: (816) 666-8662 

                   Overland Park, KS 66207                               F: (877) 709-9786 

 

To Whom it may concern –  

 I hope this letter finds you well. My name is Matt Mitchell and I am the property manager for the Plaza 

Pointe HOA. During a meeting held with owners there were concerns about the sale and remodel of the Carpet 

Corner location. Thus, I am writing on behalf of the owners. On the following pages you will find a signed 

petition to remedy the following issues. 

 A major point of contention is that of the parking spaces. Per the drawings of the new Montessori 

School, a major section of the parking lot will be demised and made into a playground. This has major 

ramifications to the surrounding businesses. Not only will this take from other owner’s parking, but it also 

creates an access and traffic flow issue. The fence(s) which the school will install will segregate cross flow access 

from one side of the parking lot to the other. Moreover, the traffic flow issue is further exasperated by the fact 

that student drop off and pick up will block customers, workers, and owners from accessing their buildings.  

 In addition to the aforementioned, there are issues pertaining to the landscaping and easements with 

proximity to the street. As detailed in the Plaza Pointe bylaws, there are several requirements which all owners 

must abide by. In this scenario, the Montessori School does not adhere to the landscaping and easements 

requirements in any capacity.  

 It is our recommendation, on behalf of the owner’s association, to have these issues resolved. We thank 

you for your time and consideration with this matter. If you have any questions, please feel free to reach out to 

me at your convenience.  

 

Best regards,  

 

Matt Mitchell | Property Manager 

 

ASSET MANAGEMENT GROUP  

D: 913-498-9493 | | www.assetmgmtgrp.com  

5600 W. 95th St Ste. 307 Overland Park, KS 66207 

 

 

http://www.assetmgmtgrp.com/
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BYLAWS OF 
PLAZA POINTE OWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC. 

 
 

ARTICLE I 
OFFICES 

 
1.1  Name. The name of the corporation is Plaza Pointe Owners Association, Inc. It is 

incorporated under the laws of the State of Kansas as a not-for-profit, non-stock corporation. The 
corporation is the owner’s association referenced in the Declaration (as defined below). 
 

1.2  Location. The principal office of the corporation shall be located in Leawood, Kansas, 
but meetings of members and directors may be held at such other places in Johnson County, 
Kansas as may be designated by the Board of Directors from time to time. 
 

ARTICLE II 
DEFINITIONS 

 
2.1  Association shall mean Plaza Pointe Owners Association, Inc., its successors and 

assigns. 
 

2.2  Subdivision shall mean all of the property which is now or hereafter within the 
jurisdiction of the Association as provided in the Declaration. 
 

2.3  Common Area shall have the meaning set forth in the Declaration. 
 

2.4  Building Lot shall have the meaning set forth in the Declaration. 
 

2.5  Owner shall have the meaning set forth in the Declaration. 
 

2.6  Declaration shall mean that certain Declaration of Easements, Covenants and 
Restrictions for Plaza Pointe recorded on January 16, 2001 in Book 6824 at Page 51 in the Office of 
the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas (the “Register’s Office”), as amended by that 
certain First Amendment to Declaration of Easements, Covenants and Restrictions recorded August 
12, 2002 in Book 8007 at Page 595 in the Register’s Office, and as further amended by that certain 
Second Amendment to Declaration of Easements, Covenants and Restrictions recorded June 20, 
2003 in Book 9121 at Page 868 in the Register’s Office and  any additional declarations as may be 
recorded from time to time with the Register's Office which relate to the Subdivision commonly 
known as "Plaza Pointe" or any other Subdivision under the jurisdiction or coverage of the 
Association from time to time. 
 

ARTICLE III 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
3.1  Membership Generally. Membership in the Association shall be limited to persons or 

entities that are the Owners of any Building Lot which is now or hereafter within the jurisdiction of the 
Association. Persons or entities (other than a contract seller) who hold an interest merely as· 
security for the performance of an obligation shall not be members. Membership shall be 
appurtenant to and may not be separated from ownership of a Building Lot. 
 

glang
Text Box
Exhibit CProvided by Arjun Amaranas part of public record 
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3.2  Suspension of Membership. During any period in which a member shall be 
delinquent in the payment of any assessment levied by the Association as provided in the 
Declaration, the voting rights of such member shall be suspended, and the rights of such member to 
receive services provided by the Association may be suspended by the Board of Directors, until such 
assessment has been paid. Such rights of a member may also be suspended by the Board of 
Directors, after notice and hearing, for a period not to exceed ninety (90) days, for violation of any of 
the rules and regulations established by the Board of Directors governing the use of the Common 
Area in or available to the Subdivision. 
 

ARTICLE IV 
VOTING RIGHTS 

 
4.1  Voting. The Association shall have one class of membership, namely Class A. Each 

Owner of a Building Lot shall be a Class A member. Class A members shall have one (1) vote for 
each square foot of building area contained on the lot. For purposes hereof, the term building area 
shall mean with respect to each building, or structure on an Owner’s Site, the number of square feet 
of floor area at each level or story (including basements and structural mezzanines) lying within the 
exterior faces of exterior walls (except party walls as to which the center line, not the exterior faces, 
shall be used), without deduction for stairways, elevators or escalators, interior walls, columns or 
other construction equipment.Where more than one (1) person holds an interest in a Building Lot, all 
such persons shall be members and the vote for such Building Lot shall be exercised as they may 
determine among themselves; however, the number of votes for such Building Lot shall never 
exceed the number of votes allocated to that Building Lot based upon square footage. 
 

4.2  Representatives. Where a Building Lot is owned by a corporation, partnership or 
other entity, such entity shall designate a person who is entitled to vote respecting such Building Lot 
and to serve, if elected or appointed, as a director of the Association, such designation to be made 
by filing an instrument to that effect with the Association, either by post mail or electronic 
communication. 
 

ARTICLE V 
USE OF COMMON AREA 

 
5.1  Common Area. The Owners of Building Lots within the Subdivision shall have 

the non-exclusive right to the use of all Common Area to the extent not located on any Building 
Lot. 
 

5.2  Rules and Regulations. The Association shall have the right and the power to 
make reasonable rules and regulations which shall govern the use of the Common Area. 
 

ARTICLE VI 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
6.1  Number. The affairs of the Association shall be managed by a Board of Directors 

composed of five (5) directors. Each director named in the Articles of Incorporation shall hold 
office until the first annual election of directors or until his or her earlier resignation or removal. 
Each individual elected as a director shall serve until the next annual election and until his or her 
successor is duly elected and has commenced his or her term of office or until his or her earlier 
resignation or removal. 
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6.2  Qualification. Each Owner that has designated a director must be and remain a 
member in good standing of the Association in order for such Owner’s designee to be elected 
and remain as a director.  
 

6.3  Removal. Any director may be removed from the Board of Directors, with or 
without cause, by a majority vote of the members of the Association entitled to vote. In the event 
of death, resignation or removal of a director, his or her successor shall be selected by the 
remaining members of the Board of Directors and shall serve for the unexpired term of his or 
her predecessor. 
 

6.4  Compensation. No director shall receive compensation for the service he or she 
may render to the Association as a director. However, any director may be reimbursed for his or 
her reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in the performance of his or her duties. 
 

6.5  Newly Created Directorships. Newly created directorships resulting from any 
increase in the authorized number of directors may be filled by a majority of the directors then in 
office, though less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director, unless it is otherwise 
provided in the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, and the directors so chosen shall hold 
office until the next annual election and until their successors are duly elected and qualified, or 
until their earlier resignation or removal. If there are no directors in office, then an election of 
directors may be held in the manner provided by statute. 
 

ARTICLE VII 
MEETING OF DIRECTORS 

 
7.1  Annual Meetings. Annual meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held within 

15 days following the annual meeting of the members at such place as may be fixed by the 
Board. 
 

7.2  Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held 
without notice and shall be held at such place and time as may be fixed from time to time by the 
Board. 
 

7.3  Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at 
such place and time as may be specified by and when called by the president of the Association 
or by any two or more directors. 
 

7.4  Notice of Special Meetings. Written or printed notice stating the place, day and 
hour of a special meeting and the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be 
delivered to each director not less than five (5) days before the date of the special meeting, 
either personally or by mail, by or at the direction of the person(s) calling the meeting. If mailed, 
such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail 
addressed to the director at his address as it appears on the records of the Association, with 
postage thereon prepaid. Any meeting of the Board of Directors shall be a legal meeting without 
any notice thereof having been given if all directors shall be present. 
 

7.5  Quorum. Unless otherwise required by law, a majority of the total number of 
directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. Except as otherwise required 
by law or as provided in Article XVI hereof, every act or decision done or made by a majority of 
the directors present at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is present shall be regarded as 
the act of the Board of Directors. 
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7.6  Adjournment. If a quorum shall not be present at any such meeting, the directors 

present shall have the power successively to adjourn the meeting, without notice other than 
announcement at the meeting, to a specified date. At any such adjourned meeting at which a 
quorum shall be present any business may be transacted which could have been transacted at 
the original session of the meeting. 
 

7.7  Meetings by Conference Telephone or Similar Communications Equipment. 
Members of the Board of Directors, or any committee designated by the Board, may participate 
in a meeting of the Board or committee by means of conference telephone or similar 
communications equipment whereby all persons participating in the meeting can hear each 
other, and participation in a meeting pursuant hereto shall constitute presence in person at such 
meeting. 
 

7.8  Action Taken Without a Meeting. Any action required or permitted to be taken at 
any meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting 
if written consent thereto is signed by all members of the Board of Directors or of such 
committee, as the case may be, and such written consent is filed with the minutes of 
proceedings of the Board or committee. 
 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
NOMINATION AND ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 

 
 8.1  Nomination. Nomination for election to the Board of Directors may be made in 
writing by any member delivered to the secretary of the Association in advance of the annual 
meeting or from the floor at the annual meeting of the members. 
 
 8.2  Election. Election to the Board of Directors shall be by written ballot or through 
electronic communication. At any such election, the members entitled to vote or their proxies 
may cast, in respect to each vacancy, as many votes as they are entitled to exercise under the 
provisions of Article IV hereof. The persons receiving the largest number of votes shall be 
elected. Cumulative voting shall not be permitted. 
 
 8.3  Commencement of Term of Office. A director shall be deemed elected at the time 
of his or her election, but he or she shall not be deemed to have commenced his or her term of 
office or to have any of the powers or responsibilities of a director until the time he accepts the 
office of director either by a written or electronic acceptance or by participating in the affairs of 
the Association at a meeting of the Board of Directors. 
 

ARTICLE IX 
POWERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
9.1 General Powers.  The Board of Directors shall have the power to: 

 
9.1.1  Scope. Exercise for the Association all powers, duties and authority 

vested in or delegated to the Association and not reserved to the membership by other 
provisions of these Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation or the Declaration. 

 
9.1.2  Rules and Regulations. Adopt and publish rules and regulations 

governing the use of the Common Area and the personal conduct of the members and 
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their guests thereon, and to establish penalties for the infraction thereof; provided, 
however, that the Board of Directors may not, in any event, revoke, limit, restrict, or 
suspend in any way, the right of any Owner to use and enjoy any street for ingress and 
egress. 

 
9.1.3  Employment. Employ (and contract with for such periods of time and on 

such terms as may be deemed appropriate) agents, independent contractors, managers 
and employees, and to prescribe their duties and responsibilities. 

 
9.1.4  Records and Reports. Cause to be kept a complete record of all its acts 

and of the corporate affairs of the Association and to present reports thereof to the 
members. 

 
9.1.5  Supervision. Supervise all officers, agents and employees of the 

Association, and see that their duties are properly performed. 
 

9.1.6  Assessments. As more fully provided in the Declaration, provide for the 
levying of the regular assessments against each Building Lot and any special 
assessment against any Building Lot and to take all actions necessary or appropriate to 
collect the same. 

 
9.1.7  Certificates. Issue, or cause an appropriate officer to issue, upon demand 

by any person, a certificate setting forth whether or not an assessment has been paid. A 
reasonable charge may be made by the Association for the issuance of these 
certificates.  

 
9.1.8  Insurance. Procure and maintain public liability insurance, fire and 

extended coverage hazard insurance and other insurance on property owned by the 
Association and maintain officer's and director's liability insurance, all with such 
coverages and in such sums as may be deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors. 

 
9.1.9  Bonding. Cause officers or employees having fiscal responsibility to be 

bonded, as the Board of Directors may deem appropriate. 
 

9.1.10  Maintenance. Cause the Common Area and other areas to be 
maintained as provided in the Declaration. 

 
9.1.11  Committees. Appoint one or more committees. Any such committee shall 

be composed of at least one (1) director and any other individuals as the Board of 
Directors shall designate. Not all members of a committee need be directors unless 
otherwise provided in the Declaration, Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws. A quorum of 
any committee so designated by the Board of Directors shall be any number of the 
members designated by the Board of Directors, but that quorum shall not consist of less 
than one-half (1/2) of the total number of members appointed to such committee. The 
Board may designate one (1) or more individuals as alternate members of any 
committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the 
committee.  

 
9.1.12  Performance. Perform all acts and do all things required or permitted to 

be done by the Association by the Declaration or otherwise; and perform all acts and do 
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all things permitted or required of a Board of Directors of a not-for-profit corporation 
under the laws of the State of Kansas. 

 
 9.2 Limitations on Power.  The Board of Directors shall not have the power to take 
any of the following actions without the affirmative vote of the members: 

9.2.1 Indebtedness of Association.  Except for unsecured accounts payable 
incurred in the ordinary course of the business of the Association, borrow money and 
incur indebtedness for purposes of the Association or cause to be executed and 
delivered therefor, in the Association's name, promissory notes, bonds, debentures, 
deeds of trust, mortgages, pledges, hypothecations or other evidences of debt and 
securities therefor; provided, however, in all events, the repayment of any such 
indebtedness shall not be or become the personal obligation of any Owner or any 
director. 

 
9.2.2. Sale or Disposal of Assets.  Except for the disposal or replacement of 

personal property in the ordinary course of the business of the Association, sell, convey 
or otherwise dispose of any assets of the Association. 

 
9.2.3. Loans and Guarantees. Except for obligations evidenced by assessments 

under the Declaration or other accounts receivable in the ordinary course of the 
business of the Association, lend funds or property to any other person or guarantee or 
become a surety of the debts or obligations of any other person. 

 
   

 
 

ARTICLE X 
MEETINGS OF MEMBERS 

 
10.1  Annual Meetings. The annual meeting of the members of the Association shall 

be held on the second Tuesday of January of each year or as otherwise scheduled by the 
Board, but within the first 60 days of the year, at such place and time as may be fixed by the 
Board of Directors. If the day for the annual meeting of members is a legal holiday, the meeting 
will be held on the first day following which is not a legal holiday.· At the annual meeting, 
directors shall be elected, reports of the affairs of the Association shall be considered, and any 
other business within the powers of the membership may be transacted. 
 

10.2  Special Meetings. Special meetings of the members may be called at any time by 
the president or by a majority of the Board of Directors, or upon written or electronic request of 
members holding at least one-tenth (1/10th) of the votes of the members. 
 

10.3  Place and Notice of Meetings. All meetings of the members shall be held in 
Johnson County, Kansas at such place as may be designated in the notice of the meeting. 
Written or electronic notice of each meeting of the members shall be given by, or at the direction 
of, the person(s) duly calling the meeting, not less than seven (7) days nor more than forty (40) 
days prior to such meeting to each member entitled to vote thereat, addressed to the member's 
address, electronic or physical, last appearing on the books of the Association. Such notice 
shall specify the place, day and hour of the meeting, and, in the case of a special meeting, the 
purpose(s) of the meeting. Such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when it is deposited in 
the United States mail with postage thereon so addressed to the member. 
 



7 
 

10.4  Quorum. The presence at a meeting, in person or by proxy, of members entitled 
to cast at least a majority of the total votes of the membership on the specific actions shall 
constitute a quorum for any action. If, however, such quorum shall not be present or 
represented at any meeting, the members entitled to vote thereat shall have the power to 
adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at· the meeting, 
until a quorum shall be obtained. Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the Declaration 
or the Articles of Incorporation or by law, a majority vote of those present at a meeting at which 
a quorum is present shall be necessary to transact any business entitled to be transacted by the 
members. 
 

10.5  Proxies. At all meetings of members, each member may vote in person or by 
proxy. All proxies shall be in writing and filed with the secretary of the Association before the 
start of the meeting. Every proxy shall be revocable and shall automatically cease to be 
effective, if not sooner terminated by its terms or revoked, upon the expiration of eleven (11) 
months from the date of its issuance or upon conveyance by the member of his or her Building 
Lot, whichever event shall occur first. 
 

ARTICLE XI 
OFFICERS AND THEIR DUTIES 

 
11.1  Enumeration of Offices. The officers of the Association shall be a president, a 

vice-president, a secretary and a treasurer, who shall be elected from among the members of 
the Board of Directors, and such other officers as the Board of Directors may from time to time 
elect. 
 

11.2  Election of Officers. Initially, the officers shall be elected by the Board of 
Directors named in the Articles of Incorporation at the first meeting of that body, to serve at the 
pleasure of the Board until the first annual meeting of the Board and until their successors are 
duly elected and qualified or until their earlier resignation or removal. At the first and each 
subsequent annual meeting of the Board of Directors, the newly elected Board shall elect 
officers to serve at the pleasure of the Board until the next annual meeting of the Board and until 
their successors are duly elected and qualified or until their earlier resignation or removal. An 
officer shall be deemed qualified when he or she enters upon the duties of the office to which he 
or she has been elected or appointed and furnishes any bond required by the Board of Directors 
or these Bylaws; but the Board of Directors may also require of such person his or her written or 
electronic acceptance and promise faithfully to discharge the duties of such office. 
 

11.3  Special Appointments. The Board of Directors may appoint such other officers 
and agents as the affairs of the Association may require, each of whom shall hold office for such 
period, have such authority, and perform such duties consistent with these Bylaws as the Board 
may, from time to time, determine. 
 

11.4  Resignation and Removal. Any officer may be removed from office by the Board 
of Directors whenever, in the Board's judgment, the best interests of the Association will be 
served thereby. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written or electronic notice to the 
Board through the president or the secretary. Such resignation shall take effect on the date of 
receipt of such notice by the Board or at any later date specified therein, and, unless otherwise 
specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective. 
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11.5  Vacancies. A vacancy in any office may be filled by the Board of Directors at any 
time. The officer elected to such vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the term of the officer 
he or she replaces. 
 

11.6  Multiple Offices. Any two (2) offices may be held by the same person. 
 

11.7  Duties. The duties of the officers are as follows: 
 

President. The president shall be the chief executive officer of the Association 
and shall, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, have general supervision, 
direction and control of the affairs and officers of the Association. He or she shall preside 
at all meetings of the membership and at all meetings of the Board of Directors. He or 
she shall be a non-voting ex officio member of all standing committees (and may also be 
a voting member of any such committee, in the capacity of an official appointee, as the 
case may be) and shall have the general powers and duties of management usually 
vested in the office of president and shall have such other powers and duties as may be 
prescribed by the Board of Directors or these Bylaws. 

 
Vice President. The vice president shall act in the place and stead of the 

president in the event of his or her absence, inability or refusal to act, and shall exercise 
and discharge such other duties and have such other powers as may be prescribed by 
the Board of Directors. 

 
Secretary. The secretary shall record the votes and keep the minutes of all 

meetings and proceedings of the Board of Directors and of the members, shall keep the 
corporate seal, if any, of the Association and affix it on all papers required to have the 
seal affixed thereto, shall serve notice of meetings of the board and of the members, 
shall keep appropriate current records showing the members of the Association, 
together with their addresses, and shall perform such other duties, and have such other 
powers as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or usually vested in the office of 
secretary. 

 
Treasurer. The treasurer shall have responsibility for the safekeeping of the 

funds of the Association, shall keep or cause to be kept full and accurate accounts of 
receipts and disbursements of the Association and such other books of account and 
accounting records as may be appropriate, and shall perform such other duties and have 
such other powers as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors or usually vested in 
the office of treasurer. The books of account and accounting records shall at all 
reasonable times be open to inspection by any director. 

 
11.8  Compensation. Officers of the Association shall not receive any compensation or 

salary for their services, but may be reimbursed for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses 
incurred in the performance of the duties of their offices. 
 

 
ARTICLE XII 

ASSESSMENTS 
 

12.1  Purpose. The assessments levied by the Association shall be used to provide 
funds to enable the Association to exercise the powers, maintain the improvements and render 
the services provided for in these Bylaws, the Declaration and the Articles of Incorporation. 
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12.2  Provisions Governing Assessments. Assessments shall be levied in the manner 

provided in the Declaration. 
 

ARTICLE XIII 
BOOKS AND RECORDS 

 
The books and records of the Association shall, at all times during reasonable hours and 

upon reasonable notice, be subject to inspection by any member for proper purposes. The 
Declaration, Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws of the Association shall also be available 
during reasonable hours for inspection by any member. 
 

ARTICLE XIV 
CORPORATE SEAL 

 
If adopted by the Board of Directors, the Association shall have a corporate seal in a 

circular form having inscribed thereon the name of the Association and the words "Corporate 
Seal--Kansas". The corporate seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be 
impressed or affixed or reproduced or otherwise attached. 
 

ARTICLE XV 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
15.1  Depositories and Checks. The moneys of the Association shall be deposited in 

such banks or financial institutions and shall be drawn out by checks signed in such manner as 
may be provided by resolution adopted by the Board of Directors from time to time. 
 

15.2  Certain Loans Prohibited. The Association shall not make any loan to any officer 
or director of the Association. 
 

15.3  Absence of Personal Liability. The directors, officers and members of the 
Association shall not be individually or personally liable for the debts, liabilities or obligations of 
the Association. 
 

ARTICLE XVI 
AMENDMENT 

 
These Bylaws may from time to time be altered, amended, or repealed, or new Bylaws 

may be adopted by a majority vote of the members of the Association entitled to vote who are 
present at a meeting at which a quorum is present. 
 

ARTICLE XVII 
CONFLICT 

 
In the case of any conflict between the Articles of Incorporation of the Association and 

these Bylaws, the Articles of Incorporation shall control. In the case of any conflict between the 
Declaration and these Bylaws, the Declaration shall control. 
 

ARTICLE XVIII 
FISCAL YEAR 
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The Board of Directors shall have power to fix and from time to time change the fiscal 
year of the Association. In the absence of action by the Board of Directors, the fiscal year of the 
Association shall end each year on the date which the Association treated as the close of its first 
fiscal year, until such time, if any, as the fiscal year shall be changed by the Board of Directors. 
 

ARTICLE XIX 
WAIVER OF NOTICE 

 
Whenever any notice is required to be given under the provisions of the statutes of 

Kansas, or of the Articles of Incorporation or of these Bylaws, a waiver thereof in writing, signed 
by the person or persons entitled to said notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, 
shall be deemed equivalent to notice. Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a 
waiver of notice of such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the express 
purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business 
because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at 
nor the purpose of any regular or special meeting of the members, directors or members of a 
committee of directors need be specified in any written waiver of notice unless so required by 
the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws. 

 
ARTICLE XX 

INDEMNIFICATION 
 

 20.1 Indemnification Required by Law.  The Association shall provide to its directors and 
officers such indemnification as it is required to provide pursuant to the provisions of the Kansas 
general corporation code. 

20.2 Additional Indemnification.   

20.2.1 The Association shall indemnify any person who was or is a party or is 
threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit, or 
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative, other than an action 
by or in the right of the Association, by reason of the fact that such person is or was a 
director, officer, employee, or agent of the Association, or is or was serving at the 
request of the Association as a director, officer, employee, or agent of another 
corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise, 
against expenses (including attorneys’ fees, taxes imposed by Chapter 42 of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986 [hereinafter in these Statutes the “Code”], and expenses of 
correction paid pursuant to Chapter 42 of the Code) and against judgments, fines, and 
amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in 
connection with such action, suit, or proceeding if such person acted in good faith and in 
a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests 
of the Association, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no 
reasonable cause to believe his or her conduct was unlawful.  The termination of any 
action, suit, or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of 
nolo contendere or its equivalent shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person 
did not act in good faith and in a manner which such person reasonably believed to be in 
or not opposed to the best interests of the Association, and, with respect to any criminal 
action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was 
unlawful. 
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20.2.2 The Association shall indemnify any person who was or is a party 
or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending, or completed action or 
suit by or in the right of the Association to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of 
the fact that such person is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the 
Association, or is or was serving at the request of the Association as a director, officer, 
employee, or agent of another corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint 
venture, trust, or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) and 
against amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in 
connection with the defense or settlement of the action or suit if such person acted in 
good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to 
the best interests of the Association, except that no indemnification shall be made in 
respect of any claim, issue, or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged 
to be liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of such person’s duty to the 
Association unless and only to the extent that the court in which the action or suit was 
brought determines upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability and in view 
of all the circumstances of the case, the person is fairly and reasonably entitled to 
indemnification for such expenses as the court shall deem proper. 

20.2.3 To the extent that a director, officer, employee, or agent of the 
Association has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, 
suit, or proceeding referred to in the two preceding paragraphs of this section or in 
defense of any claim, issue, or matter therein, such person shall be indemnified against 
expenses, including attorneys’ fees, actually and reasonably incurred by such person in 
connection with the action, suit, or proceeding. 

20.2.4 Any indemnification under section 20.2.1 or 20.2.2, unless ordered 
by a court, shall be made by the Association only as authorized in the specific case upon 
a determination that indemnification of the director, officer, employee, or agent is proper 
in the circumstances because such person has met the applicable standard of conduct 
set forth in section 20.2.  Such determination shall be made:  (i) by the Board of 
Directors by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors who were not parties to 
the action, suit, or proceeding; or (ii) if such a quorum is not obtainable or, even if 
obtainable, if a quorum of disinterested directors so directs, by independent legal 
counsel in a written opinion. 

20.2.5 Expenses incurred in defending a civil or criminal action, suit, or 
proceeding may be paid by the Association in advance of the final disposition of the 
action, suit, or proceeding as authorized by the Board of Directors in the specific case 
upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the director, officer, employee, or agent 
to repay such amount unless it shall ultimately be determined that such person is entitled 
to be indemnified by the Association as authorized in this section. 

20.2.6 The indemnification provided by this section 20.2 shall not be 
deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification may be 
entitled under any provision of law, the Articles of Incorporation, the Declaration, other 
provisions of these Bylaws, any agreement or contract, a vote of disinterested directors, 
or otherwise, both as to action in an official capacity and as to action in any other 
capacity while holding such office, and shall continue as to a person who has ceased to 
be a director, officer, employee, or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, 
executors, and administrators of such person. 
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20.2.7 The Association may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf 
of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the Association, or 
is or was serving at the request of the Association as a director, officer, employee, or 
agent of another corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, or 
other enterprise, against any liability asserted against such person or incurred by such 
person in any such capacity, or arising out of such person’s status as such, whether or 
not the Association would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability 
under the provisions of this section. 

20.2.8 For purposes of this section, references to the Association include 
all constituent entities absorbed in any consolidation or merger as well as the resulting or 
surviving entity. 

20.2.9 The provisions of this section are intended to facilitate the 
Association’s ability to attract and retain qualified individuals to serve as its directors and 
officers and at its request as directors and officers or in other capacities for other entities 
or enterprises by providing and maximizing the amount of indemnification that the 
Association is permitted to provide to such persons by the Kansas Nonprofit Corporation 
Act, and such provisions shall be construed accordingly.  The provisions of this section 
do not limit the Association’s power to pay or reimburse expenses incurred by a director 
or officer of the Association in connection with appearing as a witness in a proceeding at 
a time when the director or officer has not been made a named defendant or respondent 
to the proceeding. 
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MEMO 

 Overnight 

 Regular Mail 

 Hand Delivery 

 x Other: E-mail 

 

TO:  Brian Scovill, PE, City of Leawood 
FROM:  Tom Fulton, Vice President 

Shannon Jeffries, PE, PTOE  
RE:  Plaza Pointe Redevelopment 

Trip Generation Comparison 
DATE:  August 5th, 2020 

PROJECT #:  020-2090 

 

This memorandum provides a comparison of expected trip generation for a portion of 
the existing Plaza Pointe development located in the southwest quadrant of 135th Street 
and Roe Avenue in Leawood, Kansas. An existing carpet showroom is proposed to be 
redeveloped to a preschool. This memorandum compares the number of trips expected 
to be generated by the existing and proposed land uses for this site. No other buildings 
within the existing site are proposed to be impacted, and no access changes are 
proposed. The proposed site plan is attached to this memorandum. 

A study is not available for the existing site; thus, trip generation was conducted for the 
existing and proposed land uses. The proposed redevelopment is one building within a 
fully developed site, which would typically be viewed in its entirety, potentially as a 
shopping center. However, reviewing the individual building as a shopping center 
results in unrealistic trip generation estimates. Evaluated as a single building, the 
existing building represents a square footage on the lower end of the sample size for 
shopping center and reduces the consideration of shared trips that would be expected 
to occur within a larger development of this type. For the purposes of this memorandum, 
the existing building was reviewed individually without the influence of adjacent 
development.  

Trip generation for the existing and proposed uses was conducted using the ITE Trip 
Generation Manual (10th Edition). The land use that most resembles the existing site is 
Furniture Store (LU 890). The land use that most resembles the proposed site is 
Daycare (LU 565). 

Table 1 illustrates the land use comparison between the existing and proposed sites.  

Table 1:  Land Use Comparison 

Land Use 
Existing Site 

Plan 
Proposed Site 

Plan 

Furniture Store 8,104 SF - 

Daycare - 8,104 SF 

19385 

44)42t19/ONALOc)  
—tannin% 0s,p6,2620 
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Table 2 illustrates the existing and proposed land use expected trip generation for daily, 
AM, and PM peak hour periods and compares the difference for each. 

Table 2:  Daily and Peak Hour Trip Generation Comparison 

Daily Comparison   AM Peak Hour Comparison   PM Peak Hour Comparison 

Existing Site Plan  Existing Site Plan  Existing Site Plan 

  Enter Exit Total     Enter Exit Total     Enter Exit Total 

Total 45 44 89   Total 2 1 3   Total 2 3 5 

Proposed Site Plan  Proposed Site Plan  Proposed Site Plan 

  Enter Exit Total     Enter Exit Total     Enter Exit Total 

Total 193 193 386   Total 47 42 89   Total 42 48 90 

Difference   Difference   Difference 

Total 148 149 297   Total 45 41 86   Total 40 45 85 

Referencing Table 2, the proposed land use is expected to generate approximately 297 
more trips during a typical weekday, 86 more AM peak hour trips, and 85 more trips 
during the PM peak hour when compared to the existing land use. Trip generation 
calculations are attached to this memorandum. 

As stated above, this memorandum reviews the redevelopment of one building within an 
established development. Reviewing the site as a whole, it is anticipated that the 
redevelopment of this building will have a minimal impact on operations of the site or the 
adjacent roadway network.  

We hope that we have provided adequate information for your request. If you have 
additional questions, please contact us at 913.381.1170.  
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ITE Trip Gen. Daily

Code/Page Land Use Avg. Rate/Eq. Trips Enter Exit Enter Exit

890 Furniture Store 8,104 Sq. Ft. Equation 89 50% 50% 45 44

Total 89 45 44

ITE Trip Gen. AM Peak

Code/Page Land Use Avg. Rate/Eq. Hour Trips Enter Exit Enter Exit

890 Furniture Store 8,104 Sq. Ft. Equation 3 71% 29% 2 1

Total 3 2 1

ITE Trip Gen. PM Peak

Code/Page Land Use Avg. Rate/Eq. Hour Trips Enter Exit Enter Exit

890 Furniture Store 8,104 Sq. Ft. Equation 5 47% 53% 2 3

Total 5 2 3

Size

Trip Generation A - Existing Site Plan

Trip Distribution PM Peak Hour Trips

Daily Trip Generation

Trip Distribution Daily Trips

Trip Distribution AM Peak Hour Trips

PM Peak Hour Trip Generation

AM Peak Hour Trip Generation

Size

Size
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ITE Trip Gen. Daily

Code/Page Land Use Avg. Rate/Eq. Trips Enter Exit Enter Exit

565 Daycare 8,104 Sq. Ft. Average 386 50% 50% 193 193

Total 386 193 193

ITE Trip Gen. AM Peak

Code/Page Land Use Avg. Rate/Eq. Hour Trips Enter Exit Enter Exit

565 Daycare 8,104 Sq. Ft. Average 89 53% 47% 47 42

Total 89 47 42

ITE Trip Gen. PM Peak

Code/Page Land Use Avg. Rate/Eq. Hour Trips Enter Exit Enter Exit

565 Daycare 8,104 Sq. Ft. Average 90 47% 53% 42 48

Total 90 42 48

Trip Generation B - Proposed Site Plan

Daily Trip Generation

Trip Distribution Daily Trips

Size

AM Peak Hour Trip Generation

Size

Trip Distribution AM Peak Hour Trips

Size

PM Peak Hour Trip Generation

Trip Distribution PM Peak Hour Trips
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MEMO 
 Overnight 

 Regular Mail 

 Hand Delivery 

 Other: Email 

 

TO: City of Leawood, Kansas 

Public Works, Engineering, Community Development 

FROM: Brett Lauritsen, PE 

Brad Sonner, PLA 

Olsson, Inc. 

RE: Higher Ground Education 

136th & Roe Ave (Carpet Corner Redevelopment) 

Olsson #020-2090 

DATE: August 6, 2020 

 

Purpose of Memo  

The purpose of this memorandum is to provide comparative analysis of existing and proposed 

impervious surfaces, peak runoff rates, and overall stormwater drainage patterns associated with 

proposed redevelopment of the Carpet Corner property at 136th & Roe Avenue. 

Project Summary & Background 

This current project application reflects converting the existing Carpet Corner store into a children’s 

school and care facility. The project also includes minor site infrastructure modifications, landscaping 

improvements, and a new turfed, fenced playground area on the east and north sides of the building 

upon removal of existing parking stalls. 

Drainage Analysis 

As minimal pavement and curb is being repaired or replaced with the project, overall site drainage 

patterns will remain the same, in compliance with all previously approved design plans. Preliminary 

evaluation of site modifications indicates an overall reduction in impervious area (Table 1 below): 

Table 1. Pre & Post-Development - Impervious Surface 

 Impervious Area              

(Square Feet) 

Pre-Development 

Scenario 
29,129 

Post-Development 

Scenario  
26,621 

*From August 2020 Site Plans & Design 
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A reduction in impervious area will result in lower peak storm water runoff flow rates when compared 

to those in existing conditions.  See also included preliminary site plans for additional information, as 

well as Exhibits A & B of the respective Existing and Proposed impervious surface areas. 

The total turfed area is approximately 5,200 square feet and considered pervious given typical 

characteristics and subgrade rock base, which is reflected in Table 1 figures above. As design for the 

project progresses, final turf specifications will be provided with construction plans, and likely similar to 

that shown in Figure 1 below. The turf provides a stable surface for activities while permitting water to 

infiltrate down, similar to a grass field. 

Figure 1. Synthetic Turf - Typical Section (Example) 

 

 

Summary & Conclusions 

• Review and approval of drainage improvements pertaining to this redevelopment project are 

requested with this Memorandum. 

• This building-focused redevelopment requires minimal site improvements and no changes to drainage 

patterns will occur. Drainage will continue to be routed to existing curb inlets as in current conditions. 

• Proposed improvements to the property result in a reduction of impervious area, thus reducing peak 

storm water flow rates. 

• The proposed playground synthetic turf will include an aggregate base layer below the turf’s surface. 

The section will also include perforated drainage as necessary determined on final grades and soil 

strata, in line with manufacturer specifications.  

• This project will not require installation of Best Management Practices (BMPs) in accordance with 

applicable City rules and ordinances. 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    September 22, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:   August 14, 2020 
 

VILLA DE FONTANA – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL FOR REZONING, PRELIMINARY PLAT, AND 
PRELIMINARY PLAN – LOCATED SOUTH OF 135TH STREET AND EAST OF ROE AVENUE 
CASE 70-20             **PUBLIC HEARING** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission deny Case 70-20, Villa de Fontana – approval request for 
Rezoning from SD-CR, SD-O, and RP-3 to RP-2, Preliminary Plat, and Preliminary Plan for the reasons 
outlined in the staff report and Golden Factors. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Mark Simpson with Fontana Land Company, LLC. 

 The property is owned by Fontana Land Company, LLC. 

 The engineer is Tim Tucker with Phelps Engineering, Inc. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval for Rezoning from SD-CR, SD-O, and RP-3 to RP-2, Preliminary 
Plat, and Preliminary Plan. 

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail), SD-O (Planned Office), and RP-3 
(Planned Cluster Attached Residential District). 

 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Mixed Use north of 137th Street. 
 
LOCATION AND CURRENT ZONING:  
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of 135th Street is undeveloped property, zoned SD-CR (Planned 
General Retail) and SD-O (Planned Office). 

 South Directly south is the single family subdivision of Leawood Meadows, zoned R-1 
(Planned Single Family Low-Density Residential). 

 East Directly east of Fontana Street is open undeveloped property, zoned SD-NCR 
(Planned Neighborhood Retail). 

 West Directly west is Roe Avenue is Plaza Pointe, zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail) 
and SD-O (Planned Office). 

 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS: 

 The applicant is proposing to build 63 single family homes and 11 tracts within the RP-2 Zoning District. 

 Entrances into the property include, one off 135th street, two off Fontana street, along with an eyebrow, 
two off 137th accessing the north portion of the development, one off 137th accessing the south portion 
of the development, and one off Roe avenue. 

 Lot size range from 25,374 sq. ft. to 9,776 sq. ft., with an average lot size of 14,223 sq. ft. 

 Entrance off Roe avenue and 135th will have fountains on each side of said entrance. 

 All islands within the development will incorporate some form of statuary or flower urn.   

 Cul-de-sacs within the property include, one off Fontana street, one off 137th street, one off Granada 
Road, and two off 136th Street. 

 All internal streets are private. 

 Amenities include a dog park in the northwest corner (Tract A), pitch and putt golf (Tract F), bocce ball, 
and pickle ball (Tract G) in the southeast corner. 

 The development will have 6’ integrated retaining wall and fence along the north and west sides. 

 Lots 20-23 are facing 137th Street along the south side of 137th Street. 
BULK REGULATIONS: 

 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for the RP-2 Zoning District: 
Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Front Setback 30’ 25.5’ Deviation 
Requested 

Side Setback 10’ 10’ Complies 

Corner Lot Street Side 
Setback 

20’ 22.5’ Complies 

Rear Setback 20’ 22.5’ Complies 

Lot Size 6,000 Square Feet per 
dwelling unit 

Average = 
15,000 sq. ft. 

Complies 

PRELIMINARY PLAT: 

 The applicant is proposing 63 single family lots for the Villa de Fontana subdivision. 

 The applicant is proposing twelve common area tracts, a total of 9.89 acres, which shall be maintained 
by the Homes Association. The tracts are as follows: 

Lot Sq. ft. Acres Area 

Tract A 53,082.86 1.2186 Northwest corner of the development along 135th Street. 
This tract will contain landscaping, development 
monument, Retaining wall/Fence, and Dog Park. 
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ELEVATIONS:   

 The applicant has provided preliminary elevations of proposed buildings. Elevations are reviewed and 
approved at the time of final site plan application. 

 The applicant is proposing single family homes with pitched roofs, and forward facing garages.   
 
LANDSCAPING:  

 The applicant has provided preliminary landscaping for the development. Landscaping is reviewed and 
approved at the time of final site plan application. 

 The applicant is proposing to plant street trees along both sides of the private streets along 
with trees in the medians.  Existing street trees are located along the perimeter public streets.  
The applicant proposes to supplement street trees in these areas.  

 The applicant is also proposing to add trees to an existing sporadic tree line that runs along the 
common property line with Leawood Meadows. 

 
 

Tract B 13,792.46 0.3166 Northeast corner of the development along 135th Street. 
This tract will contain landscaping, Retaining wall/Fence, 
and development monument. 

Tract C 10,404.14 0.2388 Internal open space of the development along Roe Ave. 
This tract will contain landscaping, Retaining wall/Fence, 
and development monument. 

Tract D 11,650.80 0.2675 West boundary of the development along Roe Ave. This 
tract will contain landscaping, Retaining wall/Fence, and 
development monument. 

Tract E 1,0002.48 0.2296 Southwest corner of the development along Roe Ave. 
This tract will contain landscaping, Retaining wall/Fence, 
and development monument. 

Tract F 57092.30 1.3107 Southern boundary of the development, south of 137th 
Street. This common area will contain underground 
detention basins and open play space. 

Tract G 43,791.76 1.0053 Southern boundary of the development, south of 137th 
Street. This common area will contain underground 
detention basins and open play space. 

Tract H 193,727.54 4.4474 Contains all private streets within the main development, 
excluding cul-de-sacs 

Tract I 8,790.87 0.2018 Internal cul-de-sac along 136th Ter, contains landscaping 
and statuary. 

Tract J 7,893.23 0.1812 Internal cul-de-sac along Fontana St, contains 
landscaping and statuary. 

Tract K 15,244.45 0.3500 Internal cul-de-sac along 137th St, contains landscaping 
and statuary. 

Tract L 4,260.93 0.0978 Eyebrow drive along 137th St, contains landscaping and 
statuary. 

Total 429,733.82 
 

9.8653  
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SIGNAGE:   

 No signage is proposed with this application, signage is reviewed and approved at the time of Final 
Site plan application. 

 
LIGHTING: 

 Lighting is reviewed and approved at the time of Final Plan application 
 
INTERACT: 

 An Interact meeting was held on August 13, 2020. A meeting summary and sign-in sheet are attached. 
 
REQUESTED DEVIATIONS: 

 The applicant is requesting the following deviations to the Leawood Development Ordinance. 
Front Yard Setbacks:  
Section 16-2-5.5 RP-2 requires that front yard setbacks to be a minimum of 30 ft. The applicant is 
proposing a deviation to the setback to allow for a 25.5’ front yard setback for twenty three lots (7, 8, 
13, 18-30, 36, 44, 45, 51-53, and 57. Section 16-3-9 (A)(5)(b): provides a deviation for setbacks of 
buildings and paved areas from other than a public street may be reduced to 75% of the standard 
requirement. The deviation may be granted only if compensating common open space (not less than 
1:1 ratio) is provided elsewhere in the project and where there is ample evidence that the deviation will 
not adversely affect the neighboring properties.  

 
IMPACT FEES: 

Park Impact Fee 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee prior to the recording of the Final Plat in 
the amount of $400.00 per dwelling unit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

135th Street Corridor Impact Fee 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a 135th Street Corridor Impact Fee prior to the recording of 
the Final Plat in the amount of $389.40 per dwelling unit. This amount is subject to change by 
Ordinance. 

South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee, for the portion 
of the development that is south of 137th Street, prior to the recording of the Final Plat at a rate of 
$625 x gross acres platted x miles from 135th Street. This amount is subject to change by 
Ordinance. 

 
GOLDEN CRITERIA: 
The character of the neighborhood: 
The area is characterized by a major arterial street (135th); a undeveloped parcel of land comprehensively 
zoned Mixed use to the North, Leawood Meadows a low density residential subdivision zoned R-1 to the 
south, a collector street (Fontana); a undeveloped property zoned SD-NCR to the east, a major arterial 
street (Roe); Plaza Pointe a mixed use development to the west. 
 
The Suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 
Due to the mix of uses within the surrounding area and  the property is adjacent to two major 
arterial and collector streets, the property is suitable to a mixed-use development .  The property is 
surrounded on all sides by major streets: 135th St. to the north, 137th St. to the south, Roe Ave. to 
the west and Fontana St. to the east, providing the best opportunity for a mixed use development. 
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The original development for this area was a mixed use development which better fit within the 
135th Street Corridor. The project does not currently meet the 2019 comprehensive plan or 135th 
street community plan, as these plans indicate that mixed use in the best zoning for the 
area/corridor. 
 
The time for which the property has been vacant: 
The property was rezoned (Ord. 2091) in 2004 from Agriculture (AG) to Planned General Retail (SD-CR), 
Planned Office (SD-O), and Planned Cluster Attached Residential (RP-3) as part of the Pawnee Place 
mixed use development. The final plan for the Gardens of Villaggio portion of the development was 
approved (Res. 3254) in 2009 with only one of the three offices being built to date. The final plan for the 
M&I Bank portion of the development was approved (Res. 2927) in 2007. 
 
The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: 
The development in this application is proposing to rezone existing SD-O and SD-CR properties, 
resulting in said properties to be in non-conformance with building setback and minimum acreage 
requirements. Building setback from residential for SD-CR is required to be 125’ and SD-O is 
required to be 75’. Minimum Acreage requirements for SD-CR and SD-O are required to be a 
minimum of 10 acres per development. 

  
The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the application: 
Maintaining Mixed Use zoning along the north side of 137th Street would keep this area compatible with 
existing and approved adjoining residential development, which may create a relative gain to the public 
health, safety, and welfare to the neighboring community by reducing density, traffic, and overall impact to 
this residential area. 
 
Conformance to the adopted master plan of the City of Leawood: 
The proposed application does not conform to the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Leawood, the 
comprehensive plan designates this area as Mixed Use while the applicant is requesting Medium Density 
Residential. 
 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The proposed application does not conform to the Comprehensive Plan for the City of 
Leawood or the 135th street Community Plan. The Comprehensive Plan and 135th street 
Community Plan designate this area as Mixed Use while the applicant is requesting Medium 
Density Residential. The neighborhood is characteristically defined by the major arterial streets 
(135th and Roe). Given the access to major arterial streets, the area should be developed with 
the highest/best use for the property. Removing existing restrictions on the property will allow 
for the existing office buildings to not be in conformance with Leawood Development 
Ordinance. The development is proposing to spot-zone by rezone existing SD-O and SD-CR 
properties, resulting in said properties to be in non-conformance with building setback and 
minimum acreage requirements. Building setback from residential for SD-CR is required to be 
125’ and SD-O is required to be 75’. 

 The proposed application does not conform to Leawood Development Ordinance, section 16-
8-3.2 including that all private streets shall be built to public standards. 

 The proposed application does not conform to Leawood Development Ordinance, section 16-
8-3.7 including; lots fronting on a cul-de-sac shall maintain a minimum frontage of 45 feet on 
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the turn around and 100 feet at the building line and lots shall not have a depth greater than 
three times the width and shall have buildable width generally facing and directly relating to the 
street upon which such lots front 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission deny Case 70-20, Villa de Fontana – approval request for 
Rezoning from SD-CR, SD-O, and RP-3 to RP-2, Preliminary Plat, and Preliminary Plan. If the Planning 
Commission were to approve the application against the recommendation from planning staff, the following 
stipulations are provided.  
1. The project is limited to 63 lots and 12 tracts on 30.44 acres. of construction for the residential 

subdivision Villa de Fontana, zoned RP-2. 
2. The project shall comply with the bulk regulations for SD-O and SD-CR, not allowing existing property 

to be in non-conformance. 
3. The applicant/owner shall be responsible for the following impact fees: 

a. Park Impact Fee prior to the recording of the Final Plat in the amount of $400.00 per dwelling unit. 
This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

b. 135th Street Corridor Impact Fee prior to the recording of the Final Plat in the amount of $389.40 
per dwelling unit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

c. South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee, for the portion of the development that is south of 137th 
Street, prior to the recording of the Final Plat at a rate of $625 x gross acres platted x miles from 
135th Street. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

4. All new utility boxes with a height of less than 56 inches, a footprint of equal to or less than 15 square 
feet in area, or a pad footprint of equal to or less than 15 square feet, may be installed only with the 
prior approval of the Director of Community Development as being in compliance with this Ordinance. 
However, all new electric vehicle-charging stations shall only be permitted within the interior of a 
garage.  

5. All new utility boxes with a height of 56 inches or greater, a footprint greater than 15 square feet in 
area, or a pad footprint greater than 15 square feet in area, shall be authorized only by approval of a 
special use permit prior to construction. 

6. This development shall include a deviation of 25.5’ front yard setback for lots 7, 8, 13, 18-30, 36, 44, 
45, 51-53, and 57. The development shall meet all other required setbacks without deviations.   

7. Prior to Governing Body consideration, the applicant shall provide revised plans and plat that 
accurately reflect the setbacks being requested with this application. 

8. All streets within the subdivision shall be private with the exception of 137th street, and shall comply 
with Section 16-8-3.2, of the Leawood Development Ordinance, including that all private streets shall 
be built to public standards. The developer or Homes Association shall maintain any planting or 
statuary within the street right of way. The developer shall execute a right-of-way maintenance 
agreement with the Public Works Department for any planting or statuary improvements within the 
public right-of-way. 

9. All monument signs shall be placed within a common area designated as a separate tract of land to be 
maintained by the homes association.  

10. All monument signs shall be located outside of all sight triangles, and shall be a minimum of 5’ from all 
property lines and sidewalks. 

11. The development shall comply with Section 16-8-3.7 of the Leawood Development Ordinance including 
the following: 
a. Lots fronting on a cul-de-sac shall maintain a minimum frontage of 45 feet on the turn around and 

100 feet at the building line. 
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b. Lots shall not have a depth greater than three times the width and shall have buildable width 
generally facing and directly relating to the street upon which such lots front 

12. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all landscaped areas shall be irrigated 
13. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all medium and large deciduous trees (including street 

trees), shall be 2 ½” caliper as measured 6” above the ground, all small deciduous and ornamental 
trees shall be a minimum of 1 ½” caliper as measured 6” above the ground, conifers and evergreen 
trees shall be a minimum of 6’ in height, and shrubs shall be a 24” in height at the time of planting. 

14. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, at the time of planting, plant material screening the ground 
mounted utilities shall be a minimum of 6” taller than the utility it is to screen, with lower shrubs in the 
foreground to eliminate any gaps in screening. 

15. The approved final landscape plan shall contain the following statements: 
a. All trees shall be callipered and undersized trees shall be rejected. 
b. All hedges shall be trimmed to maintain a solid hedge appearance. 
c. All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy.   
d. Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the 

landscape architect and the City of Leawood, prior to installation. 
e. All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 
f. A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas Registered Landscape Architect, shall be submitted prior 

to final occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per the approved landscape 
plan and all plant material used is to the highest standards of the nursery industry.   

16. The Owner/Applicant must establish a funding mechanism to maintain, repair and/or replace all 
common areas and common area improvements including, but not limited to, streets, walls, and storm 
water system improvements.  The mechanism will include a deed restriction running with each lot in 
the development that will mandate that each owner must contribute to the funding for such 
maintenance, repair and/or replacement and that each lot owner is jointly and severally liable for such 
maintenance, repair and/or replacement, and that the failure to maintain, repair or replace such 
common areas or common area improvements may result in the City of Leawood maintaining, repairing 
and replacing said common areas and/or improvements, and the cost incurred by the City of Leawood 
will be jointly and severally assessed against each lot, and will be the responsibility of the owner(s) of 
such lot. 

17. At the time of Final Plan, the applicant shall provide City staff with a copy of the covenants and 
restrictions proposed for the development.  

18. All sidewalks shall be installed as per street construction standards. 
19. The applicant shall obtain all approvals and permits from the Public Works Department, per the public 

works memo on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development Department, prior to issuance 
of a building permit and recording the plat. 

20. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on Sundays. 
21. This preliminary plan approval shall lapse in two years, if construction on the project has not begun or 

if such construction is not being diligently pursued; provided, however, that the developer may request 
a hearing before the City Council to request an extension of this time period.  The City Council may 
grant one such extension for a maximum of 12 months for good cause shown by the developer. 

22. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 
ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation 
has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations 
one through twenty-two. 
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Memorandum 

 

Fire Department                                      (913) 266-0600                             FAX (913) 681-2399 
 

 
 
TO:  Grant Lang     

 

FROM:    Jarrett Hawley     

 

DATE:      August 24, 2020  

 

SUBJECT: Villa de Fontana 

 

 

The Leawood Fire Department has been presented with additional site plans showing street 

layout which meet minimum requirements for fire apparatus. 

After reviewing the updated street map and site plan, The Leawood Fire Deaprtment has 

no objections to the present site plan presented. 

 

 

Jarrett Hawley 

Deputy Chief 

Leawood Fire Department 
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Villa de Fontana August 13, 2020 Interact Meeting    Attendance: Saul Ellis, Contract Purchaser/Developer Tim Tucker, Phelps Engineering John Petersen/Amy Grant, Polsinelli PC  The meeting was held via Zoom call.  There is no sign-in sheet, however, approximately 15 invitees attended the meeting.     The meeting began at 6:00 p.m.  Mr. Petersen presented the project.  Mr. Petersen began with a bit of history about the project and referenced the 2008 zoning plan, which resulted in the construction of the existing street network and storm water improvements.  Mr. Petersen walked through the proposed site plan and indicated that the project would consist of 63 single-family lots with various amenities.  The projected cost of these single-family villa homes would be in the range of $850,000 to more than a $1,000,000.  Mr. Petersen then discussed the southern property line that is shared with the Leawood Meadows subdivision.  Mr. Petersen explained that the applicant will not change the existing embankment that is adjacent to the Leawood Meadow homes in that area.  These residents currently enjoy an embankment/berm area that ranges from a few feet to 10-feet in height and the applicant agrees that it will not changing that area for those neighbors.  However, the applicant will be planting additional landscaping along this southern property line with evergreen and pine trees that will be planted at 15-20 feet in height on approximately 25-foot centers.  Mr. Petersen also indicated that there will not be a fence or wall place along the existing embankment.  Next, Mr. Petersen explained the active open spaces that are proposed for Tracts F and G on the site plan.  These area will be utilized as open space/amenity areas as there is existing underground storm water facilities in these two areas.  Mr. Petersen indicated that the pitch and putt golf, bocce ball, pick ball and other amenities are all very conceptual at this point and the applicant would provide more detailed information at the final plan stage for the areas.  Mr. Petersen then shared the perimeter fencing/walls that will be constructed adjacent to the public streets and shared the overall quality, theme and concept that this project will reflect. The following is a summary of the question and answer portion of the meeting. 1.  Holthuas – Lot 83. Question:  The project looks very nice.  We live near your proposed lots 22 and 23 and have cleaned up the tree line and brush in that area but know that the property line runs down the center of this landscape area.  Will you be removing any of the existing trees in this area? Response:  No.    
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 Question:  Will the proposed 5’ walking trail shown in Tract G be provided along the entire southern property line? Response:  No, only in the area of Tract G.  Question:  Will we see the new 5’ trail from our back yard? Response:  No.  We will not be modifying your current view of the embankment/berm  Question:  Are you making any modifications to the existing detention/retention system? Response:  We will be making slight modifications to the existing system as we need to size it appropriately for the single-family homes.  The current system is too large as it was built for commercial development so we will likely be abandoning some of the underground cells that are not be utilized.  We are working with City staff to work through those issues.    Question:  Will the homes along the southern property line have enough room for patios? Response:  Yes.  Question:  Will the August 25th Planning Commission meeting be in-person? Response:  City Hall is currently closed and is holding all meetings on-line at this time.  We would recommend you contact the City Planning staff regarding the August 25th meeting.    Mr. Petersen took a brief moment to explain the public meeting dates.  The application is currently scheduled for the August 25th Planning Commission agenda.  However, we understand that this agenda is very full and there is a chance that our application will not be heard that evening.  If that happens, the City will hold a special Planning Commission meeting on September 8th to consider this application and others.  This means that the project will potentially be considered by the City Council on either September 21st or October 5, 2020.  2.  Mr. Gagliano Question:  Will all homes be one story? Response:  Yes, Single level with some walk-out basements.   3.  Mr. Groom Question:  Some concern about trajectory of golf balls within the pitch and putt area – people getting hit or windows being broken? Response:  Mark Simpson is currently working to design this concept.  He is aware of the concern and would be happy to meet with any of you individually to help explain how this amenity will be designed to protect again this happening.  Question: Will the price of these villa homes being $1 million dollars affect our property taxes? Response:  It is hard to predict that.  This is a different type of single-family home product from what is currently constructed in your subdivision and we do not know if the appraiser will consider these comp properties.    
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At this point in the meeting, Mr. Higday expressed several concerns with the development of the Majestic of Leawood proposing to be constructed east of the applicant’s project.  There was discussion between Mr. Higday and Mr. Sharp (owner of the property) about that project.  4.  Mr. Proderio Question/Comment:  I think this project is very well designed.  I do have a concern about whether or not anything will be built on top of the berm?  I am glad to see the amenity area with bocce ball.  You should know that there are several weekend warrior individuals who currently use this property and the berm for the enjoyment of the off-road vehicles? Response:  No, the applicant will not build anything on top of the existing embankment/berm.  Thank you for making us aware of the off-road vehicles.  Obviously, that activity will be eliminated once the project is developed.   5.  Mr. Sharp Question:  Will the existing streets remain private? Response:  Yes.  Questions:  Mark Simpson and Saul Ellis are the Developers? Response:  Yes.  6.  Mr. Groom Question:  Will this be an age-restricted project? Response:  No.  However, the proposed product appeal more to the 50+ age demographic.  7.  Mr. and Mrs. Franklin Question:  Mrs. Franklin provided some insight as to whether or not the adjacent property values will be impacted by the development.  She also commented that this will help retain/increase the value of adjacent properties and is happy about less traffic along 137th Street and no adjacent parking lots and commercial development.  Question:  Mr. Franklin asked what the average lot size will be for the homes around the Grandad Drive cul-de-sac? Response:  Lot 15 will be approximately 18,000 sq. ft., Lot 16 will be approximately 13,500 sq. ft. and Lot 17 will be approximately 20,000 sq. ft. in size.  Question:  When will construction start? Response:  The Developer would like to break ground in Spring 2021.  Comment:  The project looks very nice – best he has seen in a while.  8.  Mr. Gagliano Question:  Where will the model homes be located? Response:  In the northern portion of the project near the entrance at Granada Drive and Lola Drive (Lots 38, 39 and 40). 
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 9.  Mr. Arnette Question:  I used to serve on the Worthington HOA board.  The homes in that subdivision have struggled their pond needing to be drudged because of silt and runoff from other projects to the north not be constructed property. Response:  We appreciate how expensive that can be and the proposed development will follow the requirements that dictate how storm water run-off is handled.  The Developer provided Phelps Engineering contact information should Mr. Arnette want to discuss this further with an engineering team.    Question:  Will Doug Patterson’s office building remain? Response:  Yes.  Question:  Will there be fencing along Roe as well? Response:  Yes.  Comment:  Mr. Petersen indicated that the applicant will let the neighbors know about the final design of the amenity areas along the southern property line at the time final development plans are submitted to the City for review and approval.  The meeting concluded at 7:05 p.m.      







From: Kristi <kingofpaindds@msn.com> 

Sent: Monday, August 17, 2020 6:43 PM 

To: Planning and Development General Email 

Subject: Case # NC#70-20 Villa de Fontana 

 

Dear Leawood Planning Commission: 

 

We have lived at 13701 Fontana Lane, Leawood, Kansas for eighteen years. This is the fourth or 

fifth proposal for the property located on 135th between Roe and Mission Roads. This one is by 

far the most ridiculous. The 135th Street Corridor is prime land for commercial retail 

and/or professional office development. A dog park on such expensive property is idiotic. The 

northern half of the property at 135 should be commercial. The Southern portion of this 

property should be developed as residential.  Any residential lots should be at least 1/2 acre. A 

concrete pickle ball structure on top of an underground water retention system is a recipe for 

disaster.  

 

The City of Leawood has an obligation to it’s residents to develop the property surrounding 

residents in the most reasonable manor to benefit the city and the citizens as best as possible. 

This plan does not meet those obligations. It is doomed to fail. 

 

Sincerely,  

 

 

Dr. David M. Blomeyer 

 

Kristi L. Blomeyer 

 

Sent from Windows Mail 

 

WARNING: This email originated from an EXTERNAL SOURCE. DO NOT CLICK LINKS or 

ATTACHMENTS unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.  



From: Denise Franklin <DeniseFranklin@ReeceNichols.com> 

Sent: Monday, August 24, 2020 9:51 AM 

To: Planning and Development General Email 

Subject: Villa's De Fontana 

 

Hello, My husband Joseph Franklin and I live in Leawood 

Meadows at 4652 W 137th Terrace and our home is adjacent to 

the land that will become the Villa's de Fontana.  We have seen 

the plat map and plans and are supportive of the development. In 

the past, the idea of a tall building and parking lot lights 

concerned us. Having neighbors in luxury homes on large lots are 

more preferable to us. I believe as a realtor there is a real need 

for this type of maintenance provided housing and as a house 

borders the plans, I believe it will help my property values and 

my neighbors.  

 

This is also an opportunity to tell you how much we appreciate 

the beauty of Leawood and thanks for keeping the parks and 

streets so well kept.  

 

Best wishes,  

 

Denise Franklin 

 
  Click here to learn about your home's value. 
IMPORTANT NOTICE: Never trust wiring instructions sent via email. Cyber criminals are hacking email accounts and 
sending emails with fake wiring instructions. These emails are convincing and sophisticated. Always independently 
confirm wiring instructions in person or via a telephone call to a trusted and verified phone number. Never wire money 
without double-checking that the wiring instructions are correct. 

 

Den is e Fr an klin   

http://gethomevalue.reecenichols.com/DFRANKL


From: Grant Lang 

Sent: Thursday, August 20, 2020 3:45 PM 

To: Grant Lang 

Subject: Villa de Fontana development by Saul Ellis and Mark Simpson 

 

From: Doug Patterson <doug@propertylawfirm.com>  

Sent: Thursday, August 20, 2020 3:22 PM 

To: Richard Coleman <richardc@leawood.org> 

Cc: Peggy Dunn <peggyd@leawood.org>; Scott Lambers <scottl@leawood.org>; John Petersen 

<JPetersen@Polsinelli.com>; Ron Bennett (RBennett@Diservices.com) <RBennett@Diservices.com>; 

Benny Harding <benny@hardinglawkc.com> 

Subject: Villa de Fontana development by Saul Ellis and Mark Simpson 

 

Dear Richard, 

 

On behalf of myself and all of the fellow owners of the office building located at 4630 W. 137th Street as 

well as surrounding common areas, I am pleased to write in support of the above referenced rezoning 

Application. We have had the opportunity to review the proposed Villa de Fontana Plan with Mr. Ellis 

and Mr. Simpson and are convinced that this development will have a positive impact not only on our 

building but the general 135th corridor as well. Specifically, we have reviewed the proposed setbacks 

from our building to the adjacent single family residences and coupled with landscaping and other 

features fell it will provide an excellent transition between the two uses. 

 

We strongly encourage the Planning Staff, Planning Commission and the City Council to approve the 

Project. Please place this correspondence in the public record for consideration as this application is 

reviewed. 

 

Doug Patterson 

Gardens of Villaggio Condominium Association, Inc. 

HOAD, LLC 

 

CC. Mayor Peggy Dunn 

City Administrator, Scott Lambers  

 

________________________________________ 

 

****************************************************************************** 

NOTICE:During the current quarantine order/stay at home/shelter in place orders, our office has limited 

access , but Property Law Firm is fully operational. Its attorneys and staff remain working full time 

sometimes on a remote basis.  All emails, documents, faxes, court matters and your files are just as 

available to us as if we were in the office and at our desks.  

************** 

Douglas J. Patterson 

PROPERTY LAW FIRM, LLC 

4630 West 137th Street, Suite 100 

Leawood, KANSAS 66224 

913-663-1300 X.105 

913-396-5105 direct dial 
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Description (Rezoning & Preliminary Plat) Lots 1 and 2 and Tracts A, B, C and D, The Villaggio at Leawood, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. EXCEPT that part platted as Gardens of Villaggio, Lots 1 thru 3 and Tract A, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. AND EXCEPT that part platted as Gardens of Villaggio, Second Plat, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. AND EXCEPT A part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas described as follows: Commencing at the Northwest corner of the Northeast Quarter of Section 33, Township 13 South, Range 25 East; thence along the North line of said Northeast Quarter of North 87 degrees 43 minutes 34 seconds East a distance of 1073.24 feet; thence South 02 degrees 16 minutes 26 seconds East, 85.00 feet to a point on the South Right of Way line of 135th Street and being a point on the North line of said Lot 1, also being the Point of Beginning; thence North 87 degrees 43 minutes 34 seconds East along said lines, 118.66 feet to the Northwest corner of Tract B in said subdivision; thence South 47 degrees 05 minutes 49 seconds East along the Westerly line of said Tract B, 102.34 feet to a point on the West Right of Way line of Fontana Street also being a point on the East line of said Lot 1: thence South 01 degrees 55 minutes 13 seconds East along said lines, 248.18 feet; thence South 87 degrees 43 minutes 34 seconds West, 124.14 feet to a point of curvature; thence along a curve to the right with a radius of 150.00 feet and a distance of 67.37 feet; thence North 02 degrees 16 minutes 26 seconds West, 305.88 feet to the Point of Beginning, TOGETHER WITH: All of Lot 1 and part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as follows: Beginning at the Southwest corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence N 13°43'34" E, along the Westerly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 236.66 feet to the Northwest plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence S 76°16'26" E, along the North plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 344.36 feet to the Northeast plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence S 13°43'34" W, along the Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 91.91 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of 67.09 feet; thence S 13°43'34" W, a distance of 88.00 feet to the South plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the Southerly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 146.00 feet to the point of beginning, containing 1.2351 acres, more or less, replatted land.
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1270 N. Winchester   −   Olathe, Kansas 66061   −   (913) 393-1155   −   Fax (913) 393-1166   −   
www.phelpsengineering.com 

 
 
August 7, 2020 
 
 
Brian Scovill, P.E. 
City of Leawood, Kansas 
4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 
 
Re: Villa de Fontana 

Preliminary Stormwater Study  
 PEI #200597 
 
 
Dear Mr. Scovill: 
 
Phelps Engineering, Inc. is pleased to submit this Preliminary Stormwater Management 
Study for the above referenced project.  Villa de Fontana is located at the southeast 
corner of the intersection of 135th Street and Roe Avenue. The site is 30.44 net acres 
and is currently zoned as a RP-3 Planned Cluster Attached Residential District, SD-O 
Planned Office, and SD-CR Planned General Retail and will be rezoned to RP-2 
Planned Cluster Detached Residential District. The preliminary plat contains 63 lots with 
a density of 2.07 lots / acres (equal to 1/2 acre lots). 
 
The Villa de Fontana is the eastern half of an existing approved development plan called 
the Villaggio at Leawood; which was proposed to be developed as a mixed use of 
apartments, office, and retail. The public and private infrastructure was previously 
constructed on the Villaggio at Leawood, which includes utilities, sanitary sewers, storm 
sewers, streets, and stormwater detention facilities.  The Villa de Fontana development 
proposes to modify the eastern half of the Villaggio at Leawood by down zone 30.44 
acres to single family residential lots utilizing the existing infrastructure in place.  
 
Onsite Drainage System 
The existing site is contained in four watersheds draining to the northwest, north central, 
south central and to the southwest. The proposed storm sewer system will maintain the 
approximate existing drainage paths. 
 
Stormwater runoff will be conveyed in an enclosed public storm sewer system sized to 
convey the 10-year storm in accordance with APWA Section 5600 and City of Leawood 
requirements.  
 
The 100-year overflow will be conveyed in the street system in conjunction with 
engineered overflow swales. The lowest openings of any building adjacent to a 100-year 
overflow will be set a minimum of one-foot above the 100-year water surface elevation. 
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Downstream Analysis  
A stormwater study was previously approved for the currently approved Villaggio at 
Leawood Development, which was prepared by Continental Consulting Engineers, Inc. 
and dated December 21, 2007. 
 
The streets, storm sewer, and stormwater detention has been constructed for this project 
and is currently in place.   
 
The approved study included a very extensive analysis of downstream drainage system.  
The Villaggio at Leawood development has six watersheds discharging the site at the 
Northwest, North Central, Northeast, Southeast, South Central, and Southwest.  An 
existing runoff model was developed for each watershed, and the capacity of each 
downstream system was analyzed.  A site release was determined by using the lowest 
runoff based on the two criteria; existing runoff or downstream storm sewer capacity.  If 
the downstream capacity was the controlling criteria, then the site release rate was 
further reduced based on the ratio of onsite runoff and offsite runoff.   The following table 
outlines the approved release rates for the Villaggio at Leawood:  

 

The Villaggio at Leawood - Site Release Rates 
        

    Exisiting Downstream  Onsite % Onsite % Allowable    

  Storm  Runoff,  Capacity,  Downstream  Downstream  Release  Controlling  

Watershed Event cfs  cfs Capacity Capacity, cfs Rate, cfs Section 

Northwest Basin 2 12.87 36.4 70 25.4 12.87 Existing Runoff 

Northwest Basin 10 23.9 36.4 70 25.4 23.9 Existing Runoff 

Northwest Basin 25 28.83 36.4 70 25.4 25.4 Capacity 30" RCP 

Northwest Basin 50 32.35 36.4 70 25.4 25.4 % Capacity 30" RCP 

Northwest Basin 100 37.3 36.4 70 25.4 25.4 % Capacity 30" RCP 

Southwest Basin  2 28.67 436 18 76.95 28.67 Existing Runoff 

Southwest Basin  10 56.93 436 18 76.95 56.93 Existing Runoff 

Southwest Basin  25 69.86 436 18 76.95 69.86 Existing Runoff 

Southwest Basin  50 79.2 436 18 76.95 76.95 % Capacity 72" RCP 

Southwest Basin  100 92.34 436 18 76.95 76.95 % Capacity 72" RCP 

South Central Basin  2 27.71 39.7 81 32.2 27.71 Existing Runoff 

South Central Basin  10 55.25 39.7 81 32.2 32.2 Existing Runoff 

South Central Basin  25 67.83 39.7 81 32.2 32.2 % Capacity 36" CMP 

South Central Basin  50 76.83 39.7 81 32.2 32.2 % Capacity 36" CMP 

South Central Basin  100 89.7 39.7 81 32.2 32.2 % Capacity 36" CMP 

** NC, NE, and SE basin are offsite basins to Villa de Fontana therefore ae not included in table  

 
See The Villaggio at Leawood Stormwater Study dated December 21, 2007 by 
Continental for more details. 
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Detention 
Underground detention is currently provided for the entire Villaggio at Leawood 
development.  The detention was designed for a mixed land use of office, apartments, 
and commercial.  The Villa de Fontana site is located on the western half of the Villaggio 
at Leawood development which is proposed to be developed as single family residential, 
a much less intense development. Villa de Fontana is located in the Northwest, North 
Central, South Central, and Southwest drainage basins of the Villaggio at Leawood; 
therefore no detention analysis is included for the Northeast or Southeast basins. 
 
 All detention analyses were completed using HydroCAD V10 storm modeling software, 
using SCS Unit Hydrograph detention modeling with SCS Type II 24-hr storm duration. 
The CN values used in the proposed analysis are the same valued used in the currently 
approved Villaggio at Leawood Stormwater Study for soils and land cover, except for the 
addition of single-family land use into the model.  The drainage areas have been re-
evaluated and updated to the proposed plan. 
 
See Appendix “D” for the proposed HydroCAD modeling results. 
   
Northwest Watershed 
The northwest detention basin is an existing underground detention facility utilizing 84” 
diameter CMP pipes. The existing detention facility will be utilized as constructed with no 
modifications to the storage or outlet structure. The existing storage consists of 1,233 
linear feet of 84” CMP pipe. The existing outlet structure is a multi-stage outlet structure 
designed to the control peak runoff rates in the 2, 10, 25, 50, and 100-year storm events. 
The first stage is an 8”x8” orifice at an elevation of 999.0,  the second stage is a 24-inch 
wide by 12-inch tall orifice with a flowline elevation of 1002.0, and the third stage is a 9-
feet wide by 31” tall orifice at an elevation of 1005.91.  The 100-year WSE in the basin is 
1005.23 with a storage volume of 0.886 ac-ft and contained in the outlet structure with a 
top of structure elevation of 1009.0 See Table below for the northwest watershed 
proposed conditions. 

 

 Northwest Watershed Proposed Conditions 

    Allowable  Proposed Condition 

    Release 
Inflow 
Rate, 

Outflow 
Rate, 

WSE, Storage, 

Storm Discharge Pt.  Rate, cfs  cfs cfs ft ac-ft 

2-year Basin NA 17.84 3.99 1002.15 0.0299 

  Northwest Total Outfall 12.87 NA 5.05 NA NA 

10-year Basin NA 33.69 13.57 1003.44 0.549 

  Northwest Total Outfall 23.9 NA 14.28 NA NA 

25-year Basin NA 40.81 16.55 1004.4 0.667 

  Northwest Total Outfall 25.4 NA 17.43 NA NA 

50-year Basin NA 45.92 18.48 1004.51 0.756 

  Northwest Total Outfall 25.4 NA 19.48 NA NA 

100-
year 

Basin NA 50.09 21.08 1005.23 0.886 

  Northwest Total Outfall 25.4 NA 22.24 NA NA 
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North Central Watershed 
The north central detention basin was not analyzed since the tributary area from the Villa 
de Fontana project is unchanged.  The area contributing to the north central watershed 
from Villa de Fontana consist of existing streets with no changes proposed.   
 
Southwest Watershed 
The southwest detention basin is an existing underground detention facility utilizing 84” 
diameter CMP pipes. The existing detention facility consist of 3,561 linear feet of 84” 
diameter CMP pipes, and this development proposes to remove 1,216 feet of storage 
pipe and utilize 2,345 of the existing pipes for storage. The existing outlet structure will 
not be modified. The existing outlet structure is a multi-stage outlet structure designed to 
the control peak runoff rates in the 2, 10, 25, 50, and 100-year storm events. The first 
stage is an 16-inch wide and 8-inch tall orifice at an elevation of 980.5,  the second 
stage is a 30-inch wide by 10-inch tall orifice with a flowline elevation of 982.0, the third 
stage is a 5-feet wide by 12” tall orifice at an elevation of 984.5, and the fourth stage is a 
9-feet wide by 13.2” tall orifice at an elevation of 987.9.  The 100-year WSE in the basin 
is 987.84 with a storage volume of 1.886 ac-ft and contained in the outlet structure with a 
top of structure elevation of 989.5 See Table below for the sourthwest watershed 
proposed conditions. 

 

Southwest Watershed Proposed Conditions 

    Allowable  Proposed Condition 

    Release 
Inflow 
Rate, 

Outflow 
Rate, 

WSE, Storage, 

Storm Discharge Pt.  Rate, cfs  cfs cfs ft ac-ft 

2-year Basin NA 43.03 19.32 983.84 0.492 

  Southwest Total Outfall 28.67 NA 19.59 NA NA 

10-year Basin NA 86.77 45.83 985.59 1.134 

  Southwest Total Outfall 56.93 NA 46.33 NA NA 

25-year Basin NA 106.84 57.4 986.29 1.394 

  Southwest Total Outfall 69.86 NA 58.04 NA NA 

50-year Basin NA 64.84 121.34 986.86 1.596 

  Southwest Total Outfall 76.95 NA 65.56 NA NA 

100-
year 

Basin NA 141.44 75.27 987.84 1.886 

  Southwest Total Outfall 76.95 NA 76.12 NA NA 

 
South Central Watershed 
The south central detention basin is an existing underground detention facility utilizing 
84” diameter CMP pipes. The existing detention facility will be utilized as constructed 
with no modifications to the storage. The existing storage consists of 2,805 linear feet of 
84” CMP pipe. The existing outlet structure is a multi-stage outlet structure designed to 
the control peak runoff rates in the 2, 10, 25, 50, and 100-year storm events. The outlet 
structure will be modified utilizing the following multi-stage outlet. The first stage is an 
20” diameter orifice at an elevation of 984.0, and the second stage is a 9-feet wide and 
13.2-inch tall orifice with a flowline elevation of 994.0.  The 100-year WSE in the basin is 
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993.6 with a storage volume of 2.333 ac-ft and contained in the outlet structure with a 
top of structure elevation of 996.0 See Table below for the south central watershed 
proposed conditions. 

 

South Central Watershed Proposed Conditions 

    Allowable  Proposed Condition 

    Release 
Inflow 
Rate, 

Outflow 
Rate, 

WSE, Storage, 

Storm Discharge Pt.  Rate, cfs  cfs cfs ft ac-ft 

2-year Basin NA 35.13 20.63 989.69 0.335 

  
South Central Total 
Outfall 

27.71 NA 20.75 NA NA 

10-year Basin NA 64.26 25.41 990.69 1.167 

  
South Central Total 
Outfall 

32.2 NA 25.62 NA NA 

25-year Basin NA 77.22 27.37 991.62 1.585 

  
South Central Total 
Outfall 

32.2 NA 27.61 NA NA 

50-year Basin NA 86.64 28.8 992.35 1.894 

  
South Central Total 
Outfall 

32.2 NA 29.06 NA NA 

100-
year 

Basin NA 99.65 31.11 993.6 2.333 

  
South Central Total 
Outfall 

32.2 NA 31.41 NA NA 

 
 
Stream Buffers 
The entire property has been enclosed in storm sewer pipes with the current approved 
Villaggio at Leawood development. 
 
FEMA  
All parts of the property have been designated as Zone X, per Map Panel 20091C084G 
of the Flood Insurance Rate Map dated August 3, 2009.  Zone X is defines areas outside 
the 0.2% annual chance flood plain. No permit is required since all portions of the 
property are located outside the regulatory floodplain. 
 
Corps of Engineers 
The entire property is improved with streets and storm sewer, which is part of the current 
approved Villaggio at Leawood development. No water or wetlands of the United States 
are located on this property.  
 
Water Quality BMP Requirements  
The proposed development is part of the currently constructed Villaggio at Leawood 
development.  The Villaggio at Leawood is a mixed use development consisting of 
apartments, office buildings, and retail; which was approved with no Stormwater Quality 
BMP requirements.  The streets, storm sewers, and detention for the project where 
constructed with the Villaggio, and the only change to the Villaggio development plan is 
the down zoning to single family residential. The Villas de Fontana development 
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proposes to down zone 30.44 acres of the Villaggio at Leawood mixed use to single 
family residential lots.   
 
 

The site is 30.44 net acres and is proposed to be zoned as a Single Family 
Residential Development. The proposed plan has 63 lots for a density of 2.07 
units per acre.  
 
Pre-development CN 
The pre-developed CN was calculated by evaluating the site based on existing 
ground cover and soil type. The existing land cover consists of asphalt streets 
and grass in good condition. The site consists of HSG Type “B” and HSG Type 
“C” soils, which have been bumped up one soil group to HSG “C” and HSG “D” 
soils to a account for hard panning of soil from previous construction. See 
enclosed soil survey printouts in Appendix “G”. The predevelopment CN is 
calculated at 80.  
 
The proposed CN was calculated by using a land type of 1/2 acres single family 
residential lots. The HSG has not been bumped up one level from the pre-
developed condition since the this was accounted for in the pre-development CN 
calculations since this is a previously constructed site. The post development CN 
is calculated at 84.  
 
The proposed development has increased the existing CN by 4, therefore 
requiring a level of service of 5.3 in accordance with APWA Best Management 
Practices for Water Quality. See Level of Service Worksheet 1 and the 
Predevelopment CN Exhibit in Appendix “C” for more details.  
 
The proposed development BMP mitigation required to provide a minimum water 
quality level of service of 5.3 is provided with hydro-dynamic separators being 
installed at the Northwest, Southwest, and Southcentral discharge points.   
 
The Level of Service provided is 5.3, meeting the requirements set forth in 
APWA.. See Level of Service Worksheet 2 and the Post Development Mitigation 
Exhibit for more details.   
 
All maintenance of BMP’s will be the sole responsibility of the Homes Association 
an BMP’s are contained in a Tracts providing maintenance access.   
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Conclusion 
This stormwater management plan and attached exhibits complete Phelps Engineering’s 
submittal of the Preliminary Stormwater Study for the Villas de Fontana. Please feel free 
to contact PEI at (913) 393-1155 if you require additional information. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Phelps Engineering, Inc. 
 
 
 
 
Tim Tucker, P.E. 
 
Enclosures 

TIM TUCKER
Typewritten Text
8-7-20
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    September 22, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:   September 11, 2020 
 

VILLA DE FONTANA – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL FOR FINAL PLAT AND FINAL PLAN – 
LOCATED SOUTH OF 135TH STREET AND EAST OF ROE AVENUE 
CASE 81-20 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission deny Case 81-20, Villa de Fontana – approval request for 
Final Plat and Final Plan for the reasons outlined in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Mark Simpson with Fontana Land Company, LLC. 

 The property is owned by Fontana Land Company, LLC. 

 The engineer is Tim Tucker with Phelps Engineering, Inc. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval for Final Plat and Final Plan. 
 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail), SD-O (Planned Office), and RP-3 
(Planned Cluster Attached Residential District). 

 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Mixed Use north of 137th Street. 
 
LOCATION AND CURRENT ZONING:  
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of 135th Street is undeveloped property, zoned SD-CR (Planned 
General Retail) and SD-O (Planned Office). 

 South Directly south is the single family subdivision of Leawood Meadows, zoned R-1 
(Planned Single Family Low-Density Residential). 

 East Directly east of Fontana Street is open undeveloped property, zoned SD-NCR 
(Planned Neighborhood Retail). 

 West Directly west is Roe Avenue is Plaza Pointe, zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail) 
and SD-O (Planned Office). 

 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS: 

 The applicant is proposing to build 63 single family homes and 12 tracts within the RP-2 Zoning District. 

 Entrances into the property include, one off 135th street, two off Fontana street, along with an eyebrow, 
two off 137th accessing the north portion of the development, one off 137th accessing the south portion 
of the development, and one off Roe avenue. 

 Lot size range from 25,374 sq. ft. to 9,776 sq. ft., with an average lot size of 14,223 sq. ft. 

 Entrance off Roe avenue and 135th will have fountains on each side of said entrance. 

 All islands within the development will incorporate some form of statuary or flower urn.   

 Cul-de-sacs within the property include, one off Fontana Street, one off 137th street, one off Granada 
Road, and two off 136th Street. 

 All internal streets are private. 

 Amenities include a dog park in the northwest corner (Tract A), pitch and putt golf (Tract F), bocce ball, 
and pickle ball (Tract G) in the southeast corner. 

 The development will have 6’ integrated retaining wall and fence along the north and west sides. 

 Lots 20-23 are facing 137th Street along the south side of 137th Street. 
 
BULK REGULATIONS: 

 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for the RP-2 Zoning District: 
Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Front Setback 30’ 25.5’ Deviation 
Requested 

Side Setback 10’ 10’ Complies 

Corner Lot Street Side 
Setback 

20’ 22.5’ Complies 

Rear Setback 20’ 22.5’ Complies 

Lot Size 6,000 Square Feet per 
dwelling unit 

Average = 
15,000 sq. ft. 

Complies 

PRELIMINARY PLAT: 

 The applicant is proposing 63 single family lots for the Villa de Fontana subdivision. 

 The applicant is proposing twelve common area tracts, a total of 9.89 acres, which shall be maintained 
by the Homes Association. The tracts are as follows: 

Lot Sq. ft. Acres Area 

Tract A 53,082.86 1.2186 Northwest corner of the development along 135th Street. 
This tract will contain landscaping, development 
monument, Retaining wall/Fence, and Dog Park. 
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ELEVATIONS:   

 The applicant is proposing single family homes with pitched roofs, and forward facing garages.   
 
LANDSCAPING:  

 The applicant is proposing to plant street trees along both sides of the private streets along 
with trees in the medians.  Existing street trees are located along the perimeter public streets.  
The applicant proposes to supplement street trees in these areas.  

 The applicant is also proposing to add trees to an existing sporadic tree line that runs along the 
common property line with Leawood Meadows. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tract B 13,792.46 0.3166 Northeast corner of the development along 135th Street. 
This tract will contain landscaping, Retaining wall/Fence, 
and development monument. 

Tract C 10,404.14 0.2388 Internal open space of the development along Roe Ave. 
This tract will contain landscaping, Retaining wall/Fence, 
and development monument. 

Tract D 11,650.80 0.2675 West boundary of the development along Roe Ave. This 
tract will contain landscaping, Retaining wall/Fence, and 
development monument. 

Tract E 1,0002.48 0.2296 Southwest corner of the development along Roe Ave. 
This tract will contain landscaping, Retaining wall/Fence, 
and development monument. 

Tract F 57092.30 1.3107 Southern boundary of the development, south of 137th 
Street. This common area will contain underground 
detention basins and open play space. 

Tract G 43,791.76 1.0053 Southern boundary of the development, south of 137th 
Street. This common area will contain underground 
detention basins and open play space. 

Tract H 193,727.54 4.4474 Contains all private streets within the main development, 
excluding cul-de-sacs 

Tract I 8,790.87 0.2018 Internal cul-de-sac along 136th Ter, contains landscaping 
and statuary. 

Tract J 7,893.23 0.1812 Internal cul-de-sac along Fontana St, contains 
landscaping and statuary. 

Tract K 15,244.45 0.3500 Internal cul-de-sac along 137th St, contains landscaping 
and statuary. 

Tract L 4,260.93 0.0978 Eyebrow drive along 137th St, contains landscaping and 
statuary. 

Total 429,733.82 
 

9.8653  
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LIGHTING: 

 Gooseneck lighting matching existing 135th street corridor is proposed of all interior streets, including 
islands along Granada road.  

 
REQUESTED DEVIATIONS: 

 The applicant is requesting the following deviations to the Leawood Development Ordinance. 
Front Yard Setbacks:  
Section 16-2-5.5 RP-2 requires that front yard setbacks to be a minimum of 30 ft. The applicant is 
proposing a deviation to the setback to allow for a 25.5’ front yard setback for twenty three lots (7, 8, 
13, 18-30, 36, 44, 45, 51-53, and 57. Section 16-3-9 (A)(5)(b): provides a deviation for setbacks of 
buildings and paved areas from other than a public street may be reduced to 75% of the standard 
requirement. The deviation may be granted only if compensating common open space (not less than 
1:1 ratio) is provided elsewhere in the project and where there is ample evidence that the deviation will 
not adversely affect the neighboring properties.  

 
IMPACT FEES: 

Park Impact Fee 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee prior to the recording of the Final Plat in 
the amount of $400.00 per dwelling unit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

135th Street Corridor Impact Fee 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a 135th Street Corridor Impact Fee prior to the recording of 
the Final Plat in the amount of $389.40 per dwelling unit. This amount is subject to change by 
Ordinance. 

South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee, for the portion 
of the development that is south of 137th Street, prior to the recording of the Final Plat at a rate of 
$625 x gross acres platted x miles from 135th Street. This amount is subject to change by 
Ordinance. 

 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The proposed application does not conform to the Comprehensive Plan for the City of 
Leawood or the 135th street Community Plan. The Comprehensive Plan and 135th street 
Community Plan designate this area as Mixed Use while the applicant is requesting Medium 
Density Residential. The neighborhood is characteristically defined by the major arterial streets 
(135th and Roe). Given the access to major arterial streets, the area should be developed with 
the highest/best use for the property.  

 Removing existing restrictions on the property will allow for the existing office buildings to not 
be in conformance with Leawood Development Ordinance. The development is proposing to 
spot-zone by rezoning around existing SD-O and SD-CR properties, resulting in said properties 
to be in non-conformance with building setback and minimum acreage requirements. Building 
setback from a residential zoning district for SD-CR is required to be 125’ and SD-O is required 
to be 75’. 

 The proposed application does not conform to Leawood Development Ordinance, section 16-
8-3.2 including that all private streets shall be built to public standards. 

 The proposed application does not conform to Leawood Development Ordinance, section 16-
8-3.7 including; lots fronting on a cul-de-sac shall maintain a minimum frontage of 45 feet on 
the turn around and 100 feet at the building line and lots shall not have a depth greater than 
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three times the width and shall have buildable width generally facing and directly relating to the 
street upon which such lots front. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission deny Case 81-20, Villa de Fontana – approval request for 
Final Plat and Final Plan. If the Planning Commission were to approve the application against the 
recommendation from planning staff, the following stipulations are provided: 
1. This project is subject to approval of Case 70-20 – Villa de Fontana Preliminary Plat and Preliminary 

Plan. Shall Case 70-20 be denied by the Governing Body, this case shall automatically be remanded 
back to the Planning Commission with the changes needed to be made with the Preliminary Plan and 
Preliminary Plat. 

2. This application shall meet all requirements per the Leawood Development Ordinance per the 
comments made in the “Staff Comments” portion of this document. 

3. The project is limited to 63 lots and 12 tracts on 30.44 acres. of construction for the residential 
subdivision Villa de Fontana, zoned RP-2. 

4. The project shall comply with the bulk regulations for SD-O and SD-CR, not allowing existing property 
to be in non-conformance. 

5. The applicant/owner shall be responsible for the following impact fees: 
a. Park Impact Fee prior to the recording of the Final Plat in the amount of $400.00 per dwelling unit. 

This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 
b. 135th Street Corridor Impact Fee prior to the recording of the Final Plat in the amount of $389.40 

per dwelling unit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 
c. South Leawood Transportation Impact Fee, for the portion of the development that is south of 137th 

Street, prior to the recording of the Final Plat at a rate of $625 x gross acres platted x miles from 
135th Street. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

6. All new utility boxes with a height of less than 56 inches, a footprint of equal to or less than 15 square 
feet in area, or a pad footprint of equal to or less than 15 square feet, may be installed only with the 
prior approval of the Director of Community Development as being in compliance with this Ordinance. 
However, all new electric vehicle-charging stations shall only be permitted within the interior of a 
garage.  

7. All new utility boxes with a height of 56 inches or greater, a footprint greater than 15 square feet in 
area, or a pad footprint greater than 15 square feet in area, shall be authorized only by approval of a 
special use permit prior to construction. 

8. This development shall include a deviation of 25.5’ front yard setback for lots 7, 8, 13, 18-30, 36, 44, 
45, 51-53, and 57. The development shall meet all other required setbacks without deviations.   

9. All streets within the subdivision shall be private with the exception of 137th street, and shall comply 
with Section 16-8-3.2, of the Leawood Development Ordinance, including that all private streets shall 
be built to public standards. The developer or Homes Association shall maintain any planting or 
statuary within the street right of way. The developer shall execute a right-of-way maintenance 
agreement with the Public Works Department for any planting or statuary improvements within the 
public right-of-way. 

10. All monument signs shall be placed within a common area designated as a separate tract of land to be 
maintained by the homes association.  

11. All monument signs shall be located outside of all sight triangles, and shall be a minimum of 5’ from all 
property lines and sidewalks. 

12. The development shall comply with Section 16-8-3.7 of the Leawood Development Ordinance including 
the following: 



6 

a. Lots fronting on a cul-de-sac shall maintain a minimum frontage of 45 feet on the turn around and 
100 feet at the building line. 

b. Lots shall not have a depth greater than three times the width and shall have buildable width 
generally facing and directly relating to the street upon which such lots front 

13. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all landscaped areas shall be irrigated 
14. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all medium and large deciduous trees (including street 

trees), shall be 2 ½” caliper as measured 6” above the ground, all small deciduous and ornamental 
trees shall be a minimum of 1 ½” caliper as measured 6” above the ground, conifers and evergreen 
trees shall be a minimum of 6’ in height, and shrubs shall be a 24” in height at the time of planting. 

15. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, at the time of planting, plant material screening the ground 
mounted utilities shall be a minimum of 6” taller than the utility it is to screen, with lower shrubs in the 
foreground to eliminate any gaps in screening. 

16. The approved final landscape plan shall contain the following statements: 
a. All trees shall be callipered and undersized trees shall be rejected. 
b. All hedges shall be trimmed to maintain a solid hedge appearance. 
c. All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy.   
d. Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the 

landscape architect and the City of Leawood, prior to installation. 
e. All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 
f. A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas Registered Landscape Architect, shall be submitted prior 

to final occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per the approved landscape 
plan and all plant material used is to the highest standards of the nursery industry.   

17. The Owner/Applicant must establish a funding mechanism to maintain, repair and/or replace all 
common areas and common area improvements including, but not limited to, streets, walls, and storm 
water system improvements.  The mechanism will include a deed restriction running with each lot in 
the development that will mandate that each owner must contribute to the funding for such 
maintenance, repair and/or replacement and that each lot owner is jointly and severally liable for such 
maintenance, repair and/or replacement, and that the failure to maintain, repair or replace such 
common areas or common area improvements may result in the City of Leawood maintaining, repairing 
and replacing said common areas and/or improvements, and the cost incurred by the City of Leawood 
will be jointly and severally assessed against each lot, and will be the responsibility of the owner(s) of 
such lot. 

18. All sidewalks shall be installed as per street construction standards. 
19. The applicant shall obtain all approvals and permits from the Public Works Department, per the public 

works memo on file with the City of Leawood Planning and Development Department, prior to issuance 
of a building permit and recording the plat. 

20. Prior to Governing Body consideration, all final detail will be provided per the Leawood Development 
Ordinance. 

21. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on Sundays. 
22. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation 
has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations 
one through twenty two. 









 

 
Memorandum 

 

Fire Department                                      (913) 266-0600                             FAX (913) 681-2399 
 

 
 
TO:  Grant Lang     

 

FROM:    Jarrett Hawley     

 

DATE:      August 24, 2020  

 

SUBJECT: Villa de Fontana 

 

 

The Leawood Fire Department has been presented with additional site plans showing street 

layout which meet minimum requirements for fire apparatus. 

After reviewing the updated street map and site plan, The Leawood Fire Deaprtment has 

no objections to the present site plan presented. 

 

 

Jarrett Hawley 

Deputy Chief 

Leawood Fire Department 
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LEGAL DESCRIPTION Resurvey and replat of Tract A, Tract C, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  and replat of Tract A, Tract C, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, and replat of Tract A, Tract C, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  replat of Tract A, Tract C, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, replat of Tract A, Tract C, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  of Tract A, Tract C, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, of Tract A, Tract C, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  Tract A, Tract C, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, Tract A, Tract C, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  A, Tract C, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, A, Tract C, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  Tract C, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, Tract C, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  C, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, C, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, Tract D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, D and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, and Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, Lot 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, 2, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, and part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD,  AT LEAWOOD, AT LEAWOOD,  LEAWOOD, LEAWOOD, together with Lot 1 and part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  with Lot 1 and part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both with Lot 1 and part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  Lot 1 and part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both Lot 1 and part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  1 and part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both 1 and part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  and part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both and part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both THRU 3 AND TRACT A, both  3 AND TRACT A, both 3 AND TRACT A, both  AND TRACT A, both AND TRACT A, both  TRACT A, both TRACT A, both  A, both A, both  both both platted subdivisions of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as  subdivisions of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as subdivisions of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as  of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as  land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as  in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as  the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as  City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as  of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as  Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as  Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as  County, Kansas, being more particularly described as County, Kansas, being more particularly described as  Kansas, being more particularly described as Kansas, being more particularly described as  being more particularly described as being more particularly described as  more particularly described as more particularly described as  particularly described as particularly described as  described as described as  as as follows: Beginning at the Northwest corner of said Tract A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  at the Northwest corner of said Tract A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th at the Northwest corner of said Tract A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  the Northwest corner of said Tract A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th the Northwest corner of said Tract A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  Northwest corner of said Tract A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th Northwest corner of said Tract A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  corner of said Tract A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th corner of said Tract A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  of said Tract A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th of said Tract A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  said Tract A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th said Tract A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  Tract A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th Tract A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th A, said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th said point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th point also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th also being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th being on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th on the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th the Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  Southerly right-of-way line of 135th Southerly right-of-way line of 135th  right-of-way line of 135th right-of-way line of 135th  line of 135th line of 135th  of 135th of 135th  135th 135th Street, as now established; thence N 87°43'34" E, along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line  as now established; thence N 87°43'34" E, along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line as now established; thence N 87°43'34" E, along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line  now established; thence N 87°43'34" E, along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line now established; thence N 87°43'34" E, along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line  established; thence N 87°43'34" E, along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line established; thence N 87°43'34" E, along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line  thence N 87°43'34" E, along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line thence N 87°43'34" E, along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line  N 87°43'34" E, along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line N 87°43'34" E, along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line  87°43'34" E, along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line 87°43'34" E, along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line  E, along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line E, along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line  along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line along the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line  the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line the North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line  North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line North line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line  line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line  of said Tract A and along the Northerly line of said Tract A and along the Northerly line  said Tract A and along the Northerly line said Tract A and along the Northerly line  Tract A and along the Northerly line Tract A and along the Northerly line  A and along the Northerly line A and along the Northerly line  and along the Northerly line and along the Northerly line  along the Northerly line along the Northerly line  the Northerly line the Northerly line  Northerly line Northerly line  line line of said Lot 1 and also along the Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  said Lot 1 and also along the Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence said Lot 1 and also along the Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  Lot 1 and also along the Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence Lot 1 and also along the Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  1 and also along the Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence 1 and also along the Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  and also along the Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence and also along the Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  also along the Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence also along the Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  along the Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence along the Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  the Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence the Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence Southerly right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence right-of-way line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence line of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence of said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence said 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence 135th Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence Street, a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  a distance of 993.88 feet; thence a distance of 993.88 feet; thence  distance of 993.88 feet; thence distance of 993.88 feet; thence  of 993.88 feet; thence of 993.88 feet; thence  993.88 feet; thence 993.88 feet; thence  feet; thence feet; thence  thence thence S 2°16'26" E, a distance of 305.89 feet; thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent  2°16'26" E, a distance of 305.89 feet; thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent 2°16'26" E, a distance of 305.89 feet; thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent  E, a distance of 305.89 feet; thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent E, a distance of 305.89 feet; thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent  a distance of 305.89 feet; thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent a distance of 305.89 feet; thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent  distance of 305.89 feet; thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent distance of 305.89 feet; thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent  of 305.89 feet; thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent of 305.89 feet; thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent  305.89 feet; thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent 305.89 feet; thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent  feet; thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent feet; thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent  thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent thence Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent  Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent Easterly on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent  on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent  a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent  curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent  to the left, said curve having an initial tangent to the left, said curve having an initial tangent  the left, said curve having an initial tangent the left, said curve having an initial tangent  left, said curve having an initial tangent left, said curve having an initial tangent  said curve having an initial tangent said curve having an initial tangent  curve having an initial tangent curve having an initial tangent  having an initial tangent having an initial tangent  an initial tangent an initial tangent  initial tangent initial tangent  tangent tangent bearing of S 66°32'22” E and a radius of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  of S 66°32'22” E and a radius of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a of S 66°32'22” E and a radius of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  S 66°32'22” E and a radius of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a S 66°32'22” E and a radius of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  66°32'22” E and a radius of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a 66°32'22” E and a radius of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  E and a radius of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a E and a radius of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  and a radius of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a and a radius of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  a radius of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a a radius of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  radius of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a radius of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a of 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a 150.00 feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a feet, an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a an arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a arc distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a distance of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a of 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a 67.37 feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a feet; thence N 87°43'34" E, a  thence N 87°43'34" E, a thence N 87°43'34" E, a  N 87°43'34" E, a N 87°43'34" E, a  87°43'34" E, a 87°43'34" E, a  E, a E, a  a a distance of 124.14 feet to a point on the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  of 124.14 feet to a point on the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way of 124.14 feet to a point on the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  124.14 feet to a point on the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way 124.14 feet to a point on the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  feet to a point on the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way feet to a point on the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  to a point on the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way to a point on the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  a point on the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way a point on the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  point on the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way point on the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  on the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way on the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way the East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way East line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way said Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way Lot 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way 1, said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way said point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  point also being on the Westerly right-of-way point also being on the Westerly right-of-way  also being on the Westerly right-of-way also being on the Westerly right-of-way  being on the Westerly right-of-way being on the Westerly right-of-way  on the Westerly right-of-way on the Westerly right-of-way  the Westerly right-of-way the Westerly right-of-way  Westerly right-of-way Westerly right-of-way  right-of-way right-of-way line of Fontana Street, as now established; thence along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  of Fontana Street, as now established; thence along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way of Fontana Street, as now established; thence along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  Fontana Street, as now established; thence along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way Fontana Street, as now established; thence along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  Street, as now established; thence along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way Street, as now established; thence along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  as now established; thence along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way as now established; thence along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  now established; thence along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way now established; thence along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  established; thence along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way established; thence along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  thence along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way thence along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way along the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way the East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way East line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way line of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way of said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way said Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way Lot 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  1 and the Westerly right-of-way 1 and the Westerly right-of-way  and the Westerly right-of-way and the Westerly right-of-way  the Westerly right-of-way the Westerly right-of-way  Westerly right-of-way Westerly right-of-way  right-of-way right-of-way line of said Fontana Street, for the following four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  of said Fontana Street, for the following four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence of said Fontana Street, for the following four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  said Fontana Street, for the following four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence said Fontana Street, for the following four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  Fontana Street, for the following four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence Fontana Street, for the following four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  Street, for the following four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence Street, for the following four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  for the following four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence for the following four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  the following four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence the following four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  following four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence following four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence four (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence (4) courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence courses; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence 1°55'13" E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence E, a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  a distance of 32.60 feet; thence a distance of 32.60 feet; thence  distance of 32.60 feet; thence distance of 32.60 feet; thence  of 32.60 feet; thence of 32.60 feet; thence  32.60 feet; thence 32.60 feet; thence  feet; thence feet; thence  thence thence N 87°43'34" E, a distance of 10.00 feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  87°43'34" E, a distance of 10.00 feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a 87°43'34" E, a distance of 10.00 feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  E, a distance of 10.00 feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a E, a distance of 10.00 feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  a distance of 10.00 feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a a distance of 10.00 feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  distance of 10.00 feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a distance of 10.00 feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  of 10.00 feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a of 10.00 feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  10.00 feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a 10.00 feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a feet; thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a thence S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a S 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a 1°55'13" E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a E, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a distance of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a of 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a 645.90 feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a feet; thence S 43°01'10" W, a  thence S 43°01'10" W, a thence S 43°01'10" W, a  S 43°01'10" W, a S 43°01'10" W, a  43°01'10" W, a 43°01'10" W, a  W, a W, a  a a distance of 42.45 feet to a point on the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly  of 42.45 feet to a point on the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly of 42.45 feet to a point on the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly  42.45 feet to a point on the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly 42.45 feet to a point on the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly  feet to a point on the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly feet to a point on the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly  to a point on the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly to a point on the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly  a point on the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly a point on the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly  point on the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly point on the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly  on the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly on the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly  the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly the South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly  South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly South line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly  line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly line of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly  of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly of said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly  said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly said Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly  Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly Lot 1, said point also being on the Northerly  1, said point also being on the Northerly 1, said point also being on the Northerly  said point also being on the Northerly said point also being on the Northerly  point also being on the Northerly point also being on the Northerly  also being on the Northerly also being on the Northerly  being on the Northerly being on the Northerly  on the Northerly on the Northerly  the Northerly the Northerly  Northerly Northerly right-of-way line of 137th Street, as now established; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the  line of 137th Street, as now established; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the line of 137th Street, as now established; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the  of 137th Street, as now established; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the of 137th Street, as now established; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the  137th Street, as now established; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the 137th Street, as now established; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the  Street, as now established; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the Street, as now established; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the  as now established; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the as now established; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the  now established; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the now established; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the  established; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the established; thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the  thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the thence along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the  along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the along the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the  the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the  Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the Southerly line of said Lot 1 and the  line of said Lot 1 and the line of said Lot 1 and the  of said Lot 1 and the of said Lot 1 and the  said Lot 1 and the said Lot 1 and the  Lot 1 and the Lot 1 and the  1 and the 1 and the  and the and the  the the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, for the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a  right-of-way line of said 137th Street, for the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a right-of-way line of said 137th Street, for the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a  line of said 137th Street, for the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a line of said 137th Street, for the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a  of said 137th Street, for the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a of said 137th Street, for the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a  said 137th Street, for the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a said 137th Street, for the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a  137th Street, for the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a 137th Street, for the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a  Street, for the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a Street, for the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a  for the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a for the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a  the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a the following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a  following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a following three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a  three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a three (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a  (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a (3) courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a  courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a courses; thence S 88°04'47" W, a  thence S 88°04'47" W, a thence S 88°04'47" W, a  S 88°04'47" W, a S 88°04'47" W, a  88°04'47" W, a 88°04'47" W, a  W, a W, a  a a distance of 126.37 feet; thence Westerly on a curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described  of 126.37 feet; thence Westerly on a curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described of 126.37 feet; thence Westerly on a curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described  126.37 feet; thence Westerly on a curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described 126.37 feet; thence Westerly on a curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described  feet; thence Westerly on a curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described feet; thence Westerly on a curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described  thence Westerly on a curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described thence Westerly on a curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described  Westerly on a curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described Westerly on a curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described  on a curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described on a curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described  a curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described a curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described  curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described curve to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described  to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described to the right, said curve being tangent to the last described  the right, said curve being tangent to the last described the right, said curve being tangent to the last described  right, said curve being tangent to the last described right, said curve being tangent to the last described  said curve being tangent to the last described said curve being tangent to the last described  curve being tangent to the last described curve being tangent to the last described  being tangent to the last described being tangent to the last described  tangent to the last described tangent to the last described  to the last described to the last described  the last described the last described  last described last described  described described course and having a radius of 510.00 feet, an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  and having a radius of 510.00 feet, an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of and having a radius of 510.00 feet, an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  having a radius of 510.00 feet, an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of having a radius of 510.00 feet, an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  a radius of 510.00 feet, an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of a radius of 510.00 feet, an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  radius of 510.00 feet, an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of radius of 510.00 feet, an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  of 510.00 feet, an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of of 510.00 feet, an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  510.00 feet, an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 510.00 feet, an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  feet, an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of feet, an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of an arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of arc distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 139.27 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  N 76°16'26" W, a distance of N 76°16'26" W, a distance of  76°16'26" W, a distance of 76°16'26" W, a distance of  W, a distance of W, a distance of  a distance of a distance of  distance of distance of  of of 6.16 feet to the Southeasterly plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence  feet to the Southeasterly plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence feet to the Southeasterly plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence  to the Southeasterly plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence to the Southeasterly plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence  the Southeasterly plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence the Southeasterly plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence  Southeasterly plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence Southeasterly plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence  plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence  corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence  of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence  said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence  GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence  OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence  VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence  LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence  1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence  THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence  3 AND TRACT A; thence 3 AND TRACT A; thence  AND TRACT A; thence AND TRACT A; thence  TRACT A; thence TRACT A; thence  A; thence A; thence  thence thence N 13°43'34" E, along the Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  13°43'34" E, along the Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a 13°43'34" E, along the Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  E, along the Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a E, along the Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  along the Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a along the Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  the Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a the Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a  3 AND TRACT A, a 3 AND TRACT A, a  AND TRACT A, a AND TRACT A, a  TRACT A, a TRACT A, a  A, a A, a  a a distance of 144.76 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of  of 144.76 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of of 144.76 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of  144.76 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of 144.76 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of  feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of  thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of  N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of  76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of  W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of  a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of  distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of  of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of  162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of  feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of  thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of  S 45°57'14" W, a distance of S 45°57'14" W, a distance of  45°57'14" W, a distance of 45°57'14" W, a distance of  W, a distance of W, a distance of  a distance of a distance of  distance of distance of  of of 67.09 feet; thence S 13°43'34" W, a distance of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point  feet; thence S 13°43'34" W, a distance of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point feet; thence S 13°43'34" W, a distance of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point  thence S 13°43'34" W, a distance of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point thence S 13°43'34" W, a distance of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point  S 13°43'34" W, a distance of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point S 13°43'34" W, a distance of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point  13°43'34" W, a distance of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point 13°43'34" W, a distance of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point  W, a distance of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point W, a distance of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point  a distance of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point a distance of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point  distance of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point distance of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point  of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point of 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point  88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point 88.00 feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point  feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point feet to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point  to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point to a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point  a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point a point on the South line of said Tract A, said point  point on the South line of said Tract A, said point point on the South line of said Tract A, said point  on the South line of said Tract A, said point on the South line of said Tract A, said point  the South line of said Tract A, said point the South line of said Tract A, said point  South line of said Tract A, said point South line of said Tract A, said point  line of said Tract A, said point line of said Tract A, said point  of said Tract A, said point of said Tract A, said point  said Tract A, said point said Tract A, said point  Tract A, said point Tract A, said point  A, said point A, said point  said point said point  point point also being on the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of  being on the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of being on the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of  on the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of on the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of  the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of  Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of  right-of-way line of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of right-of-way line of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of  line of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of line of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of  of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of  said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of said 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of  137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of 137th Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of  Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of Street; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of  thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of thence N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of  N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of N 76°16'26" W, along the South line of  76°16'26" W, along the South line of 76°16'26" W, along the South line of  W, along the South line of W, along the South line of  along the South line of along the South line of  the South line of the South line of  South line of South line of  line of line of  of of said Tract A and the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  Tract A and the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a Tract A and the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  A and the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a A and the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  and the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a and the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a Lot 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a 1 and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a  line of said 137th Street, a line of said 137th Street, a  of said 137th Street, a of said 137th Street, a  said 137th Street, a said 137th Street, a  137th Street, a 137th Street, a  Street, a Street, a  a a distance of 493.59 feet; thence Westerly along the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly  of 493.59 feet; thence Westerly along the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly of 493.59 feet; thence Westerly along the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly  493.59 feet; thence Westerly along the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly 493.59 feet; thence Westerly along the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly  feet; thence Westerly along the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly feet; thence Westerly along the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly  thence Westerly along the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly thence Westerly along the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly  Westerly along the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly Westerly along the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly  along the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly along the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly  the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly the South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly  South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly South line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly  line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly line of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly  of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly of said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly  said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly said Lot 1 and also along the Northerly  Lot 1 and also along the Northerly Lot 1 and also along the Northerly  1 and also along the Northerly 1 and also along the Northerly  and also along the Northerly and also along the Northerly  also along the Northerly also along the Northerly  along the Northerly along the Northerly  the Northerly the Northerly  Northerly Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street and on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N  line of said 137th Street and on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N line of said 137th Street and on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N  of said 137th Street and on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N of said 137th Street and on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N  said 137th Street and on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N said 137th Street and on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N  137th Street and on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N 137th Street and on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N  Street and on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N Street and on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N  and on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N and on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N  on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N on a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N  a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N a curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N  curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N curve to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N  to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N to the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N  the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N the left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N  left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N left, said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N  said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N said curve having an initial tangent bearing of N  curve having an initial tangent bearing of N curve having an initial tangent bearing of N  having an initial tangent bearing of N having an initial tangent bearing of N  an initial tangent bearing of N an initial tangent bearing of N  initial tangent bearing of N initial tangent bearing of N  tangent bearing of N tangent bearing of N  bearing of N bearing of N  of N of N  N N 76°22'23” W and a radius of 500.00 feet, an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  W and a radius of 500.00 feet, an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly W and a radius of 500.00 feet, an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  and a radius of 500.00 feet, an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly and a radius of 500.00 feet, an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  a radius of 500.00 feet, an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly a radius of 500.00 feet, an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  radius of 500.00 feet, an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly radius of 500.00 feet, an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  of 500.00 feet, an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly of 500.00 feet, an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  500.00 feet, an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly 500.00 feet, an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  feet, an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly feet, an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly an arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly arc distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly distance of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly of 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly 134.17 feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly feet; thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly thence S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly S 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  88°19'18" W, along the Southerly 88°19'18" W, along the Southerly  W, along the Southerly W, along the Southerly  along the Southerly along the Southerly  the Southerly the Southerly  Southerly Southerly line of said Lot 1 and said Tract C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance  of said Lot 1 and said Tract C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance of said Lot 1 and said Tract C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance  said Lot 1 and said Tract C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance said Lot 1 and said Tract C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance  Lot 1 and said Tract C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance Lot 1 and said Tract C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance  1 and said Tract C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance 1 and said Tract C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance  and said Tract C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance and said Tract C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance  said Tract C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance said Tract C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance  Tract C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance Tract C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance  C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance C and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance  and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance and also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance  also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance also along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance  along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance along the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance  the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance the Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance  Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance Northerly right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance  right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance right-of-way line of said 137th Street, a distance  line of said 137th Street, a distance line of said 137th Street, a distance  of said 137th Street, a distance of said 137th Street, a distance  said 137th Street, a distance said 137th Street, a distance  137th Street, a distance 137th Street, a distance  Street, a distance Street, a distance  a distance a distance  distance distance of 97.54 feet to the Southmost corner of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of  97.54 feet to the Southmost corner of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of 97.54 feet to the Southmost corner of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of  feet to the Southmost corner of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of feet to the Southmost corner of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of  to the Southmost corner of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of to the Southmost corner of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of  the Southmost corner of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of the Southmost corner of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of  Southmost corner of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of Southmost corner of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of  corner of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of corner of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of  of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of  said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of said Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of  Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of Tract C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of  C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of C, said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of  said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of said point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of  point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of point also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of  also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of also being on the Easterly right-of-way line of  being on the Easterly right-of-way line of being on the Easterly right-of-way line of  on the Easterly right-of-way line of on the Easterly right-of-way line of  the Easterly right-of-way line of the Easterly right-of-way line of  Easterly right-of-way line of Easterly right-of-way line of  right-of-way line of right-of-way line of  line of line of  of of Roe Avenue, as now established; thence along the Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly  Avenue, as now established; thence along the Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly Avenue, as now established; thence along the Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly  as now established; thence along the Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly as now established; thence along the Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly  now established; thence along the Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly now established; thence along the Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly  established; thence along the Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly established; thence along the Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly  thence along the Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly thence along the Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly  along the Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly along the Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly  the Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly the Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly  Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly Westerly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly  line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly line of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly  of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly of said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly  said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly said Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly  Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly Tract C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly  C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly C and said Lot 1 and the Easterly  and said Lot 1 and the Easterly and said Lot 1 and the Easterly  said Lot 1 and the Easterly said Lot 1 and the Easterly  Lot 1 and the Easterly Lot 1 and the Easterly  1 and the Easterly 1 and the Easterly  and the Easterly and the Easterly  the Easterly the Easterly  Easterly Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, for the following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81  line of said Roe Avenue, for the following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81 line of said Roe Avenue, for the following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81  of said Roe Avenue, for the following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81 of said Roe Avenue, for the following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81  said Roe Avenue, for the following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81 said Roe Avenue, for the following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81  Roe Avenue, for the following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81 Roe Avenue, for the following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81  Avenue, for the following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81 Avenue, for the following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81  for the following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81 for the following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81  the following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81 the following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81  following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81 following two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81  two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81 two (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81  (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81 (2) courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81  courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81 courses; thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81  thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81 thence N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81  N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81 N 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81  46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81 46°45'08" W, a distance of 42.81  W, a distance of 42.81 W, a distance of 42.81  a distance of 42.81 a distance of 42.81  distance of 42.81 distance of 42.81  of 42.81 of 42.81  42.81 42.81 feet; thence N 1°49'34" W, a distance of 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1  thence N 1°49'34" W, a distance of 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1 thence N 1°49'34" W, a distance of 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1  N 1°49'34" W, a distance of 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1 N 1°49'34" W, a distance of 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1  1°49'34" W, a distance of 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1 1°49'34" W, a distance of 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1  W, a distance of 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1 W, a distance of 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1  a distance of 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1 a distance of 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1  distance of 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1 distance of 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1  of 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1 of 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1  735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1 735.50 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1  feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1 feet; thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1  thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1 thence N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1  N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1 N 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1  42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1 42°56'24" E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1  E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1 E, along the Westerly line on said Lot 1  along the Westerly line on said Lot 1 along the Westerly line on said Lot 1  the Westerly line on said Lot 1 the Westerly line on said Lot 1  Westerly line on said Lot 1 Westerly line on said Lot 1  line on said Lot 1 line on said Lot 1  on said Lot 1 on said Lot 1  said Lot 1 said Lot 1  Lot 1 Lot 1  1 1 and Northwesterly line of said Tract C and also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance  Northwesterly line of said Tract C and also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance Northwesterly line of said Tract C and also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance  line of said Tract C and also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance line of said Tract C and also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance  of said Tract C and also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance of said Tract C and also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance  said Tract C and also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance said Tract C and also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance  Tract C and also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance Tract C and also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance  C and also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance C and also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance  and also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance and also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance  also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance also along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance  along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance along the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance  the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance the Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance  Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance Easterly right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance  right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance right-of-way line of said Roe Avenue, a distance  line of said Roe Avenue, a distance line of said Roe Avenue, a distance  of said Roe Avenue, a distance of said Roe Avenue, a distance  said Roe Avenue, a distance said Roe Avenue, a distance  Roe Avenue, a distance Roe Avenue, a distance  Avenue, a distance Avenue, a distance  a distance a distance  distance distance of 42.61 feet to the point of beginning, together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  42.61 feet to the point of beginning, together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT 42.61 feet to the point of beginning, together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  feet to the point of beginning, together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT feet to the point of beginning, together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  to the point of beginning, together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT to the point of beginning, together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  the point of beginning, together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT the point of beginning, together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  point of beginning, together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT point of beginning, together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  of beginning, together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT of beginning, together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  beginning, together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT beginning, together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT together with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT with All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT All of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT of Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT Lot 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT 2 and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT and Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT Tract D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT D of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  of said THE VILLAGGIO AT of said THE VILLAGGIO AT  said THE VILLAGGIO AT said THE VILLAGGIO AT  THE VILLAGGIO AT THE VILLAGGIO AT  VILLAGGIO AT VILLAGGIO AT  AT AT LEAWOOD, containing 30.4364 acres, more or less of replatted land. The undersigned proprietors of the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the  undersigned proprietors of the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the undersigned proprietors of the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the  proprietors of the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the proprietors of the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the  of the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the of the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the  the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the  above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the  described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the  tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the  of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the  land have caused the same to be subdivided in the land have caused the same to be subdivided in the  have caused the same to be subdivided in the have caused the same to be subdivided in the  caused the same to be subdivided in the caused the same to be subdivided in the  the same to be subdivided in the the same to be subdivided in the  same to be subdivided in the same to be subdivided in the  to be subdivided in the to be subdivided in the  be subdivided in the be subdivided in the  subdivided in the subdivided in the  in the in the  the the manner shown on the accompanying plat, which subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE  shown on the accompanying plat, which subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE shown on the accompanying plat, which subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE  on the accompanying plat, which subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE on the accompanying plat, which subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE  the accompanying plat, which subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE the accompanying plat, which subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE  accompanying plat, which subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE accompanying plat, which subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE  plat, which subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE plat, which subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE  which subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE which subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE  subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE subdivision and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE  and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE and plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE  plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE plat shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE  shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE shall hereafter be known as "VILLA DE  hereafter be known as "VILLA DE hereafter be known as "VILLA DE  be known as "VILLA DE be known as "VILLA DE  known as "VILLA DE known as "VILLA DE  as "VILLA DE as "VILLA DE  "VILLA DE "VILLA DE  DE DE FONTANA". DEDICATION The undersigned proprietors of said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways  undersigned proprietors of said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways undersigned proprietors of said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways  proprietors of said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways proprietors of said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways  of said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways of said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways  said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways  property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways  shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways  on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways  this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways  plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways  do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways  hereby dedicate for public use and public ways hereby dedicate for public use and public ways  dedicate for public use and public ways dedicate for public use and public ways  for public use and public ways for public use and public ways  public use and public ways public use and public ways  use and public ways use and public ways  and public ways and public ways  public ways public ways  ways ways and thoroughfares, all parcels and parts of land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives,  thoroughfares, all parcels and parts of land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, thoroughfares, all parcels and parts of land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives,  all parcels and parts of land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, all parcels and parts of land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives,  parcels and parts of land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, parcels and parts of land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives,  and parts of land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, and parts of land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives,  parts of land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, parts of land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives,  of land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, of land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives,  land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, land indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives,  indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, indicated on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives,  on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, on this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives,  this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, this plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives,  plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives,  as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives,  streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, streets, terraces, places, roads, drives,  terraces, places, roads, drives, terraces, places, roads, drives,  places, roads, drives, places, roads, drives,  roads, drives, roads, drives,  drives, drives, lanes, avenues and alleys not heretofore dedicated.  An easement or license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or  easement or license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or easement or license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or  or license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or or license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or  license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or  to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or  enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or  upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or  locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or  construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or  and maintain or authorize the location, construction or and maintain or authorize the location, construction or  maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintain or authorize the location, construction or  or authorize the location, construction or or authorize the location, construction or  authorize the location, construction or authorize the location, construction or  the location, construction or the location, construction or  location, construction or location, construction or  construction or construction or  or or maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables,  and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables,  use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables,  of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables,  conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables,  water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables,  gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables,  sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables,  sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, sewer pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables,  pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, pipes, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables,  poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, poles, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables,  wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables,  drainage facilities, ducts and cables, drainage facilities, ducts and cables,  facilities, ducts and cables, facilities, ducts and cables,  ducts and cables, ducts and cables,  and cables, and cables,  cables, cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or  similar facilities, upon over and under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or similar facilities, upon over and under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or  facilities, upon over and under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or facilities, upon over and under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or  upon over and under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or upon over and under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or  over and under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or over and under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or  and under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or and under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or  under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or  those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or  areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or  outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or  and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or  designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or  on this plat as "Utility Easement" or on this plat as "Utility Easement" or  this plat as "Utility Easement" or this plat as "Utility Easement" or  plat as "Utility Easement" or plat as "Utility Easement" or  as "Utility Easement" or as "Utility Easement" or  "Utility Easement" or "Utility Easement" or  Easement" or Easement" or  or or "U/E", is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by  is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by  hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by  granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by  to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by to the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by  the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by  City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by  of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by  Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by  Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by  and other governmental entities as may be authorized by and other governmental entities as may be authorized by  other governmental entities as may be authorized by other governmental entities as may be authorized by  governmental entities as may be authorized by governmental entities as may be authorized by  entities as may be authorized by entities as may be authorized by  as may be authorized by as may be authorized by  may be authorized by may be authorized by  be authorized by be authorized by  authorized by authorized by  by by state law to use such easement for said purposes.  An easement of license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a  easement of license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a easement of license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a  of license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a of license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a  license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a  to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a  enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a enter upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a  upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a upon, locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a  locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a locate, construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a  construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a construct and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a  and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a and maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a  maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a maintain amenity, features, water feature facilities and a  amenity, features, water feature facilities and a amenity, features, water feature facilities and a  features, water feature facilities and a features, water feature facilities and a  water feature facilities and a water feature facilities and a  feature facilities and a feature facilities and a  facilities and a facilities and a  and a and a  a a storm water collection system or authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through  water collection system or authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through water collection system or authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through  collection system or authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through collection system or authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through  system or authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through system or authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through  or authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through or authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through  authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through authorize the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through  the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through the same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through  same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through same together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through  together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through together with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through  with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through with all rights of ingress and egress, over and through  all rights of ingress and egress, over and through all rights of ingress and egress, over and through  rights of ingress and egress, over and through rights of ingress and egress, over and through  of ingress and egress, over and through of ingress and egress, over and through  ingress and egress, over and through ingress and egress, over and through  and egress, over and through and egress, over and through  egress, over and through egress, over and through  over and through over and through  and through and through  through through those area designated as "Drainage Easement" or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject  area designated as "Drainage Easement" or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject area designated as "Drainage Easement" or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject  designated as "Drainage Easement" or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject designated as "Drainage Easement" or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject  as "Drainage Easement" or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject as "Drainage Easement" or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject  "Drainage Easement" or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject "Drainage Easement" or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject  Easement" or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject Easement" or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject  or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject or "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject  "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject "D/E" is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject  is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject is hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject  hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject hereby granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject  granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject granted to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject  to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject to the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject  the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject the City of Leawood, Kansas, subject  City of Leawood, Kansas, subject City of Leawood, Kansas, subject  of Leawood, Kansas, subject of Leawood, Kansas, subject  Leawood, Kansas, subject Leawood, Kansas, subject  Kansas, subject Kansas, subject  subject subject nonetheless to such easement and maintenance agreement to be executed and authorized between the undersigned  to such easement and maintenance agreement to be executed and authorized between the undersigned to such easement and maintenance agreement to be executed and authorized between the undersigned  such easement and maintenance agreement to be executed and authorized between the undersigned such easement and maintenance agreement to be executed and authorized between the undersigned  easement and maintenance agreement to be executed and authorized between the undersigned easement and maintenance agreement to be executed and authorized between the undersigned  and maintenance agreement to be executed and authorized between the undersigned and maintenance agreement to be executed and authorized between the undersigned  maintenance agreement to be executed and authorized between the undersigned maintenance agreement to be executed and authorized between the undersigned  agreement to be executed and authorized between the undersigned agreement to be executed and authorized between the undersigned  to be executed and authorized between the undersigned to be executed and authorized between the undersigned  be executed and authorized between the undersigned be executed and authorized between the undersigned  executed and authorized between the undersigned executed and authorized between the undersigned  and authorized between the undersigned and authorized between the undersigned  authorized between the undersigned authorized between the undersigned  between the undersigned between the undersigned  the undersigned the undersigned  undersigned undersigned proprietor of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the  of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the of said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the  said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the said areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the  areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the areas and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the  and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the and the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the  the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the  City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the City of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the  of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the of Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the  Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the Leawood, Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the  Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the Kansas which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the  which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the which shall provide, along with other conditions, that the  shall provide, along with other conditions, that the shall provide, along with other conditions, that the  provide, along with other conditions, that the provide, along with other conditions, that the  along with other conditions, that the along with other conditions, that the  with other conditions, that the with other conditions, that the  other conditions, that the other conditions, that the  conditions, that the conditions, that the  that the that the  the the undersigned proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features,  proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features, proprietor shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features,  shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features, shall be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features,  be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features, be fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features,  fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features, fully and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features,  and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features, and solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features,  solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features, solely responsible for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features,  responsible for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features, responsible for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features,  for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features, for the operation and maintenance of any amenity features,  the operation and maintenance of any amenity features, the operation and maintenance of any amenity features,  operation and maintenance of any amenity features, operation and maintenance of any amenity features,  and maintenance of any amenity features, and maintenance of any amenity features,  maintenance of any amenity features, maintenance of any amenity features,  of any amenity features, of any amenity features,  any amenity features, any amenity features,  amenity features, amenity features,  features, features, water feature facilities and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned  feature facilities and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned feature facilities and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned  facilities and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned facilities and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned  and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned and a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned  a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned a storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned  storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned storm water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned  water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned water collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned  collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned collection system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned  system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned system, all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned  all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned all at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned  at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned at the sole cost and expense of the undersigned  the sole cost and expense of the undersigned the sole cost and expense of the undersigned  sole cost and expense of the undersigned sole cost and expense of the undersigned  cost and expense of the undersigned cost and expense of the undersigned  and expense of the undersigned and expense of the undersigned  expense of the undersigned expense of the undersigned  of the undersigned of the undersigned  the undersigned the undersigned  undersigned undersigned proprietor, their successors, heirs, assigns and the Association. An easement or license to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all  easement or license to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all easement or license to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all  or license to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all or license to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all  license to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all license to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all  to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all to lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all  lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all lay, construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all  construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all construct, maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all  maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all maintain, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all  alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all  repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all  replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all  and operate one or more sewer lines and all and operate one or more sewer lines and all  operate one or more sewer lines and all operate one or more sewer lines and all  one or more sewer lines and all one or more sewer lines and all  or more sewer lines and all or more sewer lines and all  more sewer lines and all more sewer lines and all  sewer lines and all sewer lines and all  lines and all lines and all  and all and all  all all appurtenances convenient for the collection of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over  convenient for the collection of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over convenient for the collection of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over  for the collection of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over for the collection of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over  the collection of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over the collection of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over  collection of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over collection of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over  of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over of sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over  sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over sanitary sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over  sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over sewage, together with the right of ingress and egress, over  together with the right of ingress and egress, over together with the right of ingress and egress, over  with the right of ingress and egress, over with the right of ingress and egress, over  the right of ingress and egress, over the right of ingress and egress, over  right of ingress and egress, over right of ingress and egress, over  of ingress and egress, over of ingress and egress, over  ingress and egress, over ingress and egress, over  and egress, over and egress, over  egress, over egress, over  over over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of  through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of  those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of  areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of  designated as "Sanitary Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of designated as "Sanitary Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of  as "Sanitary Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of as "Sanitary Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of  "Sanitary Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of "Sanitary Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of  Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of  Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of Easement" or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of  or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of or "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of  "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of "S/E" on this plat, together with the right of  on this plat, together with the right of on this plat, together with the right of  this plat, together with the right of this plat, together with the right of  plat, together with the right of plat, together with the right of  together with the right of together with the right of  with the right of with the right of  the right of the right of  right of right of  of of ingress and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is  and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is and egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is  egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is egress over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is  over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is over and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is  and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is and through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is  through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is through adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is  adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is adjoining land as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is  land as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is land as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is  as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is as may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is  may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is may be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is  be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is be reasonably necessary to access said easement and is  reasonably necessary to access said easement and is reasonably necessary to access said easement and is  necessary to access said easement and is necessary to access said easement and is  to access said easement and is to access said easement and is  access said easement and is access said easement and is  said easement and is said easement and is  easement and is easement and is  and is and is  is is hereby dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of  dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of  to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of  the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of  Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of  Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of Main Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of  Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of Sewer District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of  District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of District of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of  of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of  Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of Johnson County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of  County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of County, Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of  Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of Kansas or their assigns.  Alteration of  or their assigns.  Alteration of or their assigns.  Alteration of  their assigns.  Alteration of their assigns.  Alteration of  assigns.  Alteration of assigns.  Alteration of   Alteration of  Alteration of Alteration of  of of land contours will be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or  contours will be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or contours will be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or  will be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or will be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or  be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or be permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or  permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or permitted only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or  only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or only with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or  with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or with the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or  the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or the express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or  express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or express written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or  written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or written approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or  approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or approval of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or  of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or of JCW.  Any placing of improvements or  JCW.  Any placing of improvements or JCW.  Any placing of improvements or   Any placing of improvements or  Any placing of improvements or Any placing of improvements or  placing of improvements or placing of improvements or  of improvements or of improvements or  improvements or improvements or  or or planting of trees on said permanent right-of-way will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without  of trees on said permanent right-of-way will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without of trees on said permanent right-of-way will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without  trees on said permanent right-of-way will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without trees on said permanent right-of-way will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without  on said permanent right-of-way will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without on said permanent right-of-way will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without  said permanent right-of-way will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without said permanent right-of-way will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without  permanent right-of-way will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without permanent right-of-way will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without  right-of-way will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without right-of-way will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without  will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without will be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without  be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without be done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without  done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without done at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without  at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without at the risk of subsequent damage thereto without  the risk of subsequent damage thereto without the risk of subsequent damage thereto without  risk of subsequent damage thereto without risk of subsequent damage thereto without  of subsequent damage thereto without of subsequent damage thereto without  subsequent damage thereto without subsequent damage thereto without  damage thereto without damage thereto without  thereto without thereto without  without without compensation thereof.  Tracts "A", "B", "C", "D", "E", "F", "G", "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open  "A", "B", "C", "D", "E", "F", "G", "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open "A", "B", "C", "D", "E", "F", "G", "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open  "B", "C", "D", "E", "F", "G", "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open "B", "C", "D", "E", "F", "G", "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open  "C", "D", "E", "F", "G", "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open "C", "D", "E", "F", "G", "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open  "D", "E", "F", "G", "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open "D", "E", "F", "G", "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open  "E", "F", "G", "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open "E", "F", "G", "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open  "F", "G", "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open "F", "G", "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open  "G", "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open "G", "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open  "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open "H", "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open  "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open "I", "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open  "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open "J", "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open  "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open "K" and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open  and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open and "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open  "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open "L" are to be used and dedicated as private open  are to be used and dedicated as private open are to be used and dedicated as private open  to be used and dedicated as private open to be used and dedicated as private open  be used and dedicated as private open be used and dedicated as private open  used and dedicated as private open used and dedicated as private open  and dedicated as private open and dedicated as private open  dedicated as private open dedicated as private open  as private open as private open  private open private open  open open space, common areas, private streets and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water  common areas, private streets and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water common areas, private streets and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water  areas, private streets and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water areas, private streets and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water  private streets and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water private streets and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water  streets and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water streets and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water  and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water and may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water  may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water may include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water  include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water include landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water  landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water landscaping, fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water  fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water fencing, subdivision monuments, storm water  subdivision monuments, storm water subdivision monuments, storm water  monuments, storm water monuments, storm water  storm water storm water  water water detention and amenities and to be owned and maintained by the Homes Association.  An easement is hereby granted and reserved to the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant,  easement is hereby granted and reserved to the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant, easement is hereby granted and reserved to the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant,  is hereby granted and reserved to the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant, is hereby granted and reserved to the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant,  hereby granted and reserved to the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant, hereby granted and reserved to the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant,  granted and reserved to the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant, granted and reserved to the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant,  and reserved to the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant, and reserved to the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant,  reserved to the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant, reserved to the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant,  to the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant, to the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant,  the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant, the owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant,  owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant, owners of the above described property to enter upon, plant,  of the above described property to enter upon, plant, of the above described property to enter upon, plant,  the above described property to enter upon, plant, the above described property to enter upon, plant,  above described property to enter upon, plant, above described property to enter upon, plant,  described property to enter upon, plant, described property to enter upon, plant,  property to enter upon, plant, property to enter upon, plant,  to enter upon, plant, to enter upon, plant,  enter upon, plant, enter upon, plant,  upon, plant, upon, plant,  plant, plant, replace, replant, mow, clip, trim, spray, chemically treat, repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such  replant, mow, clip, trim, spray, chemically treat, repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such replant, mow, clip, trim, spray, chemically treat, repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such  mow, clip, trim, spray, chemically treat, repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such mow, clip, trim, spray, chemically treat, repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such  clip, trim, spray, chemically treat, repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such clip, trim, spray, chemically treat, repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such  trim, spray, chemically treat, repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such trim, spray, chemically treat, repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such  spray, chemically treat, repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such spray, chemically treat, repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such  chemically treat, repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such chemically treat, repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such  treat, repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such treat, repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such  repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such repair and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such  and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such and otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such  otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such otherwise maintain, and to authorize any such  maintain, and to authorize any such maintain, and to authorize any such  and to authorize any such and to authorize any such  to authorize any such to authorize any such  authorize any such authorize any such  any such any such  such such maintenance, of any and all grass, trees, shrubs, plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments  of any and all grass, trees, shrubs, plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments of any and all grass, trees, shrubs, plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments  any and all grass, trees, shrubs, plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments any and all grass, trees, shrubs, plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments  and all grass, trees, shrubs, plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments and all grass, trees, shrubs, plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments  all grass, trees, shrubs, plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments all grass, trees, shrubs, plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments  grass, trees, shrubs, plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments grass, trees, shrubs, plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments  trees, shrubs, plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments trees, shrubs, plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments  shrubs, plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments shrubs, plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments  plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments plants, and other landscaping and all fences and monuments  and other landscaping and all fences and monuments and other landscaping and all fences and monuments  other landscaping and all fences and monuments other landscaping and all fences and monuments  landscaping and all fences and monuments landscaping and all fences and monuments  and all fences and monuments and all fences and monuments  all fences and monuments all fences and monuments  fences and monuments fences and monuments  and monuments and monuments  monuments monuments installed by the owners, upon, over, or under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape  by the owners, upon, over, or under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape by the owners, upon, over, or under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape  the owners, upon, over, or under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape the owners, upon, over, or under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape  owners, upon, over, or under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape owners, upon, over, or under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape  upon, over, or under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape upon, over, or under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape  over, or under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape over, or under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape  or under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape or under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape  under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape  those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape  areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape  outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape outlined and designated on this plat as "Landscape  and designated on this plat as "Landscape and designated on this plat as "Landscape  designated on this plat as "Landscape designated on this plat as "Landscape  on this plat as "Landscape on this plat as "Landscape  this plat as "Landscape this plat as "Landscape  plat as "Landscape plat as "Landscape  as "Landscape as "Landscape  "Landscape "Landscape Easement" or "L/E".  No grading, construction, or removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without  or "L/E".  No grading, construction, or removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without or "L/E".  No grading, construction, or removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without  "L/E".  No grading, construction, or removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without "L/E".  No grading, construction, or removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without   No grading, construction, or removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without  No grading, construction, or removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without No grading, construction, or removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without  grading, construction, or removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without grading, construction, or removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without  construction, or removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without construction, or removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without  or removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without or removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without  removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without removal of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without  of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without of trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without  trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without trees shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without  shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without shall occur in the "Landscape Easement" without  occur in the "Landscape Easement" without occur in the "Landscape Easement" without  in the "Landscape Easement" without in the "Landscape Easement" without  the "Landscape Easement" without the "Landscape Easement" without  "Landscape Easement" without "Landscape Easement" without  Easement" without Easement" without  without without written approval of the City of Leawood, Kansas. A perpetual easement of access, over, under, across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E"  perpetual easement of access, over, under, across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E" perpetual easement of access, over, under, across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E"  easement of access, over, under, across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E" easement of access, over, under, across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E"  of access, over, under, across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E" of access, over, under, across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E"  access, over, under, across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E" access, over, under, across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E"  over, under, across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E" over, under, across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E"  under, across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E" under, across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E"  across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E" across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E"  and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E" and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E"  upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E" upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E"  the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E" the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E"  areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E" areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E"  designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E" designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E"  as "Access Easement" or "A/E" as "Access Easement" or "A/E"  "Access Easement" or "A/E" "Access Easement" or "A/E"  Easement" or "A/E" Easement" or "A/E"  or "A/E" or "A/E"  "A/E" "A/E" is hereby reserved by the undersigned proprietor, its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and  hereby reserved by the undersigned proprietor, its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and hereby reserved by the undersigned proprietor, its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and  reserved by the undersigned proprietor, its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and reserved by the undersigned proprietor, its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and  by the undersigned proprietor, its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and by the undersigned proprietor, its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and  the undersigned proprietor, its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and the undersigned proprietor, its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and  undersigned proprietor, its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and undersigned proprietor, its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and  proprietor, its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and proprietor, its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and  its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and  heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and  and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and  assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and assigns, for the ingress and egress of all owners and  for the ingress and egress of all owners and for the ingress and egress of all owners and  the ingress and egress of all owners and the ingress and egress of all owners and  ingress and egress of all owners and ingress and egress of all owners and  and egress of all owners and and egress of all owners and  egress of all owners and egress of all owners and  of all owners and of all owners and  all owners and all owners and  owners and owners and  and and occupants of lots and parcels depicted on this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the  of lots and parcels depicted on this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the of lots and parcels depicted on this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the  lots and parcels depicted on this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the lots and parcels depicted on this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the  and parcels depicted on this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the and parcels depicted on this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the  parcels depicted on this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the parcels depicted on this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the  depicted on this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the depicted on this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the  on this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the on this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the  this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the  plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the  and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the  their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the  guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the  and invitees, subject to the provisions of the and invitees, subject to the provisions of the  invitees, subject to the provisions of the invitees, subject to the provisions of the  subject to the provisions of the subject to the provisions of the  to the provisions of the to the provisions of the  the provisions of the the provisions of the  provisions of the provisions of the  of the of the  the the Declaration of Restrictions for "Villa De Fontana". The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain  of Restrictions for "Villa De Fontana". The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain of Restrictions for "Villa De Fontana". The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain  Restrictions for "Villa De Fontana". The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain Restrictions for "Villa De Fontana". The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain  for "Villa De Fontana". The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain for "Villa De Fontana". The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain  "Villa De Fontana". The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain "Villa De Fontana". The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain Villa De Fontana". The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain  De Fontana". The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain De Fontana". The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain  Fontana". The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain Fontana". The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain ". The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain  The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain The right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain  right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain right or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain  or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain or license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain  license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain license to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain  to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain to enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain  enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain  upon, locate, construct, and maintain upon, locate, construct, and maintain  locate, construct, and maintain locate, construct, and maintain  construct, and maintain construct, and maintain  and maintain and maintain  maintain maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles,  authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles,  the location, construction or maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, the location, construction or maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles,  location, construction or maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, location, construction or maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles,  construction or maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, construction or maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles,  or maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, or maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles,  maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles,  and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles,  use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles,  of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles,  conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles,  water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles,  gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles,  sanitary sewer pipes, poles, sanitary sewer pipes, poles,  sewer pipes, poles, sewer pipes, poles,  pipes, poles, pipes, poles,  poles, poles, wires, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon, over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa  ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon, over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon, over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa  and cables, and similar facilities, upon, over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa and cables, and similar facilities, upon, over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa  cables, and similar facilities, upon, over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa cables, and similar facilities, upon, over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa  and similar facilities, upon, over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa and similar facilities, upon, over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa  similar facilities, upon, over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa similar facilities, upon, over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa  facilities, upon, over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa facilities, upon, over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa  upon, over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa upon, over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa  over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa  and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa  under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa under said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa  said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa said access easement, is hereby granted to Villa  access easement, is hereby granted to Villa access easement, is hereby granted to Villa  easement, is hereby granted to Villa easement, is hereby granted to Villa  is hereby granted to Villa is hereby granted to Villa  hereby granted to Villa hereby granted to Villa  granted to Villa granted to Villa  to Villa to Villa  Villa Villa De Fontana Homes Association, the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized  Fontana Homes Association, the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized Fontana Homes Association, the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized  Homes Association, the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized Homes Association, the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized  Association, the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized Association, the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized  the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized  City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized  of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized  Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized  Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized  and other governmental entities as may be authorized and other governmental entities as may be authorized  other governmental entities as may be authorized other governmental entities as may be authorized  governmental entities as may be authorized governmental entities as may be authorized  entities as may be authorized entities as may be authorized  as may be authorized as may be authorized  may be authorized may be authorized  be authorized be authorized  authorized authorized by state law to use such easements for said purposes. RESTRICTIONS All lots, parcels, tracts and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions  lots, parcels, tracts and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions lots, parcels, tracts and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions  parcels, tracts and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions parcels, tracts and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions  tracts and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions tracts and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions  and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions and properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions  properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions properties in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions  in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions in this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions  this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions this subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions  subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions subdivision shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions  shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions shall hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions  hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions hereafter be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions  be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions be subject to the Declaration of Restrictions  subject to the Declaration of Restrictions subject to the Declaration of Restrictions  to the Declaration of Restrictions to the Declaration of Restrictions  the Declaration of Restrictions the Declaration of Restrictions  Declaration of Restrictions Declaration of Restrictions  of Restrictions of Restrictions  Restrictions Restrictions for "Villa de Fontana", which instrument is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  "Villa de Fontana", which instrument is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, "Villa de Fontana", which instrument is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  de Fontana", which instrument is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, de Fontana", which instrument is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  Fontana", which instrument is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, Fontana", which instrument is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  which instrument is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, which instrument is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  instrument is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, instrument is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, is recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, the Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, Office of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, of the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, the Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas, Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas,  of Johnson County, Kansas, of Johnson County, Kansas,  Johnson County, Kansas, Johnson County, Kansas,  County, Kansas, County, Kansas,  Kansas, Kansas, and which shall hereby become a part of the dedication of this plat as though fully set forth herein.     CONSENT TO LEVY The undersigned proprietors of the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County  undersigned proprietors of the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County undersigned proprietors of the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County  proprietors of the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County proprietors of the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County  of the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County of the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County  the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County  above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County  described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County  land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County  hereby agree and consent that the Board of County hereby agree and consent that the Board of County  agree and consent that the Board of County agree and consent that the Board of County  and consent that the Board of County and consent that the Board of County  consent that the Board of County consent that the Board of County  that the Board of County that the Board of County  the Board of County the Board of County  Board of County Board of County  of County of County  County County Commissioners of Johnson County, Kansas, and the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power  of Johnson County, Kansas, and the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power of Johnson County, Kansas, and the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power  Johnson County, Kansas, and the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power Johnson County, Kansas, and the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power  County, Kansas, and the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power County, Kansas, and the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power  Kansas, and the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power Kansas, and the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power  and the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power and the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power  the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power  City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power  of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power  Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power  Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power Johnson County, Kansas, shall have the power  County, Kansas, shall have the power County, Kansas, shall have the power  Kansas, shall have the power Kansas, shall have the power  shall have the power shall have the power  have the power have the power  the power the power  power power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use,  release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use,  such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use,  land proposed to be dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, land proposed to be dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use,  proposed to be dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, proposed to be dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use,  to be dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, to be dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use,  be dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, be dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use,  dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use,  for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use,  public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use,  ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use,  and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use,  thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use,  or parts thereof, for public use, or parts thereof, for public use,  parts thereof, for public use, parts thereof, for public use,  thereof, for public use, thereof, for public use,  for public use, for public use,  public use, public use,  use, use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land  the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land  lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land  and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land  effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land  of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land of any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land  any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land any special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land  special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land special assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land  assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land  and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land  that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land  the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land  amount of unpaid special assessments on such land amount of unpaid special assessments on such land  of unpaid special assessments on such land of unpaid special assessments on such land  unpaid special assessments on such land unpaid special assessments on such land  special assessments on such land special assessments on such land  assessments on such land assessments on such land  on such land on such land  such land such land  land land so dedicated, shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  dedicated, shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated dedicated, shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated remainder of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated of this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated this land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  land fronting or abutting on such dedicated land fronting or abutting on such dedicated  fronting or abutting on such dedicated fronting or abutting on such dedicated  or abutting on such dedicated or abutting on such dedicated  abutting on such dedicated abutting on such dedicated  on such dedicated on such dedicated  such dedicated such dedicated  dedicated dedicated public way or thoroughfare.  EXECUTION IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, undersigned proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this  TESTIMONY WHEREOF, undersigned proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this TESTIMONY WHEREOF, undersigned proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this  WHEREOF, undersigned proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this WHEREOF, undersigned proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this  undersigned proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this undersigned proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this  proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this proprietors has caused this instrument to be executed on this  has caused this instrument to be executed on this has caused this instrument to be executed on this  caused this instrument to be executed on this caused this instrument to be executed on this  this instrument to be executed on this this instrument to be executed on this  instrument to be executed on this instrument to be executed on this  to be executed on this to be executed on this  be executed on this be executed on this  executed on this executed on this  on this on this  this this _______________ day of ___________, 20___ Villa de Fontana, L.L.C. By: _________________________________                           Mark Simpson, Manager                        ACKNOWLEDGEMENT  STATE OF _____________ )                           ) SS  COUNTY OF ___________  )  BE IT REMEMBERED that on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the  IT REMEMBERED that on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the IT REMEMBERED that on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the  REMEMBERED that on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the REMEMBERED that on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the  that on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the that on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the  on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the  this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the this ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the  ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the ____________ day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the  day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the day of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the  of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the of _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the  _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the _______________ , 20_______ , before me, the  , 20_______ , before me, the , 20_______ , before me, the  20_______ , before me, the 20_______ , before me, the  , before me, the , before me, the  before me, the before me, the  me, the me, the  the the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana,  a Notary Public in and for said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana, a Notary Public in and for said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana,  Notary Public in and for said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana, Notary Public in and for said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana,  Public in and for said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana, Public in and for said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana,  in and for said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana, in and for said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana,  and for said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana, and for said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana,  for said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana, for said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana,  said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana, said County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana,  County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana, County and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana,  and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana, and State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana,  State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana, State, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana,  came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana, came Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana,  Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana, Mark Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana,  Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana, Simpson, Manager of Villa de Fontana,  Manager of Villa de Fontana, Manager of Villa de Fontana,  of Villa de Fontana, of Villa de Fontana,  Villa de Fontana, Villa de Fontana,  de Fontana, de Fontana,  Fontana, Fontana, L.L.C., who is personally known to me to be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on  who is personally known to me to be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on who is personally known to me to be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on  is personally known to me to be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on is personally known to me to be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on  personally known to me to be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on personally known to me to be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on  known to me to be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on known to me to be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on  to me to be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on to me to be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on  me to be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on me to be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on  to be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on to be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on  be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on be such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on  such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on such person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on  person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on person who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on  who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on who executed, as such officer, the within instrument on  executed, as such officer, the within instrument on executed, as such officer, the within instrument on  as such officer, the within instrument on as such officer, the within instrument on  such officer, the within instrument on such officer, the within instrument on  officer, the within instrument on officer, the within instrument on  the within instrument on the within instrument on  within instrument on within instrument on  instrument on instrument on  on on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of  of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of  said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of said company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of  company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of company, and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of  and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of and such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of  such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of such person duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of  person duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of person duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of  duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of  acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of  the execution of the same to be the act and deed of the execution of the same to be the act and deed of  execution of the same to be the act and deed of execution of the same to be the act and deed of  of the same to be the act and deed of of the same to be the act and deed of  the same to be the act and deed of the same to be the act and deed of  same to be the act and deed of same to be the act and deed of  to be the act and deed of to be the act and deed of  be the act and deed of be the act and deed of  the act and deed of the act and deed of  act and deed of act and deed of  and deed of and deed of  deed of deed of  of of the same.  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above  WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above  WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above  I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above  have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above  hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above  set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above  my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above  hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above  and affixed my official seal the day and year last above and affixed my official seal the day and year last above  affixed my official seal the day and year last above affixed my official seal the day and year last above  my official seal the day and year last above my official seal the day and year last above  official seal the day and year last above official seal the day and year last above  seal the day and year last above seal the day and year last above  the day and year last above the day and year last above  day and year last above day and year last above  and year last above and year last above  year last above year last above  last above last above  above above written. Notary Public:_____________________ My Appointment Expires:______________________________  Print Name:________________________________________  APPROVALS Approved by the Planning Commission of the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, this_____ day of____________ , 20____ .  _____________________________________  Marc E. Elkins, Chairman Approved by the Governing Body of the City of Leawood, Kansas, this _______ day of_______________ , 20_____.  _____________________________________               Attest:_________________________________ Peggy Dunn, Mayor                                       Debra Harper, City ClerkDebra Harper, City Clerk
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Description (Rezoning & Preliminary Plat) Lots 1 and 2 and Tracts A, B, C and D, The Villaggio at Leawood, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. EXCEPT that part platted as Gardens of Villaggio, Lots 1 thru 3 and Tract A, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. AND EXCEPT that part platted as Gardens of Villaggio, Second Plat, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas. AND EXCEPT A part of Lot 1, THE VILLAGGIO AT LEAWOOD, a subdivision in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas described as follows: Commencing at the Northwest corner of the Northeast Quarter of Section 33, Township 13 South, Range 25 East; thence along the North line of said Northeast Quarter of North 87 degrees 43 minutes 34 seconds East, a distance of 1073.24 feet; thence South 02 degrees 16 minutes 26 seconds East, 85.00 feet to a point on the South Right of Way line of 135th Street and being a point on the North line of said Lot 1, also being the Point of Beginning; thence North 87 degrees 43 minutes 34 seconds East along said lines, 118.66 feet to the Northwest corner of Tract B in said subdivision; thence South 47 degrees 05 minutes 49 seconds East along the Westerly line of said Tract B, 102.34 feet to a point on the West Right of Way line of Fontana Street also being a point on the East line of said Lot 1: thence South 01 degrees 55 minutes 13 seconds East along said lines, 248.18 feet; thence South 87 degrees 43 minutes 34 seconds West, 124.14 feet to a point of curvature; thence along a curve to the right with a radius of 150.00 feet and a distance of 67.37 feet; thence North 02 degrees 16 minutes 26 seconds West, 305.88 feet to the Point of Beginning, TOGETHER WITH: All of Lot 1 and part of Lot 2 and Tract A, GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a platted subdivision of land in the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, being more particularly described as follows: Beginning at the Southwest corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence N 13°43'34" E, along the Westerly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 236.66 feet to the Northwest plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence S 76°16'26" E, along the North plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 344.36 feet to the Northeast plat corner of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence S 13°43'34" W, along the Easterly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 91.91 feet; thence N 76°16'26" W, a distance of 162.58 feet; thence S 45°57'14" W, a distance of 67.09 feet; thence S 13°43'34" W, a distance of 88.00 feet to the South plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A; thence N 76°16'26" W, along the Southerly plat line of said GARDENS OF VILLAGGIO, LOTS 1 THRU 3 AND TRACT A, a distance of 146.00 feet to the point of beginning, containing 1.2351 acres, more or less, replatted land.
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BUILD A PART NUMBER

ORDERING EXAMPLE: 2A-1970LED-S-GR-4ARC45T5-MDL03-SV1-R7-PE-HSHN/CA6/5218P5/UBKT

Mounting  
Config. Fixture Shade 

Edge
Top 

Feature LED CCT Type Driver Lens
Optional 
Control 

Receptacle 

Optional 
Control

Option 
Fuse

Option 
Hang-

straight

Option 
House Side 

Shield

Arm
See Arm Spec 

Sheets

Pole
See Pole Spec 

Sheets
Finish

 

 

Mounting Configuration 

(Click here to link to mounting configuration specification page)

• 1W • 2A90 • 4A • SH441

• 1A • 3A • 1AM • CH441 
• 2A • 3A90 • 2AM • CAT
W = Wall Mount  A = Arm Mount  AM = Arm Mid-Mount   
SH = Stem Hung  CH = Chain Hung  CAT = Catenary 

1  Include overall drop length in inches after designation for Stem/
Chain application (IE: CH44-48”).

Fixture
• 1970LED
 
Shade Edge
• S (Straight Edge) • F (Flared Edge)

Top Feature
• BF (Base Fixture) 
• BT (Blank Top) 
• HW (Horizontal Window) 
• GW (Glow Window) 
• CW (Custom Window) 
• BTSR (Blank Top Solid Rings) 
• GTSR (Glow Top Solid Rings) 
• GR (Glow Rings, Clear) 

• GRB (Glow Rings, Blue) 
• GRG (Glow Rings, Green) 
• GRR (Glow Rings, Red)

LED
• 10ARC • 8ARC • 6ARC • 4ARC

CCT - Color Temperature (K)
• 45(00) • 35(00) • 27(00)

Type
• T2            • T3             • T3R            • T4           • T5

Driver
• MDL03 (120v-277v, 350Ma)      
• MDH03 (347v-480v, 350Ma) 

Lens
• FG (Flat Glass) 
• SG (Sag Glass) 
• FSG (Frosted Sag Glass) 
• SV1 (Flat Soft Vue Medium Diffused Acrylic Lens) 

• SV2 (Flat Soft Vue Heavy Diffused Acrylic Lens)

Options (Click here to view accessories sheet)

• R72  7-Pin control receptacle only 
• PE3  Twist-Lock Photocontrol (120v-277v) 
• PE33  Twist-Lock Photocontrol (347v) 
• PE43  Twist-Lock Photocontrol (480v) 
• SC3  Shorting Cap 
• PEC  Electronic Button Photocontrol (120v-277v) 
• PEC4  Electronic Button Photocontrol (480v) 
• FHD4  Double Fuse and Holder 
• HSHS   Standard Horizontal Hangstraight, Spike 

Finial
• HSHN   Standard Horizontal Hangstraight, No Finial
• HSHB   Standard Horizontal Hangstraight, Ball 

Finial
• EZ  Vertical Hangstraight, Large, “EZ” Mount 
• HSS  120° House Side Shield
2 Only available with HSH_.    
3 Requires control receptacle.    
4 Ships loose for installation in base.

Arm (Click here to link to arm specification page) 
See Arms & Wall Brackets specification sheets.
• CA • CSA • FFA • R25 
• DAG • RA • CAS • R35 

5  Luminaires above grade height to be 2’ higher than pole 
height, REQUIRES “EZ” hangstraight.

Pole (Click here to link to pole specification page)

See Pole specification sheets. 

Finish  

Standard Urban Finishes (Click here to view paint finish sheet)

• UGMT  Gun Metal Textured
• UGM  Gun Metal Matte
• UBT  Urban Bronze Textured
• UB  Urban Bronze Matte
• ULBT  Urban Light Bronze Textured
• ULB  Urban Light Bronze Matte 
• USLT  Urban Silver Textured
• USL  Urban Silver Matte
• UWHT  Urban White Textured
• UWH  Urban White Matte
• UCHS  Urban Champagne Satin Smooth
• BKT  Black Textured

Custom Urban Finishes6

• CM  Custom Match
6 Smooth finishes are available upon request.

Specifications
Fixture
The 1970LED Gallery series is a large scale, decora-
tive downlight fixture with a spun aluminum shade. The 
dome is available with two types of shades: straight (S) 
and flared (F) styles. The luminaire measures 24” out-
side diameter and 16-3/8” overall height. The Luminaire 
shall be UL listed in US and Canada.

LEDs
The luminaire shall use high output, high 
brightness LED’s. They shall be mounted in 
arrays, on printed circuit boards designed 
to maximize heat transfer to the heat sink 
surface. The arrays shall be roof mounted to 
minimize up-light. The LED’s and printed cir-
cuit boards shall be 100% recyclable; they shall 
also be protected from moisture and corrosion 
by a conformal coating of 1 to 3 mils. They shall 
not contain lead, mercury or any other hazard-
ous substances and shall be RoHS compliant. 
The LED life rating data shall be determined 
in accordance with IESNA LM-80. The High 
Performance white LED’s will have a life 
expectancy of approximately 100,000 hours 
with not less than 70% of original brightness 
(lumen maintenance), rated at 25°C. The High 
Brightness, High Output LED’s shall be 4500K 
(3500K or 2700K option) color temperature 
with a minimum CRI of 70. Consult factory for 
custom color CCT. The luminaire shall have a 
minimum ______ (see table) delivered initial 
lumen rating when operated at steady state 
with  an average ambient temperature of 25°C 
(77°F).
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See next page

1970LED GALLERY SERIES LED

JOB NAME

FIXTURE TYPE

MEMO

EPA
.93 (ft2)
WEIGHT
38 LBS

7 YEAR  
WARRANTY

LUMEN 
RANGE
5,075 to 
16,420

LIFE SPAN 
L70 
MINIMUM 
100,000 
HOURS

UL 
LISTED

CLICK  
FOR FAQ’s 

RATED  
IP65

65

http://www.sternberglighting.com/assets/1/7/MOUNTING_CONFIGURATION_SHEET.pdf
http://www.sternberglighting.com/assets/1/7/MOUNTING_CONFIGURATION_SHEET.pdf
http://www.sternberglighting.com/assets/1/7/CATALOG__ACCESSORIES_-_MK.pdf
http://www.sternberglighting.com/store/all-products/#Arms
http://www.sternberglighting.com/store/all-products/#Arms
http://www.sternberglighting.com/store/all-products/#OrnamentalPoles
http://www.sternberglighting.com/assets/1/7/URBAN-LINE_PAINT_COLORS.pdf
http://www.sternberglighting.com/faq/
smcmurray
Stamp
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550 CONCORD SERIES ARCHITECTURAL POLE

JOB NAME

FIXTURE TYPE

MEMO

Model
• 550
 
Shaft 
• T5: 5”-3” Tapered Smooth 
• T54: 5”-4” Tapered Smooth 
• P5: 5” Straight Smooth 
• FP51: 5” Straight Fluted 
1 Not available in .125 wall.

Height (in feet)
• 8 • 10 • 12 • 14 
• 16 • 18 • 20
 
Wall Thickness
• .125: 1/8” Wall Thickness
• .188: 3/16” Wall Thickness
• .250: 1/4” Wall Thickness

Post Center Cap (if required) 
(Click here to view post cap sheet)

• BCC      • FCC         • SCC           • TFCC 
• SSCC      • RCC         • PCC

Options (Click here to view accessories sheet)

• DB4   Direct Burial mounting style pole, with  
4’ direct burial section (or advise other 
length)

• HXB   Helix Base mounting style pole
• PCD   Electronic Button Photocontrol, mounted 

on an access door (120v-277v)
• PCD4   Electronic Button Photocontrol, mounted 

on an access door (480v)
• GFI LPIUC   15 Amp duplex GFCI receptacles 

with a low-profile in-use cover
• GFI IUC   15 Amp duplex GFCI receptacles with 

a standard in-use cover

• USB LPIUC   15 Amp duplex USB/Receptacle 
combo with a low-profile in-use 
cover (NON-GFI)

• USB IUC   15 Amp duplex USB/Receptacle 
combo with a standard in-use cover 
(NON-GFI)

• FH   Cast Aluminum flag holder mount, for use 
with 1” diameter flag pole

• SBA   Single Banner Arm, “PM” style mount
• DBA   Double Banner Arms, “PM” style mount
• SBAR   Single Banner Arm and Ring, for  

triangle banners, “PM” style mount
• HSBA   Single Banner Arm, HUB mount style 

mount
• HDBA   Double Banner Arms, HUB mount 

style mount
• BDBA6   Double Banner Arms, Break-Away 

style, to break with 60MPH wind 
gust

• BDBA9   Double Banner Arms, Break-Away 
style, to break with 90MPH wind 
gust

• C5SBA   Single Banner Arm, Clamp-Style 
mount, for 5” diameter poles

• C5DBA   Double Banner Arms at 180°, Clamp-
Style mount, for 5” diameter poles

• DHPA   Double Hooked Planter Arm
• SHPA   Single Hooked Planter Arm
• DSPA   Double Stepped Planter Arm
• SSPA   Single Stepped Planter Arm
• PA478   Cast aluminum decorative planter 

arm
• SA78   Small cast aluminum decorative sign 

arm, with 24” long channel for blade 
sign by others

• SA478   Large cast aluminum decorative sign 
arm, with 24” long channel for blade 
sign by others

• SABA   Banner arm style sign arm, with 24” 
long channel for blade sign by others

• SH   Female threaded speaker hub, advise 
thread size

• SB   Sign Bracket, vertically mounted on pole 
shaft

• WHK   Steel wreath hook

Finish
Standard Finishes2 (Click here to view paint finish sheet)

• BKT  Black Textured
• WHT  White Textured
• PGT  Park Green Textured
• ABZT  Architectural Medium Bronze Textured
• DBT  Dark Bronze Textured
2 Smooth finishes are available upon request. 

Sternberg Select Finishes

• VG  Verde Green
• SI  Swedish Iron
• OWGT  Old World Gray Textured
Standard Urban Finishes (Click here to view paint finish sheet)

• UGMT  Gun Metal Textured
• UGM  Gun Metal Matte
• UBT  Urban Bronze Textured
• UB  Urban Bronze Matte
• ULBT  Urban Light Bronze Textured
• ULB  Urban Light Bronze Matte
• USLT  Urban Silver Textured
• USL  Urban Silver Matte
• UWHT  Urban White Textured 
• UWH  Urban White Matte
• UCHS  Urban Champagne Satin Smooth
Custom Finishes3

• CM  Custom Match
• OI  Old Iron
• RT  Rust
• WBR  Weathered Brown
• CD  Cedar
• WBK  Weathered Black
• TT  Two Tone 
3 Custom colors require upcharge.

BUILD A PART NUMBER

ORDERING EXAMPLE: 550FP5-14-.188-BCC-GFILPIUC-SH/BKT

Base 
Model Shaft Height Wall 

Thickness

Post 
Center 

Cap

Option 
Burial

Option 
Photocell

Option 
Receptacle

Option 
Flag Pole 

Holder

Option 
Banner 
Arms

Option 
Planter 
Arms

Option 
Sign 
Arms

Option 
Speaker 

Hub

Option 
Sign 

Bracket

Option Steel 
Wreath 
Hook

Finish

 

DIMENSIONS
12” Ø
4” TALL

5 YEAR  
WARRANTY

UL  
LISTED

ETL  
LISTED

CLICK  
FOR FAQ’s

http://www.sternberglighting.com/assets/1/7/POST_CAPS.pdf
http://www.sternberglighting.com/assets/1/7/CATALOG__ACCESSORIES_-_MK.pdf
http://www.sternberglighting.com/assets/1/7/Paint.pdf
http://www.sternberglighting.com/assets/1/7/URBAN-LINE_PAINT_COLORS.pdf
https://www.sternberglighting.com/faq/
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550 CONCORD SERIES ARCHITECTURAL POLE

Shaft
The straight smooth shaft shall be made of 
ASTM 6063 extruded aluminum and tempered 
to a T6 condition.
The tapered smooth shaft shall be made of 
ASTM 6063 extruded aluminum and tempered 
to a T6 condition.
The straight fluted shaft will have a 12 Flat 
Flute profile and shall be made of ASTM 6061 
extruded aluminum and tempered to a T6 
condition.

Installation
Four 3/4” diameter, hot-dipped galvanized “L” 
type anchor bolts shall be provided with the 

post for anchorage, they shall be mounted in 
a 8-5/16” bolt circle. Post will be provided with 
an access door which shall be secured with 
stainless steel hardware, includes a grounding 
stud behind the access door. 

Warranty  

Five-year limited warranty. See product and  
finish warranty guide for details. 

Finish 

Refer to website for details. 

Specifications

Construction
The base shall be made of heavy wall, 356 alloy 
cast aluminum. It shall have a 3/4” thick floor 
cast as an integral part of the base. It shall have 
a cast anchor bolt cover designed with a curved 
relief. The shaft shall be double circumferentially 
welded internally and externally to the base for 
added strength.

Tenon
Standard tenon size to be 3” OD x 3” tall. Con-
sult factory for additional sizes.

4”

10”

12”

ACCESS DOOR

450FP4 450P4 450T4-3 550FP5 550P5 550T5-3450FP4 450P4 450T4-3 550FP5 550P5 550T5-3450FP4 450P4 450T4-3 550FP5 550P5 550T5-3450FP4 450P4 450T4-3 550FP5 550P5 550T5-3

450FP4 450P4 450T4-3 550FP5 550P5 550T5-3

450FP4 450P4 450T4-3 550FP5 550P5 550T5-3
450FP4 450P4 450T4-3 550FP5 550P5 550T5-3

STRAIGHT 
FLUTED 
SHAFT

STRAIGHT 
SMOOTH 

SHAFT

TAPERED 
SMOOTH 

SHAFT

8-5/16” DIA BOLT CIRCLE



POLE HEIGHT 90 MPH 100 MPH 110 MPH 120 MPH 130 MPH 140 MPH 150 MPH

FP5 5” Straight Fluted Pole - 0.188” Wall Thickness
8 17.30 13.76 11.15 9.15 7.60 6.37 5.38

10 13.44 10.56 8.43 6.82 5.56 4.56 3.75
12 10.68 8.25 6.46 5.10 4.04 3.20 2.52
14 8.56 6.47 4.92 3.75 2.83 2.10 1.52
16 6.87 5.03 3.67 2.63 1.82 1.18 0.67

FP5 5” Straight Fluted Pole - 0.25” Wall Thickness
12 14.25 11.15 8.86 7.11 5.75 4.67 3.80
14 11.65 8.97 6.99 5.48 4.31 3.38 2.63
16 9.59 7.23 5.49 4.16 3.13 2.31 1.65
18 7.88 5.78 4.22 3.04 2.12 1.38 0.79
20 6.44 4.54 3.13 2.06 1.23 0.57

P5 5” Straight Smooth Shaft - 0.125” Wall Thickness
8 11.88 9.56 7.85 6.56 5.55 4.76 4.12

10 9.18 7.36 6.02 5.01 4.22 3.60 3.11
12 7.25 5.78 4.70 3.88 3.26 2.76 2.37
14 5.77 4.56 3.68 3.02 2.51 2.11 1.79
16 4.58 3.58 2.85 2.31 1.90 1.58 1.32

P5 5” Straight Smooth Shaft - 0.188” Wall Thickness
10 13.86 11.15 9.15 7.64 6.47 5.54 4.79
12 11.20 8.97 7.34 6.10 5.15 4.39 3.79
14 9.18 7.32 5.96 4.93 4.14 3.52 3.02
16 7.58 6.01 4.86 4.00 3.33 2.81 2.40
18 6.26 4.92 3.95 3.22 2.66 2.23 1.88

P5 5” Straight Smooth Shaft - 0.25” Wall Thickness
12 14.77 11.87 9.73 8.11 6.86 5.87 5.08
14 12.27 9.82 8.03 6.67 5.62 4.79 4.13
16 10.29 8.21 6.68 5.53 4.64 3.94 3.38
18 8.68 6.89 5.57 4.58 3.83 3.23 2.76
20 7.33 5.77 4.64 3.79 3.14 2.63 2.23

T5-3 5”- 3” Smooth Tapered Shaft - 0.125” Wall Thickness
8 6.65 5.25 4.29 3.56 3.00 2.55 2.20

10 4.95 3.83 3.10 2.55 2.13 1.79 1.53
12 3.70 2.78 2.21 1.79 1.47 1.22 1.02
14 2.71 1.94 1.51 1.19 0.95 0.76 0.61

T5-3 5”- 3” Smooth Tapered Shaft - 0.188” Wall Thickness
10 7.72 6.08 4.96 4.11 3.46 2.94 2.53
12 6.03 4.67 3.78 3.11 2.59 2.19 1.86
14 4.73 3.58 2.86 2.32 1.91 1.59 1.34
16 3.67 2.68 2.10 1.68 1.35 1.10 0.90

T5-3 5”- 3” Smooth Tapered Shaft - 0.25” Wall Thickness
12 8.15 6.39 5.20 4.30 3.61 3.06 2.63
14 6.56 5.06 4.08 3.35 2.79 2.35 2.00
16 5.28 3.99 3.18 2.58 2.12 1.77 1.48
18 4.22 3.09 2.42 1.93 1.56 1.27 1.05

EPA Chart - AASHTO 2009

* Consult factory for other heights. 
** All EPA values expressed in square feet.  
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POLE HEIGHT 90 MPH 100 MPH 110 MPH 120 MPH 130 MPH 140 MPH 150 MPH

T5-4 5”- 4” Smooth Tapered Shaft - 0.125” Wall Thickness
8 6.60 5.28 4.31 3.58 3.02 2.57 2.22

10 4.88 3.87 3.14 2.58 2.16 1.82 1.55
12 3.62 2.83 2.26 1.83 1.51 1.25 1.05
14 2.61 2.00 1.56 1.23 0.99 0.80 0.65

T5-4 5”- 4” Smooth Tapered Shaft - 0.188” Wall Thickness
10 7.66 6.12 4.99 4.14 3.48 2.97 2.55
12 5.95 4.72 3.82 3.15 2.63 2.22 1.89
14 4.63 3.64 2.91 2.37 1.95 1.63 1.38
16 3.56 2.75 2.16 1.73 1.40 1.14 0.94
18 2.66 2.00 1.53 1.18 0.93 0.73 0.57

T5-4 5”- 4” Smooth Tapered Shaft - 0.25” Wall Thickness
12 8.07 6.44 5.24 4.34 3.64 3.10 2.66
14 6.46 5.12 4.14 3.40 2.83 2.39 2.03
16 5.17 4.05 3.24 2.64 2.17 1.81 1.52
18 4.09 3.16 2.49 1.99 1.61 1.32 1.09
20 3.17 2.40 1.84 1.44 1.13 0.90 0.71

EPA Chart - AASHTO 2009

* Consult factory for other heights. 
** All EPA values expressed in square feet.  
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Optics
The luminaire shall be provided with individual, 
refractor type optics applied to each LED. The 
luminaire shall provide Type ___ (2, 3, 3R, 4 or 
5) light distribution per the IESNA classifica-
tions. Testing shall be done in accordance with 
IESNA LM-79.

Electronic Drivers 
The LED driver shall be U.L. Recognized. It shall 
be securely mounted inside the fixture, for 
optimized performance and longevity. It shall 
be supplied with a quick-disconnect electrical 
connector on the power supply, providing easy 
power connections and fixture installation. It 
shall have overload, overheat and short circuit 
protection, and have a DC voltage output, 
constant current design, 50/60HZ. It shall 
be supplied with line-ground, line-neutral and 
neutral-ground electrical surge protection in ac-
cordance with IEEE/ANSI C62.41.2 guidelines. It 
shall be a high efficiency driver with a THD less 

than 20% and a high power factor greater than 
.9. It shall be dimming capable using a 0-10v 
signal, consult factory for more information.

Photocontrols
Button Style: The photocontrol shall be 
mounted on the fixture and pre-wired to driver. 
The electronic button type photocontrol is 
instant on with a 5-10 second turn off, and shall 
turn on at 1.5 footcandles with a turn-off at 2-3 
footcandles. Photocontrol is 120-277 volt and 
warranted for 6 years. See pole spec sheet for 
pole mounted version.

Twist-Lock Style: The photocontrol shall be 
mounted externally on the hangstraight and 
pre-wired to driver. The twist lock type photo-
control is instant on with a 3-6 second turn off, 
and shall turn on at 1.5 footcandles with a turn-
off at 2-3 footcandles. Photocontrol is 120-277 
volt and warranted for 6 years.

Warranty
Seven-year limited warranty. See product and 
finish warranty guide for details.

Finish  
Refer to website for details.            
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1970LED GALLERY SERIES LED

MODEL #
T2 

DELIVERED 
LUMENS

EFFICACY 
(LPW)

T3 DELIVERED 
LUMENS

EFFICACY 
(LPW)

T3R 
DELIVERED     

LUMENS

EFFICACY 
(LPW)

T4 DELIVERED     
LUMENS

EFFICACY 
(LPW)

T5 DELIVERED 
LUMENS

EFFICACY 
(LPW) WATTS

10ARC27-MD_03 12805 81.1 12115 76.7 12400 78.5 12505 79.2 12410 78.6 158

10ARC35-MD_03 14615 92.5 13825 87.5 14145 89.6 14270 90.3 14165 89.7 158

10ARC45-MD_03 16420 103.9 15534 98.3 15895 100.6 16030 101.5 15916 100.7 158

8ARC27-MD_03 10163 82.0 9635 77.7 9860 79.5 9935 80.2 9865 79.6 124

8ARC35-MD_03 11595 93.5 10995 88.7 11250 90.7 11340 91.5 11255 90.8 124

8ARC45-MD_03 13025 105.1 12350 99.6 12640 102.0 12740 102.8 12645 102.0 124

6ARC27-MD_03 7630 81.2 7115 75.7 7370 78.4 7505 79.9 7355 78.3 94

6ARC35-MD_03 8705 92.6 8120 86.4 8410 89.5 8560 91.1 8390 89.3 94

6ARC45-MD_03 9785 104.1 9120 97.1 9450 100.5 9620 102.4 9430 100.3 94

4ARC27-MD_03 5370 82.6 5075 78.1 5200 80.0 5225 80.4 5240 80.6 65

4ARC35-MD_03 6125 94.3 5790 89.1 5930 91.3 5960 91.7 5980 92.0 65

4ARC45-MD_03 6880 105.9 6505 100.1 6665 102.6 6695 103.1 6715 103.4 65

    

Performance



6/18 STERNBERG LIGHTING. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. PRINTED IN THE USA.

800-621-3376
555 Lawrence Ave., Roselle, IL 60172

info@sternberglighting.com
www.sternberglighting.com

1970LED GALLERY SERIES LED

BF = BASE FIXTURE

GR = GLOW RINGS

CW = CUSTOM WINDOW DESIGNS GW = GLOW WINDOW BTSR = BLANK TOP SOLID RINGS

HW = HORIZONTAL WINDOW GTSR = GLOW TOP SOLID RINGS

BT = BLANK TOP

24” W 

1970LED-S-BF-FG 1970LED-S-BF-SG 1970LED-F-BF-FG

24” W 24” W 

19-1/2”

24” W 

1970LED-S-GR-FG

23-1/8”

24” W 

1970LED-F-CW-FG

23-1/8”

24” W 

1970LED-S-GW-FG

23-1/8”

24” W 

1970LED-F-BTSR-FG

23-1/8”

24” W 

1970LED-S-HW-FG

23-1/8”

24” W 

1970LED-S-GTSR-FG

23-1/8”

21-3/8” 19-1/2”

1970LED-F-BF-SG

24” W 

21-3/8”

1970LED-S-BT-FG

24” W 

23-1/8”

Fixtures

Other Options

R-PE

PEC

Twist-lock  
receptacle with photocell 

Electronic  
button  
photocell 



Arms and Accessory

OFPT

Orientation

0

See Specification Sheet

Access Door Orientation:
Street Side Orientation:

0°
180°
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CONCEPTUAL ASSEMBLY DRAWING, SUBJECT TO ENGINEERING VERIFICATION BY THE FACTORY

   NUMBER OF ARMS: 2A-
Number of Arms: Two Arms at 180 Degrees (2A)

   ARM ROADWAY FIXTURE: 1970LED
The 1970 Gallery series is a versatile downlight fixture featuring many options and a
choice of straight or flared shades.

Shade Style:
Body Style:

Straight (S) (S-)
Base Fixture (BF)

   LIGHT SOURCE: -8ARC35T5-MDL03-SV2
Array:
Color Temp:
Distribution:
Driver:
Lens:

8ARC (112 LEDS, 127 Watts) (8ARC)
3500K (35)
Type 5 (T5)
Multi-Volt Dimmable Low-Range Driver - 120-277V, 350 mA (MDL03)
Flat Soft Vue Heavy Diffused Acrylic (SV2)

   ROADWAY OPTIONS: -R7-PE-FHD-EZ
Control
Receptacle:
Control:
Fuse:
Hangstraight:

Rotolock Receptacle with 7-Pin Connector (R7)
Rotolock Photocell 120-277V (PE)
Dual Fuse & Holder (FHD)
EZ Vertical (EZ)

   ARM: OFPT

   POLE: /3120ARSS/
The Rockford is a clam shell style cast 16" diameter cast aluminum pole base. Throat
Size 8".

Model:
Height:
Pole Shaft
Material:
Shaft Type:

3101SS Roadway (/31)
20 Ft (20)
Aluminum (A)
Round Smooth Straight (RSS)

   FINISH: PG
Assembly shall be powder coated to Park Green Smooth finish. Prior to coating, the
assembly shall be chemically cleaned and etched in a 5-stage washing system which
includes alkaline cleaning, rinsing, phosphoric etching, reverse osmosis water rinsing,
and non-chrome sealing to ensure corrosion resistance.
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SPECIFICATIONS

5 "  ROUND STRAIGHT ALUMINUM 

5 "  D IAME TER ,  E X TRUDED  FROM  6063  ALLOY  ALUM INUM  TUB ING .  H EAT  TR EA TED  TO  
P RO DUCE  A  T6  TE MPER .  SHAFT  I N CLUDES  A  PER I PHERALLY  RE I NFORCED  H A ND  HOLE  
FURN I S HED  W I TH  CO V ER .  SHAFT  I S  FURN I SHED  W I TH  GROUND  LUG  LOCATED  ON  C A S T  
ALUM INUM  BAS E  PLATE .

C A S T  A L U M I N U M  C O N S T R U C T E D  O F  A - 3 5 6  A L U M I N U M  A L L O Y  H E A T  T R E A T E D  T O  
P RO DUCE  A  T6  TE MPER .  S TRUCTURALLY  ENG I NEERED  BASE  I N CLUDES  E I GHT  HEA VY  
WALL  RE INFORC ING  VERT I CAL  GUSSETS .  BASE  TELESCOPES  AND  I S  C IRCUMFERENT IALLY  
WE LDE D  TO  S HAFT  AT  BOTH  THE  OUTS I DE  TOP  AND  I NS I D E  BOTTOM  OF  THE  BA S E .

( 4 )  A N C H O R  B O L T S  F A B R I C A T E D  F R O M  H O T  R O L L E D  S T E E L  B A R ,  M I N I M U M  Y I E L D  
S TRENGTH  OF  50 , 000  P . S . I .  BOLTS  HAVE  " L "  B END  ON  ONE  END  AND  ARE  THR EA D ED  ON  
THE  O THER  E ND .  BO LTS  ARE  FULLY  GALVAN I ZED  AND  ARE  FURN I SHED  W I TH  TWO  NUTS  
AND  TWO  WAS HE RS .

F A B R I C A T E D  F R O M  H E A V Y  W A L L  A L U M I N U M  C O N S T R U C T I O N .  T W O  P I E C E  C O V E R  
ENT I RE LY  CO NCE ALS  BASE .

P OLYES TE R  POWDE R  COAT -STATE  OF  THE  ART  20  PS I  PRESSURE  POWER  WA S H  A T  
1 4 0 ˚  T E M P E R A T U R E  I N C O R P O R A T E S  F O U R  S T E P  I R O N  P H O S P H A T E  P R O C E S S  T O  
C L E A N S E  A N D  P R E T R E A T  T H E  M E T A L  S U R F A C E  F O R  M A X I M U M  P A I N T  A D H E S I O N .  
E L ECTROS TAT I CALLY  APPL I ED  T EXTURED  POLYESTER  POWDER  TOPCOAT  I S  B A KED  A T  
400 ˚  T E MPERATURE  FOR  MAX IMUM  HARDNESS  AND  EXTER I OR  DURAB I L I TY .

          SHAFT:

BASE PLATE:

ANCHORAGE:

BASE COVER:

FINISH:

5"

HEIGHT

RNTA  5 "

F1-35

660 WEST AVENUE O, PALMDALE, CA.  93551
(661) 233-2000

FAX NO. (661) 233-2001
www.usal tg.com

LIGHTING
U.S. ARCHITECTURAL



POLE
HEIGHT

ANCHORAGEBOLT
CIRCLE

WALL
THICKNESS

105-125 10' .125 11¾" 3/4"X24"X3"
125-125 12' .125 11¾" 3/4"X24"X3"
145-125 14' .125 11¾" 3/4"X24"X3"
145-188 14' .188 11¾" 3/4"X24"X3"
165-125 16' .125 11¾" 3/4"X24"X3"
165-188 16' .188 11¾" 3/4"X24"X3"
185-125 18' .125 11¾" 3/4"X24"X3"
185-188 18' .188 11¾" 3/4"X24"X3"
205-188

OTHER HEIGHTS SPECIFY_______

20' .188 11¾" 3/4"X24"X3"

11¾" DIA. 
BOLT CIRCLE

5"

HEIGHT

18"

HAND 
HOLE

BOLT
PROJECTION

BOLT  PROJECTION
ABOVE GRADE

MINIMUM.........3¼"
MAXIMUM.......3¾"

OTHER TENON MT  _____

2  3/8"X4" TENON
PT23

2  7/8"X4" TENON
PT27

4-90....

1............

2-180..

2-90........

3-90....

3-120...

DRILL MOUNT

RNTA SERIES 
ENGINEERING DATA

Maximum EPA - Square Feet

Catalog
Number

Maximum
Fixt. wgt.

100 MPH 90 MPH 80 MPH 70 MPH

RNTA 105-125 175 8.7 10.8 13.9 18.8
RNTA 125-125 175 6.8 8.3 10.6 14.6
RNTA 145-125 175 4.4 5.5 7.1 9.9
RNTA 145-188 250 8.3 10.3 13.4 18.1
RNTA 165-125 100 3.2 4.0 5.2 7.3
RNTA 165-188 200 5.4 6.6 8.5 11.7
RNTA 185-125 100 2.2 2.9 3.8 5.6
RNTA 185-188 200 4.1 5.2 6.7 9.5
RNTA 205-188 200 3.1 4.0 5.2 7.6

R
N
T
A

MODEL
NO. : FINISHPOLES MOUNTING OPTIONS

F1-36

ORDERING INFORMATION
MODEL
NO. :

SNOITPOHSINIFGNITNUOMSELOP

RNTA

  All above design calculations are based on sustained wind forces
 plus additional 1.3 wind gust

(Example:  Pole rated at 80 MPH withstands 104 MPH gusts)
  

3 WAY ADAPTER
T3120
4 WAY ADAPTER
T490

ROUND BASE COVER
RBC

1/2'' COUPLING
CPLN1/2
3/4'' COUPLING
CPLN3/4
2'' COUPLING
CPLN2

(SPECIFY COUPLING LOCATION)

DUPLEX RECEPTACLE
DUP
GFI  RECEPTACLE 
GFI

3-120
REQUIRES

PT27
AND

T3120
ADAPTER

2-90, 3-90, 4-90
REQUIRES

PT27
AND
T490

ADAPTER SEE ACCESSORIES SECTION
FOR OTHER OPTIONS.

660 WEST AVENUE O, PALMDALE, CA.  93551
(661) 233-2000

FAX NO. (661) 233-2001
www.usal tg.com

LIGHTING
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WHITE
RAL-9003-S

GREEN
RAL-6005-S

GREY
RAL-7004-S

BLACK
RAL-9005-S

DRK BRONZE
RAL-8019-S

STANDARD
SMOOTH FINISH

BRONZE
ANODIZED
AZ313
NATURAL
ANODIZED
AZ
BLACK
ANODIZED
AZBK

OPTION:

FOR TEXTURED 
FINISH REPLACE 
SUFFIX “S” WITH 

SUFFIX “T”
(EXAMPLE: 
RAL-9005-T)

CONSULT FACTORY 
FOR CUSTOM 

COLORS



XPK
S
C
A

L
E
: 
 3

/4
"=

1'
-0

"

D URABLE  CO R R O S IO N  R E S I S TANT ,  CAST  AND  EXTRUDED  ALUM INUM  

CONSTRU CT I O N .

24"

  53"

42"

42"

XPK-1
E.P.A.= 0.73

XPK-2-180
E.P.A.= 1.86

XPK-WM

3" I.D.

3" I.D.

21 ½"

25"

18 ¼"

(4) ½" DIA.
HOLES

4 ½"
3"

F2-7

1WM 4-904-903-1202-180

15/8
" O.D. ALUMINUM 

WITH W.P. CAST 
ALUMINUM COVER  

660 WEST AVENUE O, PALMDALE, CA.  93551
(661) 233-2000

FAX NO. (661) 233-2001
www.usal tg.com



FEATURES

Luminaire
Upper housing is heavy gauge cast aluminum (min. .125" wall; 
alloy >0.2% Cu for DSAP25) or spun aluminum with reveal (.125" 
min. wall for DSAP20).  Lower housing is 0.080" thick spun aluminum 
with integrated LED module seat.  Lower housing is vented at top 
and bottom for convective cooling of LED module.  Top Driver 
chamber is barriered from LED Module chamber.  Trulevel ball 
coupling mount is welded to housing and facilitates quick leveling 
and installation.
 
           Optics
Low copper (A356 Alloy; <0.2% Cu) cast aluminum housing. 
Integrated clear tempered glass lens sealed with a continuous 
silicone gasket protects emitters (LED's),  Reflector-Prism optics, and 
seals the module from water intrusion and environmental 
contaminants. Module is sealed to meet an IP67 rating. Each 
emitter is optically controlled by a Reflector-Prism injection molded 
from H12 acrylic (3 types per module; one from 0° - 50°; one from 
50° - 65°; one from 65° - 72°). Each Reflector-Prism is secured to an 
optical plate made of matte black anodized aluminum has 
indexing pins for precise aiming. The optical plate locates every 
Reflector-Prism over an emitter, are inserted to the optical plate 
from above and are secured with a UV curing adhesive. The 
Reflector-Prisms are arrayed to produce IES Type II, III, IV, and V-SQ 
distributions. The entire Optical Module is field rotatable in 90° 
increments. Both module and drivers are factory wired using water 
resistant, insulated cord. 

LED Emitters
High output LED's are utilized with drive currents ranging from 
350mA to 700mA. 70CRI Minimum. LED’s are available in standard 
Neutral White (4000K), or optional Cool White (5000K) or Warm 
White (3000K). Consult Factory for other LED options.  

LED Driver
Constant current programmable electronic with a power factor of 
>.90 and a minimum operating temperature of -40°F/-40°C. 
Driver(s) is/are UL and cUL recognized. In-line terminal blocks 
facilitate wiring between the driver and optical arrays. Drivers 
accept an input of 120-277V, 50/60Hz or 347V-480V, 50,60Hz. (0 - 
10V dimmable driver is standard. Driver has a minimum of 3KV 
internal surge protection. Luminaire supplied with 20KV surge 
protector for field installation.)

Amber LED’s
PCA (Phosphor Converted Amber) LED’s utilize phosphors to create 
color output similar to LPS lamps and have a slight output in the 
blue spectral bandwidth. TRA (True Amber) LED’s utilize material 
that emits light in the amber spectral bandwidth only without the 
use of phosphors.

Finish
Polyester powder coat incorporates four step iron phosphate 
process to pretreat  metal surface for maximum adhesion. Top 
coat is baked at 400°F for maximum hardness and exterior 
durability.

DSAP25 
Patent pending

DSAP20
Patent pending(Formerly DSAP1)

®

25"
(635mm)

18.5"
(470mm)

20"
(508mm)

16.5"
(419mm)

SOLID STATE AREA L IGHTING

DSAP SERIES - VLED
PROJECT NAME:

FIXTURE TYPE:

660 West Avenue O, Palmdale, CA 93551
Phone (661) 233-2000  Fax (661) 233-2001
www.usaltg.com

U.S. Pole Co Inc. 2020058

https://twitter.com/USA_SVL
http://www.usaltg.com
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ziCrtfyQCt0&feature=youtu.be
http://www.usaltg.com/Products/Lums/DSAP.html


SPECIFICATIONS

DSAP25 E.P.A.= 1.23
Available in:
120  LED Module Max

.50" dia. 
(13mm)
(4) holes

5.5"
(140mm)

5.5"
(140mm)

7" sq.
 (178mm)

Fixture

DSAP25 18"
(457mm)

A B

18.5"
(470mm)

25"
(635mm)

DSAP20 14"
(356mm)

C

B

C

A

Wall Plate

Wall Mount          Modules

XPD
3" I.D.

Arms are heavy wall extruded aluminum 
construction. For additional arm options see 
arm section.

XPS

24"
(610mm)

42"
(1067mm)

42"
(1067mm)

3" I.D.

24"
(610mm)

XPK

42"
(1067mm)

3" I.D.

24"
(610mm)

Mounting Styles

DSAP20 E.P.A.= 0.77
Available in:
80 LED Module Max

Extruded aluminum arm and cast aluminum 
wall bracket assembly provided with built in 
gasketed wire access for fixture/supply wire 
connection.

20"
(508mm)

16.5"
(419mm)

ORDERING INFORMATION Spec/Order Example:  DSAP25/VLED-III-W/80LED-525mA/NW/277/1/RAL-7005-S

®

®

80 LED Module

120 LED Module

WM

Wallmount

1

XPK   

XPD   

XPS   

DSAP20-VLED
(Formerly DSAP1)

DSAP25-VLED

Dark Bronze
RAL-8019-T

Green
RAL-6005-T

White
RAL-9003-T

Grey
RAL-7004-T

Black
RAL-9005-T

See USALTG.COM for
additional arm styles 

Other LED Colors
Available

Consult Factory

# of LEDs

DSAP25

100LED1

80LED

64LED

120LED1

DSAP20

80LED1

64LED

48LED

Color
Temp - CCT

Drive
Current

NW (4000K)*
*Standard

CW (5000K)

WW (3000K)

120

208

240

347

480

277

Luminaire

Luminaire Optics LED Voltage Mounting Finish Options

Optics LED Mode MountingVoltage Finish Options

Type III 
VLED-III  

 

Type II 
VLED-II

Type IV
VLED-IV  

Type V Med.
VLED-V-SQ 

Standard
Textured Finish

700mA

525mA

350mA

Amber2

Phosphor 
Converted 
Amber
PCA

True Amber1

TRA

NOTES:

1 - Available in 350mA & 525mA Drive Currents 
     only 

2 - Narrow band Ambers have no definable CCT 
     equivalent

For smooth finish 
replace suffix “T”

with suffix “S”
(Example: RAL-9500-S)

Consult factor for 
custom colors

Photo Cell + Voltage
(Example: PC120V)

Double Fuse
(208V, 240V)

Single Fuse
(120V, 277V)

Internal House Side Shields
inc. LED Count
(Example: HS-VLED/48)

Twist Lock Receptable
Only

High-Low Dimming for 
Switch by Others/Select 
Levels 50/100 or 25/100
(Example: HLSW/25)

7-Pin Twist Lock
Receptable Only

PC+V

SF

DF

HS-VLED

TPR

HLSW

TPR7

Stem Mount + Length(in)
(48" Max)

Chain Mount + Length(in)
(48" Max)

SM+L

CM+L

Remote Motion Sensor
Configurator

Programmable Photo/
Motion Sensor
(Factory - Motion 50/100;
Photo 75fc)

MS-FC10

MS-F211

IES Distribution Type
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LED
Count

Source
Type Source

Initial
Lumens - 

5000K CCT

Initial
Lumens - 

3000K CCT

Initial
Lumens - 

4000K CCT
L70 greater
than (HR)

Starting
Temp.

System 
Watts Volts Max

Input Amps

DSAP20

48 White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

White
LED

6169 -
6558

5860 -
6230

6478 -
6886 90,000+ 53/59

48 8494 -
9031

8069 -
8579

8919 -
9482 90,000+ 77/83

48 10635 -
11307

10103 -
10742

11167 -
11872 90,000+ 103/109

64 8225 -
8338

7813 -
7921

8636 -
8755 90,000+ 69/75

64 11325 -
11481

10759 -
10907

11891 -
12055 90,000+ 102/108

80 9675 -
9808

9191 -
9317

10159 -
10298 90,000+ 87/93

80 13189 -
13370

12529 -
12701

13848 -
14038 90,000+ 127/133

48 6169 - 
6558

5860 - 
6230

6478 -
6886 90,000+ 53/59

48 8494 -
9031

8069 - 
8579

8919 -
9482 90,000+ 75/81

48 10635 -
11307

10103 -
10742

11167 -
11872 90,000+ 105/111

64 8225 - 
8745

7813 -
8308

8636 -
9183 90,000+ 71/77

64 11325 -
12042

10759 - 
11440

11891 -
12644 90,000+ 103/109

64 13190 -
13824

12531 -
13133

13849 -
14516 90,000+ 140/146

80 9675 -
10286

9191 -
9772

10159 -
10801 90,000+ 87/93

80 13189 -
14023

12529 -
13322

13848 -
14724 90,000+ 127/133

80 16487 -
17280

15662 -
16416

17311 -
18144 90,000+ 173/179

100 11776 -
12304

11187 -
11689

12365 -
12919 90,000+ 108/114

100 16291 -
17025

15476 -
16174

17106 -
17877 90,000+ 160/166

120 14129 -
14765

13423 -
14027

14836 -
15503 90,000+ 129/135

0.44/0.49
0.19/0.21
0.15/0.17

0.64/0.69
0.28/0.3
0.22/0.24

0.86/0.91
0.37/0.39
0.3/0.31

0.58/0.63
0.25/0.27
0.2/0.22

0.85/0.9
0.37/0.39
0.29/0.31

0.73/0.78
0.31/0.34
0.25/0.27

1.06/1.11
0.46/0.48
0.37/0.38

0.44/0.49
0.19/0.21
0.15/0.17

0.63/0.68
0.27/0.29
0.22/0.23

0.88/0.93
0.38/0.4
0.3/0.32

0.59/0.64
0.26/0.28
0.2/0.22

0.86/0.91
0.37/0.39
0.3/0.31

1.17/1.22
0.51/0.53
0.4/0.42

0.73/0.78
0.31/0.34
0.25/0.27

1.06/1.11
0.46/0.48
0.37/0.38

1.44/1.49
0.62/0.65
0.5/0.52

0.9/0.95
0.39/0.41
0.31/0.33

1.33/1.38
0.58/0.6
0.46/0.48

1.08/1.13
0.47/0.49 
0.37/0.39

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C48 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

48 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

48 VLED® Optical
Module – 700mA

64 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

64 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

80 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

80 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

48 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

48 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

48 VLED® Optical
Module – 700mA

64 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

64 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

64 VLED® Optical
Module – 700mA

80 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

80 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

80 VLED® Optical
Module – 700mA

100 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

100 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

120 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

DSAP25

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

White
LED120 19549 - 

20430
18572 - 
19408

20527 - 
21451 90,000+ 192/198

1.6/1.65
0.69/0.71
0.55/0.57

120 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

-40°C
120
277
347
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LED
Count

Source
Type Source Initial Lumens L70 greater

than (HR)
Starting
Temp.

System 
Watts Volts Max

Input Amps

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

48

DSAP25

   PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

PC Amber

59

86

115

80

114

97

142

 60

84

118

80

116

157

98

142

194

121

179

0.49
0.21
0.17

0.72
0.31
0.25

0.96
0.42
0.33

0.67
0.29
0.23

0.95
0.41
0.33

0.81
0.35
0.28

1.18
0.51
0.41

0.50
0.22
0.17

0.70
0.30
0.24

0.98
0.43
0.34

0.67
0.29
0.23

0.97
0.42
0.33

1.31
0.57
0.45

0.82
0.35
0.28

1.18
0.51
0.41

1.62
0.70
0.56

1.01
0.44
0.35

1.49
0.65
0.52

6859 - 7189

5031 - 5349

6858 - 7292

8573 - 8986

6124 - 6398

8471 - 8853

3208 - 3410

4417 - 4696

5530 - 5880

4277 - 4547

5889 - 6262

3208 - 3410

4417 - 4696

5530 - 5880

4277 - 4547

5889 - 6262

5031 - 5349

6858 - 7292

48

48

48

64

64

80

80

48

48

64

64

64

80

80

80

100

100

48 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

48 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

48 VLED® Optical
Module – 700mA

64 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

64 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

80 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

80 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

48 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

48 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

48 VLED® Optical
Module – 700mA

64 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

64 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

64 VLED® Optical
Module – 700mA

80 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

80 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

80 VLED® Optical
Module – 700mA

100 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

100 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+

51,000+ -40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

-40°C

DSAP20

Phosphor Converted Amber LED

PC Amber

PC Amber

145

215

1.21
0.52
0.42

1.79
0.78
0.62

10166 - 10624

7347 - 7678120

120 120 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

120 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

51,000+

51,000+ -40°C

-40°C
120
277
347

120
277
347
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LED
Count

Source
Type Source Initial Lumens L70 greater

than (HR)
Starting
Temp.

System 
Watts Volts Max

Input Amps

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

120
277
347

DSAP20

True Amber LED - 590nm

 41

60

55

80

66

98

41

58

55

80

67

98

83

123

99

148

0.34
0.15
0.12

0.50
0.22
0.17

0.46
0.20
0.16

0.67
0.29
0.23

0.55
0.24
0.19

0.82
0.35
0.28

0.34
0.15
0.12

0.48
0.21
0.17

0.46
0.20
0.16

0.67
0.29
0.23

0.56
0.24
0.19

0.82
0.35
0.28

0.69
0.30
0.24

1.03
0.44
0.35

0.83
0.36
0.29

1.23
0.53
0.43

5834 - 6097

3379 - 3593

2887 - 3070

3936 - 4185

3514 - 3672

2454 - 2610

3379 - 3593

2887 - 3070

4861 - 5080

4216 - 4406

1841 - 1957

2535 - 2695

2454 - 2610

3936 - 4185

1841 - 1957

2535 - 2695

66,500+ -40°C

66,500+ -40°C

66,500+ -40°C

66,500+ -40°C

66,500+ -40°C

66,500+ -40°C

66,500+ -40°C

66,500+ -40°C

66,500+ -40°C

66,500+ -40°C

66,500+ -40°C

66,500+ -40°C

66,500+ -40°C

66,500+ -40°C

66,500+ -40°C

66,500+ -40°C

48

48

64

64

80

80

48

48

64

64

80

80

100

100

120

120

48 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

48 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

64 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

64 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

80 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

80 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

48 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

48 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

64 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

64 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

80 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

80 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

100 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

100 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

120 VLED® Optical
Module – 525mA

120 VLED® Optical
Module – 350mA

True Amber

True Amber

True Amber

True Amber

True Amber

True Amber

True Amber

True Amber

True Amber

True Amber

True Amber

True Amber

True Amber

True Amber

True Amber

True Amber

DSAP25
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PHELPS ENGINEERING, INC 

1270 N. Winchester   −   Olathe, Kansas 66061   −   (913) 393-1155   −   Fax (913) 393-1166   −   
www.phelpsengineering.com 

 
 
August 7, 2020 
 
 
Brian Scovill, P.E. 
City of Leawood, Kansas 
4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 
 
Re: Villa de Fontana 

Preliminary Stormwater Study  
 PEI #200597 
 
 
Dear Mr. Scovill: 
 
Phelps Engineering, Inc. is pleased to submit this Preliminary Stormwater Management 
Study for the above referenced project.  Villa de Fontana is located at the southeast 
corner of the intersection of 135th Street and Roe Avenue. The site is 30.44 net acres 
and is currently zoned as a RP-3 Planned Cluster Attached Residential District, SD-O 
Planned Office, and SD-CR Planned General Retail and will be rezoned to RP-2 
Planned Cluster Detached Residential District. The preliminary plat contains 63 lots with 
a density of 2.07 lots / acres (equal to 1/2 acre lots). 
 
The Villa de Fontana is the eastern half of an existing approved development plan called 
the Villaggio at Leawood; which was proposed to be developed as a mixed use of 
apartments, office, and retail. The public and private infrastructure was previously 
constructed on the Villaggio at Leawood, which includes utilities, sanitary sewers, storm 
sewers, streets, and stormwater detention facilities.  The Villa de Fontana development 
proposes to modify the eastern half of the Villaggio at Leawood by down zone 30.44 
acres to single family residential lots utilizing the existing infrastructure in place.  
 
Onsite Drainage System 
The existing site is contained in four watersheds draining to the northwest, north central, 
south central and to the southwest. The proposed storm sewer system will maintain the 
approximate existing drainage paths. 
 
Stormwater runoff will be conveyed in an enclosed public storm sewer system sized to 
convey the 10-year storm in accordance with APWA Section 5600 and City of Leawood 
requirements.  
 
The 100-year overflow will be conveyed in the street system in conjunction with 
engineered overflow swales. The lowest openings of any building adjacent to a 100-year 
overflow will be set a minimum of one-foot above the 100-year water surface elevation. 
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Downstream Analysis  
A stormwater study was previously approved for the currently approved Villaggio at 
Leawood Development, which was prepared by Continental Consulting Engineers, Inc. 
and dated December 21, 2007. 
 
The streets, storm sewer, and stormwater detention has been constructed for this project 
and is currently in place.   
 
The approved study included a very extensive analysis of downstream drainage system.  
The Villaggio at Leawood development has six watersheds discharging the site at the 
Northwest, North Central, Northeast, Southeast, South Central, and Southwest.  An 
existing runoff model was developed for each watershed, and the capacity of each 
downstream system was analyzed.  A site release was determined by using the lowest 
runoff based on the two criteria; existing runoff or downstream storm sewer capacity.  If 
the downstream capacity was the controlling criteria, then the site release rate was 
further reduced based on the ratio of onsite runoff and offsite runoff.   The following table 
outlines the approved release rates for the Villaggio at Leawood:  

 

The Villaggio at Leawood - Site Release Rates 
        

    Exisiting Downstream  Onsite % Onsite % Allowable    

  Storm  Runoff,  Capacity,  Downstream  Downstream  Release  Controlling  

Watershed Event cfs  cfs Capacity Capacity, cfs Rate, cfs Section 

Northwest Basin 2 12.87 36.4 70 25.4 12.87 Existing Runoff 

Northwest Basin 10 23.9 36.4 70 25.4 23.9 Existing Runoff 

Northwest Basin 25 28.83 36.4 70 25.4 25.4 Capacity 30" RCP 

Northwest Basin 50 32.35 36.4 70 25.4 25.4 % Capacity 30" RCP 

Northwest Basin 100 37.3 36.4 70 25.4 25.4 % Capacity 30" RCP 

Southwest Basin  2 28.67 436 18 76.95 28.67 Existing Runoff 

Southwest Basin  10 56.93 436 18 76.95 56.93 Existing Runoff 

Southwest Basin  25 69.86 436 18 76.95 69.86 Existing Runoff 

Southwest Basin  50 79.2 436 18 76.95 76.95 % Capacity 72" RCP 

Southwest Basin  100 92.34 436 18 76.95 76.95 % Capacity 72" RCP 

South Central Basin  2 27.71 39.7 81 32.2 27.71 Existing Runoff 

South Central Basin  10 55.25 39.7 81 32.2 32.2 Existing Runoff 

South Central Basin  25 67.83 39.7 81 32.2 32.2 % Capacity 36" CMP 

South Central Basin  50 76.83 39.7 81 32.2 32.2 % Capacity 36" CMP 

South Central Basin  100 89.7 39.7 81 32.2 32.2 % Capacity 36" CMP 

** NC, NE, and SE basin are offsite basins to Villa de Fontana therefore ae not included in table  

 
See The Villaggio at Leawood Stormwater Study dated December 21, 2007 by 
Continental for more details. 
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Detention 
Underground detention is currently provided for the entire Villaggio at Leawood 
development.  The detention was designed for a mixed land use of office, apartments, 
and commercial.  The Villa de Fontana site is located on the western half of the Villaggio 
at Leawood development which is proposed to be developed as single family residential, 
a much less intense development. Villa de Fontana is located in the Northwest, North 
Central, South Central, and Southwest drainage basins of the Villaggio at Leawood; 
therefore no detention analysis is included for the Northeast or Southeast basins. 
 
 All detention analyses were completed using HydroCAD V10 storm modeling software, 
using SCS Unit Hydrograph detention modeling with SCS Type II 24-hr storm duration. 
The CN values used in the proposed analysis are the same valued used in the currently 
approved Villaggio at Leawood Stormwater Study for soils and land cover, except for the 
addition of single-family land use into the model.  The drainage areas have been re-
evaluated and updated to the proposed plan. 
 
See Appendix “D” for the proposed HydroCAD modeling results. 
   
Northwest Watershed 
The northwest detention basin is an existing underground detention facility utilizing 84” 
diameter CMP pipes. The existing detention facility will be utilized as constructed with no 
modifications to the storage or outlet structure. The existing storage consists of 1,233 
linear feet of 84” CMP pipe. The existing outlet structure is a multi-stage outlet structure 
designed to the control peak runoff rates in the 2, 10, 25, 50, and 100-year storm events. 
The first stage is an 8”x8” orifice at an elevation of 999.0,  the second stage is a 24-inch 
wide by 12-inch tall orifice with a flowline elevation of 1002.0, and the third stage is a 9-
feet wide by 31” tall orifice at an elevation of 1005.91.  The 100-year WSE in the basin is 
1005.23 with a storage volume of 0.886 ac-ft and contained in the outlet structure with a 
top of structure elevation of 1009.0 See Table below for the northwest watershed 
proposed conditions. 

 

 Northwest Watershed Proposed Conditions 

    Allowable  Proposed Condition 

    Release 
Inflow 
Rate, 

Outflow 
Rate, 

WSE, Storage, 

Storm Discharge Pt.  Rate, cfs  cfs cfs ft ac-ft 

2-year Basin NA 17.84 3.99 1002.15 0.0299 

  Northwest Total Outfall 12.87 NA 5.05 NA NA 

10-year Basin NA 33.69 13.57 1003.44 0.549 

  Northwest Total Outfall 23.9 NA 14.28 NA NA 

25-year Basin NA 40.81 16.55 1004.4 0.667 

  Northwest Total Outfall 25.4 NA 17.43 NA NA 

50-year Basin NA 45.92 18.48 1004.51 0.756 

  Northwest Total Outfall 25.4 NA 19.48 NA NA 

100-
year 

Basin NA 50.09 21.08 1005.23 0.886 

  Northwest Total Outfall 25.4 NA 22.24 NA NA 



Page 4 

 
North Central Watershed 
The north central detention basin was not analyzed since the tributary area from the Villa 
de Fontana project is unchanged.  The area contributing to the north central watershed 
from Villa de Fontana consist of existing streets with no changes proposed.   
 
Southwest Watershed 
The southwest detention basin is an existing underground detention facility utilizing 84” 
diameter CMP pipes. The existing detention facility consist of 3,561 linear feet of 84” 
diameter CMP pipes, and this development proposes to remove 1,216 feet of storage 
pipe and utilize 2,345 of the existing pipes for storage. The existing outlet structure will 
not be modified. The existing outlet structure is a multi-stage outlet structure designed to 
the control peak runoff rates in the 2, 10, 25, 50, and 100-year storm events. The first 
stage is an 16-inch wide and 8-inch tall orifice at an elevation of 980.5,  the second 
stage is a 30-inch wide by 10-inch tall orifice with a flowline elevation of 982.0, the third 
stage is a 5-feet wide by 12” tall orifice at an elevation of 984.5, and the fourth stage is a 
9-feet wide by 13.2” tall orifice at an elevation of 987.9.  The 100-year WSE in the basin 
is 987.84 with a storage volume of 1.886 ac-ft and contained in the outlet structure with a 
top of structure elevation of 989.5 See Table below for the sourthwest watershed 
proposed conditions. 

 

Southwest Watershed Proposed Conditions 

    Allowable  Proposed Condition 

    Release 
Inflow 
Rate, 

Outflow 
Rate, 

WSE, Storage, 

Storm Discharge Pt.  Rate, cfs  cfs cfs ft ac-ft 

2-year Basin NA 43.03 19.32 983.84 0.492 

  Southwest Total Outfall 28.67 NA 19.59 NA NA 

10-year Basin NA 86.77 45.83 985.59 1.134 

  Southwest Total Outfall 56.93 NA 46.33 NA NA 

25-year Basin NA 106.84 57.4 986.29 1.394 

  Southwest Total Outfall 69.86 NA 58.04 NA NA 

50-year Basin NA 64.84 121.34 986.86 1.596 

  Southwest Total Outfall 76.95 NA 65.56 NA NA 

100-
year 

Basin NA 141.44 75.27 987.84 1.886 

  Southwest Total Outfall 76.95 NA 76.12 NA NA 

 
South Central Watershed 
The south central detention basin is an existing underground detention facility utilizing 
84” diameter CMP pipes. The existing detention facility will be utilized as constructed 
with no modifications to the storage. The existing storage consists of 2,805 linear feet of 
84” CMP pipe. The existing outlet structure is a multi-stage outlet structure designed to 
the control peak runoff rates in the 2, 10, 25, 50, and 100-year storm events. The outlet 
structure will be modified utilizing the following multi-stage outlet. The first stage is an 
20” diameter orifice at an elevation of 984.0, and the second stage is a 9-feet wide and 
13.2-inch tall orifice with a flowline elevation of 994.0.  The 100-year WSE in the basin is 
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993.6 with a storage volume of 2.333 ac-ft and contained in the outlet structure with a 
top of structure elevation of 996.0 See Table below for the south central watershed 
proposed conditions. 

 

South Central Watershed Proposed Conditions 

    Allowable  Proposed Condition 

    Release 
Inflow 
Rate, 

Outflow 
Rate, 

WSE, Storage, 

Storm Discharge Pt.  Rate, cfs  cfs cfs ft ac-ft 

2-year Basin NA 35.13 20.63 989.69 0.335 

  
South Central Total 
Outfall 

27.71 NA 20.75 NA NA 

10-year Basin NA 64.26 25.41 990.69 1.167 

  
South Central Total 
Outfall 

32.2 NA 25.62 NA NA 

25-year Basin NA 77.22 27.37 991.62 1.585 

  
South Central Total 
Outfall 

32.2 NA 27.61 NA NA 

50-year Basin NA 86.64 28.8 992.35 1.894 

  
South Central Total 
Outfall 

32.2 NA 29.06 NA NA 

100-
year 

Basin NA 99.65 31.11 993.6 2.333 

  
South Central Total 
Outfall 

32.2 NA 31.41 NA NA 

 
 
Stream Buffers 
The entire property has been enclosed in storm sewer pipes with the current approved 
Villaggio at Leawood development. 
 
FEMA  
All parts of the property have been designated as Zone X, per Map Panel 20091C084G 
of the Flood Insurance Rate Map dated August 3, 2009.  Zone X is defines areas outside 
the 0.2% annual chance flood plain. No permit is required since all portions of the 
property are located outside the regulatory floodplain. 
 
Corps of Engineers 
The entire property is improved with streets and storm sewer, which is part of the current 
approved Villaggio at Leawood development. No water or wetlands of the United States 
are located on this property.  
 
Water Quality BMP Requirements  
The proposed development is part of the currently constructed Villaggio at Leawood 
development.  The Villaggio at Leawood is a mixed use development consisting of 
apartments, office buildings, and retail; which was approved with no Stormwater Quality 
BMP requirements.  The streets, storm sewers, and detention for the project where 
constructed with the Villaggio, and the only change to the Villaggio development plan is 
the down zoning to single family residential. The Villas de Fontana development 
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proposes to down zone 30.44 acres of the Villaggio at Leawood mixed use to single 
family residential lots.   
 
 

The site is 30.44 net acres and is proposed to be zoned as a Single Family 
Residential Development. The proposed plan has 63 lots for a density of 2.07 
units per acre.  
 
Pre-development CN 
The pre-developed CN was calculated by evaluating the site based on existing 
ground cover and soil type. The existing land cover consists of asphalt streets 
and grass in good condition. The site consists of HSG Type “B” and HSG Type 
“C” soils, which have been bumped up one soil group to HSG “C” and HSG “D” 
soils to a account for hard panning of soil from previous construction. See 
enclosed soil survey printouts in Appendix “G”. The predevelopment CN is 
calculated at 80.  
 
The proposed CN was calculated by using a land type of 1/2 acres single family 
residential lots. The HSG has not been bumped up one level from the pre-
developed condition since the this was accounted for in the pre-development CN 
calculations since this is a previously constructed site. The post development CN 
is calculated at 84.  
 
The proposed development has increased the existing CN by 4, therefore 
requiring a level of service of 5.3 in accordance with APWA Best Management 
Practices for Water Quality. See Level of Service Worksheet 1 and the 
Predevelopment CN Exhibit in Appendix “C” for more details.  
 
The proposed development BMP mitigation required to provide a minimum water 
quality level of service of 5.3 is provided with hydro-dynamic separators being 
installed at the Northwest, Southwest, and Southcentral discharge points.   
 
The Level of Service provided is 5.3, meeting the requirements set forth in 
APWA.. See Level of Service Worksheet 2 and the Post Development Mitigation 
Exhibit for more details.   
 
All maintenance of BMP’s will be the sole responsibility of the Homes Association 
an BMP’s are contained in a Tracts providing maintenance access.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 7 

Conclusion 
This stormwater management plan and attached exhibits complete Phelps Engineering’s 
submittal of the Preliminary Stormwater Study for the Villas de Fontana. Please feel free 
to contact PEI at (913) 393-1155 if you require additional information. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Phelps Engineering, Inc. 
 
 
 
 
Tim Tucker, P.E. 
 
Enclosures 

TIM TUCKER
Typewritten Text
8-7-20



Memo 
To:    City of Leawood Planning Commission 

From:    Ricky Sanchez, Planner II 

CC:    Richard Coleman, Director of Community Development 
    Mark Klein, Planning Official 

Date of Meeting: September 22, 2020 

Date of Memo:  September 17, 2020 

Re: Case 75-20, Leawood Development Ordinance Amendment to Section 16-2-6.3, SD-CR 
(Planned General Retail) **PUBLIC HEARING** 

The amendment proposes to increase the allowed maximum height of buildings within the SD-CR zoning district.  

Currently, the Leawood Development Ordinance allows for buildings to have a maximum height of 50’. The 
proposed change to the Leawood Development Ordinance will allow for buildings to go up to a height of 65’ as long 
as for every foot in height that is increased, an additional 10’ is added to the setback on all sides for that particular 
structure/building. 

If an applicant were to propose a building with the SD-CR zoning district with a height of 65’, the building will have to 
be setback 150’ from all property lines.   

City of Leawood  

Planning Services 



Article 2 Zoning Districts 

 

Leawood Development Ordinance   Article 2  Page 1 

A) with noted exceptions.  The intended purpose is to provide for neighborhood shopping 

centers properly landscaped to ensure open space and promote compatibility to surround-

ing neighborhoods. 

B) Principal Permitted, Planned and Special Uses:  Only the uses set forth as authorized in 

the SD-NCR district as specified in the Table of Uses are permitted in the SD-NCR District.  

All uses and any erection, construction, relocation, or alteration of any structure or building 

in the SD-NCR District, are subject to the requirements of this District and shall further be 

subject to all other requirements of this Ordinance except as may be expressly exempted. 

C) Accessory Uses:  Accessory Uses in this district are governed by 16-4-1 of this Ordi-

nance. 

D) Bulk Regulations: 

Requirement Minimum Distance/Area  

Front Yard Setback: Structures:  40 feet 

Surface Parking (Loading and Service Areas Prohibited): 25 

feet   

Side Yard Setback: Structures:  40 feet  

Surface Parking, Loading, and Service Areas:  25 feet  

Interior Property Line Setback Structures:  10 feet 

Surface Parking, Loading, and Service Areas:  10 feet 

Rear Yard Setback: Structures: 40 feet  

Surface parking, Loading, and Service Areas: 25 feet  

Building Setback from residen-

tial  

75 feet from property zoned, used, or master-planned for 

residential use  

Open Space  30% minimum 

Minimum Acres 10 acres per development, provided however that an appli-

cant may seek a deviation as set forth in Section 16-3-9 of 

the Leawood Development Ordinance 

Floor Area Ratio .20 maximum 

Height Limit: 40 feet 

(Ord. 2366, 11-3-08[m1]) 

16-2-6.3 SD-CR (Planned General Retail)  



Article 2 Zoning Districts 

 

Leawood Development Ordinance   Article 2  Page 2 

A) General Purpose and Description:  Property zoned and developed as SD-CR Planned 

General Retail shall be to provide for general retail business uses within the City.  This dis-

trict is designed to serve the motoring public or uses involving vehicular traffic and requir-

ing areas bounded by a major street system for their most beneficial operation and which 

generally are larger in area and more intense in their operation than other retail districts. 

B) Principal Permitted, Planned and Special Uses:  Only the uses set forth as authorized in 

the SD-CR district as specified in the Table of Uses are permitted in the SD-CR District.  All 

uses and any erection, construction, relocation or alteration of any structure or building are 

subject to the requirements of this District and shall further be subject to all other require-

ments of this Ordinance except as may be expressly exempted. 

C) Accessory Uses:  Accessory Uses in this district are governed by 16-4-1 of this Ordi-

nance. 

D) Bulk Regulations: 

Requirement Minimum Distance/Area  

Front Yard Setback: 

 

Structures:  40 feet  

Surface Parking (Loading and Service Areas prohibited):  25 

feet  

Side Yard Setback: Structures:  40 feet  

Surface Parking, Loading, and Service Areas:  25 feet  

Interior Property Line Set-

back 

Structures:  10 feet 

Surface Parking, Loading, and Service Areas:  10 feet 

Rear Yard Setback: Structures:  40 feet  

Surface Parking, Loading, and Service Areas:  25 feet 

Building Setback from resi-

dential  

125 feet from property zoned, used, or master-planned for 

residential use  

Open Space  30% minimum  

Minimum Acres 10 acres per development, provided however that an appli-

cant may seek a deviation as set forth in Section 16-3-9 of 

the Leawood Development Ordinance 

Floor Area Ratio .25 maximum 

Height Limit: Up to 65 feet; provided that structures between 50’ and 65’ 

must have an additional 10 feet of setback on all sides for 

each additional foot (or portion of foot) above 50 feet.50 feet 

(Ord. 2367, 11-3-08[m2]) 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    September 22, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:   September 14, 2020 
 

TOWN CENTER PLAZA– FIRST ASCENT (HEALTH CLUB) – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A 
PRELIMINARY PLAN– LOCATED NORTH OR 119th STREET AND WEST OF ROE AVE. CASE 64-20             
**PUBLIC HEARING** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 64-20 Town Center Plaza – First Ascent – request for approval of a 
Preliminary Plan, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is John Petersen with Polsinelli. 

 The property is owned by Leawood TCP, LLC. 

 The architect is Mark Poltorek with RDL Architects. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Preliminary Plan that will remove five existing tenant 
spaces, and construct a 64’ high Rock Climbing Health Club (24,719 sq. ft.), on the eastern/north 
side end of the main retail center of Town Center Crossing, in the SD-CR zoning district. 

 No other changes are proposed with this application. 
 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of 117th Street is Park Place development, zoned MXD (Mixed Use 
District). Directly north of Town Center Drive is the City of Leawood City Hall and 
the Johnson County Public Library, zoned RP-4 (Planned Cluster Residential 
District, previous LDO (Leawood Development Ordinance) 

 South Directly south of 119th Street is Hawthorne Plaza (a commercial development), and 
assisted living center, and single family residential all in the City of Overland Park,. 

 East Directly east of Roe Avenue is Camelot Court, zoned SD-CR (Planned General 
Retail). 

 West Directly west is Nall Avenue, an arterial street, and the T-Mobile campus in the City 
of Overland Park, zoned CP-O (Commercial Office) 

 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS: 

 The proposal calls for a 24,719 sq. ft. of construction for a Rock Climbing Health Club. 

 The project is located on the eastern/north side end of the main retail center of Town Center Plaza. 

 The applicant is proposing the removal of five existing tenant spaces, and will construct a 64’ tall 
Rock Climbing Health Club. 

 The primary entrance is on the northwest corner of the north elevation. 

 The project will extend to 64’ in height along the eastern elevation, the remaining portions of the 
structure will be 32’ in height 

 Existing parking, sidewalks, landscaping will remain with this project. 

 The existing metal archway found on Cedar Street, between site and Bravo restaurant will be 
removed, along with the existing archway at the entrance of service area. 

 
ELEVATIONS:   

 The applicant has provided preliminary elevations for proposed building. Elevations are reviewed and 
approved at the time of final site plan application. 

 The building is proposed to be 64’ in height along the eastern elevation, the remaining portions of the 
structure will be 32’ in height 

 Insulated concrete panels in colors; Pediment, Alabaster, Crushed Ice, and Acier, along with 
insulated metal panels make up the majority of the exterior facade. 

 Large windows constructed of 1” low “E” insulated glass, along the north/west façade, allow for a look 
inside to the rock climbing equipment/walls, south/east façade do not include windows. 

 Metal composite canopy in color Osage Orange, provide an accent above the entry/exit doors 

 Aluminum storefront system is proposed to match the façade of the building. 
  
BULK REGULATIONS: 

 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for the SD-CR Zoning District: 
Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Front Setback 40’ 480’  Complies 

Side Setback 40’ 530’ Complies 

Interior Property Line 10’ 0’ Approved Deviation 

Rear Setback 40’ 610’ Complies 

Height 50’ 65’ Dependent on approval of Case 75-20, 
LDO amendment to increase building 

height within the SD-CR District 
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SIGNAGE:   

 Signage is not reviewed or approved at the time of Preliminary Plan. 

 Town Center Plaza has sign criteria approved by the Governing Body.   

 Signage for First Ascent will be approved administratively through a sign permit application. 
 
LIGHTING: 

 Lighting is not reviewed or approved with Preliminary Plans. 

 No lighting is currently proposed. 
 

LANDSCAPING 

 Landscaping is not reviewed or approved at the time of Preliminary Plan. 

 Existing landscaping will remain in place. 

 No additional changes to the landscaping are proposed. 
 
INTERACT: 

 An Interact meeting was held on August 12, 2020. A meeting summary and sign-in sheet are 
attached. 

 
IMPACT FEES: 

Park Impact Fee 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee prior to the building permit in the 
amount of $0.15 per sq. of building area. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

Public Art Fee 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a Park Impact Fee prior to building permit in the amount of 
$0.15 per sq. of building area. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 
GOLDEN CRITERIA: 
The character of the neighborhood: 

The area is characterized by a collector street 117th Street, Park Place zoned MXD (Mixed Use 
District); major arterial 119th Street, Hawthorne Plaza (a retail shopping center), assisted living, and 
single family housing zoned R-1 (Single Family Residential) all within the City of Overland Park,; a 
major arterial Roe Avenue is Camelot Court, zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail); major arterial 
Nall Avenue is the City of Overland Park, zoned CP-O (Commercial Office) 
 

The zoning and uses of properties nearby: 

 North Directly north of 117th Street is Park Place development, zoned MXD (Mixed Use 
District). Directly north of Town Center Drive is the City of Leawood City Hall and 
the Johnson County Public Library, zoned RP-4 (Planned Cluster Residential 
District, previous LDO (Leawood Development Ordinance) 

 South Directly south of 119th Street is Hawthorne Plaza (a commercial development), and 
assisted living center, and single family residential all in the City of Overland Park,. 

 East Directly east of Roe Avenue is Camelot Court, zoned SD-CR (Planned General 
Retail). 

 West Directly west is Nall Avenue, an arterial street, and the T-Mobile campus in the City 
of Overland Park, zoned CP-O (Commercial Office) 
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The Suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 
Due to the mix of uses within the surrounding area and the fact that the property is adjacent to 
two major arterial and collector streets, the property is suitable for a health club. 

 
The time for which the property has been vacant: 

The site is currently not vacant. It is within the Town Center Plaza regional shopping center that 
began construction at this location in 1995. 

 
The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: 

Although the site is suitable for a health club, stipulations are necessary to ensure a high 
quality project that fits with the surrounding uses. 
  

The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the application: 

Denial of the application will not result in a relative gain to the public health, safety, or welfare. The 
addition of a health club will provide opportunities to increase and promote health, safety, and will 
increase the welfare of residents. 
 

The recommendation of the permanent staff: 
City Staff recommends approval with the stipulations stated in the staff report. 

 
Conformance to the adopted master plan of the City of Leawood: 

The proposed application conforms to the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Leawood. 
 
STAFF COMMENT: 

 This application is subject to continuance/change dependent on the result of Case 75-20 regarding 
height tolerance within the SD-CR zoning district.  Case 75-20 is an Leawood Development 
Ordinance amendment proposing to increase the maximum height within the SD-CR from 50’ to 65’. 
(Stipulation #2).  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 64-20, Town Center Plaza – First Ascent, 
request for approval of a Revised Preliminary Plan, with the following stipulations: 
1. The project is limited to the construction of a 24,719 sq. ft., 64’ tall building for Town Center Plaza – 

First Ascent. 
2. This application shall meet all requirements of the SD-CR ( Planned General Retail District), including 

maximum building height.  
3. The project shall comply with the design guidelines for Town Center Plaza. 
4. The applicant shall be responsible for: 

a) A park impact fee in the amount of $.15/square foot of finished floor area is required prior 
to issuance of a building permit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

b) A public art impact fee or a piece of public art shall be required.  Approval of the design 
and location of the art will need to go before the Arts Council, Planning Commission, and 
be approved by the Governing Body at a later date.  In lieu of that, the applicant may pay a 
public art impact fee in the amount of $.15/square foot of finished floor area prior to 
issuance of a building permit. This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 



5 

5. At the time of Final Plan, Materials used shall be in compliance with the Leawood Development 
Ordinance. 

6. All buildings within this development shall conform to the architectural type, style, and scale of the 
buildings approved by the Governing Body at Final Plan. 

7. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of less than 56 
inches, a footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, or a pad footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, shall be 
installed only with the prior approval of the Director of Community Development as being in 
compliance with the Leawood Development Ordinance. 

8. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of 56 inches or 
greater, a footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, or a pad footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, shall 
be installed only with the prior recommendation of the Planning Commission as being in compliance 
with the Leawood Development Ordinance based on review of a site plan containing such final 
development plan information as may be required by the City, and approved by the Governing Body.  
The City may impose conditions on approval, including but not limited to duration or renewal 
requirements, where the circumstances are sufficiently unusual to warrant the conditions. 

9. All rooftop equipment shall be screened from the public view with an architectural treatment, which is 
compatible with the building architecture. The height of the screen shall be at least as tall as the 
utilities being screened.   

10. Materials boards shall be submitted at the time of Final Plan application. 
11. A model shall be submitted at the time of Final Plan application. 
12. The Owner/Applicant must establish a funding mechanism to maintain, repair and/or replace all 

common areas and common area improvements including, but not limited to, streets, walls, and 
storm water system improvements.  The mechanism will include a deed restriction running with each 
lot in the development that will mandate that each owner must contribute to the funding for such 
maintenance, repair and/or replacement and that each lot owner is jointly and severally liable for 
such maintenance, repair and/or replacement, and that the failure to maintain, repair or replace such 
common areas or common area improvements may result in the City of Leawood maintaining, 
repairing and replacing said common areas and/or improvements, and the cost incurred by the City 
of Leawood will be jointly and severally assessed against each lot, and will be the responsibility of the 
owner(s) of such lot. 

13. A cross access/parking easement for the entire development shall be recorded with the Johnson 
County Registrar of Deeds prior to issuance of a building permit. 

14. This preliminary plan approval shall lapse in two years, if construction on the project has not begun or 
if such construction is not being diligently pursued; provided, however, that the developer may 
request a hearing before the City Council to request an extension of this time period.  The City 
Council may grant one such extension for a maximum of 12 months for good cause shown by the 
developer. 

15. The conditions and stipulations of the preliminary plan approval remain in full force and effect except 
to the extent expressly modified herein. 

16. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 
ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a 
deviation has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to 
stipulations one through sixteen. 

 



 

 
Memorandum 

 

Fire Department                                      (913) 266-0600                             FAX (913) 681-2399 
 

 
 
TO:  Grant Lang     

 

FROM:    Jarrett Hawley     

 

DATE:      August 20, 2020  

 

SUBJECT: Town Center Plaza First Ascent 

 

 

The Leawood Fire Department has no objections or recommendations on Case 64-20 at this 

time. 

 

 

Jarrett Hawley 

Deputy Chief 

Leawood Fire Department 

 

 

 

markk
Typewritten Text
EXHIBIT A
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Town Center Plaza – First Ascent PDP August 12, 2020 Interact Meeting    Attendance: Stephen Harris – Washington Prime Group Starr Korner – Washington Prime Group Jacqueline Shrum – Property Manager Jon Shepherd – First Ascent John Petersen/Amy Grant, Polsinelli PC  This meeting was held via Zoom and began at 6:00 p.m.  At 6:15 p.m. the meeting was concluded as none of the invitees attended the meeting.    
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1. The contractor is specifically cautioned that the location and/or elevation of existing utilities as shown on these plans is based on records of the The contractor is specifically cautioned that the location and/or elevation of existing utilities as shown on these plans is based on records of the various utility companies, and where possible, measurements taken in the field. The information is not to be relied on as being exact or complete.  The contractor must call the appropriate utility companies at least 48 hours before any excavation to request exact field location of utilities. It shall be the responsibility of the contractor to coordinate with and relocate &/or remove all existing utilities which conflict with the proposed improvements shown on the plans.  2. The construction of storm sewers on this project shall conform to the requirements of the City's Technical Specifications and Design Criteria. The construction of storm sewers on this project shall conform to the requirements of the City's Technical Specifications and Design Criteria. City's Technical Specifications and Design Criteria. Technical Specifications and Design Criteria. 3. The contractor shall field verify the exact location and elevation of the existing storm sewer lines and the existing  elevation at locations where the The contractor shall field verify the exact location and elevation of the existing storm sewer lines and the existing  elevation at locations where the proposed storm sewer collects or releases to existing ground.  If discrepancies are encountered from the information shown on the plans, the contractor shall contact the design engineer. No pipes shall be laid until direction is received from the design engineer. 4. It will be the contractors responsibility to field adjust the top of all manholes and boxes as necessary to match the  grade of the adjacent area.   It will be the contractors responsibility to field adjust the top of all manholes and boxes as necessary to match the  grade of the adjacent area.   Tops of existing manholes shall be raised as necessary to be flush with proposed pavement elevations, and to be 6-inches above finished ground elevations in non-paved areas.  No separate or additional compensation will be made to the contractor for making final adjustments to the manholes and boxes.  5. Inlet locations, horizontal pipe information and vertical pipe information is shown to the center of the structure.   Deflection angles shown for storm Inlet locations, horizontal pipe information and vertical pipe information is shown to the center of the structure.   Deflection angles shown for storm sewer pipes are measured from the center of curb inlets and manholes.  The  contractor shall adjust the horizontal location of the pipes to go to the face of the boxes.  All roof drains shall be connected to storm sewer structures.  Provide cleanouts on roof drain lines at 100' max. Spacing and at all bend points.  Do not connect roof drains directly to storm sewer pipe.  6. The contractor shall be responsible for furnishing and installing all fire and domestic water lines, meters, backflow  devices, pits, valves and all The contractor shall be responsible for furnishing and installing all fire and domestic water lines, meters, backflow  devices, pits, valves and all other incidentals required for a complete operable fire protection and domestic water system.  All costs associated with the complete water system for the buildings shall be the responsibility of the contractor.  All work shall conform to the requirements of City.     City.     7. The contractor shall be responsible for furnishing and installing all sanitary sewer service lines from the buildings  to the public line. All work shall The contractor shall be responsible for furnishing and installing all sanitary sewer service lines from the buildings  to the public line. All work shall conform to the requirements of the City and Johnson County Unified Wastewater District. City and Johnson County Unified Wastewater District. 8. The contractor will be responsible for securing all permits, bonds and insurance required by the contract documents, City, and all other governing The contractor will be responsible for securing all permits, bonds and insurance required by the contract documents, City, and all other governing City, and all other governing , and all other governing agencies (including local, county, state and  federal authorities) having jurisdiction over the work proposed by these construction documents.  The cost  for all  permits bonds and insurance shall be the contractors responsibility and shall be included in the bid for the work.   9. By the use of these construction documents the contractor hereby agrees that he/she shall be solely responsible for  the safety of the construction By the use of these construction documents the contractor hereby agrees that he/she shall be solely responsible for  the safety of the construction workers and the public. The contractor agrees to hold the engineer and owner harmless for any and all injuries, claims, losses or damages related to the project.    10. The Contractor shall be responsible for furnishing all materials, tools and equipment and installation of electrical  power, telephone and gas service The Contractor shall be responsible for furnishing all materials, tools and equipment and installation of electrical  power, telephone and gas service from a point of connection from the public utility lines to the building structures.   This will include all conduits, service lines, meters, concrete pads and all other incidentals required for a complete  and operational system as required by the owner and the public utilities.  Refer to building plans for exact tie-in locations of all utilities.  Contractor shall verify connection points prior to installation of utility line.   11. All fill material is to be in place, compacted, and consolidated before installation of proposed utilities.  On-site geotechnical engineer shall provide All fill material is to be in place, compacted, and consolidated before installation of proposed utilities.  On-site geotechnical engineer shall provide written confirmation that this requirement has been met and that utilities may proceed in the fill areas.  All utilities are to be placed in trench conditions.  12. Contractor shall notify the utility authorities inspectors 48 hours before connecting to any existing line.  Contractor shall notify the utility authorities inspectors 48 hours before connecting to any existing line.  13. Water lines shall be as follows (unless otherwise shown on plans):  Water lines shall be as follows (unless otherwise shown on plans):  A.  Pipe sizes less than 3-inches that are installed below grade and outside building shall comply with the following: 1. Seamless Copper Tubing:  Type "K" soft copper, ASTM B88. 2. Fittings: Wrought copper (95_5 Tin Antimony solder joint), ASME B 16.22. B. Pipe sizes 3-inches Through 48-inches that are installed below grade and outside building shall comply with one of the following: 1. Gray Cast Iron Water Pipe:  ANSI A21.6, thickness class 52. a. Fittings:  Either mechanical joint or push_on joint, AWWA C110 or AWWA C111. Fittings:  Either mechanical joint or push_on joint, AWWA C110 or AWWA C111. b. Elastomeric gaskets and lubricant:  ASTM F477. Elastomeric gaskets and lubricant:  ASTM F477. c. Cement Mortar Lining, AWWA C104 Cement Mortar Lining, AWWA C104 2. Ductile Iron Water Pipe:  AWWA C151, thickness class 50. a. Fittings:  Either mechanical joint or push_on joint, AWWA C110 or AWWA C111. Fittings:  Either mechanical joint or push_on joint, AWWA C110 or AWWA C111. b. Elastomeric gaskets and lubricant:  ASTM F477. Elastomeric gaskets and lubricant:  ASTM F477. c. Cement Mortar Lining, AWWA C104 Cement Mortar Lining, AWWA C104 3. Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) Water Pipe:  Pipe, AWWA C900, rated DR 18 (Class 150), continually marked as required.   a. Elastomeric gaskets and lubricant:  ASTM F477 for smaller pipes. Elastomeric gaskets and lubricant:  ASTM F477 for smaller pipes. b. Pipe joints:  Integrally molded bell ends, ASTM D3139. Pipe joints:  Integrally molded bell ends, ASTM D3139. c. Trace wire: Magnetic detectable conductor, (#12 Copper) brightly colored plastic covering imprinted with “Water Service” in large letters Trace wire: Magnetic detectable conductor, (#12 Copper) brightly colored plastic covering imprinted with “Water Service” in large letters Water Service” in large letters  in large letters 14. Minimum trench width shall be 2 feet.  Minimum trench width shall be 2 feet.  15. Contractor shall maintain a minimum of 42" cover on all waterlines.  All water line joints are to be mechanical joints with thrust blocking as called Contractor shall maintain a minimum of 42" cover on all waterlines.  All water line joints are to be mechanical joints with thrust blocking as called out in specifications and construction plans.  Water mains and service lines shall be constructed in accordance to waterone's specifications for commercial services. 16. All waterlines shall be kept min. ten (10') apart (parallel) from sanitary sewer lines or manholes.  Or when crossing, an 24" vertical clearance All waterlines shall be kept min. ten (10') apart (parallel) from sanitary sewer lines or manholes.  Or when crossing, an 24" vertical clearance (outside edge of pipe to outside edge of pipe) of the water line above the sewer line is required.  17. Sanitary conflicts will be resolved prior to permit issuance. Sanitary conflicts will be resolved prior to permit issuance. 18. In the event of a vertical conflict between waterlines, sanitary lines, storm lines and gas lines (existing and proposed), the sanitary line shall be In the event of a vertical conflict between waterlines, sanitary lines, storm lines and gas lines (existing and proposed), the sanitary line shall be ductile iron pipe with mechanical joints at least 10 feet on both sides of crossing (or encased in concrete this same distance), the waterline shall have mechanical joints with appropriate thrust blocking as required to provide a minimum of 24" clearance. Meeting requirements of ANSI A21.10 or ANSI 21.11 (AWWA C-151) (CLASS 50).  19. All underground storm, sanitary, water and other utility lines shall be installed, inspected and approved before backfilling.  Failure to have inspection All underground storm, sanitary, water and other utility lines shall be installed, inspected and approved before backfilling.  Failure to have inspection approval prior to backfill will constitute rejection of work. 20. All necessary inspections and/or certifications required by codes and/or utility service companies shall be  performed prior to announced building All necessary inspections and/or certifications required by codes and/or utility service companies shall be  performed prior to announced building possession and the  final connection of service. Contractor shall coordinate with all utility companies for installation requirements and specifications.  21. Refer to building plans for site lighting electrical plan, irrigation, parking lot security system and associated conduit requirements.  Coordinate with Refer to building plans for site lighting electrical plan, irrigation, parking lot security system and associated conduit requirements.  Coordinate with Owner that all required conduits are in place & tested prior to paving. 22. When a building utility connection from site utilities leading up to the building cannot be made immediately, temporarily mark all such site utility When a building utility connection from site utilities leading up to the building cannot be made immediately, temporarily mark all such site utility terminations. 23. Refer to the building plans for site lighting electrical requirements, including conduits, pole bases, pull boxes, etc.Refer to the building plans for site lighting electrical requirements, including conduits, pole bases, pull boxes, etc.
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The drawings, specifications, ideas, design and arrangements represented thereby are and shall remain the property of the architect. No part of shall be copied, disclosed to others or used in conjunction with any work or project other 
than the specific project for which they have been prepared and developed without the written consent of the architect.  Visual contact with these drawings or specifications shall constitute conclusive evidence of acceptance of these 
restrictions.  restrictions.  Written dimensions on these drawings shall have precedence over scaled dimensions.  Contractors shall verify and be responsible for all dimensions and conditions on the job site, and this office must be notified of any 
variations from the dimensions and conditions shown by these drawings.  



Memo 
To:    City of Leawood Planning Commission 

From:    Ricky Sanchez, Planner II 

CC:    Richard Coleman, Director of Community Development 
    Mark Klein, Planning Official 

Date of Meeting: September 22, 2020 

Date of Memo:  September 17, 2020 

Re: Case 74-20, Leawood Development Ordinance Amendment to Section 16-3-3, 
Administrative Approvals, pertaining to the exterior tenant façade of a development. 
**PUBLIC HEARING** 

The amendment proposes to add a section within the Administrative Approvals section of the Leawood 
Development Ordinance. 

Currently, exterior tenant finishes must go through the Planning Process which includes: Staff Review, Planning 
Commission Recommendation, and Governing Body Approval. In total, this process may sometimes take a total of 
up to 90 days from application to approval.  

The proposed amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance will allow the Director of Community 
Development to administratively approve exterior tenant finishes, which could reduce the amount of time for 
approval down to 2 weeks. 

The applicant will still have to get an approval letter from the development stating that they have reviewed the plan 
against their own design criteria and that they approve of the changes made. 

If an applicant is not content with the decision to deny an application from the Director of Community Development, 
they may have the opportunity to move forward through the current Planning Process. 

City of Leawood  

Planning Services 
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or changed uses of property as well as certain site alterations, as specified herein, if the location and 
circumstances are appropriate to the use or change under the standards provided in this Article.  It is also 
the intent of this Article to increase the flexibility of development design by authorizing deviations to the 
standard district regulations subject to the conditions and/or approval of the Governing Body.  Any approval 
of any development plan shall be deemed to incorporate the provisions of this Ordinance. 

16-3-2 DEVELOPMENT PLANS — WHEN REQUIRED 

In any zoning district, an approved development plan as provided by this Article shall be required for (A)  
any change in zoning district classification, other than to the AG district, or (B)  any change in use, or (C)  
any construction or alteration of a structure, landscaping, parking, or drive isles on property or other exterior 
change in any zoning district except when such change is: 

A) Authorized by a previously approved development plan under this Planned Development 
Procedure that has not expired by its own terms or as provided for in this Article; 

B) Expressly exempted from the development plan requirements by the underlying zoning district; 

C) An alteration or construction of one or more single-family dwellings where no subdivision of land is 
required, provided a plot plan for the property is submitted and approved; 

D) A change only in use that does not require a change in underlying zoning district or special use 
permit and does not propose or require the alteration of parking, traffic volume or patterns, exterior 
change or construction, or other physical site requirements;   

E) An authorized Agricultural use in the AG Agricultural District; 

F) Ordinary maintenance which does not change the exterior color, style, design, or material type; 

G) Otherwise exempted from development plan requirements by state or federal law; 

H) Changes authorized to be administratively approved by the Director of Planning pursuant to 
Section 16-3-3. 

16-3-3 ADMINISTRATIVE APPROVALS   

The following changes to a site, building or structure may be approved by the Director of Planning and shall 
not require approval or amendment of a Development Plan: 

A) Change of permanent signage or sign facing if the size, characteristics, and number of signs 
remain the same; 

B) Change in landscaping (including location, bed material, related species, etc.) if the size and type 
of landscaping remain the same or if the number of landscaping specimens is increased; 

C) Change in architectural detail if it is consistent with the general intent and requirement of the 
Development Plan approval; and 

D) Changes in lighting if the changes otherwise satisfy the Development Plan requirements and 
applicable provisions of this Ordinance. 
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D)E) Changes to exterior tenant façade of a development, provided an authorized representative of the 
development has acknowledged in writing it (1) has reviewed the application, (2) approves the 
changes, (3) the changes meet the design guidelines set forth by the development. 

The Director of Planning may administratively approve these changes if the proposed change is consistent 
with the provisions and intent of an approved Development Plan and other applicable regulations.  The 
Director may deny the change, impose conditions necessary to satisfy applicable requirements, or refer the 
request to the Planning Commission.  If a party is aggrieved by a denial or conditions imposed on an 
administrative approval, the change shall be resubmitted pursuant to the Development Plan Pprocedures 
established in this Article.   

16-3-4 DEVELOPMENT PLAN APPROVAL PROCESS 

A “Development Plan” shall consist of both a preliminary and final development plan approved as provided 
in this Article.  No construction of a structure or commencement of a use, or change or alteration in a use, 
structure or site, requiring a development plan shall be authorized until approval of the final development 
plan.  Approval of the preliminary development plan shall be considered an act of rezoning subject to the 
procedural requirements for rezoning as set forth in Article 5, except as provided herein.  A final 
development plan is intended only to provide final additional details or minor changes but shall otherwise 
conform to the approved preliminary development plan. 

The minimum steps required for approval of a Development Plan approval required by this Article are 
summarized as follows: 

A) Application for preliminary development plan (Section 16-3-5) 

B) Notice and public hearing before the Planning Commission (Section 16-5-3) 

C) Recommendation on preliminary development plan by the Planning Commission 

D) Governing Body enacts ordinance approving or approving with conditions the preliminary 
development plan or denies the plan  

E) Submission of Final Development Plan to the Planning Commission 

F) Approval of Final Development Plan: 

1) No changes or minor changes – approval by the Planning Commission and review by the 
Governing Body for final approval, conditional approval, or denial in accordance with voting 
procedures for preliminary plan approval. 

2) Substantial changes – submission of new preliminary development plan and repeat of 
development plan process. 

G) Once a Preliminary and Final Development Plan has been approved for a development, each lot will be 
required to receive preliminary site plan and/or final site plan approval prior to construction.   

 

(Ord. 2808, 11-01-2016) 
(Ord. 2957, 08-12-2019) 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    September 22, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:   September 17, 2020 
 

TOWN CENTER CROSSING – REVISED DESIGN GUIDELINES – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL FOR A 
REVISED FINAL PLAN – LOCATED SOUTH OF 119th STREET AND EAST OF ROE AVENUE – 
CASE 66-20 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends denial of Case 66-20, Town Center Crossing – Revised Design Guidelines – request 
for approval of a Revised Final Plan for the reasons stated in this report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is John Petersen with Polsinelli. 

 The property is owned by 119 Leawood, LLC. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Plan to modify the existing design criteria for 
the Town Center Crossing development, in the SD-CR zoning district. 

 If Case 74-20 (Leawood Development Ordinance amendment to Section 16-3-3, Administrative 
Approvals) is approved, City staff will use these design guidelines to administratively approve 
changes to the exterior facades of tenant finishes within Town Center Crossing.  

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION:  
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of 119th Street is Camelot Court Shopping Center, zoned SD-CR 
(Planned General Retail). 

 South Directly south of Tomahawk Creek Parkway is open space, zoned REC (Planned 
Recreation). 

 East Directly east of Tomahawk Creek Parkway is open space, zoned REC (Planned 
Recreation). 

 West Directly west of Roe Avenue is Hawthorne Plaza, a retail development within 
Overland Park, Kansas. 

 
PROPOSED DESIGN GUIDELINES: 

 This application is intended to modify existing design criteria for the Town Center Crossing 
development to allow administrative approval to changes in the tenants trade dress zones as 
identified in the guidelines. 

 The applicant has stated that the revisions to the design guidelines are to encourage the exterior 
finishes to reflect the tenant’s national branding within the trade dress zones.   

 The dress trade zones within the main center are graphically identified and may or may not cover the 
entire façade of a specific tenant space.  However all exterior facades of the out parcels are 
considered to be within the trade dress zones, and therefore may be modified.    

 Within the main center, a landlord controlled canopy is graphically identified.  Within these areas 
canopies are not allowed to be modified by the tenant unless approved by the landlord. 

 The revised design guidelines do not place limitations on materials and colors.    

 Materials and Signage will follow the approved sign guidelines for the development, along with the 
Leawood Development Ordinance. 

 
SIGNAGE:   

 Town Center Crossing has sign criteria approved by the Governing Body, and will not be altered with 
this application. 

 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The proposed design guidelines do not contain specifics regarding materials, colors or design 
elements. If Case 74-20 (Leawood Development Ordinance amendment to Section 16-3-3, 
Administrative Approvals) is approved, City staff will use these design guidelines to administratively 
approve changes to the exterior facades of tenant finishes within Town Center Crossing.  As 
currently written, the City will have little control regarding the exterior changes to facades, other than 
where on the facades the modifications are permitted. In the case of out parcels, the entirely of all 
facades are identified as trade dress zones that may be modified.  This would reduce the City’s ability 
to have oversight over exterior changes to protect the aesthetic integrity of the development.  
(Stipulation 2) 

 Prior to Governing Body consideration the design guidelines will be modified as follows. 

 Make clear that all exterior tenant finishes, including awning section of the design guidelines, 
must be approved by both the landlord and the City of Leawood.  (Stipulation 3a) 

 The list of materials prohibited by the Leawood Development Ordinance shall in included by 
reference.  (Stipulation 3b) 
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 An appeal process to the Planning Commission for recommendation and Governing Body for 
approval shall be added if a resolution between the applicant and the City of Leawood for 
administrative approval cannot be reached. (Stipulation 3c) 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends denial of Case 66-20, Town Center Crossing – Revised Design Guidelines – request 
for modifications to Town Center Crossing’s design guidelines for the reasons stated in this report.  If the 
Planning Commission were to approve, staff offers the following stipulations: 
1. The project is limited to changes to the design guidelines for the Town Center Crossing development, 

zoned SD-CR.   
2. Prior to Governing Body consideration, the applicant work with City staff to develop specifics 

regarding allowed materials, colors, and design elements permitted by these design guidelines. 
3. Prior to Governing Body consideration, the design guidelines shall be modified as follows. 

a. Shall clarify that approval of exterior changes to tenant spaces, including the awning section of 
the design guidelines, shall require approval of both the landlord and City of Leawood prior to 
building permit approval.   

b. The list of prohibited materials within the Leawood Development Ordinance shall be incorporated 
into the design guidelines by reference. 

c. An appeal process to the Planning Commission for recommendation and Governing Body for 
approval shall be added in cases where a resolution between the applicant and the City of 
Leawood for administrative approval cannot be reached. 

4. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 
ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a 
deviation has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to 
stipulations one through four. 
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TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

APPROVALS

The approval process consists of the Landlord receiving plans, elevations, and 
other requested materials that conform to Landlord’s criteria requirements. 
Landlord must approve exterior tenant storefront and trade dress in writing 
prior to submission to the City of Leawood.  All plans for these exterior 
improvements must conform to all building code requirements.  City of 
Leawood will confirm Landlord approval review plans and materials to affirm 
the plans are also in general conformance with the Final Site Plan Resolution 
for the Center.  If so, the City of Leawood will process the submitted plans for 
a building permit.  The Tenant improvements for the interior are subject to 
building permit review only.  

TENANT EXTERIOR FINISHES

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are encouraged within 
the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord 
supported colors, materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at 
one or more other locations.  All colors, materials, and finishes used to convey 
tenant trade dress selected by Tenant must suggest quality, craftsmanship, 
elegance, innovation, and creativity and Landlord shall have the sole right to 
require modifications to ensure these finishes are appropriate for the center 
overall and conducive to all other tenants.  If Trade Dress is not applicable, 
Landlord shall have the sole right to require modifications to ensure these 
finishes are appropriate for the center overall, conducive to all other Tenants, 
or otherwise in conformance with this document.  

GENERAL INFORMATION

A. Tenant’s storefront shall be established six inches (6”) back from the face 
of the neutral pier.

B. Landlord will require glass, display windows, or other translucent 
materials within Tenant’s storefront.

C. Tenant shall not be permitted to install any opaque section of storefront 
over a length of six feet (6’) unless specific approval is granted by the Landlord.  

D. Should Tenant’s storefront be located within a curved or radial lease line 
area, it must be kept four inches (4”) back of Tenant’s lease line.

E. Construction that flattens or otherwise alters Tenant’s curved or radial 
lease line is not permitted.

F. Recessed out-swinging doors shall not extend past Tenant’s lease line 

when fully open.

G. Doors may be fully glazed, solid or any combination thereof.

STOREFRONT FINISH TREATMENTS

A. As a guideline, acceptable treatments include:
 
 1. Limestone, marble, granite and other natural stone products  
  carefully articulated and detailed;
 2. Lacquered surfaces in a minimum of four (4) coats;
 3. Metals, excluding laminates; and
 4. Stained or natural finished hardwoods.

B. The following are unacceptable finishes:
 
 1. Painted drywall, wallcovering, undetailed brick, rough   
  stucco, or anything Landlord would consider a non-durable  
  material or lacking in visual quality.
 2. ALL finishes that Landlord deems unacceptable for the center.

C. Glazing:
 
 1. Simulated, applied or reproduced glass in acrylic or Plexiglas is  
  not permitted.
 2. Mirrored glass is not permitted
 3. The use of attractive and high quality clips or brackets that  
  complement the design of store is required.

D. Lighting:
 
 1. Tenant shall not install pulsating or blinking, strobe, neon, or  
  otherwise an animated illumination.  

EXTERIOR AWNINGS

Overall, awnings are not required.  However, creative awnings at tenant 
entrances are encouraged which can be fabric or other materials approved 
by the Landlord.  Awnings are provided and installed by the Tenant as a 
part of the Tenant’s improvement work.  Awning design, colors, and finishes 
are subject to Landlord approval.  Awnings may be required by Landlord to 
convey a consistent architectural vocabulary at entrances and storefronts.

LANDLORD EXTERIOR MATERIALS

Exterior finishes outside the Tenant Trade Dress Zones shall not be altered 
by Tenant without prior approval by Landlord.  Modifications to the building 
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outside the Tenant Trade Dress Zones are subject to Planning and Zoning 
approval by the City of Leawood.  Landlord will consider modifications to 
ensure tenant visibility, alignment with tenant trade dress needs, and quality 
of the modifications.  Proposed modifications should not significantly modify 
the overall architectural vocabulary of the center, however changes will be 
encouraged and supported by Landlord if those modifications suggest quality, 
craftsmanship, elegance, innovation, creativity, and general compatibility with 
the center.
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1 ELEVATION 1 - TRADE DRESS ZONE EXHIBIT

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

LANDLORD CONTROLLED CANOPY

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are 
encouraged within the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  

Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord supported colors, 
materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at one or 
more locations.

Landlord controlled canopies are not allowed to be modified by 
Tenant and must remain as is, unless otherwise determined by 
Landlord.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information
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2 ELEVATION 2 - TRADE DRESS ZONE EXHIBIT

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

LANDLORD CONTROLLED CANOPY

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are 
encouraged within the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  

Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord supported colors, 
materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at one or 
more locations.

Landlord controlled canopies are not allowed to be modified by 
Tenant and must remain as is, unless otherwise determined by 
Landlord.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information

AREA HAS A SECOND LEVEL
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3 ELEVATION 3 - TRADE DRESS ZONE EXHIBIT

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

LANDLORD CONTROLLED CANOPY

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are 
encouraged within the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  

Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord supported colors, 
materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at one or 
more locations.

Landlord controlled canopies are not allowed to be modified by 
Tenant and must remain as is, unless otherwise determined by 
Landlord.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information
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4 ELEVATION 4 - TRADE DRESS ZONE EXHIBIT

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

LANDLORD CONTROLLED CANOPY

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are 
encouraged within the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  

Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord supported colors, 
materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at one or 
more locations.

Landlord controlled canopies are not allowed to be modified by 
Tenant and must remain as is, unless otherwise determined by 
Landlord.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information
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5 ELEVATION 5 - TRADE DRESS ZONE EXHIBIT

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

LANDLORD CONTROLLED CANOPY

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are 
encouraged within the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  

Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord supported colors, 
materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at one or 
more locations.

Landlord controlled canopies are not allowed to be modified by 
Tenant and must remain as is, unless otherwise determined by 
Landlord.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information
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END-CAP LOCATION

6 ELEVATION 6 - TRADE DRESS ZONE EXHIBIT

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

LANDLORD CONTROLLED CANOPY

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are 
encouraged within the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  

Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord supported colors, 
materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at one or 
more locations.

Landlord controlled canopies are not allowed to be modified by 
Tenant and must remain as is, unless otherwise determined by 
Landlord.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information

Designates storefront 
behind, excludes Landlord 
controlled brick column



11AUG 07.2020 TOWN CENTER CROSSING

OUTPARCEL TENANT DESIGN
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TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are encouraged 
within the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as 
Landlord supported colors, materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s 
branding at one or more locations.

Outparcel tenants are allowed to express their Trade Dress on all exterior 
facing facades with the exception that they follow the Landlord’s Exterior 
Finishes Guidelines.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information

N
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STOREFRONT DESIGN REFERENCE
The unique characteristics and quality Tenant mix of Town Center Crossing calls for 
bold, dynamic storefronts. Critical to the design integrity and success of the 
shopping center’s image are the individual contributions of each Tenant’s store. 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    September 22, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:   September 17, 2020 
 

TOWN CENTER PLAZA – DESIGN GUIDELINES – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL FOR A REVISED 
FINAL PLAN – LOCATED NORTH 119th STREET AND WEST OF ROE AVENUE – CASE 67-20 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends denial of Case 67-20, Town Center Plaza – Revised Design Guidelines – request for 
approval of a Revised Final Plan for the reasons stated in this report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is John Petersen with Polsinelli. 

 The property is owned by Leawood TCP, LLC. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Plan to modify the existing design criteria for 
the Town Center Plaza development, in the SD-CR zoning district. 

 If Case 74-20 (Leawood Development Ordinance amendment to Section 16-3-3, Administrative 
Approvals) is approved, City staff will use these design guidelines to administratively approve 
changes to the exterior facades of tenant finishes within Town Center Plaza. 
 

ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION:  
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of 117th Street is Parkway Plaza, zoned MXD (Mixed Use District), 
Directly north of Town Center Drive is the City of Leawood City Hall and the Johnson 
County Public Library, zoned RP-4 (Planned Cluster Residential, previous LDO) 

 South Directly south of 119th Street is the City of Overland Park, zoned R-1 (Single Family 
Residential). 

 East Directly east of Roe Avenue is Camelot Court, zoned SD-CR (Planned General 
Retail). 

 West Directly west is Nall Avenue and the City of Overland Park, zoned CP-O (Commercial 
Office) 

 
PROPOSED DESIGN GUIDELINES: 

 The revised design guidelines are limited to those tenants/buildings that are owned by Leawood TCP 
LLC.  Properties not included are: Macy’s, AMC, Dick’s Sporting Goods, Bristol, Hereford House, 
Shake Shack, Helzberg, Verizon, Houlihans, Restoration Hardware, Chase Bank, Walgreens, Central 
Bank, and T-Mobile. 

 The proposed application will modify existing design criteria for the Town Center Plaza development 
to allow administrative approval to changes in the tenant’s trade dress zones as identified in the 
guidelines. 

 The revisions to the design guidelines encourage the exterior finishes to reflect the tenant’s national 
branding within the trade dress zones.  They also encourage tenants to maximize their storefront height 
to increase their presence.  

 The trade dress zones within the main center are graphically identified by type, in-line tenants and 
specialty in-line tenants.  The trade dress zones for in-line tenants generally covers the storefronts of 
the tenant space.  The trade dress zones for specialty in-line tenant storefront design covers the entire 
façade of the specialty in-line tenant.  

  The revised design guidelines also address when the existing brick piers within the Town Center Plaza 
main center may be modified and/or removed.   
o Peirs that are in line with the tenants demsing walls must be maintained and cannot be modified.  
o Piers that are connected by an architectural header/bridge element to exterior colonnade columns 

cannot be removed of modified. 
o Piers that encompass all landlord controlled piers that are part of an architectural corner/sidewall 

can be modified by the tenant. 
o Piers along tenants lease line, but not connected architecturally to the exterior colonnade, can be 

modified or removed by the tenant.  

 All exterior facades of the outparcels included in these design guidelines are considered to be within 
the trade dress zones, and therefore may be modified. 

 The design guidelines provided by the applicant does not include out-lots not owned by the applicant.  

 The revised design guidelines do not place limitations on materials and colors. 
 
SIGNAGE:   

 Town Center Plaza has sign criteria approved by the Governing Body, and will not be altered with this 
application. 

 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The proposed design guidelines for Town Center Plaza do not contain specifics regarding materials, 
colors or design elements. If Case 74-20 (Leawood Development Ordinance amendment to Section 
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16-3-3, Administrative Approvals) is approved, City staff will use these design guidelines to 
administratively approve changes to the exterior facades of tenant finishes within Town Center Plaza.  
As currently written, the City will have little control regarding the exterior changes to facades, other 
than where on the facades the modifications are permitted. In the cases of specialty in-line  tenants 
and out parcels, the entirely of all facades are identified as trade dress zones that may be modified. 
This would reduce the City’s ability to have oversight over exterior changes to protect the aesthetic 
integrity of the development.  (Stipulation 2) 

 Prior to Governing Body consideration the design guidelines will be modified as follows. 
o Shall clarify that approval of exterior changes to tenant spaces, shall require approval of both the 

landlord and City of Leawood prior to building permit approval.  (Stipulation 3a) 
o The list of materials prohibited by the Leawood Development Ordinance shall in included by 

reference.  (Stipulation 3b) 
o Add an appeal process to the Planning Commission for recommendation and Governing Body for 

approval if a resolution between the applicant and the City of Leawood for administrative approval 
cannot be reached. (Stipulation 3c) 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends denial of Case 67-20, Town Center Plaza – Revised Design Guidelines – request for 
modifications to Town Center Plaza’s design guidelines for the reasons stated in this report.  If the Planning 
Commission were to approve, staff offers the following stipulations: 
1. The project is limited to design guideline changes for the Town Center Plaza development, zoned SD-

CR. 
2. Prior to Governing Body consideration, the applicant work with City staff to develop specifics regarding 

allowed materials, colors, and design elements permitted by these design guidelines. 
3. Prior to Governing Body consideration the design guidelines shall be modified as follows. 

a. Shall clarify that approval of exterior changes to tenant spaces, including the awning section of the 
design guidelines, shall require approval of both the landlord and City of Leawood prior to building 
permit approval.   

b. The list of prohibited materials within the Leawood Development Ordinance shall be incorporated 
into the design guidelines by reference. 

c. An appeal process to the Planning Commission for recommendation and Governing Body for 
approval shall be added in cases where a resolution between the applicant and the City of Leawood 
for administrative approval cannot be reached. 

4. Prior to Governing Body consideration, the applicant shall include the entire development, including 
outparcels and properties not owned by the applicant to also be part of the updated design guidelines. 

5. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 
ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation 
has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations 
one through five. 
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TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

APPROVALS

The approval process consists of the Landlord receiving plans, elevations, and 
other requested materials that conform to Landlord’s criteria requirements. 
Landlord must approve exterior tenant storefront and trade dress in writing 
prior to submission to the City of Leawood.  All plans for these exterior 
improvements must conform to all building code requirements. City of 
Leawood will confirm Landlord approval review plans and materials to affirm 
the plans are also in general conformance with the Final Site Plan Resolution 
for the Center.  If so, the City of Leawood will process the submitted plans for 
a building permit.  The Tenant improvements for the interior are subject to 
building permit review only.  

TENANT EXTERIOR FINISHES

Exterior finishes reflective of tenant’s national branding are encouraged within 
the Tenant Trade Dress Zones.  Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as Landlord 
supported colors, materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s branding at 
one or more other locations.  All colors, materials, and finishes used to convey 
tenant trade dress selected by Tenant must suggest quality, craftsmanship, 
elegance, innovation, and creativity and Landlord shall have the sole right to 
require modifications to ensure these finishes are appropriate for the center 
overall and conducive to all other tenants.  If Trade Dress is not applicable, 
Landlord shall have the sole right to require modifications to ensure these 
finishes are appropriate for the center overall, conducive to all other Tenants, 
or otherwise in conformance with this document.  

GENERAL INFORMATION

A. Tenant’s storefront shall be established six inches (6”) back from the face 
of the neutral pier.

B. Landlord will require glass, display windows, or other translucent 
materials within Tenant’s storefront.

C. Tenant shall not be permitted to install any opaque section of storefront 
over a length of six feet (6’) unless specific approval is granted by the Landlord.  

D. Should Tenant’s storefront be located within a curved or radial lease line 
area, it must be kept four inches (4”) back of Tenant’s lease line.

E. Construction that flattens or otherwise alters Tenant’s curved or radial 
lease line is not permitted.

F. Recessed out-swinging doors shall not extend past Tenant’s lease line 

when fully open.

G. Doors may be fully glazed, solid or any combination thereof.

STOREFRONT FINISH TREATMENTS

A. As a guideline, acceptable treatments include:
 
 1. Limestone, marble, granite and other natural stone products  
  carefully articulated and detailed;
 2. Lacquered surfaces in a minimum of four (4) coats;
 3. Metals, excluding laminates; and
 4. Stained or natural finished hardwoods.

B. The following are unacceptable finishes:
 
 1. Painted drywall, wallcovering, undetailed brick, rough   
  stucco, or anything Landlord would consider a non-durable  
  material or lacking in visual quality.
 2. ALL finishes that Landlord deems unacceptable for the center.

C. Glazing:
 
 1. Simulated, applied or reproduced glass in acrylic or Plexiglas is  
  not permitted.
 2. Mirrored glass is not permitted
 3. The use of attractive and high quality clips or brackets that  
  complement the design of store is required.

D. Lighting:
 
 1. Tenant shall not install pulsating or blinking, strobe, neon, or  
  otherwise an animated illumination.  

EXTERIOR AWNINGS

Overall, awnings are not required.  However, creative awnings at tenant 
entrances are encouraged which can be fabric or other materials approved 
by the Landlord.  Awnings are provided and installed by the Tenant as a 
part of the Tenant’s improvement work.  Awning design, colors, and finishes 
are subject to Landlord approval.  Awnings may be required by Landlord to 
convey a consistent architectural vocabulary at entrances and storefronts.

LANDLORD EXTERIOR MATERIALS

Exterior finishes outside the Tenant Trade Dress Zones shall not be altered 
by Tenant without prior approval by Landlord.  Modifications to the building 
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outside the Tenant Trade Dress Zones are subject to Planning and Zoning 
approval by the City of Leawood. Landlord will consider modifications to 
ensure tenant visibility, alignment with tenant trade dress needs, and quality 
of the modifications.  Proposed modifications should not significantly modify 
the overall architectural vocabulary of the center, however changes will be 
encouraged and supported by Landlord if those modifications suggest quality, 
craftsmanship, elegance, innovation, creativity, and general compatibility with 
the center.
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IN-LINE TENANT STOREFRONT DESIGN 
Tenant’s are encouraged to maximize their storefront height to 
increase their presence. Tenant storefront design is to be reviewed 
and approved by Landlord per the Landlord’s criteria requirements.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information 
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IN-LINE TENANT STOREFRONT DESIGN CONT. 
Tenant’s are encouraged to maximize their storefront height to 
increase their presence. Tenant storefront design is to be reviewed 
and approved by Landlord per the Landlord’s criteria requirements.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information 
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SPECIALTY IN-LINE TENANT 
STOREFRONT DESIGN

Specialty In-Line Tenants, are allowed to express their Trade Dress on all 
exterior facing facades but must adhere to the Landlord’s criteria 
requirements.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE
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PLAZA STOREFRONT DESIGN REFERENCE
Exciting and unique storefronts, merchandising designs and signage create a shopping 
and entertaining environment that attracts customers. Tenants are encouraged to create 
innovative and dramatic storefronts, interiors and signage compatible with the overall 
design quality of Town Center Plaza/Crossing. 
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STOREFRONT PIERS
At the Tenant’s storefront leaseline there are 4 conditions architectural piers that 
each Tenant must observe and abide by the guidelines stated in this criteria.   
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TENANT SPACE

ELEVATION

PLAN

REFERENCE IMAGE

SECTION

STOREFRONT PIER CONDITION 1

This condition encompasses all landlord controlled piers that occur in line 
with a Tenant demising wall and are considered part of the architecture of 
the building. 

Condition 1 piers are NOT to be modified by tenants and must remain as is. 
Tenant storefront finishes are to terminate in a clean finished manner into 
Landlord piers.
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REFERENCE IMAGE

TENANT SPACE

ELEVATION
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STOREFRONT PIER CONDITION 2

This condition encompasses all landlord controlled piers that are connected by 
an architectural header/bridge element to the exterior colonade columns. 

Condition 2 piers are NOT to be modified by tenants and must remain as is. 
Tenant storefront finishes are to terminate in a clean finished manner into 
Landlord piers.
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REFERENCE IMAGE
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TENANT SPACE

PLAN LINE OF EXTERIOR COLONADE

STOREFRONT PIER CONDITION 3

This condition encompasses all landlord controlled piers that are part of an 
architectural corner/sidewall.

Condition 3 piers can be modified by tenants. Tenants may incorporate finishes 
and signage per Landlord approval.
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PLAN REFERENCE IMAGE

TENANT SPACE
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STOREFRONT PIER CONDITION 4

Pier of brick or EIFS construction that exists along the Tenant leaseline and 
is not connected architecturally to the exterior colonade. A majority of the 
time the pier is a cladding around a structural column but not in every 
instance.  Tenant may modify the cladding but must leave structural column 
as is. All conditions to be verified in field.

Condition 4 piers can be removed / modified by Tenants to achieve a 
continuous storefont design. This condition is subject to Landlord approval.

Possible structural column
(Verify condition in field)
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PIER MAY BE REMOVED/MODIFIED BY 
TENANT W/ LANDLORD APPROVAL
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N

OUTPARCEL TENANT DESIGN
TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE

Exterior finishes reflective of Tenant’s national branding are encouraged 
within the Tenant Trade Dress Zone.  Tenant ‘Trade Dress’ is defined as 
Landlord supported colors, materials, and finishes considered a tenant’s 
branding at one or more locations.

Outparcel Tenants are allowed to express their Trade Dress on all exterior 
facing facades but must adhere to the Landlord’s criteria requirements.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information
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STOREFRONT DESIGN REFERENCE
The unique characteristics and quality Tenant mix of Town Center Crossing calls for 
bold, dynamic storefronts. Critical to the design integrity and success of the 
shopping center’s image are the individual contributions of each Tenant’s store. 
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MAJOR TENANT STOREFRONT DESIGN

Major Tenants, 50,000 sf and above, are allowed to express their Trade 
Dress on all exterior facing facades but must adhere to the Landlord’s 
criteria requirements.

Refer to sheet 2 for more information

Adjacent, Separately Owned, Not a Part of 
Storefront Design Criteria – Reference Only

TENANT TRADE DRESS ZONE
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    September 22, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:   September 17, 2020 
 

TOWN CENTER PLAZA – SIGN GUIDELINES – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL FOR A REVISED FINAL 
PLAN – LOCATED NORTH 119th STREET AND WEST OF ROE AVENUE – CASE 82-20 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 82-20, Town Center Plaza – Sign Guidelines – request for approval 
of revised sign guidelines, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is John Petersen with Polsinelli. 

 The property is owned by Leawood TCP, LLC. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Plan to modify the existing sign criteria for the 
Town Center Plaza development, in the SD-CR (Planned General Retail) zoning district. 

 Per Section 16-4-6.3, Office, Commercial and Industrial Signage in Planned Districts, the applicant is 
requesting approval of sign standards to replace the current sign criteria for Town Center Plaza.  This 
section of the Leawood Development Ordinance allows deviations in size, colors, location, number of 
signs, and illumination.    

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION:  
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of 117th Street is Park Place, zoned MXD (Mixed Use District), 
directly north of Town Center Drive is the City of Leawood City Hall and the 
Johnson County Public Library, zoned RP-4 (Planned Cluster Residential, previous 
LDO) 

 South Directly south of 119th Street is Hawthorne Plaza (retail shopping center), an 
assisted living center, and a single-family neighborhood, zoned R-1 (Single-Family 
Residential) all within the city of Overland Park. 

 East Directly east of Roe Avenue is Camelot Court, zoned SD-CR (Planned General 
Retail). 

 West Directly west is Nall Avenue. On the west side of Nall Avenue is the T-Mobile 
campus within the City of Overland Park, zoned CP-O (Commercial Office) 

 
PROPOSED SIGN CRITERIA: 

 Application is proposing to modify existing sign criteria for the Town Center Plaza development. 

 Pad sites not owned by TCP LLC are not part of the sign development standards proposed with this 
application.  The businesses not included with these sign criteria are: AMC, Dick’s Sporting Goods, 
Hereford House, American Century, T-Mobile/Sprint, Central Bank, Walgreens, Chase Bank, Shake 
Shack, Verizon, Helzberg and Houlihan’s.   

 The applicant has classified tenants within the main center into 12 Tenant Types, based on the type 
of façade that the tenant has to place signage on.   

 Signage is limited to the name or trade name of the tenant. 

 Façade signs are required to be internally face or halo illuminated, individual channel letters mounted 
to the building or an appropriate backer panel.  However, indirectly illuminated pin mounted letters 
may be considered on an individual basis. 

 Generally for tenants within the main center of Town Center Plaza the applicant is proposing that 
each tenant be allowed to have the following. 
o 1 Façade sign per exterior facing façade, with a maximum of 3 total. 
o 1 Awning sign per façade, but only for Tenant Types that are allowed to have awnings.  
o 1 Transom sign per exterior facing façade. 
o 1 Blade sign (mandatory)  

 Tenant Type 12, which is the subject of an application (Case 64-20) currently before the Planning 
Commission for First Ascent, climbing and fitness center, is proposed to be allowed the following 
signs. 
o 1 Façade sign per exterior facing façade, with a maximum of 3.  However the façade sign is to be 

mounted on a hard canopy. 
o 1 Tower sign per exterior facing façade, with a maximum of 3.  The tower sign must be mounted 

at an elevation greater than 40’ in height. 
o 1 Transom sign per exterior facing façade. 
o 1 Blade sign (mandatory) 

 The size of allowable façade signage is based on the size of the tenant space.  This is also how the 
current sign criteria for Town Center Plaza regulates the size of façade signs.  The following table 
shows the size of façade signs currently allowed, along with what is proposed.  The primary change 
was to allow small tenants to have letter heights up to 30” as opposed to 24”.   

Town Center Plaza-Currently Allowed Town Center Plaza-Proposed 

75,000 sq.ft. and up – 60”” 75,000 sq.ft. and up – 60” 

25,000 sq.ft. and up – 42” 25,000 sq.ft. –74,999 sq.ft. – 42” 
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Town Center Plaza-Currently Allowed Town Center Plaza-Proposed 

6,000 sq.ft. and up – 30” 0 sq.ft. – 24,999 ft. – 30” 

Below 6,000 sq.ft. – 24”  

 Façade signs must be centered in the sign area and cannot be more than 90% of the length and 85% 
of the sign area.  

 Tower signs are allowed to be 150% of the size of the façade sign, with a maximum of 60”. 

 Awning signs, where allowed, are to be white lettering on a black awning.  However, the landlord may 
approve an alternate awning color at the tenant’s request.  The lettering on the awning is restricted to 
90% of the length and 85% of the height of the vertical fascia band.  Transom signs will have a 
maximum of 8” letters. 

 Blade signs are required to be a maximum of 4 sq.ft., which is the current limitation within Town 
Center Plaza.   

 Tenant Type 10 is permitted to have a tenant logo on a portal header in lieu of a façade sign. Panera 
currently has a sign at this location, which is 36”.  The sign criteria states that if a future tenant 
wishes to have this sign in lieu of a façade sign, they would have to match the size that Panera 
currently has.  

 For out parcel tenants covered by the sign criteria, the applicant is proposing to be allowed the 
following. 
o 1 Façade sign, a maximum of 60”, per exterior facing façade, with a maximum of 4 signs. 
o 1 Awning sign per façade, not to exceed 90% of the length and 85% of the height of the vertical 

fascia band.   
o 1 Transom sign at their entry door that has lettering a maximum of 8”.   
o 1 Monument sign. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, tenant monument signs shall be a 

maximum of 50 sq.ft. and 6’ in height, and 10’ in length. 

 All sign types are to be a maximum of 5% of the façade. 

 The sign criteria proposes landlord monument signs, per the Leawood Development Ordinance, shall 
be a maximum of 50 sq.ft. and 6’ in height, and 10’ in length.   

 Monument signs are required to have illumination, and may be externally illuminated, internally halo 
illuminated, or push through acrylic letters.   

 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The Leawood Development Ordinance allows the following signage within the SD-CR district: 
Signs Permitted in SD-CR, SD-NCR, Districts 

Wall Sign or Canopy Sign or Awning Sign 
(must be located below eave or parapet) 

Allowable Type Signs identifying retail or services businesses 

Maximum Number 2 (1 per tenant façade) 

Maximum Area Five percent (5%) of building façade (not to exceed 200 sq. ft. per sign) 

Lighting Non-illuminated, externally-illuminated, halo-illuminated, push-through acrylic letters, 
or internally illuminated channel letters 

Monument Sign (can be double faced) 

Allowable Type Signs identifying a commercial development, or retail or service business 

Maximum Number None.  In lieu of one wall or canopy sign, may be allowed by the Governing Body 
after recommendation by the Planning Commission 

Maximum Area 50 sq. ft., including base 

Lighting Non-illuminated, externally-illuminated,  halo-illuminated, or push-through acrylic 
letters 
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 The proposed sign criteria allows multiple signs on a single façade.  Tenants within the main 
center of Town Center Plaza would be allowed the following on a single facade: one façade 
sign, one awning sign (for certain Tenant Types), one transom sign, and one blade sign.  
Tenant Type 12, within the main center, would be allowed to have: one façade sign, one tower 
sign, one transom sign, and one blade sign. In addition, with the exception of transom signs, 
which would be allowed above each entrance, these signs would be allowed on a maximum of 
3 facades. 

 
Out parcel tenants are allowed the following on a single façade: one façade sign, one awning 
sign, and one transom sign. With the exception of transom signs, which would be allowed 
above each entrance, these signs would be permitted on a maximum of 4 facades.  
 
In order to limit visual clutter, staff recommends that the sign criteria be limited to the following. 
o Each tenant within the main center (with the exception of Tenant Type 12) shall be limited 

to the following. 
 Either one façade sign, or one awning sign on a maximum of 2 facades, along with, 
 Either one transom sign, or one blade sign on a maximum of 2 facades. 

o For Tenant Type 12, staff recommends the following: 
 Either one façade sign, or one tower sign on a maximum of 2 facades, along with, 
 Either one transom sign, or one blade sign on a maximum of 2 facades.  

o Each out parcel shall be limited to the following: 
 Either one façade sign, or one awning sign on a maximum of 2 facades, however, a 

monument sign may be approved in lieu of a façade or awning sign, along with, 
 Either one transom sign, or one blade sign on a maximum of 2 facades. 

(Stipulation #5) 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 82-20, Town Center Plaza – Sign Guidelines 
– request for revised sign criteria, with the following stipulations: 

1. The project is limited to sign guideline changes for the Town Center Plaza development, zoned 
SD-CR. 

2. Prior to Governing Body consideration, all properties within the Town Center Development, 
including those not owned by TCP LLC. shall included and subject to the proposed revised sign 
criteria approved with this application. 

3. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance the maximum of all wall and canopy signs shall be 5% 
of the total area of the façade, 200 sq.ft., whichever is less or as permitted in Table 16-4-6.13 of 
the Leawood Development Ordinance.  

4. Prohibited signs shall reference the prohibited sign section of the Leawood Development 
Ordinance. 

5. Staff recommends that the sign criteria be modified as follows: 
A. Each tenant within the main center (with the exception of Tenant Type 12) shall be 

limited to the following. 
1) Either one façade sign, or one awning sign on a maximum of 2 facades, along 

with, 
2) Either one transom sign, or one blade sign on a maximum of 2 facades. 

B. For Tenant Type 12, staff recommends the following: 
1) Either one façade sign, or one tower sign on a maximum of 2 facades, along with, 
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2) Either one transom sign, or one blade sign on a maximum of 2 facades.  
C. Each out parcel shall be limited to the following: 

1) Either one façade sign, or one awning sign on a maximum of 2 facades, however, 
a monument sign may be approved in lieu of a façade or awning sign, along with, 

2) Either one transom sign, or one blade sign on a maximum of 2 facades. 
6. Prior to Governing Body review, the applicant shall conform to Leawood Development Ordinance 

16-4-6.15(B) 
a) The total square footage for temporary signs on any lot in any district, in the aggregate, shall 

not exceed forty-eight sq.ft., with no individual sign exceeding sixteen sq.ft. 
b) Signs shall not exceed five ft. in height measured from the average grade at the base of the 

sign. 
c) No sign shall be illuminated or painted with light reflecting paint. 

7. All signage shall require a sign permit from the City of Leawood prior to installation of the sign. 
8. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide 

by all ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless 
a deviation has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they 
agree to stipulations one through eight. 

 



SIGN DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS - PLAZA
SUBMITTED: JULY 31, 2020

REVISED: SEPTEMBER 09, 2020

algra
Text Box
Revised:  September 18, 2020

algra
Text Box




OVERALL TENANT TYPE PLANS

TENANT TYPE 1 SIGN EXHIBIT

TENANT TYPE 2 SIGN EXHIBIT

TENANT TYPE 3 SIGN EXHIBIT

TENANT TYPE 4 SIGN EXHIBIT

TENANT TYPE 5 SIGN EXHIBIT

TENANT TYPE 6 SIGN EXHIBIT

TENANT TYPE 7 SIGN EXHIBIT

TENANT TYPE 8 SIGN EXHIBIT

TENANT TYPE 9 SIGN EXHIBIT

TENANT TYPE 10 SIGN EXHIBIT

TENANT TYPE 11 SIGN EXHIBIT

TENANT TYPE 12 SIGN EXHIBIT

MULTI-FACADE TENANT SIGNAGE

BLADE SIGN EXHIBIT

FACADE SIGN REFERENCE

3-5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

37-39

23-36

PLAN

FACADE SIGN EXHIBIT

IN-LINE TENANT

TOWN CENTER PLAZA

OUTPARCEL TENANT - INTERNALLY OWNED

OUTPARCEL TENANT - ADJACENTLY OWNED

CONTENTS

GENERAL SIGNAGE CRITERIA

FACADE SIGN EXHIBITS



TOWN CENTER PLAZA



3SEPT.09.2020 TOWN CENTER PLAZA

1

1

6
3 3 3 5 8 8

4

9

3

11

3
3

4 4
1

TENANT TYPE 1

TENANT TYPE 2

TENANT TYPE 3

TENANT TYPE 4

TENANT TYPE 5

TENANT TYPE 6

TENANT TYPE 7

TENANT TYPE 8

TENANT TYPE 9

TENANT TYPE 10

TENANT TYPE 11

TENANT TYPE 12

TENANT TYPE 13

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13

N

N

IN-LINE TENANT TYPE PLAN West



4SEPT.09.2020 TOWN CENTER PLAZA

4 4

12

4 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 6 1 1

11

1
1

1 2 5 5 2 6 1
5

2 2

5 5

N

N

IN-LINE TENANT TYPE PLAN Center

TENANT TYPE 1

TENANT TYPE 2

TENANT TYPE 3

TENANT TYPE 4

TENANT TYPE 5

TENANT TYPE 6

TENANT TYPE 7

TENANT TYPE 8

TENANT TYPE 9

TENANT TYPE 10

TENANT TYPE 11

TENANT TYPE 12

TENANT TYPE 13

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13



5SEPT.09.2020 TOWN CENTER PLAZA

13

1 6 4 4 4 4
4
4 4

5
1

7
16

7
7
7
7
7

2
2

2

53 5

N

N

IN-LINE TENANT TYPE PLAN East

TENANT TYPE 1

TENANT TYPE 2

TENANT TYPE 3

TENANT TYPE 4

TENANT TYPE 5

TENANT TYPE 6

TENANT TYPE 7

TENANT TYPE 8

TENANT TYPE 9

TENANT TYPE 10

TENANT TYPE 11

TENANT TYPE 12

TENANT TYPE 13

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13



6SEPT.09.2020 TOWN CENTER PLAZA

N

1

1

1

1A 1 1 1

1 1

1

1

1

1

1A

FACADE SIGN SPACE

The Facade Sign Space occurs in the rectangular brick area within 
the pronounced entry portal as shown. All Type 1 Tenants with this 
facade style must follow this exhibit as stated. Existing Tenant signs 
not in compliance with this exhibit will be grandfathered in.

TENANT TYPE 1 - SIGN EXHIBIT

TYPICAL TYPE 1 REFERENCE

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the 
“Sign Space”. Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior 
facing facade, three (3) max. The sign unit must be centered within 
the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a maximum 90% 
length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

AWNING SIGN: (Y) = Sign height
One (1) per facade, size not to exceed 90% length and 85% height 
of vertical fascia band. Sign letters to be white on a black awning. 
Tenant may request an alternate awning color that coincides with 
their marketing. (To be approved by Landlord and City of Leawood) 

WINDOW SIGN: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy 
that exists over their entry doors may include a sign that identifies 
their business within their storefront window, in the transom area 
directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior facing facade, 
8” maximum letter height.  
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E2 TENANT TYPE 2 - SIGN EXHIBIT
The Facade Sign Space occurs in the rectangular brick area above 
the colonnade as shown. All type 2 Tenants with this facade style 
must follow this exhibit as stated. Existing Tenant signs not in 
compliance with this exhibit will be grandfathered in.

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the 
“Sign Space”. Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior 
facing facade, three (3) max. The sign unit must be centered within 
the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a maximum 90% 
length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf - 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

FACADE SIGN SPACE

WINDOW SIGN: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy 
that exists over their entry doors may include a sign that identifies 
their business within their storefront window, in the transom area 
directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior facing facade, 
8” maximum letter height.  
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TYPICAL TYPE 3 REFERENCE
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E3 TENANT TYPE 3 - SIGN EXHIBIT

N

The Facade Sign Space occurs on the EIFS band above roofline as 
shown. All type 3 Tenants with this facade style must follow this 
exhibit as stated. Existing Tenant signs not in compliance with this 
exhibit will be grandfathered in.

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the 
“Sign Space”. Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior 
facing facade, three (3) max. The sign unit must be centered within 
the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a maximum 90% 
length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf - 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

FACADE SIGN SPACE

WINDOW SIGN: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy 
that exists over their entry doors may include a sign that identifies 
their business within their storefront window, in the transom area 
directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior facing facade, 
8” maximum letter height.  
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TYPICAL TYPE 4 REFERENCE
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4 TENANT TYPE 4 - SIGN EXHIBIT
The Facade Sign Space occurs on the EIFS band above the Tenant 
space as shown. All type 4 Tenants with this facade style must follow 
this exhibit as stated. Existing Tenant signs not in compliance with 
this exhibit will be grandfathered in.

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the 
“Sign Space”. Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior 
facing facade, three (3) max. The sign unit must be centered within 
the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a maximum 90% 
length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf - 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

FACADE SIGN SPACE

AWNING SIGN: (Y) = Sign height
One (1) per facade, size not to exceed 90% length and 85% height of 
vertical fascia band. Sign letters to be white on a black awning. 
Tenant may request an alternate awning color that coincides with 
their marketing. (To be approved by Landlord and City of Leawood) 

WINDOW SIGN: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy 
that exists over their entry doors may include a sign that identifies 
their business within their storefront window, in the transom area 
directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior facing facade, 
8” maximum letter height.  
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TYPICAL TYPE 5 REFERENCE
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5 TENANT TYPE 5 - SIGN EXHIBIT
The Facade Sign Space occurs on the brick area above the Tenant 
space as shown. All type 5 Tenants with this facade style must follow 
this exhibit as stated. Existing Tenant signs not in compliance with 
this exhibit will be grandfathered in.

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the 
“Sign Space”. Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior 
facing facade, three (3) max. The sign unit must be centered within 
the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a maximum 90% 
length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf - 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

FACADE SIGN SPACE

WINDOW SIGN: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy 
that exists over their entry doors may include a sign that identifies 
their business within their storefront window, in the transom area 
directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior facing facade, 
8” maximum letter height.  
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TYPICAL TYPE 6 REFERENCE
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6 TENANT TYPE 6 - SIGN EXHIBIT
The Facade Sign Space occurs in the rectangular brick area within 
the pronounced entry portal as shown. All type 6 Tenants with this 
facade style must follow this exhibit as stated. Existing Tenant signs 
not in compliance with this exhibit will be grandfathered in.

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the 
“Sign Space”. Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior 
facing facade, three (3) max. The sign unit must be centered within 
the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a maximum 90% 
length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf - 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

FACADE SIGN SPACE

WINDOW SIGN: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy 
that exists over their entry doors may include a sign that identifies 
their business within their storefront window, in the transom area 
directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior facing facade, 
8” maximum letter height.  
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TYPICAL TYPE 7 REFERENCE

7 TENANT TYPE 7 - SIGN EXHIBIT
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The Facade Sign Space occurs in the brick area above the Tenant 
storefront as shown. All type 7 Tenants with this facade style must 
follow this exhibit as stated. Existing Tenant signs not in compliance 
with this exhibit will be grandfathered in.

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the 
“Sign Space”. Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior 
facing facade, three (3) max. The sign unit must be centered within 
the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a maximum 90% 
length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf - 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

FACADE SIGN SPACE

AWNING SIGN: (Y) = Sign height
One (1) per facade, size not to exceed 90% length and 85% height 
of vertical fascia band. Sign letters to be white on a black awning. 
Tenant may request an alternate awning color that coincides with 
their marketing. (To be approved by Landlord and City of Leawood) 

WINDOW SIGN: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy 
that exists over their entry doors may include a sign that identifies 
their business within their storefront window, in the transom area 
directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior facing facade, 
8” maximum letter height.  
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8 TENANT TYPE 8 - SIGN EXHIBIT

TYPICAL TYPE 8 REFERENCE

The Facade Sign Space occurs in the EIFS area above the tenant 
storefront as shown.  All type 8 Tenants with this facade style must 
follow this exhibit as stated. Existing Tenant signs not in compliance 
with this exhibit will be grandfathered in.

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the 
“Sign Space”. Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior 
facing facade, three (3) max. The sign unit must be centered within 
the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a maximum 90% 
length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf - 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

FACADE SIGN SPACE

AWNING SIGN: (Y) = Sign height
One (1) per facade, size not to exceed 90% length and 85% height 
of vertical fascia band. Sign letters to be white on a black awning. 
Tenant may request an alternate awning color that coincides with 
their marketing. (To be approved by Landlord and City of Leawood) 

WINDOW SIGN: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy 
that exists over their entry doors may include a sign that identifies 
their business within their storefront window, in the transom area 
directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior facing facade, 
8” maximum letter height.  
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9 TENANT TYPE 9 - SIGN EXHIBIT

TYPICAL TYPE 9 REFERENCE

The Facade Sign Space occurs in the rectangular brick area above 
the Tenant storefront as shown. All type 9 Tenants with this facade 
style must follow this exhibit as stated. Existing Tenant signs not in 
compliance with this exhibit will be grandfathered in.

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the 
“Sign Space”. Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior 
facing facade, three (3) max. The sign unit must be centered within 
the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a maximum 90% 
length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf - 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

FACADE SIGN SPACE

AWNING SIGN: (Y) = Sign height
One (1) per facade, size not to exceed 90% length and 85% height 
of vertical fascia band. Sign letters to be white on a black awning. 
Tenant may request an alternate awning color that coincides with 
their marketing. (To be approved by Landlord and City of Leawood) 

WINDOW SIGN: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy 
that exists over their entry doors may include a sign that identifies 
their business within their storefront window, in the transom area 
directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior facing facade, 
8” maximum letter height.  
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10 TENANT TYPE 10 - SIGN EXHIBIT

TYPICAL TYPE 10 REFERENCE

The Facade Sign Space occurs in the EIFS area above the tenant 
storefront as shown. All type 10 Tenants with this facade must follow 
this exhibit as stated. Existing Tenant signs not in compliance with 
this exhibit will be grandfathered in.

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the 
“Sign Space”. Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior 
facing facade, three (3) max. The sign unit must be centered within 
the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a maximum 90% 
length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf - 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

FACADE SIGN SPACE

AWNING SIGN: (Y) = Sign height
One (1) per facade, size not to exceed 90% length and 85% height 
of vertical fascia band. Sign letters to be white on a black awning. 
Tenant may request an alternate awning color that coincides with 
their marketing. (To be approved by Landlord and City of Leawood) 

WINDOW SIGN: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy 
that exists over their entry doors may include a sign that identifies 
their business within their storefront window, in the transom area 
directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior facing facade, 
8” maximum letter height.  

(X
)

(X
)

(Y
)

(Y
)

12
”

 M
IN

12
”

 M
IN

12
”

 M
IN

12
”

 M
IN

24”
MIN

12”
MIN

12”
MIN

24”
MIN

Tenant logo on portal header is allowed in Lieu of 
a facade sign, future Tenant is to match existing size. 
Future tenant may choose to remove portal. If an 
awning is incorporated into future Tenanr’s design 
they shall follow the stated awning criteria. 
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11

TYPICAL TYPE 11 EXHIBIT

LE
A

S
E

 L
IN

E

11 TENANT TYPE 11 - SIGN EXHIBIT
The Facade Sign Space occurs in the brick area above the tenant 
storefront as shown. All type 11 Tenants with this facade must follow 
this exhibit as stated. Existing Tenant signs not in compliance with 
this exhibit will be grandfathered in.

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the 
“Sign Space”. Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior 
facing facade, three (3) max. The sign unit must be centered within 
the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a maximum 90% 
length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf - 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

FACADE SIGN SPACE

AWNING SIGN: (Y) = Sign height
One (1) per facade, size not to exceed 90% length and 85% height 
of vertical fascia band. Sign letters to be white on a black awning. 
Tenant may request an alternate awning color that coincides with 
their marketing. (To be approved by Landlord and City of Leawood) 

WINDOW SIGN: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy 
that exists over their entry doors may include a sign that identifies 
their business within their storefront window, in the transom area 
directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior facing facade, 
8” maximum letter height.  

(Y
)

12” MIN TYP.

(X
)

6”  M
IN

6”  M
IN

12” MIN
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N

TYPICAL TYPE 13 REFERENCE

13

12

FACADE SIGNAGE SPACE

The Facade Sign Space occurs on top of the canopy structure. Tower 
Signage Space occurs in the Tenant facade area greater than 40’-0” 
above grade. All type 13 Tenants with this facade must follow this 
exhibit as stated. Tenant signs not in compliance with this exhibit  will 
be grandfathered in.

TENANT TYPE 12 - SIGN EXHIBIT

TOWER SIGNAGE SPACE

Facade and Tower signage are limited to the exterior facing 
facades. One (1) Facade Sign allowed per exterior facing facade, 
three (3) max. One (1) Tower Sign per exterior facing facade, one 
(1) max. The sign unit must be centered within the designated 
Facade or Tower Sign Space,  must be a maximum 90% length 
and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% of 
facade or 200 sf Max

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf - 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

TOWER SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (Y) = Sign Height
150% of Facade Sign Height, 60” Max height

WINDOW SIGN: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy 
that exists over their entry doors may include a sign that identifies 
their business within their storefront window, in the transom area 
directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior facing facade, 
8” maximum letter height.  

24” MIN TYP.

(Y
)

(X
)

TOWER SIGN SPACE
GREATER THAN EL: 40’-0”
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N

Tenants that have multiple exteror facing facades may choose to 
have one (1) Facade Sign per exterior facing facade, three (3) max. 
They may also include one awning sign per facade per the 
guidelines below.

TYPICAL MULTI-FACADE TENANT SIGNAGE EXHIBIT

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf - 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

Additional primary
and awning sign on
adjacent facade TYP.

6” MIN setback from
all architectural elements

12" MIN
       TYP. 12" MIN

       TYP.

MULTI-FACADE 
TENANT SIGNAGE

AWNING SIGN: (Y) = Sign height
One (1) per facade, size not to exceed 90% length and 85% height 
of vertical fascia band. Sign letters to be white on a black awning. 
Tenant may request an alternate awning color that coincides with 
their marketing. (To be approved by Landlord and City of Leawood) 



19SEPT.09.2020 TOWN CENTER PLAZA

ELEVATION

TENANT SPACE

REFERENCE IMAGE

LE
A

S
E
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E
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E SECTION
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A
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E

Required one (1) per Storefront, four (4) square foot max. Letter height shall be six (6) inches max. Blade sign 
design shall be submitted with tenant package for review and approval. The blade sign shall be located on an 
elevation and clear height to bottom of sign shall be indicated. Decorative brackets and sign design, reference 
example 1, are to reflect the qualities of the tenant and the shopping center in its entirety. Blade signs are 
encouraged to have a three- dimensional quality and will be reviewed on an individual basis. Internally lit box 
sign type blade signs are prohibited.
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TENANT BLADE SIGN
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FACADE SIGNAGE REFERENCE
Tenant identity signage shall be constructed according to the specifications noted 
within the Criteria Manual. All signs must be illuminated and shall derive light from a 
concealed source. No exposed lamps, globes, tubes, etc. will be permitted.  Please 
refer to Sign Development Standards for additional information.
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N

OUTPARCEL TENANT PLAN
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OUTPARCEL TENANT FACADE SIGNAGE

30
”

M
A

X (X
)

(X
)

FACADE SIGN SPACE

6”  M
IN

6”  M
IN

24” MIN

6”  M
IN

6”  M
IN

6”  M
IN

T
Y

P
.

24” MIN 24” MIN 24” MIN

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the 
“Sign Space”. Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior 
facing facade, four (4) max. The sign unit must be centered within 
the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a maximum 90% 
length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade.

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf - 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

AWNING SIGN: (Y) = Sign height
One (1) per facade, size not to exceed 90% length and 85% height 
of vertical fascia band. Sign letters to be white on a black awning. 
Tenant may request an alternate awning color that coincides with 
their marketing. (To be approved by Landlord and City of Leawood) 



OUTPARCEL TENANTS - ADJACENTLY OWNED
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EXISTING CONDITIONS

FACADE SIGN SPACE

QUANTITY: 2 EXISTING FACADE SIGNS (4 MAX)

DICK’S SPORTING GOODS - SIGN EXHIBIT

Adjacent, Separately Owned, Not a Part of Sign 
Development Standards – Reference Only

The Facade Sign is to be located on the Tenant’s exterior facing facade. One 
(1) Facade Sign allowed per exterior facing facade, four (4) max. Refer to 
“Monument Signage - Out Parcel” for monument sign information.

Images are included as reference materials only with the purpose of 
demonstrating conformance and alignment with the separate Sign 
Development Standards for Town Center Plaza.  These signs are presently 
subject to the LDO and previous sign criteria, yet they are also in general 
conformance with both the LDO and the Sign Development Standards for 
Town Center Plaza.
  
The City of Leawood may, under separate application, include this parcel in 
the Town Center Plaza Sign Development Standards with the permission of 
the property owner of the Parcel and owner of the main center.

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

(X
)
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QUANTITY: 3 EXISTING FACADE SIGNS (4 MAX)

EXISTING CONDITIONS

AMC - SIGN EXHIBIT

FACADE SIGN SPACE

(X
)

(X
)

(X
)

(X
)

(X
)

Adjacent, Separately Owned, Not a Part of Sign 
Development Standards – Reference Only

The Facade Sign is to be located on the Tenant’s exterior facing facade. One 
(1) Facade Sign allowed per exterior facing facade, four (4) max. Refer to 
“Monument Signage - Out Parcel” for monument sign information.

Images are included as reference materials only with the purpose of 
demonstrating conformance and alignment with the separate Sign 
Development Standards for Town Center Plaza.  These signs are presently 
subject to the LDO and previous sign criteria, yet they are also in general 
conformance with both the LDO and the Sign Development Standards for 
Town Center Plaza.
  
The City of Leawood may, under separate application, include this parcel in 
the Town Center Plaza Sign Development Standards with the permission of 
the property owner of the Parcel and owner of the main center.

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)
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QUANTITY: 2 EXISTING FACADE SIGNS (4 MAX)

EXISTING CONDITIONS

FACADE SIGN SPACE

HEREFORD HOUSE - SIGN EXHIBIT

Adjacent, Separately Owned, Not a Part of Sign 
Development Standards – Reference Only

The Facade Sign is to be located on the Tenant’s exterior facing facade. One 
(1) Facade Sign allowed per exterior facing facade, four (4) max. Refer to 
“Monument Signage - Out Parcel” for monument sign information.

Images are included as reference materials only with the purpose of 
demonstrating conformance and alignment with the separate Sign 
Development Standards for Town Center Plaza.  These signs are presently 
subject to the LDO and previous sign criteria, yet they are also in general 
conformance with both the LDO and the Sign Development Standards for 
Town Center Plaza.
  
The City of Leawood may, under separate application, include this parcel in 
the Town Center Plaza Sign Development Standards with the permission of 
the property owner of the Parcel and owner of the main center.

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

(X
)

(X
)
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QUANTITY: 2 EXISTING FACADE SIGNS (4 MAX)

EXISTING CONDITIONS

FACADE SIGN SPACE

AMERICAN CENTURY - SIGN EXHIBIT

Adjacent, Separately Owned, Not a Part of Sign 
Development Standards – Reference Only

The Facade Sign is to be located on the Tenant’s exterior facing facade. One 
(1) Facade Sign allowed per exterior facing facade, four (4) max. Refer to 
“Monument Signage - Out Parcel” for monument sign information.

Images are included as reference materials only with the purpose of 
demonstrating conformance and alignment with the separate Sign 
Development Standards for Town Center Plaza.  These signs are presently 
subject to the LDO and previous sign criteria, yet they are also in general 
conformance with both the LDO and the Sign Development Standards for 
Town Center Plaza.
  
The City of Leawood may, under separate application, include this parcel in 
the Town Center Plaza Sign Development Standards with the permission of 
the property owner of the Parcel and owner of the main center.

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

(X
)

(X
)
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QUANTITY: 2 EXISTING FACADE SIGNS (4 MAX)

EXISTING CONDITIONS

FACADE SIGN SPACE

SPRINT STORE - SIGN EXHIBIT

Adjacent, Separately Owned, Not a Part of Sign 
Development Standards – Reference Only

The Facade Sign is to be located on the Tenant’s exterior facing facade. One 
(1) Facade Sign allowed per exterior facing facade, four (4) max. Refer to 
“Monument Signage - Out Parcel” for monument sign information.

Images are included as reference materials only with the purpose of 
demonstrating conformance and alignment with the separate Sign 
Development Standards for Town Center Plaza.  These signs are presently 
subject to the LDO and previous sign criteria, yet they are also in general 
conformance with both the LDO and the Sign Development Standards for 
Town Center Plaza.
  
The City of Leawood may, under separate application, include this parcel in 
the Town Center Plaza Sign Development Standards with the permission of 
the property owner of the Parcel and owner of the main center.

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

(X
)

(X
)
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QUANTITY: 2 EXISTING FACADE SIGNS (4 MAX)

EXISTING CONDITIONS

FACADE SIGN SPACE

CENTRAL BANK - SIGN EXHIBIT

Adjacent, Separately Owned, Not a Part of Sign 
Development Standards – Reference Only

The Facade Sign is to be located on the Tenant’s exterior facing facade. One 
(1) Facade Sign allowed per exterior facing facade, four (4) max. Refer to 
“Monument Signage - Out Parcel” for monument sign information.

Images are included as reference materials only with the purpose of 
demonstrating conformance and alignment with the separate Sign 
Development Standards for Town Center Plaza.  These signs are presently 
subject to the LDO and previous sign criteria, yet they are also in general 
conformance with both the LDO and the Sign Development Standards for 
Town Center Plaza.
  
The City of Leawood may, under separate application, include this parcel in 
the Town Center Plaza Sign Development Standards with the permission of 
the property owner of the Parcel and owner of the main center.

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

(X
)

(X
)
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QUANTITY: 2 EXISTING FACADE SIGNS (4 MAX)

EXISTING CONDITIONS

FACADE SIGN SPACE

WALLGREENS - SIGN EXHIBIT

Adjacent, Separately Owned, Not a Part of Sign 
Development Standards – Reference Only

The Facade Sign is to be located on the Tenant’s exterior facing facade. One 
(1) Facade Sign allowed per exterior facing facade, four (4) max. Refer to 
“Monument Signage - Out Parcel” for monument sign information.

Images are included as reference materials only with the purpose of 
demonstrating conformance and alignment with the separate Sign 
Development Standards for Town Center Plaza.  These signs are presently 
subject to the LDO and previous sign criteria, yet they are also in general 
conformance with both the LDO and the Sign Development Standards for 
Town Center Plaza.
  
The City of Leawood may, under separate application, include this parcel in 
the Town Center Plaza Sign Development Standards with the permission of 
the property owner of the Parcel and owner of the main center.

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

(X
)

(X
)

(X
)
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QUANTITY: 2 EXISTING FACADE SIGNS (4 MAX)

EXISTING CONDITIONS

FACADE SIGN SPACE

CHASE BANK - SIGN EXHIBIT

Adjacent, Separately Owned, Not a Part of Sign 
Development Standards – Reference Only

The Facade Sign is to be located on the Tenant’s exterior facing facade. One 
(1) Facade Sign allowed per exterior facing facade, four (4) max. Refer to 
“Monument Signage - Out Parcel” for monument sign information.

Images are included as reference materials only with the purpose of 
demonstrating conformance and alignment with the separate Sign 
Development Standards for Town Center Plaza.  These signs are presently 
subject to the LDO and previous sign criteria, yet they are also in general 
conformance with both the LDO and the Sign Development Standards for 
Town Center Plaza.
  
The City of Leawood may, under separate application, include this parcel in 
the Town Center Plaza Sign Development Standards with the permission of 
the property owner of the Parcel and owner of the main center.

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

(X
)

(X
)
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QUANTITY: 2 EXISTING FACADE SIGNS (4 MAX)

EXISTING CONDITIONS

FACADE SIGN SPACE

SHAKE SHACK - SIGN EXHIBIT

Adjacent, Separately Owned, Not a Part of Sign 
Development Standards – Reference Only

The Facade Sign is to be located on the Tenant’s exterior facing facade. One 
(1) Facade Sign allowed per exterior facing facade, four (4) max. Refer to 
“Monument Signage - Out Parcel” for monument sign information.

Images are included as reference materials only with the purpose of 
demonstrating conformance and alignment with the separate Sign 
Development Standards for Town Center Plaza.  These signs are presently 
subject to the LDO and previous sign criteria, yet they are also in general 
conformance with both the LDO and the Sign Development Standards for 
Town Center Plaza.
  
The City of Leawood may, under separate application, include this parcel in 
the Town Center Plaza Sign Development Standards with the permission of 
the property owner of the Parcel and owner of the main center.

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

(X
)

(X
)
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QUANTITY: 3 EXISTING FACADE SIGNS (4 MAX)

EXISTING CONDITIONS

FACADE SIGN SPACE

VERIZON - SIGN EXHIBIT

Adjacent, Separately Owned, Not a Part of Sign 
Development Standards – Reference Only

The Facade Sign is to be located on the Tenant’s exterior facing facade. One 
(1) Facade Sign allowed per exterior facing facade, four (4) max. Refer to 
“Monument Signage - Out Parcel” for monument sign information.

Images are included as reference materials only with the purpose of 
demonstrating conformance and alignment with the separate Sign 
Development Standards for Town Center Plaza.  These signs are presently 
subject to the LDO and previous sign criteria, yet they are also in general 
conformance with both the LDO and the Sign Development Standards for 
Town Center Plaza.
  
The City of Leawood may, under separate application, include this parcel in 
the Town Center Plaza Sign Development Standards with the permission of 
the property owner of the Parcel and owner of the main center.

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

(X
)

(X
)

(X
)
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QUANTITY: 2 EXISTING FACADE SIGNS (4 MAX)

EXISTING CONDITIONS

FACADE SIGN SPACE

HELZBERG DIAMONDS - SIGN EXHIBIT

Adjacent, Separately Owned, Not a Part of Sign 
Development Standards – Reference Only

The Facade Sign is to be located on the Tenant’s exterior facing facade. One 
(1) Facade Sign allowed per exterior facing facade, four (4) max. Refer to 
“Monument Signage - Out Parcel” for monument sign information.

Images are included as reference materials only with the purpose of 
demonstrating conformance and alignment with the separate Sign 
Development Standards for Town Center Plaza.  These signs are presently 
subject to the LDO and previous sign criteria, yet they are also in general 
conformance with both the LDO and the Sign Development Standards for 
Town Center Plaza.
  
The City of Leawood may, under separate application, include this parcel in 
the Town Center Plaza Sign Development Standards with the permission of 
the property owner of the Parcel and owner of the main center.

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

(X
)

(X
)
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QUANTITY: 2 EXISTING FACADE SIGNS (4 MAX)

EXISTING CONDITIONS:

FACADE SIGN SPACE

HOULIHAN’S - SIGN EXHIBIT

Adjacent, Separately Owned, Not a Part of Sign 
Development Standards – Reference Only

The Facade Sign is to be located on the Tenant’s exterior facing facade. One 
(1) Facade Sign allowed per exterior facing facade, four (4) max. Refer to 
“Monument Signage - Out Parcel” for monument sign information.

Images are included as reference materials only with the purpose of 
demonstrating conformance and alignment with the separate Sign 
Development Standards for Town Center Plaza.  These signs are presently 
subject to the LDO and previous sign criteria, yet they are also in general 
conformance with both the LDO and the Sign Development Standards for 
Town Center Plaza.
  
The City of Leawood may, under separate application, include this parcel in 
the Town Center Plaza Sign Development Standards with the permission of 
the property owner of the Parcel and owner of the main center.

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

(X
)

(X
)
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QUANTITY: 3 EXISTING FACADE SIGNS (4 MAX)

EXISTING CONDITIONS

FACADE SIGN SPACE

MACY’S - SIGN EXHIBIT

Adjacent, Separately Owned, Not a Part of Sign 
Development Standards – Reference Only

The Facade Sign is to be located on the Tenant’s exterior facing facade. One 
(1) Facade Sign allowed per exterior facing facade, four (4) max. Refer to 
“Monument Signage - Out Parcel” for monument sign information.

Images are included as reference materials only with the purpose of 
demonstrating conformance and alignment with the separate Sign 
Development Standards for Town Center Plaza.  These signs are presently 
subject to the LDO and previous sign criteria, yet they are also in general 
conformance with both the LDO and the Sign Development Standards for 
Town Center Plaza.
  
The City of Leawood may, under separate application, include this parcel in 
the Town Center Plaza Sign Development Standards with the permission of 
the property owner of the Parcel and owner of the main center.

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

(X
)
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GENERAL SIGNAGE CRITERIA

Signs must meet these criteria, which has been approved by the City of 
Leawood.  Tenant shall submit signs for permit to the City of Leawood.  The 
submission package must conform to City requirements, conform to this criteria, 
and include an approval letter from Landlord.  City of Leawood Staff will review 
for conformance with this Criteria, and if so, the sign may receive a building 
permit for installation.  Any signs out of conformance with this Criteria shall 
either be modifi ed to conform or Tenant, with prior Landlord approval, shall 
submit materials for a variance or other necessary approval as defi ned and 
required by the City of Leawood.  

1. Tenant must identify its space by producing signage for its storefront which 
is appropriate, creative and complimentary to the architecture of its respective 
storefront. Tenant signs shall be limited to business or trade name of the premises 
as it appears on the lease.

2. Fabrication and installation of Tenant’s signage is strictly Tenant’s responsibility 
once approved by Landlord and the City

3. Shop drawings of Tenant’s signage must be submitted to Landlord showing 
the sign as it would be seen on Tenant’s storefront, the technical documentation 
of the sign in proper scale, a section of the sign showing all mechanicals and the 
specifi cations as well as color samples in the sign and fi eld colors for Landlord 
approval.

4. Signage shall be affi xed to the designated areas outlined in the Tenant Type 
Signage Exhibits only.

5.  Double stacked Tenant names shall be allowed on an individual basis only and 
are subject to Landlord approval.  Multi-line signs shall fi t within the Landlord 
areas as determined by the Landlord’s Representative or as shown on exhibits.

6. Signage Design Guidelines:
Signage shall be internally face or halo illuminated individual channel letters 
mounted to the building facade or appropriate sign backer, not including 
raceways. Face illuminated letters are to have a translucent lens to conceal internal 
light source. (No exposed light source). Indirectly illuminated pin-mounted letters 
will be considered for approval, but will be reviewed on an individual basis. 
Materials / fi nishes, e.g. paint, metal, acrylic, wood or stone are to be higher 
quality and appropriate for commercial use.  Tenants may choose colors and fonts 
that align with their branding/trade dress but are subject to review and approval 
by Landlord.

8. Prohibited Signs
A. Signs which are attached to any tree, fence, branch, another sign, or utility 

pole when such sign is
located on public property, including right-of-way, provided, however, that this 
prohibition shall not apply to warning signs issued and properly posted by a 
utility company.
B. Signs other than those specifi cally allowed by this Ordinance that are 
capable of being carried, wheeled or moved from one location to another.
C. Attention-attracting devices not specifi cally allowed by this Ordinance.
D. Flashing or blinking signs.
E. Neon window signs.
F. Electronic display signs, with the exception of drive-thru menu boards, order 
confi rmation displays, and pre-order menu boards.
G. Strings of light bulbs except when used for decorative purposes during a 
holiday season and not in excess of 7 1/2 watts. Said strings of bulbs may not 
traverse street rights-of-way.
H. Roof signs.
I. Rotating signs.
J. Animated signs.
K. Digital readout signs, with the exception of drive-thru menu boards, order 
confi rmation displays, and pre-order menu boards.
L. Changeable copy signs, with the exception of drive-thru menu boards, 
drive-thru order confi rmation displays, and pre-order menu boards.
M. Signs painted directly on exterior walls or surfaces.
N. Signs whose source of illumination is visible from off site.
O. Any sign within the public right-of-way, or on other public property, not 
authorized by the Governing Body.
P. Any sign which displays obscene matter.
Q. Pole signs.
R. Any sign that blocks the clear sight triangle of an intersection.
S. Real estate advertisements and signs not fairly and truthfully imparting 
to the public accurate information in regard to zoning classifi cation and 
Comprehensive Plan information.
T. Signs displayed with twirlers, fl ags, balloons or other paraphernalia.
U. Illuminated signs with exposed incandescent bulbs or exposed incandescent 
fl uorescent tubes.
V. Signage associated with a drive-thru other than as explicitly permitted within 
this ordinance.
W. Signs which have been allowed to fall into a state of disrepair, without a 
clean and neat appearance.
X. Signs which are applied or affi xed to a sidewalk, crosswalk, curb, curbstone, 
lamppost, hydrant, tree, shrub, tree stake or guard, railroad trestle, electric 
light or power or telephone or telegraph pole, or wire appurtenance thereof 
or upon any fi xture of the fi re alarm or police alarm system or upon any lighting 
system, public bridge, street sign or traffi c sign.
Y. Signs placed at intersections of any street in such a manner as to obstruct 
free and clear vision; or any location where, by reason of the position, shape 
or color, the sign may interfere with, obstruct the view of, or be confused with 
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any authorized traffi c sign, signal or device; or which makes use of the words 
“stop,” “look,” “drive-in,” “danger,” or any other word, phrase, symbol or 
character in such manner as to interfere with or mislead or confuse traffi c.
Z. Signs placed in the sight triangle of any roadway corner. The sight triangle 
shall be defi ned as the Intersection Sight Distance that shall conform with A 
Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets, Latest Edition, American 
Association of State Highway and Transportation Offi cials. .
AA. Box signs, “cut-sheet,” or other sign types where the entire sign surface is 
illuminated, with the exception of drive-thru menu boards, order confi rmation 
displays, and pre-order menu boards.
BB. Permanent signs which identify phone numbers, product, or any other 
specifi c information about the tenant beyond the name of the tenant.
CC. ALL signs Landlord deems inappropriate for the center

9. The advertising or informative content of all signs shall be limited to letters 
designating the store name or trade name.

10. Tenant is required to submit all signage as part of its design plans for Landlord’s 
review and approval of the character, design, color and layout.

11. Should Tenant be in a corner location and have multiple exterior facades, 
Tenant may have one (1) additional Facade sign, one (1) Awning Sign and one (1) 
Window Sign on each exterior facade.

12. Signs shall not exceed a maximum brightness of 100 foot lamberts.

13. All signs shall be fabricated and installed in compliance with all applicable 
building and electrical codes and shall bear a UL label.

14. Safety First
A. A safety stripe is required on all butt glazing that dies into the fl oor.
B. The safety stripe may be placed thirty inches (30”) above the fi nished fl oor 
and up to three feet (3’-0”) high.
C. Logos, locations, tag lines and/or department descriptions may be used on 
the safety stripe if approved by Landlord.
D. Vinyl transfer letters, except white letters, are acceptable on the safety 
stripe.
E. Other decorative window graphics are encouraged when appropriate but 
must have special approval from Landlord.

15. Rear Door Signage
A. Tenant shall install one (1) identifi cation sign on its rear service door which 
is three inches (“) high and consists of Helvetica Medium type style, all capital 
letters indicating the store name as on Tenant’s storefront sign band.
B. Other signage on the rear of Tenant’s leased premises is not permitted.

16. Sign permits, if applicable, shall be obtained by Tenant and are required for 
all related work prior to commencing with fi eld installation.

17. The sign company name or stamp cannot be visible to the customer.

18. Landlord’s decisions regarding signage shall be fi nal and conclusive.

19. Tenant’s signs shall conform these criteria, and to all applicable governmental 
regulations, laws, zoning requirements and title restrictions.

20. Lighting of signs shall be at hours as required by Landlord. All illuminated 
signs must be turned on during the Center’s normal operating hours. The use of 
time clocks for sign and show window lighting is required, and should be adjusted 
and coordinated with the shopping center.

21. Tenants are required to provide a concealed access panel from within the 
Tenant’s leasable area, if applicable, to service and install exterior building 
signage.

22. No exterior sign or sign panel will be permitted to extend above any roof or 
parapet line.

23. Signage Quantities / Sizes:
 
IN-LINE TENANT
 Facade Sign: One (1) per exterior facade, 3 Max. 
 75,000 sf and up - 60” Max height
 25,000 - 74,999 sf - 42” Max height
 0 - 24,999 sf - 30” Max height

 Tower Sign (>40ft above grade): One per exterior facade, 3 Max.
 150% of Facade Sign Height, 60” Max height.
 
 Awning Sign: One (1) per facade, 3 Max.
 Size not to exceed 90% length and 85% height of vertical fascia band  
 height

 Window Sign: One (1) per facade, directly over entry doors.
 20% of contiguous are where sign is located or 8” Max height.

 Blade Sign: Max quantity one (1) and must conform to Landlord’s Uniform
  Design Requirements. Refer to blade sign exhibit for details.

MAJOR TENANT 
 Facade Sign: One (1) per facade, 3 Max.
 75,000 sf and up - 60” Max height, not to exceed 5% of the facade.
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 Awning Sign: Quantities to be reviewed and approved by Landlord.
 Sign letter height must not exceed 75% of vertical fascia band.

 Window Sign: One (1) per exterior facade, directly over entry doors.
 20% of contiguous are where sign is located or 8” Max height.

OUTPARCEL TENANT
 Facade Sign: One (1) per exterior facade, 4 Max.
 75,000 sf and up - 60” Max height
 25,000 - 74,999 sf - 42” Max height
 0 - 24,999 sf - 30” Max height
 Not to exceed 5% of the facade area

All Out Parcel, Major, and Sub- Major Tenants will be allowed one 4’x8’ (32sf Max)
temporary construction sign prior to opening of any shopping center tenants. A 
temporary sign must be constructed of durable materials and is limited to 90 days 
use, then must be replaced with permanent signage. Coordinate location with 
Landlord’s representative, subject to City approval. Minimum height of all signage 
shall not be less than 80% of the maximum allowable letter height without prior 
written approval.

24. The graphic sign exhibits contained within this document will take 
precedence if any confl ict exists.

25. Major Tenant Store Buildings
A. A Major Tenant is defi ned as any tenant with the following uses: Hotel, 
Apartments, Multi-Family, Retail, Restaurant, Commercial Offi ce, Etc.
B. Major Tenant is required to install signs on the exterior of its building using 
the type of signs Tenant typically uses on its building constructed in malls 
containing at least one million square feet (1,000,000 SF) of gross fl oor area.
C. Major Tenants are allowed to have one (1) Facade sign per facade, three (3) 
Max.
D. Major Tenant’s signage shall only identify it by its trade name or alternate 
trade name used by Tenant as permitted by Tenant’s Lease Agreement.
E. No other names or trade names shall be affi xed to the exterior of Major 
Tenant’s building.

LANDLORD’S SIGNAGE

1. Exterior of Landlord’s Buildings
A. Landlord shall be permitted to install signs on the exterior of Landlord’s 
buildings, i.e. property identifi cation signs, typically found in large scale 
shopping centers.
B. Landlord shall be permitted to install signs in the common area outside the 
enclosed mall, i.e. monument signs and directional signs, which are typically 
found in large scale shopping centers.
C. Landlord may install entry monument signage that conforms to Monument 

Sign criteria and also meets LDO and permitting requirements.

TEPORARY / PROMOTIONAL SIGNAGE 

All temporary signage, e.g. promotional, seasonal, special event signs are 
allowed but are subject to landlord approval. All signs must be of high quality 
durable materials and fi nishes. Sign area to be a maximum of 100 sf.

WINDOW SIGN
Any sign, picture, symbol, or combination thereof, designed to communicate 
information about an activity, business, commodity, event, sale, or service, that 
is placed inside a window within a distance of 3 feet of the window, or upon the 
window panes or glass. Must  not exceed 20% of the contiguous area where sign 
is located. Logos, locations, tag lines and/or department descriptions may be 
used on the safety stripe if approved by Landlord. 

WINDOW GRAPHICS
Creative window graphics that promote the business brand / advertising are 
encouraged but will need to be reviewed by the Landlord and City of Leawood 
(Not to exceed 20% of window area) 

MONUMENT SIGNAGE

A single out parcel monument sign is allowed for each Out-Parcel Tenant. Tenant’s 
monument sign may align with Tenant’s trade dress. All colors, materials, and 
fi nishes used to convey Tenant trade dress selected by Tenant must suggest 
quality, craftsmanship, elegance, innovation, and creativity. Landlord shall have 
the sole right to require modifi cations to ensure these fi nishes are appropriate 
for the center overall. The sign shall be constructed of permanent high quality 
materials and permanently attached to an embedded foundation in the ground. 
All monument signs shall have required landscaping at base, subject to Landlord 
approval and City of Leawood.

Landlord Monument Sign Requirements:
1. Dimensions: 6’-0” maximum height (inclusive of base)
2. 50 sq. ft. maximum, including base
3. Must have illumination - Externally-illuminated, internally halo-illuminated or 
push-through acrylic letters are acceptable.

Tenant Monument Sign Requirements:
1. Dimensions: 6’-0” maximum height  (inclusive of base), 10’ maximum width
2. 50 sq. ft. maximum, including base
3. Must have illumination - Externally-illuminated, internally halo-illuminated or 
push-through acrylic letters are acceptable.

All Landlord and Tenant monument signs must conform to the City of Leawood 
sign regulations.
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    September 22, 2020 
REPORT WRITTEN:   September 11, 2020 
 

TOWN CENTER CROSSING – DESIGN GUIDELINES – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL FOR A REVISED 
FINAL PLAN – LOCATED SOUTH OF 119th STREET AND EAST OF ROE AVENUE – CASE 83-20 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 83-20, Town Center Crossing – Sign Guidelines – request for 
approval of revised sign guidelines, with the stipulations outlined in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is John Petersen with Polsinelli. 

 The property is owned by 119 Leawood, LLC. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Plan to modify the existing sign criteria for the 
Town Center Crossing development, in the SD-CR (Planned General Retail) zoning district. 

 Per Section 16-4-6.3, Office, Commercial and Industrial Signage in Planned Districts, the applicant is 
requesting approval of sign standards to replace the current sign criteria for Town Center Crossing.  
This section of the Leawood Development Ordinance allows deviations in size, colors, location, 
number of signs, and illumination.    

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
LOCATION:  
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North Directly north of 119th Street is Camelot Court Shopping Center, zoned SD-CR 
(Planned General Retail). 

 South Directly south of Tomahawk Creek Parkway is open space, zoned REC (Planned 
Recreation). 

 East Directly east of Tomahawk Creek Parkway is open space, zoned REC (Planned 
Recreation). 

 West Directly west of Roe Avenue is Hawthorne Plaza, a retail development within 
Overland Park, Kansas. 

 
 PROPOSED SIGN CRITERIA 

 The application is proposing to modify the existing sign criteria for the Town Center Crossing 
development. 

 The proposed sign criteria identify six elevations within the main center of town Center Crossing and 
identifies the signage that each can have. 

 The following table shows a general summary of the size of façade signage that is currently approved 
for Town Center Crossing and what is proposed. 

Tenant Size Currently Approved Proposed 

Small Shop Tenants  
(0 sq.ft. – 9,999 sq.ft.)   
 

24” 
25% of letters can be 46” 

30” 
25% of letters can be 46” 

Sub Major Tenants  
(10,000 sq.ft. and 
above) 

36” 40” 
25% of letters can be 46” 

In Line Restaurants 24” 30” 
25% of letters can be 46” 

Out Parcel Tenant 30” Out Parcel Tenants – 
75,000 sq.ft. and up – 60” 

25,000 sq.ft. 74,999 sq.ft. – 42” 
0 sq.ft. – 24,999 sq.ft. – 30” 

 Within the main center the sign criteria generally allow the following. 
o One façade sign per exterior facing façade, with two maximum. 
o One marquee/canopy sign can be used in lieu of a façade sign on some elevations. 
o One transom sign per exterior facing façade is allowed. 
o One blade sign is required. 

 The proposed sign criteria based the size of façade signage allowed by the size of the tenant. The 
criteria identify three categories within the main center as follows.  
o Small Shop Tenant – 0 sq.ft. – 9,999 sq.ft.  

 Maximum Letter Height: 30”, however, 25% of letters can be a maximum of 46”. 
 Maximum Multiline Sign – 36” 

o Sub Major Tenant - 10,000 sq.ft. and above 
 Maximum Letter Height: 40”, however 25% of letters can be a maximum of 46” 
 Maximum Multiline Sign – 36”, however 25% of letters can be a maximum of 46” 

o In-Line Restaurants   
 Maximum Letter Height: 30”, however 25% of letters to be a maximum of 46” 
 Maximum Multiline Sign – 36” 

 Other signs that tenants within the main center can have are the following. 
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o Marquee/Canopy Sign - some tenants are allowed a marquee/canopy sign in lieu of a façade 
sign. 
 Maximum Letter Height: 24” 
 Maximum Size: 15 sq.ft. 

o Transom Sign: 
 Maximum Letter Height: 8” 

o Blade Sign (required): 
 Maximum Size: 4 sq.ft. 
 Maximum Letter Height: 6” 

 Façade signage and marquee/canopy signs are required to be internally illuminated or halo 
illuminated individual channel letters. 

 The proposed sign criteria proposes that out parcel tenants have the following. 
o One façade sign per exterior elevation with a maximum of four allowed. 

 The maximum letter height of the façade sign permitted varies with the size of the tenant as 
follows. 
 75,000 sq.ft. and up – 60” 
 25,000 sq.ft.  - 74,999 sq.ft. – 42” 
 0 sq.ft. – 24,999 sq.ft. – 30” 

o One monument sign per out parcel. 
 Maximum of 50 sq.ft., including base 
 Maximum of 6’ in height 
 Maximum width of 10’. 

 The proposed sign criteria also allow for entry monument signage. 
o Maximum of 50 sq.ft. inclusive of base 
o maximum of 6’ in height 
o maximum width of 10’. 

 Monument signs are required to have illumination, which can be externally eliminated, 
internally halo illuminated, or pushed through acrylic letters. 

 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The Leawood Development Ordinance allows the following signage within the SD-CR district: 
Signs Permitted in SD-CR, SD-NCR, Districts 

Wall Sign or Canopy Sign or Awning Sign 
(must be located below eave or parapet) 

Allowable Type Signs identifying retail or services businesses 

Maximum Number 2 (1 per tenant façade) 

Maximum Area Five percent (5%) of building façade (not to exceed 200 sq. ft. per sign) 

Lighting Non-illuminated, externally-illuminated, halo-illuminated, push-through acrylic letters, 
or internally illuminated channel letters 

Monument Sign (can be double faced) 

Allowable Type Signs identifying a commercial development, or retail or service business 

Maximum Number None.  In lieu of one wall or canopy sign, may be allowed by the Governing Body 
after recommendation by the Planning Commission 

Maximum Area 50 sq. ft., including base 

Lighting Non-illuminated, externally-illuminated,  halo-illuminated, or push-through acrylic 
letters 

 The proposed sign criteria within the main center generally allows the following. 
o One façade sign per exterior facing façade, with two maximum. 
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o One marquee/canopy sign can be used in lieu of a façade sign on some elevations. 
o One transom sign per exterior facing façade is allowed. 
o One blade sign is required. 
 
The proposed sign criteria proposes that out parcel tenants have the following. 
o One façade sign per exterior elevation with a maximum of four allowed, along with 
o One awning sign per façade.  
o One monument sign per out parcel. 

 
In order to limit visual clutter, staff recommends that the sign criteria be limited to the following. 
o Each tenant within the main center shall be limited to the following. 

 Either one façade sign, or one canopy sign on a maximum of 2 facades, along with, 
 Either one transom sign, or one blade sign on a maximum of 2 facades. 

o Each out parcel shall be limited to the following: 
 Either one façade sign, or one awning sign on a maximum of 2 facades, however, a 

monument sign may be approved in lieu of a façade or awning sign, along with, 
 Either one transom sign, or one blade sign on a maximum of 2 facades. 

(Stipulation #5) 

 The proposed sign criteria allow 25% of the letters of façade signs to be increased to 46” to 
accommodate a uniquely done letter or trademark logo.  In staff’s opinion this larger letter size 
will look out of scale for smaller tenants.  Staff recommends that only tenants that are larger 
than 3,250 sq.ft. shall be permitted to have 25% of the letters of the façade sign to be 
increased to 46” to accommodate a uniquely done letter or trademark logo.  (Stipulation #6) 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 83-20, Town Center Crossing – Sign 
Guidelines – request for center sign criteria modification, with the following stipulations: 
1. The project is limited to design guideline changes for the Town Center Crossing development, zoned 

SD-CR.   
2. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance the maximum of all wall canopy signs shall be 5% of the 

total area of the façade, 200 ft.², whichever is less, or as permitted in Table 16-4-6.13 of the Leawood 
Development Ordinance. 

3. Prohibited signs of the proposed criteria shall reference the prohibited sign section of the Leawood 
Development Ordinance. 

4. Prior to Governing Body review, the applicant shall revise the plan to meet Leawood Development 
Ordinance 16-4-6.13 regarding permanent sign regulations within the SD-CR zoning district. 
a) Maximum number of signage allowed two (one per tenant façade) 
b) Maximum area for monument signs shall be 50 sq.ft. including base.  

5. Staff recommends that the sign criteria be modified as follows: 
A. Each tenant within the main center shall be limited to the following. 

1) Either one façade sign, or one canopy sign on a maximum of 2 facades, along with, 
2) Either one transom sign, or one blade sign on a maximum of 2 facades. 

B. Each out parcel shall be limited to the following: 
1) Either one façade sign, or one awning sign on a maximum of 2 facades, however, a 

monument sign may be approved in lieu of a façade or awning sign. 
6. Only tenants that are larger than 3,250 sq.ft. shall be permitted to have 25% of the letters of the 

façade sign be up to a maximum of 46” to accommodate a uniquely done letter or trademark logo. 
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7. Prior to Governing Body review, the applicant shall conform to Leawood Development Ordinance 16-
4-6.15(B) regarding temporary signs. 
a) The total square footage for temporary signs on any lot in any district, in the aggregate, shall not 

exceed forty-eight sq.ft., with no individual sign exceeding sixteen sq.ft. 
b) Signs shall not exceed five ft. in height measured from the average grade at the base of the sign. 
c) No sign shall be illuminated or painted with light reflecting paint. 

8. A sign permit from the City of Leawood is required prior to installation of any sign. 
9. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a 
deviation has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to 
stipulations one through nine. 
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END-CAP LOCATION

1 ELEVATION 1 - SIGN EXHIBIT

FACADE SIGN SPACE

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the “Sign Space”. 
Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior facing facade, two (2) max. The 
sign unit must be centered within the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a 
maximum 90% length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf

Small Shop Tenants - 
Leaseable area 0 - 9,999 sf

Max Sign Height: 30”

Sub-Major Tenant - 
Leaseable area 10,000 sf and above

Max Sign Height: 40”

One Marquee / Canopy Sign is allowed per storefront in lieu of a Facade Sign -  
24“ Max Sign Height / Sign Area 15sf Max.

Window Sign: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy that exists over their 
entry doors may include a sign that identifies their business within their storefront 
window, in the transom area directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior 
facing facade, 8” maximum letter height.  

FACADE SIGN: 18" MIN SETBACK 
FROM OTHER ARCHITECTURAL 
ELEMENTS / MATERIAL CHANGES
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2 ELEVATION 2 - SIGN EXHIBIT

FACADE SIGN SPACE MARQUEE/CANOPY SIGN SPACE

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the “Sign Space”. 
Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior facing facade, two (2) max. The 
sign unit must be centered within the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a 
maximum 90% length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf 

Small Shop Tenants - 
Leaseable area 0 - 9,999 sf

Max Sign Height: 30”

Sub-Major Tenant - 
Leaseable area 10,000 sf and above

Max Sign Height: 40”

One Marquee / Canopy Sign is allowed per storefront in lieu of a Facade Sign -  
24“ Max Sign Height / Sign Area 15sf Max.

Window Sign: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy that exists over their 
entry doors may include a sign that identifies their business within their storefront 
window, in the transom area directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior 
facing facade, 8” maximum letter height.  

12” MIN
TYP.

12” MIN
TYP.

AREA HAS A SECOND LEVEL

FACADE SIGN: 18" MIN SETBACK 
FROM OTHER ARCHITECTURAL 
ELEMENTS / MATERIAL CHANGES



5SEPT.09.2020 TOWN CENTER CROSSING

N

3

LE
A

S
E

 L
IN

E

LE
A

S
E

 L
IN

E LE
A

S
E

 L
IN

E LE
A

S
E

 L
IN

E

3 ELEVATION 3 - SIGN EXHIBIT

FACADE SIGN SPACE

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the “Sign Space”. 
Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior facing facade, two (2) max. The 
sign unit must be centered within the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a 
maximum 90% length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf 

Small Shop Tenants - 
Leaseable area 0 - 9,999 sf

Max Sign Height: 30”

Sub-Major Tenant - 
Leaseable area 10,000 sf and above

Max Sign Height: 40”

One Marquee / Canopy Sign is allowed per storefront in lieu of a Facade Sign -  24“ 
Max Sign Height / Sign Area 15sf Max.

Window Sign: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy that exists over their 
entry doors may include a sign that identifies their business within their storefront 
window, in the transom area directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior 
facing facade, 8” maximum letter height.  

FACADE SIGN: 18" MIN SETBACK 
FROM OTHER ARCHITECTURAL 
ELEMENTS / MATERIAL CHANGES
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4 ELEVATION 4 - SIGN EXHIBIT

FACADE SIGN SPACE

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the “Sign Space”. 
Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior facing facade, two (2) max. The 
sign unit must be centered within the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a 
maximum 90% length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf

Small Shop Tenants - 
Leaseable area 0 - 9,999 sf

Max Sign Height: 30”

Sub-Major Tenant - 
Leaseable area 10,000 sf and above

Max Sign Height: 40”

One Marquee / Canopy Sign is allowed per storefront in lieu of a Facade Sign -  
24“ Max Sign Height / Sign Area 15sf Max.

Window Sign: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy that exists over their 
entry doors may include a sign that identifies their business within their storefront 
window, in the transom area directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior 
facing facade, 8” maximum letter height.  

FACADE SIGN: 18" MIN SETBACK 
FROM OTHER ARCHITECTURAL 
ELEMENTS / MATERIAL CHANGES
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FACADE SIGN: 18" MIN SETBACK 
FROM OTHER ARCHITECTURAL 
ELEMENTS / MATERIAL CHANGES

5 ELEVATION 5 - SIGN EXHIBIT

FACADE SIGN SPACE

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the “Sign Space”. 
Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior facing facade, two (2) max. The 
sign unit must be centered within the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a 
maximum 90% length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf

Small Shop Tenants - 
Leaseable area 0 - 9,999 sf

Max Sign Height: 30”

Sub-Major Tenant - 
Leaseable area 10,000 sf and above

Max Sign Height: 40”

One Marquee / Canopy Sign is allowed per storefront in lieu of a Facade Sign -  
24“ Max Sign Height / Sign Area 15sf Max.

Window Sign: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy that exists over their 
entry doors may include a sign that identifies their business within their storefront 
window, in the transom area directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior 
facing facade, 8” maximum letter height.  



8SEPT.09.2020 TOWN CENTER CROSSING

N

6

LE
A

S
E

 L
IN

E

LE
A

S
E

 L
IN

E

LE
A

S
E

 L
IN

E

LE
A

S
E

 L
IN

E

END-CAP LOCATION6 ELEVATION 6 - SIGNAGE EXHIBIT

FACADE SIGNAGE SPACE

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the “Sign Space”. 
Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior facing facade, two (2) max. The 
sign unit must be centered within the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a 
maximum 90% length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade or 200sf 

Small Shop Tenants - 
Leaseable area 0 - 9,999 sf

Max Sign Height: 30”

Sub-Major Tenant - 
Leaseable area 10,000 sf and above

Max Sign Height: 40”

One Marquee / Canopy Sign is allowed per storefront in lieu of a Facade Sign -  24“ 
Max Sign Height / Sign Area 15sf Max.

Window Sign: Tenants that have a covered walkway or canopy that exists over their 
entry doors may include a sign that identifies their business within their storefront 
window, in the transom area directly above their entry doors. One (1) per exterior 
facing facade, 8” maximum letter height.  

FACADE SIGN: 18" MIN SETBACK 
FROM OTHER ARCHITECTURAL 
ELEMENTS / MATERIAL CHANGES

Secondary
facade sign
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Required one (1) per Storefront, four (4) square foot max. Letter height shall be six (6) inches max. Blade sign 
design shall be submitted with tenant package for review and approval. The blade sign shall be located on an 
elevation and clear height to bottom of sign shall be indicated. Decorative brackets and sign design, reference 
example 1, are to reflect the qualities of the tenant and the shopping center in its entirety. Blade signs are 
encouraged to have a three- dimensional quality and will be reviewed on an individual basis. Internally lit box 
sign type blade signs are prohibited.
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FACADE SIGNAGE REFERENCE
Tenant identity signage shall be constructed according to the specifications noted 
within the Criteria Manual. All signs must be illuminated and shall derive light from a 
concealed source. No exposed lamps, globes, tubes, etc. will be permitted.  Please 
refer to Sign Development Standards for additional information.
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OUTPARCEL TENANT PLAN
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OUTPARCEL TENANT FACADE SIGNAGE

(X
)

(X
)

(X
)
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)

FACADE SIGN: 18" MIN SETBACK 
FROM OTHER ARCHITECTURAL 
ELEMENTS / MATERIAL CHANGESFACADE SIGN SPACE

The Facade Sign is to be limited to the location contained in the 
“Sign Space”. Tenant allowed one (1) Facade Sign per exterior 
facing facade, four (4) max. The sign unit must be centered within 
the designated Facade Sign Space,  must be a maximum 90% 
length and 85% height of the sign space, and is to not exceed 5% 
of facade.

FACADE SIGN MAX HEIGHT: (X) = Sign height
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)

AWNING SIGN: (Y) = Sign height
One per facade, size not to exceed 90% length and 85% height of 
vertical fascia band. Sign letters to be white on a black awning. 
Tenant may request an alternate awning color that coincides with 
their marketing. (To be approved by Landlord and City of Leawood) 
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GENERAL SIGNAGE CRITERIA

Signs must meet these criteria, which has been approved by the City of 
Leawood.  Tenant shall submit signs for permit to the City of Leawood.  The 
submission package must conform to City requirements, conform to this criteria, 
and include an approval letter from Landlord.  City of Leawood Staff will review 
for conformance with this Criteria, and if so, the sign may receive a permit 
for installation.  Any signs out of conformance with this Criteria shall either 
be modifi ed to conform or Tenant, with prior Landlord approval, shall submit 
materials for a variance or other necessary approval as defi ned and required by 
the City of Leawood.  

SIGN SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS
All Signage is to be submitted as a complete package for review and approval by 
Landlord. Incomplete submittals lacking blade sign shall not be approved.

Facade sign or marquee sign:
Provide a storefront elevation of each sign proposed as well as detailed shop 
drawing elevation and section through sign indicating sign makeup, dimensions, 
materials and colors.

Over-door transom sign:
Provide a storefront elevation of each sign proposed as well as detailed shop
Drawing elevation indicating sign dimensions, materials and colors.

Storefront safety glazing decals:
Provide a storefront elevation of each sign proposed as well as detailed shop 
drawing elevation indicating dimensions, materials and colors.

Blade Signage: (REQUIRED)
Provide a storefront elevation and section of each proposed sign indicating 
mounting location and height. Provide a detailed shop drawing section and 
elevation indicating sign makeup, dimensions, materials and colors for sign and 
decorative bracket.

Additional signage / graphics in design control zone:
Provide a storefront elevation, plan, and or section indicating any additional 
proposed signage as well as detailed shop drawings indicating sign makeup, 
dimensions, materials and colors. All additional signage shall be reviewed on an 
individual basis by Landlord and City of Leawood.

SIGN TYPES AND PARAMETERS
The following types and amounts of signs will be permitted

1. Small Shop Tenant Sign Parameters
Leaseable area 0 - 9,999 sf.

Facade Sign:
One (1) per exterior facade, 2 Max. - 30” Max height
Sign area shall not exceed 5 percent (5%) of the Tenant’s facade.

25% of the letters within the sign can be increased to a maximum of 46” to 
accommodate a uniquely done letter font or trademark logo.

All signs shall not extend more than 8” beyond the face of the surface to which 
the sign is mounted.

All signs must be illuminated and shall derive light from a concealed source. No 
exposed lamps, globes, tubes, etc. will be permitted.

Signage shall be internally face or halo illuminated individual channel letters 
mounted to the building facade or appropriate sign backer. Face illuminated 
letters are to have a translucent lens to conceal internal light source (No exposed 
light source). 

Indirectly, LED illuminated, pin-mounted signs will be considered for approval, 
but will be reviewed on an individual basis.

Tenant logos will be not allowed on storefronts without prior written approval and 
will be reviewed on an individual basis by Landlord.

Multi line Tenant sign will be allowed on an individual basis only and are subject 
to Landlord approval. Multi-line signs shall be 36” high total maximum and shall 
comfortably fi t within the Landlord bulkhead as determined by the Landlord’s 
Representative.

Marquee/Canopy Sign: 
One (1) allowed in lieu of a Facade Sign
24” Max height, 15sf maximum. 

Sign shall be individually illuminated letters. All exposed conduit shall be 
concealed from public view and painted to match marquee structure. Exposed 
raceways behind letters are not permitted.

Marquee/Canopy Signage shall be allowed on one of the following locations:

1) The vertical fascia of the canopy. Maximum letter size is 24”. Signs in this 
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location must be pin mounted to existing projected metal marquees.
2) On top of the canopy/ marquee. Maximum letter size is 24”. Signs in this location 
must be mounted toward the front of the canopy with no exposed mounting 
hardware.  A maximum setback of 6” from the front face of the canopy is required.

Transom Sign / Window Sign:
One Sign is allowed within the horizontal area directly over the Tenant’s entry 
door.  One per exterior facade, 8” Max height. 

Blade Signs:
Required one (1) per Storefront, four (4) square foot max. Letter height shall be 
six (6) inches max. Blade sign design shall be submitted with tenant package for 
review and approval. The blade sign shall be located on an elevation and clear 
height to bottom of sign shall be indicated. Decorative brackets and sign design, 
reference example 1, are to refl ect the qualities of the tenant and the shopping 
center in its entirety. Blade signs are encouraged to have a three- dimensional 
quality and will be reviewed on an individual basis. Internally lit box sign type 
blade signs are prohibited.

2. Sub-Major Tenant Sign Parameters
Leaseable area 10,000 sf and above.

Facade Sign:
One (1) per exterior facade, 2 Max. - 40” Max height
Sign area shall not exceed 5 percent (5%) of the Tenant’s facade.

25% of the letters within the sign can be increased to a maximum of 46” to 
accommodate a uniquely done letter font or trademark logo.

All signs shall not extend more than 8” beyond the face of the surface to which 
the sign is mounted.

All signs must be illuminated and shall derive light from a concealed source. No 
exposed lamps, globes, tubes, etc. will be permitted.

Signage shall be internally face or halo illuminated individual channel letters 
mounted to the building facade or appropriate sign backer. Face illuminated 
letters are to have a translucent lens to conceal internal light source (No exposed 
light source). 

Indirectly, LED illuminated, pin-mounted signs will be considered for approval, 
but will be reviewed on an individual basis.

Tenant logos will be not allowed on storefronts without prior written approval and 
will be reviewed on an individual basis by Landlord.

Multi line Tenant sign will be allowed on an individual basis only and are subject 
to Landlord approval. Multi-line signs shall be 36” high total maximum and shall 
comfortably fi t within the Landlord bulkhead as determined by the Landlord’s 
Representative.

Marquee/Canopy Sign: 
One (1) allowed in lieu of a Facade Sign 
24” Max height, 15sf maximum. 

Sign shall be individually illuminated letters. All exposed conduit shall be 
concealed from public view and painted to match marquee structure. Exposed 
raceways behind letters are not permitted.

Marquee/Canopy Signage shall be allowed on one of the following locations:

1) The vertical fascia of the canopy. Maximum letter size is 24”. Signs in this 
location must be pin mounted to existing projected metal marquees.

2) On top of the canopy/ marquee. Maximum letter size is 24”. Signs in this location 
must be mounted toward the front of the canopy with no exposed mounting 
hardware.  A maximum setback of 6” from the front face of the canopy is required.

Transom Sign / Window Sign:
One Sign is allowed within the horizontal area directly over the Tenant’s entry 
door.  One per exterior facade, 8” Max height. 

3. In-Line Restaurants

Facade Sign:
One (1) per exterior facade, 2 Max. - 30” Max height
Sign area shall not exceed 5 percent (5%) of the Tenant’s facade.

25% of the letters within the sign can be increased to a maximum of 46” to 
accommodate a uniquely done letter font or trademark logo.

All signs shall not extend more than 8” beyond the face of the surface to which 
the sign is mounted.

All signs must be illuminated and shall derive light from a concealed source. No 
exposed lamps, globes, tubes, etc. will be permitted.

Signage shall be internally face or halo illuminated individual channel letters 
mounted to the building facade or appropriate sign backer. Face illuminated 
letters are to have a translucent lens to conceal internal light source (No exposed 
light source). 
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Indirectly, LED illuminated, pin-mounted signs will be considered for approval, 
but will be reviewed on an individual basis.

Tenant logos will be not allowed on storefronts without prior written approval and 
will be reviewed on an individual basis by Landlord.

Multi line Tenant sign will be allowed on an individual basis only and are subject 
to Landlord approval. Multi-line signs shall be 36” high total maximum and 
shall comfortably fi t within the Sign Space as determined by the Landlord’s 
Representative.

Marquee/Canopy Sign: 
One (1) allowed in lieu of a Facade Sign 
24” Max height, 15sf maximum. 

Sign shall be individually illuminated letters. All exposed conduit shall be 
concealed from public view and painted to match marquee structure. Exposed 
raceways behind letters are not permitted.

Marquee/Canopy Signage shall be allowed on one of the following locations:

1) The vertical fascia of the canopy. Maximum letter size is 24”. Signs in this 
location must be pin mounted to existing projected metal marquees.

2) On top of the canopy/ marquee. Maximum letter size is 24”. Signs in this location 
must be mounted toward the front of the canopy with no exposed mounting 
hardware.  A maximum setback of 6” from the front face of the canopy is required.

Transom Sign / Window Sign:
A Tenant that has a covered walkway or canopy over their entry doors may 
include a Transom Sign. It must be located on the exterior transom area directly 
over the entry doors that consists of glass or a opaque material.  A Transom Sign 
is restricted to the store name or trade name and letter height must not exceed  
8” maximum.

Blade Signs:
Required one (1) per Storefront, four (4) square foot max. Letter height shall be 
six (6) inches max. Blade sign design shall be submitted with tenant package for 
review and approval. The blade sign shall be located on an elevation and clear 
height to bottom of sign shall be indicated. Decorative brackets and sign design, 
reference example 1, are to refl ect the qualities of the tenant and the shopping 
center in its entirety. Blade signs are encouraged to have a three- dimensional 
quality and will be reviewed on an individual basis. Internally lit box sign type 
blade signs are prohibited.

4. Outparcel Tenants

Facade Sign: 
One (1) per exterior facade, 4 Max.
75,000 sf and up - 60” (X)
25,000 - 74,999 sf- 42” (X)
0 - 24,999 sf - 30” (X)
Not to exceed 5% of the facade area

All Out Parcel, Major, and Sub- Major Tenants will be allowed one 4’x8’ (32sf max) 
temporary construction sign prior to opening of any shopping center tenants. A 
temporary sign must be constructed of durable materials and is limited to 90 days 
use, then must be replaced with permanent signage. Coordinate location with 
Landlord’s representative, subject to City approval. Minimum height of all signage 
shall not be less than 80% of the maximum allowable letter height without prior 
written approval.

PROHIBITED SIGNS
A. Signs which are attached to any tree, fence, branch, another sign, or utility 
pole when such sign is located on public property, including right-of-way, 
provided, however, that this prohibition shall not apply to warning signs issued 
and properly posted by a utility company.
B. Signs other than those specifi cally allowed by this Ordinance that are 
capable of being carried, wheeled or moved from one location to another.
C. Attention-attracting devices not specifi cally allowed by this Ordinance.
D. Flashing or blinking signs.
E. Neon window signs.
F. Electronic display signs, with the exception of drive-thru menu boards, order 
confi rmation displays, and pre-order menu boards.
G. Strings of light bulbs except when used for decorative purposes during a 
holiday season and not in excess of 7 1/2 watts. Said strings of bulbs may not 
traverse street rights-of-way.
H. Roof signs.
I. Rotating signs.
J. Animated signs.
K. Digital readout signs, with the exception of drive-thru menu boards, order 
confi rmation displays, and pre-order menu boards.
L. Changeable copy signs, with the exception of drive-thru menu boards, 
drive-thru order confi rmation displays, and pre-order menu boards.
M. Signs painted directly on exterior walls or surfaces.
N. Signs whose source of illumination is visible from off site.
O. Any sign within the public right-of-way, or on other public property, not 
authorized by the Governing Body.
P. Any sign which displays obscene matter.
Q. Pole signs.
R. Any sign that blocks the clear sight triangle of an intersection.
S. Real estate advertisements and signs not fairly and truthfully imparting 
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to the public accurate information in regard to zoning classifi cation and 
Comprehensive Plan information.
T. Signs displayed with twirlers, fl ags, balloons or other paraphernalia.
U. Illuminated signs with exposed incandescent bulbs or exposed incandescent 
fl uorescent tubes.
V. Signage associated with a drive-thru other than as explicitly permitted within 
this ordinance.
W. Signs which have been allowed to fall into a state of disrepair, without a 
clean and neat appearance.
X. Signs which are applied or affi xed to a sidewalk, crosswalk, curb, curbstone, 
lamppost, hydrant, tree, shrub, tree stake or guard, railroad trestle, electric 
light or power or telephone or telegraph pole, or wire appurtenance thereof 
or upon any fi xture of the fi re alarm or police alarm system or upon any lighting 
system, public bridge, street sign or traffi c sign.
Y. Signs placed at intersections of any street in such a manner as to obstruct 
free and clear vision; or any location where, by reason of the position, shape 
or color, the sign may interfere with, obstruct the view of, or be confused with 
any authorized traffi c sign, signal or device; or which makes use of the words 
“stop,” “look,” “drive-in,” “danger,” or any other word, phrase, symbol or 
character in such manner as to interfere with or mislead or confuse traffi c.
Z. Signs placed in the sight triangle of any roadway corner. The sight triangle 
shall be defi ned as the Intersection Sight Distance that shall conform with A 
Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets, Latest Edition, American 
Association of State Highway and Transportation Offi cials. .
AA. Box signs, “cut-sheet,” or other sign types where the entire sign surface is 
illuminated, with the exception of drive-thru menu boards, order confi rmation 
displays, and pre-order menu boards.
BB. Permanent signs which identify phone numbers, product, or any other 
specifi c information about the tenant beyond the name of the tenant.
CC. ALL signs Landlord deems inappropriate for the center

ADDITIONAL SIGNAGE
Signage for service doors to Tenant spaces throughout the project shall be 
standard 4” in height, identifi cation only (name and address number or additional 
as required by local jurisdiction) and shall be installed by the Landlord. The Tenant 
shall not apply any signage or other wording to service doors.

LANDLORD’S SIGNAGE
1. Exterior of Landlord’s Buildings

A. Landlord shall be permitted to install signs on the exterior of Landlord’s 
buildings, i.e. property identifi cation signs, typically found in large scale 
shopping centers.
B. Landlord shall be permitted to install signs in the common area outside the 
enclosed mall, i.e. monument signs and directional signs, which are typically 
found in large scale shopping centers.
C. Landlord may install entry monument signage that conforms to criteria 

outlined in the monument signage section.

TEMPORARY / PROMOTIONAL SIGNAGE 

All temporary signage, e.g. promotional, seasonal, special event signs are 
allowed but are subject to landlord approval. All signs must be of high quality 
durable materials and fi nishes. Sign area to be a maximum of 100 sf.

WINDOW SIGN – Any sign, picture, symbol, or combination thereof, designed to 
communicate information about an activity, business, commodity, event, sale, or 
service, that is placed inside a window within a distance of 3 feet of the window, 
or upon the window panes or glass.  Must  not exceed 20% of the contiguous area 
where sign is located. Logos, locations, tag lines and/or department descriptions 
may be used on the safety stripe if approved by Landlord. 

WINDOW GRAPHICS
Creative window graphics that promote the business brand / advertising are 
encouraged but will need to be reviewed by the Landlord and City of Leawood 
(Not to exceed 20% of window area) 

MONUMENT SIGNAGE
A single out parcel monument sign is allowed for each Out-Parcel Tenant. Tenant’s 
monument sign may align with Tenant’s trade dress. All colors, materials, and 
fi nishes used to convey Tenant trade dress selected by Tenant must suggest 
quality, craftsmanship, elegance, innovation, and creativity. Landlord shall have 
the sole right to require modifi cations to ensure these fi nishes are appropriate 
for the center overall. The sign shall be constructed of permanent high quality 
materials and permanently attached to an embedded foundation in the ground. 
All monument signs shall have required landscaping at base, subject to Landlord 
approval.

Landlord Monument Sign Requirements:
1. Dimensions: 6’-0” maximum height (inclusive of base)
2. 50 sq. ft. maximum, including base
3. Must have illumination - Externally-illuminated, internally halo-illuminated or 
push-through acrylic letters are acceptable.

Tenant Monument Sign Requirements:
1. Dimensions: 6’-0” maximum height  (inclusive of base), 10’ maximum width
2. 50 sq. ft. maximum, including base
3. Must have illumination - Externally-illuminated, internally halo-illuminated or 
push-through acrylic letters are acceptable.

All Landlord and Tenant monument signs must conform to the City of Leawood 
sign regulations.
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